
July 11, 2023 City of Guadalupe Council Meeting Agenda  Page 1 of 5 

 

 

City of Guadalupe 
 

AGENDA 
 

Regular Meeting of the Guadalupe City Council and 
 

Tuesday, July 11, 2023, at 6:00 pm 
City Hall, 918 Obispo Street, Council Chambers 

 

The City Council meeting will broadcast live streamed on the City of Guadalupe’s Official YouTube 
channel: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCaxeHWd9JkmvKnGFU8BAYQQ 

If you choose not to attend the City Council meeting but wish to make a comment during Community 
Participation Forum or on a specific agenda item, please submit via email to juana@ci.guadalupe.ca.us 
no later than 2:00 pm on Tuesday, July 11, 2023.  

 

Please be advised that, pursuant to State Law, any member of the public may address the City Council concerning any 
item on the Agenda, before or during Council consideration of that item. If you wish to speak on any item on the agenda, 
including any item on the Consent Calendar or the Ceremonial Calendar, please submit a speaker request form for that 
item. If you wish to speak on a matter that is not on the agenda, please do so during the Community Participation Forum. 
 
The Agenda and related Staff reports are available on the City’s website: www.ci.guadalupe.ca.us Friday before Council 
meeting. 
 
Any documents produced by the City and distributed to a majority of the City Council regarding any item on this agenda 
will be made available the Friday before Council meetings at the Administration Office at City Hall 918 Obispo Street, 
Monday through Friday between 8:00 am and 4:30 pm, and also posted 72 hours prior to the meeting.  The City may 
charge customary photocopying charges for copies of such documents. Any documents distributed to a majority of the 
City Council regarding any item on this agenda less than 72 hours before the meeting will be made available for inspection 
at the meeting and will be posted on the City’s website and made available for inspection the day after the meeting at 
the Administrator Office at City Hall 918 Obispo Street, Monday through Friday between 8:00 am and 4:30 pm. 
 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting, 
including review of the Agenda and related documents, please contact the Administration Office at (805) 356.3891 at 
least 72 hours prior to the meeting.  This will allow time for the City to make reasonable arrangements to ensure 
accessibility to the meeting. 

 

1. ROLL CALL:  
 

  Council Member Christina Hernandez 
  Council Member Gilbert Robles 
  Council Member Megan Lizalde 
  Mayor Pro Tempore Eugene Costa Jr. 
  Mayor Ariston Julian 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

3. MOMENT OF THANKS, APPRECIATION OR CONDOLENCES.  

 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCaxeHWd9JkmvKnGFU8BAYQQ
mailto:juana@ci.guadalupe.ca.us
http://www.ci.guadalupe.ca.us/


July 11, 2023 City of Guadalupe Council Meeting Agenda  Page 2 of 5 

 

 
4. AGENDA REVIEW 

At this time the City Council will review the order of business to be conducted and receive requests 
for, or make announcements regarding, any change(s) in the order of business. 

 
5. COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION FORUM 

Each person will be limited to a discussion of three (3) minutes or as directed by the Mayor.  
Pursuant to the provisions of the Brown Act, no action may be taken on these matters unless they 
are listed on the agenda, or unless certain emergency or special circumstances exist. City Council 
may direct staff to investigate and/or schedule certain matters for consideration at a future City 
Council meeting. 

 
6. CONSENT CALENDAR  

The following items are presented for City Council approval without discussion as a single agenda 
item in order to expedite the meeting. Should a Council Member wish to discuss or disapprove an 
item, it must be dropped from the blanket motion of approval and considered as a separate item. 

 
A.  Waive the reading in full of all Ordinances and Resolutions. Ordinances on the Consent 

Calendar will be adopted by the same vote cast as the first meeting unless City Council 
indicates otherwise. 
 

B. Approve payment of warrants for the period ending July 3, 2023, and ratify payment of 
warrants for the period ending June 19, 2023.  

 
C. Approve the Minutes of the City Council regular meeting of June 27, 2023. 
 
D. Adopt Resolution No. 2023-56 authorizing the City to enter into an agreement with Chisam 

Utility Management LLC for professional Interim Public Works Director/City Engineering 
services.   

 
E. Adopt Resolution No. 2023-57 designating Interim Public Works Director/City Engineer 

Dwayne Chisam, as the authorized agent and signatory for Guadalupe Transit grants, 
documents, and related periodic reports, effective July 12, 2023, with the departure of the 
current signatory, Shannon Sweeney.  

 
F. Adopt Resolution No. 2023-58 establishing the revised appropriations limit from tax 

proceeds for Fiscal Year 2022-2023.  
 
G. Adopt Resolution No. 2023-59 accepting a donation of $41,127.28 to the Guadalupe Police 

Department from the One805 Foundation towards the purchase of a generator for the public 
safety building.  

 
H. Adopt Resolution No. 2023-60 authorizing the purchase and installation of a generator for 

the Guadalupe Police Department building utilizing grant monies from the One805 
Foundation and ARPA funding (and from Proposition 172 funds, in necessary). 

 



July 11, 2023 City of Guadalupe Council Meeting Agenda  Page 3 of 5 

 

I. MONTHLY REPORTS FROM DEPARTMENT HEADS 
 

1. Planning Department report for June 2023 
2. Building Department report for June 2023 
3. Recreation and Parks reports for April & May 2023 

 

 
7. CITY ADMINISTRATOR REPORT: (Information Only) 

 
8. DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC SAFETY REPORT: (Information Only) 

 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 

9. Review and approval of Draft Housing Element for review by Housing and Community 
Development (HCD) and adopting of Resolution No. 2023-61. 

 
Written report: Larry Appel, Contract Planning Director  
Recommendation: That the City Council: 
a. Receive a presentation from staff and consultant; and 
b. Conduct a public hearing; and 
c. Direct staff to transmit the Draft Housing Element to HCD for the required 90-day review; and 
d. Direct consultant to prepare and appropriate draft environmental document to address any 

impacts created by adopting of the Draft Housing Element.  
 

10. Completion and Close-Out of CDBG FY 2017 Grant Project: Le Roy Park and Community Center 
and City of Guadalupe Community Resilience Plan.  
 
Written report: Tiffany Gonzales, Community Development Director, LADG 
Recommendation: That the City Council hold a public hearing seeking community input on the 
completion of the City’s Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) FY 2017 Grant Project: Le Roy 
Park and Community Center and City of Guadalupe Community Resilience Plan, adopt Resolution 
No. 2023-62 for the approval and acceptance of the City of Guadalupe Community Resilience Plan, 
and adopt Resolution No. 2023-63 for the approval and acceptance of the completion and closeout 
report of the City of Guadalupe’s CDBG FY 2017 project/contract prior to the close-out of the grant 
as required by the Community Development Block Grant close-out process. 

 
REGULAR BUSINESS 
 

11. Fiscal Year 2021-22 Audited Financial Statements, Single Audit Report, and GANN 2022 Agreed-
Upon Procedures. 
 
Staff Report:  Janice Davis, Finance Director  
Presentation:  Mitesh Desai, Badawi & Associates 
Recommendation: That the City Council receive and accept the City of Guadalupe Financial 
Statements for the Year ended June 30, 2022, along with the Independent Auditor’s Report, as well 
as accept the Single Audit Report for 2022 and the GANN 2022 Agreed-Upon Procedures.  
 



July 11, 2023 City of Guadalupe Council Meeting Agenda  Page 4 of 5 

 

 
12. New job description and classification of Finance Clerk, regular, part-time (non-benefit) position 

in the Finance Department.  
 
Written report: Tegnear Butler, Human Resources Manager 
Recommendation: That the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2023-64 approving the 
classification and job description for the regular, part-time Finance Clerk position in the Finance 
Department and authorizing staff to initiate recruitment.  

 
13. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

 
14. ANNOUNCEMENTS – COUNCIL ACTIVITY/COMMITTEE REPORTS  

 
15. ADJOURNMENT TO CLOSED SESSION MEETING  

 
16. Conference with Labor Negotiators 

(Subdivision (a) of Gov. Code Section 54957.6) 
Agency designated representatives: City Administrator and Human Resources Manager 
Employee organizations: Service Employees International Union (SEIU), Local 620; Guadalupe Police 
Officers Association (POA) 
 

17. ADJOURNMENT TO OPEN SESSION MEETING 
 

18. CLOSED SESSION ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

19. ADJOURNMENT 
 
I hereby certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing agenda 
was posted on the City Hall display case and website not less than 72 hours prior to the meeting. Dated this 
6th day of July 2023. 
 
 
______________________________ 
Todd Bodem, City Administrator 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Todd Bodem 



July 11, 2023 City of Guadalupe Council Meeting Agenda  Page 5 of 5 

 

 
PROPOSED FUTURE CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS 

 

 

Council Meeting:  Date and Subject Department Agenda Category 
Tuesday, July 25, 2023, at 6:00 pm / Regular Meeting 
Central Coast Community Energy 3CE  Presentation  
FY 23-24 Budget Adoption Finance Department Regular Business 
Waste Management Contract Extension City Attorney  Regular Business 
   
   
Tuesday, August 8, 2023, at 6:00 pm / Regular Meeting 
   
   
Tuesday, August 22, 2023, at 6:00 pm / Regular 
Meeting 

  

   

Other Unscheduled Items Proposed 
Date of Item 

Department Agenda Category 

Tree Ordinance  Public Works New Business 
Sidewalk Vending Ordinance  Planning Department New Business 
Food Truck and Special Event Ordinance  Planning Dept New Business 
Gift Policy  City Attorney New Business 
Benefit for Unrepresented Employees  Human Resources New Business 
State of City Report  Admin Department New Business 



Agenda Item No. 6B 

REPORT TO THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE 
Agenda of July 11, 2023 

Prepi;/J;:, 
Veronica Fabian 

Finance Account Clerk Finance Director 

Approved by: 

Todd Bodem 

City Administrator 

SUBJECT: 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Payment of warrants for the period ending July 03, 2023, to be approved 

for payment by the City Council. Subject to having been certified as 

being in conformity with the budget by the Finance Department staff. 

That the City Council review and approved the listing of hand checks and warrants to be paid on 

July 12, 2023. 

BACKGROUND: 

Submittal of the listing of warrants issued by the City to vendors for the period and explanations for 

disbursement of these warrants. An exception, such as an emergency hand check may be required to be 

issued and paid prior to submittal of the warrant listing, however, this warrant will be identified as 

"Ratify" on the warrant listing. 

1



2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25





Agenda Item No. 6B 

REPORT TO THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE 

Prepa�Y. 
Veronica Fabian 
Finance Account Clerk 

Agenda of July 11, 2023 

Janice Davis 
Finance Director 

Approved by: 
Todd Bodem 
City Administrator 

SUBJECT: Payment of warrants for the period ending June 19, 2023, to be ratified 

for payment by the City Council. Subject to having been certified as 

being in conformity with the budget by the Finance Department staff. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the City Council review and ratified the listing of hand checks and warrants to be paid on 

June 28, 2023. 

BACKGROUND: 

Submittal of the listing of warrants issued by the City to vendors for the period and explanations for 

disbursement of these warrants. An exception, such as an emergency hand check may be required to be 

issued and paid prior to submittal of the warrant listing, however, this warrant will be identified as 

"Ratify" on the warrant listing. 

26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



June 27, 2023 City of Guadalupe Council Meeting Minutes Page 1 of 7 

MINUTES 

City of Guadalupe 
Regular Meeting of the Guadalupe City Council 

Tuesday, June 27, 2023, at 6:00 pm 

City Hall, 918 Obispo Street, Council Chambers 

1. ROLL CALL:

Council Member Christina Hernandez 
Council Member Gilbert Robles 
Council Member Megan Lizalde 
Mayor Pro Tempore Eugene Costa Jr. 
Mayor Ariston Julian 

The meeting was called to order at 6:00 p.m. by Mayor Julian. 
All Present  

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

3. MOMENT OF THANKS, APPRECIATION OR CONDOLENCES.

Mayor Julian shared his condolences to former Interim City Administrator Bob Perrault in the passing 

of his son. 

The City Administrator said that Council Member Hernandez received an environmental award. He 

read from a flyer that stated Christina Hernandez is a Central Coast native and a Guadalupe City 

Councilmember who grew up in the small city of Guadalupe. She never thought she would work in 

community outreach and environmental activism, but she found a niche in the nonprofit world. 

Working at a natural history museum, she has inspired others to participate in improving Guadalupe 

by putting her own boots on the ground.  Since 2014, Christina has educated herself on the 

importance of environmental stewardship and has made it her goal to intertwine this mentality 

within her own community.  After completing the California Naturalist and Climate Steward 

Program, Christina saw new connections with governmental bodies to bring resources to Guadalupe. 

In Guadalupe, Christina is known to lead beach clean-ups in partnership with government agencies 

and other nonprofits.  She knows that Guadalupe’s significance and splendor lies in its unique dune 

ecosystem.  Her goal is to bridge the gap between her community and the activism that will enhance 

this small coastal town’s appreciation for its natural and historical integrity. She plans to continue 

the mission of educating the community and hopes to see her grassroots efforts spread beyond local 

levels. 

4. AGENDA REVIEW

Agenda Item No. 6C



June 27, 2023 City of Guadalupe Council Meeting Minutes  Page 2 of 7 

 

At this time the City Council will review the order of business to be conducted and receive requests 
for, or make announcements regarding, any change(s) in the order of business. 
 
There were no changes made to the agenda. 

 

5. COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION FORUM 

Each person will be limited to a discussion of three (3) minutes or as directed by the Mayor.  
Pursuant to the provisions of the Brown Act, no action may be taken on these matters unless they 
are listed on the agenda, or unless certain emergency or special circumstances exist. The City Council 
may direct staff to investigate and/or schedule certain matters for consideration at a future City 
Council meeting. 
 
Deek Segovia 
Mr. Segovia mentioned that the newly installed Veterans Memorial flag and landscaping area was 
over planned that left extra area so there is a need to sell more infill bricks for $50 each. Segovia will 
share informational materials with various city departments on where to purchase these bricks. 
 
Jerry Kaufman 
Mr. Kaufman mentioned that the Vietnam Veterans of America Chapter 982 invites the City Council 
to a fundraising program to be held on November 11th from 12:00 noon to 3:00 p.m. at the Veterans 
Memorial building. 
 
George Alvarez 
Mr. Alvarez expressed the need to hire more police officers, especially considering the recent 
shooting. He also said that he will let homeless people know that they can camp behind city hall 
alongside the bicyclists. 
 
Tiffany Gonzales 
Ms. Gonzales said that on June 28th, a LADG fundraiser will be held from 11 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. at the 
senior center, those over 60 year of age get in for free while all others must donate $15 to receive a 
plate of food.  
 
Sam Duarte 
Mr. Duarte was present to confirm the approval for the use of the Veterans Memorial Plaza Parking 
lot for the sale of fireworks. 

 

6. CONSENT CALENDAR  

The following items are presented for City Council approval without discussion as a single agenda 
item in order to expedite the meeting. Should a Council Member wish to discuss or disapprove an 
item, it must be dropped from the blanket motion of approval and considered as a separate item. 

 

A.  Waive the reading in full of all Ordinances and Resolutions. Ordinances on the Consent 
Calendar will be adopted by the same vote cast as the first meeting unless City Council 
indicates otherwise. 
 

B. Approve payment of warrants for the period ending June 19, 2023. 



June 27, 2023 City of Guadalupe Council Meeting Minutes  Page 3 of 7 

 

 
C. Approve the Minutes of the City Council regular meeting of June 13, 2023. 
 

D. Adopt Resolution No. 2023-42 authorizing submission of corrections to a previously 
submitted application and conditionally approved grant for funding of wastewater collection 
system improvements from the State of California Community Development Block Grant 
Program (CDBG) and authorize the Mayor or designee to sign the corrected resolution, 
application, grant agreement, and supporting documents.  

 
E. Approve the request by Sam Duarte, Director of The Little House by the Park, to use the 

Veteran’s Memorial Plaza (aka Downtown Parking Lot) for a “Safe and Sane” fireworks sale 
fundraiser.  

 
F. Adopt Resolution No. 2023-51 approving the City of Guadalupe Water Shortage Contingency 

Plan.  
 
G. Adopt Resolution No. 2023-52 identifying priorities for the use of Measure A circulation 

funds.  
 
H. Adopt Resolution No. 2023-53 approving the Fats, Oils, and Grease (FOG) Control Program. 
 

Mayor Julian pulled Items #6D and #6F. A motion was made by City Council Member Lizalde 
and seconded by Council Member Hernandez to approve the remainder of the Consent 
Calendar. 5-0. Motion passed. 

 

Item #6D. Mayor Julian asked if the City will submit the CDBG application in its timeframe. 

Administrator Bodem said, “yes” 

 

Item #6F. Mayor Julian asked if there was public involvement in the Guadalupe Water 

Storage Contingency Plan. Administrator Bodem said, “yes” 

 

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tempore Costa Jr. and seconded by Council Member 

Robles to approve Consent Calendar items #6D and #6F. 5-0. Motion passed. 

 
I. MONTHLY REPORTS FROM DEPARTMENT HEADS 
 

1. Public Safety Department: 
a. Police Department report for May 2023 
b.  Fire Department report for May 2023 
c. Code Compliance report for May 2023 

2.  Human Resources report for May 2023 
3. City Treasurer’s report for March and April 2023 
 

7. CITY ADMINISTRATOR REPORT: (Information Only) No verbal provided, only written. 

 

8. DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC SAFETY REPORT: (Information Only).  

 



June 27, 2023 City of Guadalupe Council Meeting Minutes  Page 4 of 7 

 

Public Safety Director Cash provided a brief update about the recent shooting. Council Member 

Lizalde asked if Everbridge could be used to notify the council when these events happen. Mr. Cash 

said Everbridge is used for disasters and ongoing emergencies, not for these matters. Council 

Member Hernandez asked if the city has a council communication policy. If not, she suggested that 

one be created. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING 

 

9. Pasadera Landscaping and Lighting District (FY 2023-24) – Public Hearing. 
 

Written report: Shannon Sweeney, Public Works Director/City Engineer 
Recommendation: That the City Council conduct a public hearing to provide all present with the 
opportunity to speak regarding the assessment for the Pasadera Landscaping and Lighting District 
and adopt Resolution No. 2023-54 confirming the Engineer’s Report, Assessment Diagram, and 
assessments related thereto for fiscal year 2023/2024. 
 
Council Member Lizalde recused herself from this agenda item. 
 
Since Shannon Sweeney resigned on July 15, City Administrator Bodem provided an overview by 
presenting the material with the above recommendation to council. 
 
A public hearing opened at 6:37 p.m. Public Hearing closed at 6:38 p.m.   
 
Motion was made by Council Member Hernandez and seconded by Council Member Robles to 
approve the Pasadera Landscaping and Lighting District and adopted Resolution No. 2023-54 
confirming the Engineer’s Report, Assessment Diagram, and assessments related thereto for fiscal 
year 2023/2024.  4-0. Motion Passed. 

 

10. Guadalupe’s Food Bank COVID-19 Delivery Services Program close-out report.  
 

Written report: Tiffany Gonzales, Community Development Director, LADG 
Recommendation: That the City Council hold a final public hearing seeking community input on 
the Guadalupe’s Food Bank COVID-19 Delivery Services Program prior to the close-out of the grant 
as required by Community Development Block Grant close-out process.  
 
Tiffany Gonzales, Community Development Director, LADG provided an update and overview of 
Guadalupe’s Food Bank Covid-19 Delivery Services Close-Out Report with the above 
recommendation.  

 

 A public hearing opened at 6:43 p.m. Public Hearing closed at 6:47 p.m.   

 

This final Public Hearing seeking community input will close out the grant as required by the 

Community Development Block Grant process. 

 

 

 



June 27, 2023 City of Guadalupe Council Meeting Minutes  Page 5 of 7 

 

REGULAR BUSINESS 

 
11. Fiscal Year 2023-2024 proposed budget workshop. 

 

Written report: Janice Davis, Finance Director  
Recommendation: That the City Council review and interactively discuss the proposed budget 
for the fiscal year 2023-2024, along with the Capital Improvements Projects Budget, Capital Facilities 
Program of Projects, American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) allocation of funds.   

 
Finance Director, Janice Davis detailed an overview of the proposed budget for fiscal year 2023-2024, 

along with the Capital Improvements Projects Budget, Capital Facilities Program of Projects, 

American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) allocation of funds.   

The preliminary draft of the budget included general fund revenues of $6,979,313 and expenditures 

of $7,022,485 for a difference of $43,172. This information is illustrated from the June 27th written 

report along with the details attached to it. 

Ms. Davis then proceeded to provide an overview of all other funds for which the City Council had 

little concerns with staff’s recommendations: 

• Streets Special Funds 

• Gas Tx Fund 

• LTF Fund 

• SB1 RMRA Fund 

• SB1 SRTS Fund 

• ASHC Pedestrian Fund 

• Enterprise Fund: Water Operating, Water Capital, Wastewater Operating, Wastewater Capital, 

Solid Waste. 

• Other funds: Transit, Misc. Special Funds, Lighting and Landscaping District Funds, Successor 

Agency Funds, Capital Improvement Projects, and ARPA Funds. 

The City Council reviewed the ARPA budget and determined that it be reviewed and adjusted in the 

coming months. Council suggested that staff order laptops from this fund for official city council 

business. 

Here is a summary of the points that were asked to be reviewed in further detail and come back to 
the July 11, 2023 City Council meeting for Council consideration. 
 

• the additional amount to add to expenditures for the library rent. 

• 20% increase in medical benefits 

• analyze the $300,000 coming from the Lighting District to make sure we have it allocated 
properly to cover the CIP project. 

• Cost for utilities for Leroy Park, and Vets center 

• clarify that the $10,000 for the booster pump replacement is for O’Connell and not Central Park. 

• Provide the grant/expenditure balances year to date for CBDG Funds. 
 



June 27, 2023 City of Guadalupe Council Meeting Minutes  Page 6 of 7 

 

The City Attorney determined that since this is a preliminary budget, and this item is at the end of 
this fiscal year, it is necessary to provide continuing resolution tonight for the July 11, 2023, City 
Council meeting. He suggested that a resolution be adopted tonight.   
 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tempore Costa Jr. and seconded by Council Member Lizalde to 
approve Resolution No. 2023-55 to read as follows. 5-0. Motion passed. 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-55 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE CONTINUING EXPENDITURES 
AND REVENUES IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 2022-23 CITY BUDGET IN LIEU OF TIMELY 2023-24 
BUDGET ADOPTION 
        
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Guadalupe previously adopted a budget for fiscal year 2022-
23, which authorizes expenditures through and including June 30, 2023, and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council wishes to continue the existing budget beyond the end of the 2022-23 
fiscal year until such time as the 2023-24 budget is approved. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: 
 
SECTION 1.  The City of Guadalupe hereby extends the 2022-2023 Budget until the earlier of July 

31, 2023, or the adoption of the FY 2023-24 Budget and authorizes spending in 
accordance with the levels prescribed in 2022-23 budget. 

 
SECTION 2. This resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting on the 27th day of June 2023 by the following vote:   
 
Motion:     
  
AYES:     
NOES:      
ABSENT:      
ABSTAIN:   
  
I, Todd Bodem, Deputy City Clerk of the City of Guadalupe DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing 
Resolution, being C.C. Resolution No. 2023-55, has been duly signed by the Mayor and attested by 
the City Clerk, all at a regular meeting of the City Council, held June 27, 2023, and that same was 
approved and adopted. 
   
ATTEST:        
              
_________________________   _________________________ 
Todd Bodem, Deputy City Clerk   Ariston Julian, Mayor 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 



June 27, 2023 City of Guadalupe Council Meeting Minutes  Page 7 of 7 

 

 
_________________________________ 
Philip F. Sinco, City Attorney 

 

12. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS  
 

Add Council Communication Policy to a future agenda. 

 

13. ANNOUNCEMENTS – COUNCIL ACTIVITY/COMMITTEE REPORTS  

 

N/A 
 

14. ADJOURNMENT TO CLOSED SESSION MEETING  

 

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tempore Costa Jr. and seconded by Council Member Lizalde 

to leave the regular session and enter closed session at 9:03 p.m. 5-0. Motion passed. 

15. Conference with Labor Negotiators 

(Subdivision (a) of Gov. Code Section 54957.6) 

Agency designated representatives: City Administrator and Human Resources Manager 

Employee organizations: Service Employees International Union (SEIU), Local 620  
 

16. ADJOURNMENT TO OPEN SESSION MEETING 
 

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tempore Costa Jr. and seconded by Council Member 

Hernandez to enter regular session at 10:16 p.m. 5-0. Motion passed. 

 

17. CLOSED SESSION ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

No Reportable Action. 
 

18. ADJOURNMENT 
 

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tempore Costa Jr. and seconded by Council Member Hernandez 
to adjourn the meeting at 10:17 p.m. 5-0. Motion passed. 
 
 
Prepared by:       Approved by: 

 
___________________________________   ________________________________ 
Todd Bodem, Deputy City Clerk    Ariston Julian, Mayor 



Page 1 of 3 

Agenda Item No. 6D 

REPORT TO THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE 
Agenda of July 11, 2023 

_______________________________ 
Prepared by:   
Todd Bodem, City Administrator 

SUBJECT: Consider entering into an agreement with Chisam Utility Management LLC for professional 
Interim Public Works Director/City Engineering services 

RECOMMENDATION: 

It is recommended the Council adopt Resolution No. 2023-56 authorizing the City to enter into an 
agreement with Chisam Utility Management LLC for professional Interim Public Works Director/City 
Engineer services.  

BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 

From time-to-time in the City of Guadalupe’s history, the City utilized any combination of professional 
engineers, public works director and city administrators to manage the oversight of water wastewater 
and streets divisions of the public works. From 2003 through 2017, the City utilized outside consultants 
for professional engineering services while the City Administrator managed the Public Works 
Department. 

On January 26, 2016, the Council approved water and wastewater rates which included an allowance for 
adding staff to Water and Wastewater departments. In May 2016, the new position of Public Works & 
Utilities Director, Water, Wastewater and Public Works was created, but the Council tabled the item for 
a later date. 

On November 28, 2016, a reorganization with two (2) new positions was presented and approved by the 
Council.  The City Administrator felt that rather than recruit at the level of Public Works & Utilities 
Director, a reorganization would better serve the City. The position of Maintenance & Field Operations 
Manager was approved with all public works and utilities functions reporting to it. A new lower-level 
position was also approved. At the time, for FY 16/17, the cost savings with this reorganization was 
significant. 

Subsequently, a five-year review of engineering costs determined that there would be additional cost 
savings to bring the city engineer function in-house, coupled with the public works functions, at a 
director’s level. The position of Maintenance & Field Operations Manager would report to this position 
as would the “contracted services.”  



 
Page 2 of 3 

 

In June 2017, a job description for the Public Works Director/City Engineer was approved. 

The new job description was developed with a salary range, following the seven-step progression used 
in Guadalupe for all represented and unrepresented employed employees.  

Salary and benefits for the Public Works Director/City Engineer position are split among Water, 
Wastewater, Streets and Building Department funds. 
 
DISCUSSION: 

On July 15, 2019, the City hired Ms. Shannon Sweeney as the new Public Works Director/City Engineer 
to manage the Public Works Department. Ms. Sweeney was amply qualified for the position with 
multiple degrees, classifications, and certifications, in addition to having extensive relevant work 
experience. 

After four (4) years of service, In June 2023, Ms. Sweeney accepted a position with another city and 
delivered a letter of resignation to the City Administrator with an effective final day of June 15, 2023. 

From the time of her resignation letter, the City posted for the recruitment of Ms. Sweeney’s 
replacement. Concurrently, the City Administrator canvassed for an Interim Public Works Director / City 
Engineer and discovered a well-qualified person who was willing to help the City out until a permanent 
replacement is hired. 

Mr. Dwayne Chisam P.E., from Chisam Utility Management LLC, presented the City with a resume 
(Attachment 2) and proposal for Public Works Director/City Engineer on an interim basis. Mr. Chisam 
has approximately 40 years of professional civil engineering experience and even served as the Public 
Works Director for the City of Guadalupe from May 1989-February 1991. 

The proposal/scope of work attached to the agreement would provide oversight of the water 
wastewater and street divisions of public works. City engineering services for capital and maintenance 
projects would also be managed within the city and include attending meetings as directed by the City 
Administrator and two (2) City Council meetings per month.  The effort is anticipated to be approximately 
20 hours per week, Monday Through Thursday from 1:00 to 6:00 p.m.  

Attachment 3 for Council consideration is the proposed agreement with Chisam Utility Management 
LLC. The proposed agreement provides for a single-year term (or until a permanent person is hired) with 
an opportunity to extend the agreement based on the mutual written agreement of both parties.  In the 
staff’s opinion, it is in the City’s best interest to approve an agreement with Mr. Chisam based on the 
essential need of an engineer and his experience and proven track record working for various agencies.  

Until a permanent Public Works Director/ City Engineer is hired, city staff does not have the capacity to 
manage public works without outside assistance. 

Options Available to the Council 

1. The Council could approve the agreement as recommended; or 
2. The Council could direct those changes to be made to the agreement; or 



 
Page 3 of 3 

 

3. The Council could decide not to enter into the agreement. 
 
If the City Council chooses the first option above, the new agreement will be effective retroactively as of 
June 27, 2023.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

Mr. Chisam has agreed to provide interim Public Works Director / City Engineer services with a rate of 
$150.00 for 20 hours per week and will not negatively impact the Fiscal Year 2023-2024 budget. The 
proposed contract will be expensed from various departmental enterprises, measures, and grants with 
minimal coming out of the general fund. If approved, the city gets the benefit of an interim public works 
director and city engineer. If the city were to contract with an engineering firm, the cost for just the 
engineer is estimated to be between $230 and $260 per hour.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 

1. Resolution No. 2023-56. 
2. Dwayne K. Chisam P.E. Resume 
3. Agreement for Consultant Services between the City of Guadalupe and Chisam Utility 

Management LLC 
 

 
 



Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION NO.  2023-56 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE AUTHORIZING THE CITY TO ENTER 
INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH CHISAM UTILITY MANAGEMENT LLC FOR PROFESSIONAL INTERIM PUBLIC 

WORKS DIRECTOR/ CITY ENGINEERING SERVICES  

WHEREAS, the City desires to utilize a professional consultant for Public Works Director and City Engineer 
services for the Public Works Department until a permanent professional is hired; and 

WHEREAS, City staff negotiated with Chisam Utility Management LLC (Mr. Dwayne Chisam) that 
incorporates a scope of work at an hourly rate of $150.00 for 20 hours per week or approximately $12,000 
per month to serve as the Public Works Director and City Engineer for the Public Works Department; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Chisam has approximately 40 years of experience working for various agencies as a director 
and engineer and served as the Public Works Director for the City of Guadalupe from May 1989-February 
1991; and 

WHEREAS, said agreement requires that the City will reimburse Mr. Chisam for travel expenses following 
the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) standard mileage rates for the use of his vehicle; and 

WHEREAS, the City desires to retain Chisam Utility Management LLC to provide said services with an 
agreement retroactively commencing on June 27, 2023 through June 27, 2024, or until a permanent position 
is hired. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Guadalupe as follows:  

SECTION 1.  The Agreement for Consulting Service between the City of Guadalupe and Chisam Utility 
Management LLC, attached to the staff report for this item and incorporated in this resolution, 
is hereby approved. 

SECTION 2.   The Mayor is authorized to sign the Agreement with Chisam Utility Management LLC on behalf 
of the City. 

SECTION 3.   The City Clerk is hereby authorized to make minor changes herein to address clerical errors, 
so long as substantial conformance of the intent of this document is maintained. In doing so, 
the City Clerk shall consult with the City Administrator and City Attorney concerning any 
changes deemed necessary. 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting on the 11th day of July 2023 by the following vote: 

MOTION: 

AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:   
ABSTAINED: 

ATTACHMENT 1



Page 2 of 2 

I, Amelia M. Villegas, City Clerk of the City of Guadalupe DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution, 
being Resolution No. 2023-56, has been duly signed by the Mayor and attested by the City Clerk, all at a 
regular meeting of the City Council, held July 11, 2023, and that same was approved and adopted.   

ATTEST: 

______________________________  ____________________________________ 
Amelia M. Villegas, City Clerk  Ariston Julian, Mayor 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

______________________________  
Philip F. Sinco, City Attorney 



DWAYNE K. CHISAM P.E.

  Home: (805) 264-5592 
   Work: (661) 943-3201 

35629 Cheseboro Road       
Palmdale, CA 93552        

   Cell: (805) 264-5592 

PROFESSIONAL CIVIL ENGINEER 

Mr. Chisam is a Public Works/Utilities professional with over twenty-five years of public works and 
utility management experience. He has extensive knowledge of the water, wastewater, and solid 
waste industries. He is a proven leader with exceptional communication skills and a commitment 
to excellent customer service. His reputation as an innovator, critical thinker, and problem solver 
is well documented, and he is respected by policy makers, his peers, and employees for his 
knowledge, fairness, and professionalism. 

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 

ANTELOPE VALLEY-EAST KERN WATER AGENCY 
6500 West Avenue N, Palmdale, CA, 93552 

Assistant General Manager  October 2012 to Present 

AVEK is a wholesale water agency that imports State Project Water to the Antelope Valley for 
delivery to local retail water suppliers. The Agency has four water treatment plants and an 
expansive distribution system. In addition, the Agency operates two groundwater banking projects 
that provide increased reliability for imported State Water supplies. The Agency has a staff of 
approximately 48 employees with an operating budget and capital budget of approximately $70 
million. Major accomplishments include:  

• Preparation of first five year Strategic Plan
• Completed the acquisition of property to expand waterbank operations
• Completed the first five year financial plan
• Established procedures for the annual water rate study
• Completed the IRWMP, UWMP
• Developed the concepts of enterprise water banking
• Negotiated to acquire new non-state water supply for new development
• Assisted in the negotiations for water transfers and exchanges
• Assisted the litigation team in Antelope Valley groundwater adjudication
• Developed a positive working relationship with local retail water suppliers
• Developed comprehensive alternative energy plan for the Agency

CITY of PISMO BEACH       
760 Mattie Road, Pismo Beach, CA 93450 

Director of Public Works / City Engineer  October 2008 to October 2012 

Pismo Beach is a tourist community with a population of 7,500 permanent residents. Pismo 
Beach is a full service community with a Public Works staff of 30 full-time employees, and an 
operating budget of $8 million. The capital budget averages between $3 and $5 million per year. 
Public Works provides the following public services: water, wastewater, capital master planning, 

ATTACHMENT 2



engineering, pier and beach maintenance, public facilities maintenance, and fleet services. Major 
accomplishments include: 

• Established the Northern Cities Technical Group for managing the regional 
groundwater basin  

• Increased the reliability of the City’s State Water supply with purchase of 
additional Table A allocation 

• Completed the Pismo Beach Promenade and Pier Plaza improvements 
• Completed the seismic study and maintenance plan for eight water reservoirs 
• Completed the Urban Water Management Plan, with inclusion of recycled water 
• Established operational and maintenance standards for Public Works 
• Organized a regional approach to address a threat of seawater intrusion 
• Created and implemented MS4 Stormwater Management Plan  
• Provided staff support and expertise to Lopez Advisory Board, WRAC   

 
CITY of LOS BANOS                                                                    
520 J Street, Los Banos, CA 93635          

Director of Public Works / City Engineer                                     July 2006 – October 2008 

The Public Works Department has 56 full-time employees and an annual budget of $30 million, 
including capital improvements. The Public Works Department is comprised of three divisions: 
Engineering, Public Works Operations, and Parks and Recreation. Los Banos is a full-service city 
providing water, wastewater, storm drainage, engineering, street and facility maintenance, and 
fleet services. The department processes annexation and subdivision requests, prepares utility 
master plans and capital improvement programs. Major accomplishments include: 

• Accelerated project timeline and funding for a major highway construction project 
• Completed master plans for wastewater, water, and storm drainage utilities 
• Reorganized two departments into a more efficient and responsive organization 
• Completed strategic plan for Wastewater Treatment Plant expansion 
• Completed a detailed traffic model for anticipated future growth 
• Developed comprehensive development plan for Community Center Project 
• Completed the Child Development Center 
• Established a multi-year Capital Improvement Program 
• Planned five annexations totaling over 1500 acres   

 
CITY of SANTA MARIA                                                
2065 E. Main Street, Santa Maria, CA 93454            

Director of Utilities                                                                                    March 1991 - July 2006 

The Utilities Department is responsible for the administration and management of the three City 
operated utilities with a combined operating budget of $50 million. The department contains 85 
full-time employees and a capital improvement budget between $10 and $20 million per year. The 
department is organized into six divisions: water, wastewater, solid waste, flood control, 
regulatory compliance, and fleet services. The Director is the City’s representative on the Central 
Coast Water Authority Operating Committee and a member of the litigation team for the 
adjudication of the Santa Maria groundwater basin. Major accomplishments include: 

• Securing groundwater, return flows, and surface water rights via the Santa Maria 
groundwater basin adjudication and physical solution 

• Constructed major water infrastructure to import State Water 



• Constructed Blending and Disinfection Facility for State Water  
• Negotiated two water sales transactions with neighboring agencies 
• Expanded Wastewater Treatment Plant 
• Increased sewer trunk line capacity 
• Constructed an additional 7 MG water storage reservoir 
• Installed major water transmission mains 
• Added flood control facilities 
• Expanded existing regional sanitary landfill 
• Purchased 2000 acres for regional park and new landfill  
• Created the Non-Hazardous Impacted Soil program  
• Constructed waste to energy programs 
• Established the hauled waste program at the Wastewater Treatment Plant 
• Established green waste and biosolids composting operations via public/private 

partnership 
 
CITY of GUADALUPE                                                     
918 Obispo Street, Guadalupe, CA 93454 

Director of Public Works                                                                     May 1989 - February 1991 

The City of Guadalupe is a small full-service City where the Director is responsible for all aspects 
of the public works operations including water, wastewater, solid waste, street and facility 
maintenance, long range planning, and creating capital improvement programs. Major 
accomplishments include: 

• Development of a Wastewater Master Plan and expansion plan for the Wastewater 
Treatment Plant 

• Completion of a utility rate and impact fee study 
• Implemented the Source Reduction and Recycling Element 
• Created the first Building and Safety Department 

 
CITY of ARROYO GRANDE                               
214 E. Branch Street, Arroyo Grande, CA  93420 

Special Projects Engineer                                                                           July 1985 - May 1989 

Assisted the Director in all facets of the department's operations and also served as the 
Engineering Division Manager. Responsibilities included planning, public works design, 
administration of field inspections, review of development projects, plan checking, subdivision 
processing, preparing departmental budgets, written reports, cost estimates, and promoting a 
good working relationship with the building industry. 
 
CITY of HAWTHORNE                                               
4455 W. 126th Street, Hawthorne, CA 90250 

Junior Civil Engineer                                                                                March 1983 - July 1985 

Provided a variety of professional engineering and administration services within the Engineering 
Department, including design and preparation of plans and specifications for Public Works 
projects such as water mains, street reconstruction, and a major airport master plan and 
rehabilitation project at Hawthorne Municipal Airport. 

 



LICENSES 

Professional Civil Engineer - License No. PE 43851 
Grade lll Water Treatment Operator License - Certificate No. 14932 (inactive) 

Water Distribution Grade ll - Certificate No. 14932 (inactive) 
 

EDUCATION 

Bachelor of Science (BS) - California State University at Long Beach 
Associate of Arts (AA) - El Camino Community College 

 
 

 



ATTACHMENT 3

































Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Item No. 6E 

REPORT TO THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE 
Agenda of July 11, 2023 

 ________________________________   
Prepared by:        
Todd Bodem, City Administrator  

SUBJECT: Designating Interim Public Works Director Dwayne Chisam, as the Authorized Agent and 
Signatory for Guadalupe Transit grants, documents, and related periodic reports, effective July 
12, 2023, with the departure of the current signatory, Shannon Sweeney. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2023-57 authorizing Interim Public Works Director Dwayne 
Chisam, as the Authorized Agent and Signatory for Guadalupe Transit grants, documents, and related periodic 
reports, effective July 12, 2023. 

BACKGROUND: 

The administration of Guadalupe Transit business involves working with a variety of regional, state, and 
federal agencies.  These agencies require that participating municipalities designate, by formal resolution, 
the individual authorized to act on behalf of that municipality.  Specifically, these agencies or activities 
include, but not limited to: 

* Transportation Development Act (TDA) & State Transit Assistance (STA) Claims, request for funds, and
periodic reports.

* Annual Federal Transit Administration (FTA) 5311 Operating Grant Applications, request for funds, and
periodic reports.

* Various Federal Transit Administration (FTA) operating and capital grants as needed, requests for
funds, and periodic reports.

* Various State of California transit grant applications as needed, requests for funds and related reports.
* State of California Department of Transportation (DOT) documents and periodic reports.
* Santa Barbara County Association of Governments (SBCAG) documents and periodic reports.

DISCUSSION: 

There are a number of eminent transit related items that will require the City’s attention and will require the 
signature of an authorized agent.  The current transit signatory, Shannon Sweeney, vacated her position as 
Public Works Director on June 15, 2023.  City staff recommends that the City Council adopt the attached 
resolution as presented to substitute Dwayne Chisam in place of Shannon Sweeney effective July 12, 2023, 
as the Authorized Agent and Signatory for Guadalupe Transit grants, documents, and related periodic reports.  
City staff will follow by distributing copies of the executed resolution to the appropriate agencies.    

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Resolution No. 2023-57



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-57 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE AUTHORIZING THE DESIGNATION 
OF AUTHORIZED AGENT AND SIGNATORY FOR GUADALUPE TRANSIT GRANTS, RELATED 

DOCUMENTATION, & PERIODIC REPORTS EFFECTIVE JULY 12, 2023 

WHEREAS, the City of Guadalupe relies on a number of transit agencies and grants for operational and 
capital funding; and 

WHEREAS, these programs require that the City designate and authorize by formal resolution, an 
individual to serve as the authorized agent and signatory on grant applications, claim forms, request for 
payments, and periodic reports; and 

WHEREAS, with the departure of the individual currently designated as the authorized agent and 
signatory on grant applications, claim forms, request for payments, and periodic reports, Shannon 
Sweeney, who left City employment on June 16, 2023, there is no person who can serve in this 
capacity; and 

WHEREAS, in order for the City and transit staff to continue the proper and timely administration of 
transit business, it is necessary to designate another individual to serve as the authorized agent and 
signatory on grant applications, claim forms, request for payments, and periodic reports. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Guadalupe as follow: 

SECTION 1.  That effective July 12, 2023, Dwayne Chisam, Interim Public Works Director is authorized 
to execute, sign, and file related report documents on behalf of the City of Guadalupe 
related to the following, but not limited to, transit programs: 

• Transportation Development Act (TDA) & State Transit Assistance (STA) Claims, request
for funds, and periodic reports.

• Annual Federal Transit Administration (FTA) 5311 Operating Grant Applications, request
for funds, and periodic reports.

• Various Federal Transit Administration (FTA) operating and capital grants as needed,
requests for funds, and periodic reports.

• Various State of California transit grant applications as needed, requests for funds, and
related reports.

• State of California Department of Transportation (DOT) documents and periodic reports.
• Santa Barbara County Association of Governments (SBCAG) documents and periodic

reports.

SECTION 2.  A copy of this resolution be transmitted to each of the agencies identified above. 

SECTION 3.  The City Clerk is hereby authorized to make minor changes herein to address clerical 
errors, so long as substantial conformance of the intent of this document is maintained. In 
doing so, the City Clerk shall consult with the City Administrator and City Attorney 
concerning any changes deemed necessary. 

ATTACHMENT 1



PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting on the 11th day of July 2023 by the following 
vote:  
 
MOTION:   
 
AYES:        
NOES: 
ABSENT:        
ABSTAINED:  
 
I, Amelia M. Villegas, City Clerk of the City of Guadalupe DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing 
Resolution, being Resolution No. 2023-57, has been duly signed by the Mayor and attested by the City 
Clerk, all at a regular meeting of the City Council, held July 11, 2023, and that same was approved and 
adopted.   
 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________   ____________________________________ 
Amelia M. Villegas, City Clerk    Ariston Julian, Mayor 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
______________________________  
Philip F. Sinco, City Attorney 

 
 
 



Page 1 of 2 

Agenda Item No. 6F 

REPORT TO THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE 
Agenda of July 11, 2023 

  
_______________________________ _________________________________ 
Prepared by:   Approved by:  
Janice Davis, Finance Director Todd Bodem, City Administrator 

SUBJECT: Fiscal Year 2022-23 Appropriations Limit 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2023-58 establishing the revised appropriations limit from 
tax proceeds for Fiscal Year 2022-23   

BACKGROUND: 

Per Article XIII B of the California Constitution, the City is required to calculate annually the expenditure 
appropriations limit from tax proceeds to determine compliance with Propositions 4 (Gann Initiative) 
and 111 (Spending Limitations Act of 1990).  This calculation is based on the previous year’s 
appropriations limit of $3,403,929.48 multiplied by the growth factor in the California Per Capita 
Personal Income percentage increase (1.0755) and multiplied again by the County population 
percentage change (1.0014) for an adjustment per factor of 1.0770. This calculation is demonstrated on 
Exhibit 1 to Resolution No. 2023-xx. The California Department of Finance provides both the population 
change and the per capita personal income change in May of each year, see Attachment 2. 

DISCUSSION: 

The City is responsible for dividing citywide revenues between appropriations subject to the Gann Limit 
(tax revenue) and non-tax revenue and then comparing the appropriations subject to the Gann Limit to 
the cumulative appropriation limit.  For Fiscal Year 2022-23, the cumulative appropriation limit has been 
determined to be $3,666,051.45. 

During any fiscal year, a government entity may not appropriate any proceeds of taxes received in excess 
of the appropriations limit.  The estimated tax-based revenues for Fiscal Year 2022-23 have been 
calculated to be $3,613,967, per the approved FY22-23 budget, which is approximately $52,084.45 less 
than the appropriations limit. Therefore, the City is in compliance with Article XIIIB of the California 
Constitution. If the City Council adopts the resolution to establish the appropriation limit for Fiscal Year 
2022-23, the City will be in compliance with Propositions 4 and 111. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

None for FY2023. 

Janice Davis  



Page 2 of 2 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Resolution No. 2023-58
2. Department of Finance Price and Population Information Letter



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-58 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE, CALIFORNIA, ESTABLISHING 
THE CITY’S APPROPRIATIONS LIMIT FOR FISCAL YEAR 2022-23  

WHEREAS, sections 7900 et seq. of the Government Code provide for the effective and efficient 
implementation of Article XIII B of the California Constitution; and 

WHEREAS, Government Code sections 7910, et seq. requires each local government to establish its 
appropriations limit each year pursuant to Article XIII B of the California Constitution; and 

WHEREAS, in 1990, the voters of California adopted Proposition 111 which amended Article XIII B of 
the California Constitution; and 

WHEREAS, among the changes implemented by Proposition 111 are adjustments to the growth 
factors used to calculate the annual appropriations limit; and 

WHEREAS, Proposition 111 establishes Fiscal Year 1986-87 as the base year for calculating the annual 
appropriations limit and permits the City to re-establish the annual appropriations limit for all 
succeeding years based upon the new growth factors; and 

WHEREAS, a resolution establishing the annual appropriations limit is to be adopted at a regularly 
scheduled meeting of the City Council. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Guadalupe as follows: 

1. The Council of the City of Guadalupe elects to use the change in California per capita income
as the cost of living adjustment factor and the annual County population change as the
population adjustment factor.

2. The appropriations limit for the fiscal year 2022-23 is hereby set at $3,666,051.45 as detailed
in Exhibit 1, attached hereto, which is hereby made part of this resolution.

3. The City reserves the right to adjust or amend the appropriations limit based upon the use of
alternative growth factors as authorized by Proposition 111 if such changes or revisions would 
result in a more advantageous appropriation limit, now or in the future.

4. Notice is hereby given that any judicial action or proceeding to attach, review, set aside, void
or annul this action shall be commenced within 45 days of the effective date of this resolution.

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting on the 11th of July 2023 by the following vote: 

MOTION: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAINED: 

ATTACHMENT 1



I, Amelia M. Villegas, City Clerk of the City of Guadalupe, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing 
Resolution, being Resolution No. 2023-58 has been duly signed by the Mayor and attested by the City 
Clerk, all at a regular meeting of the City Council, held July 11, 2023 and that same was approved and 
adopted. 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ ________________________________ 
Amelia M. Villegas, City Clerk  Ariston Julian, Mayor 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

_________________________________ 
Phillip F. Sinco, City Attorney 



EXHIBIT 1

3130 Sales And Use Taxes 549,435.00$   
3136 Local Sales Tax add-on 691,731.00$   
3140 Real Property Transfer Tax 30,000.00$   
3145 Tax Increments 1,620,801.00$  
3150 Utility User Tax 450,000.00$   
3210 Business License 272,000.00$   
3410 Motor Vehicle In Lieu Tax -$   

Total Appropriations subject to the Limit 3,613,967.00$   

Prior Year (FY 2022) Gann Limit Revised 3,403,929.48$  

A. California per Capita adj 1.0755
B. County Population adj 1.0014

Change Factor (A*B) 1.0770

Adjustment Factor 1.0770

Gann Limit for FY 2023 3,666,051.45$   

Projected Appropriations are below the limit by: 52,084.45$   

*Source: FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget

FY2023 TAX APPROPRIATIONS SUBJECT TO THE GANN LIMIT

 Appropriations Subject to the Gann Limit*

 Calculation of the Gann Appropriations Limit

N:\01-Finance (Janice)\Budget\GANN Limits\23-24 Appropriation Limit
6/30/2023



�����������	
�����	
�����������	��������������������

���������������
��������
������ !"#$%&�'()$#�*+$%,(�+-.�',/ 0+%),-�1-2,(3+%),-�4//(,/()+%),-5�6)3)%�7��
���
��8�����������9����
��7�������
�����:���;�
����������������������
��������������
��������
�������������������	������	��
��������
���������	�����������<���������=��
��
��
��������������
����������	������	��
��������
�����������>�������?@�����@�
����=����
��A
���������	��
�������������
�
�	@�����
��������@����������������
��������
��
����
�
������
��������������B�C��DEEFGHIJKE�D�LMNOPQJR�EHJ�GHFKSJ�PK�TFUPVNMKPFWR�LJM�GFLPEF�LJMRNKFU�
�������������������������
�
X
�	�������
�������������������
����������	������	����������������������������B�C�������
��
����
�
���Y����������Z����
���������
���������
����������������������
����������	������	���Y����������7����
��������������
����������	������	���������
����������
���������
�����������������9���������
����������	������	����������������������������������
���
���
���
X���������
��������
�
�����������
����',/ 0+%),-�'#($#-%�[\+-]#�2,(��/#$)+0�̂)5%()$%5�_�������
����
���
�������������̀ �
�������������������
��
����
�
���7��
���
��8�����������9����
��7�������
�����a����
�������
�
����
������
����	���
�	�����������
��
����
�
���Y��
����bccc�Z@�����
��de7f�������7��
���
��7���
���
���������������
������
����
���
������������������
��
����
�
����������
�����������9�����������
����������7��
���
��7���
���
�������̀��������������������A
�	�A�̀ �
��_���
����
���
������;�
����̀����A����������������
��������
��
����
�
���������������������������
���������������
������������
���Y���;����
�������
����
���
�������������
����;�
�������������̀���
������������
�������@��
���
�����	���������@���������A�
�������g��������	��������
�A�����������������
��
����
�
����',/ 0+%),-�[#(%)2)$+%),-�9���������
������
�
���
����	��������
����������
�
�����������
����7��
���
��8�����������9����
��7�������
��??��h�i�����������
��������������
����������
�������������
��JREPIFEJ�EHFE�JjGJJQR�EHJ�GkMMJKE�GJMEPVPJQ�LNLkUFEPNK�lPEH�EHJ�mEFEJ�TNKEMNUUJMWR�nVVPGJo�*)-+-$#�p)00�$#(%)2q�%\#�\)]\#(�#5%)3+%#�%,�%\#��%+%#�[,-%(,00#(�!q�r -#�st�uvuu��'0#+5#�w,%#���9����MPNM�xJFMWR�GPEx�LNLkUFEPNK�JREPIFEJR�IFx�yJ�MJOPRJQo�9����������
�����������
���������	��
��̀��������
���
����������c��������������;����
�����	���
�	���
������@����������������������	����
��8��������z�
�����ed?if�C�CB{�ai��|<<}~��Y89cg�Z�_}<8��
������Z���<8c|Y�}c�7�
�����������
������Y����������

ATTACHMENT 2



��������� ����	
��������� ���	����	��������������������� ���!�����"#���$�#��%&���'����$(����������"�����$���$!���)�(*�!#��$���$��$+ &����"����#  �$ ��#��$(���+���,-�#�)$���$!��"����*$)��(�(*�,$'-��."���$���$!���)�(*�!#��$�� �$)�'�'�"������� ����# ��#� ���$(#���(�$+����!��"�� ����(�#*���"#(*���(� ����# ��#� ���$(#���(�$+������������'/��"�� ����(�#*���"#(*���$�,��&��'��(������(*��"��!���#��-�#��0100203�#  �$ ��#��$(���+�������4���5# ��#�4���$(#���(�$+��6���#��7�#�� 4����(�#*���"#(*��8679� $)��� ��$��-�#��0100203� :�;;���� 6$��$<�(*����#(��=#+ ���&��(*��#+ ��� $ &�#��$(��"#(*��#('��"���"#(*���(�5#��!$�(�#� ����# ��#� ���$(#���(�$+��#��*�$<�"�!#��$����(��$+ &��(*�#�0100203�#  �$ ��#��$(���+��������>�?@�4���5# ��#�5$���$!�A�)�(*�5"#(*��B�:�;;� ����(��4$ &�#��$(�5"#(*��B�21�31� ����(��4���5# ��#�5$���$!�A�)�(*��$()����'��$�#��#��$�� :�;;�C�D11�B�D�1:;;�D11�4$ &�#��$(��$()����'��$�#��#��$�� 21�31�C�D11�B�1�EE:�D11�5#��&�#��$(�$!�!#��$��!$��67�0100203�� D�1:;;�=�1�EE:�B�D�1:03�

lzarate
Rectangle



��������	�
�������� ���������������������������������������� ��������!���"�#$���"���"%�&�����'�()�*+*(����&�����'�()�*+**���,�-������� �������)�&�����'�()�*+**������'����'� ���������������*+*(.*+**� ...�� ��������!���"�#$���"���"�...(.(.*(� (.(.**� -������� ��������(.(.*+**�/�01��2�
3�
��24	��150�6�
7�01	
���85�	1��84�9��47	�:5;75��/�01��2�
3�
��/�01��<�
���/5�=�0>�?0�0�5
75
�1	9�
�@AB��@�C��@BD��@C���@BB��@BE��@CA��@AF�F@FD�

AGBHA�B�G�ED���G�BA�HGE���FBGCEE�HHGFDC�BB�GCEC�AGHAH�B��GHEB�
AG�AA�B�GCE����GACB�HGAFF�FBG�DC�HEGADB�B�CGCB��AGD�C�B�EGDBB�

AG�AA�B�GCE����GACB�HGAFF�F�GHFA�HEGACB�B�CGCB��AGD�C�B�CGCAE�65401I�J51��� �@BF� F�HGA��� F�CGB��� FFAGBEF�

KLM��4��50���0��49	�
	��9	01��50�N	9	
���;���1�
I��0�1����1�50���09�>
547�O4�
1	
��
	��9	01���0��1�1	�;	01����0�1�141�50�G��1�1	��09�N	9	
����5

	�1�50����0�1�141�50���09�=	1	
�0�P5;	�@�

lzarate
Rectangle



��������	�
�������� ������������������������������������������������� ���!�"#���!���!$�%�����&�'(�)*)'����%�����&�'(�)*))������&� ���������������)*)'+))� +++�����������'+'+)'� � ���!�"#���!���!�+++'+'+))�,�-�.�	/0�1-�0
20
�3	4�506-37�803��� �9�:��9�;� �<=:><�����<��?<�=;� �<=::<��=��<���<>;��,�-��
�-����0�1-�0
20
�3	4�506-37�803��� �9=@��9=@� ;:@<�>@�;:@<�>@� ;:�<>�@�;:�<>�@�,�-�A0�B6�-�1-�0
20
�3	4�506-37�803��� �9>@��9::� ?C@<�=:�==;<�=�� ?��<@�=�=;C<?;;�,�-�D6���EF��20�1-�0
20
�3	4�506-37�803��� �9@:��9�;� C>@<��>��=><?=C� C>=<=CC��=?<:�C�,�-�G�3	0�1-�0
20
�3	4�506-37�803��� �9@C��9@�� ?;@<�=?�=>C<:?:� ?;�<�@��=::<>>��,�-3��H�
F�
��1-�0
20
�3	4�506-37�803��� C9=���9C:� ��=<??C�:�;<>��� ���<:���:�@<C���,�-3��5��
��1-�0
20
�3	4�506-37�803��� �9?@��9?@� C<;��<;@:�C<@�?<;=@� C<;C�<��?�C<;@�<==��,�-3��5
6I�1-�0
20
�3	4�506-37�803��� �9�=��9��� C��<�?���??<>CC� C�?<>;=��??<>���,J��3��1-�0
20
�3	4�506-37�803��� �9@>��9;�� CC><�:C�C;C<;�=� CC:<C>C�C;�<�:=�KLM��6��0-���-��64	�
	��4	-3��0-�N	4	
���O���3�
7��-�3����3�0-���-4�/
062�B6�
3	
��
	��4	-3���-��3�3	�O	-3����-�3�363�0-�<��3�3	��-4�N	4	
����0

	�3�0-����-�3�363�0-���-4�P	3	
�-�J0O	�9�

lzarate
Rectangle



Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Item No. 6G. 

REPORT TO THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE 
Agenda of July 11, 2023 

  
________________________________     __________________________________ 
Prepared by:            Approved by: 
Michael Cash, Director of Public Safety  Todd Bodem, City Administrator 

SUBJECT: Donation of $41,127.28 to the Guadalupe Police Department from the One805 
Foundation towards the purchase of a generator for the public safety building.  

RECOMMENDATION: 

It is recommended that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2023-59 accepting the donation of 
$41,127.28 to the Guadalupe Police Department from the One805 Foundation towards the purchase of 
a generator for the public safety building. 

BACKGROUND: 

On May 30, 2023, the One805 Foundation delivered a check in the amount of $41,127.28 to the 
Guadalupe Police Department towards the purchase of a generator for the public safety building.  The 
group supports Santa Barbara County First Responder agencies to secure equipment and supplies these 
departments would normally not have funding to obtain.   

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The fiscal impact of this donation is positive for the General Fund and will assist the police department 
with the purchase of a generator for the public safety building.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Resolution 2023-59

Michael Cash  



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-59 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE, CALIFORNIA ACCEPTING A 
DONATION IN THE AMOUNT OF $41, 127.28 FOR THE GUADALUPE POLICE DEPARTMENT TO ASSIST 

IN PURCHASING A GENERATOR FOR THE PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING 

WHEREAS, On May 30, 2023, the One805 Foundation delivered a check in the amount of $41,127.28 as 
a donation to the Guadalupe Police Department towards the purchase of a generator for the public 
safety building; and 

WHEREAS, Government Code 37354 provides that the City Council may accept or reject any gift, 
bequest, or devise made to or for the city, or to or for any of its officers in their official capacity or in 
trust for any public purpose. 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Guadalupe as follows: 

SECTION 1. That the City Council accepts the $41,127.28 donation from the One805 Foundation on 
behalf of the Guadalupe Police Department and hereby directs the Director of Public 
Safety to prepare a letter of appreciation to the One805 Foundation for this grant 
awarded donation. 

SECTION 2. The City Clerk is hereby authorized to make minor changes herein to address clerical 
errors, so long as substantial conformance of the intent of this document is maintained. 
In doing so, the City Clerk shall consult with the City Administrator and City Attorney 
concerning any changes deemed necessary. 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting held on the 11th day of July 2023 by the 
following vote: 

MOTION: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAINED: 

I, Amelia M. Villegas, City Clerk of the City of Guadalupe DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the 
foregoing Resolution, being C.C. Resolution No. 2023-59, has been duly signed by the Mayor and 
attested by the City Clerk, all at a regular meeting of the City Council, held July 11, 2023, and that 
same was approved and adopted. 

Page 1 of 2 

ATTACHMENT 1



Page 2 of 2 
 

ATTEST: 
 
________________________________         ______________________________ 
Amelia M. Villegas, City Clerk    Ariston Julian, Mayor 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
________________________________ 
Philip F. Sinco, City Attorney 



Page 1 of 2 

Agenda Item No. 6H 

REPORT TO THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE 
Agenda of July 11, 2023 

  
________________________________     __________________________________ 
Prepared by:            Approved by: 
Michael Cash, Director of Public Safety  Todd Bodem, City Administrator 

SUBJECT: Authorization to purchase and install a generator for the Guadalupe Police Department 
building utilizing grant monies from the One805 Foundation award and ARPA funding.   

RECOMMENDATION: 

The Guadalupe Police Department requests authorization to purchase and install a generator for the 
Guadalupe Police Department building utilizing grant monies from the One805 Foundation award and 
ARPA funding (and from Proposition 172 funds, if necessary).   

BACKGROUND: 

On May 30, 2023, the One805 Foundation delivered a check in the amount of $41,127.28 to the 
Guadalupe Police Department towards the purchase of a generator for the public safety building.  The 
group supports Santa Barbara County First Responder agencies to secure equipment and supplies these 
departments would normally not have funding to obtain.   

The Guadalupe City Council approved $50,000 from the ARPA funds to be set aside towards the purchase 
and installation of a generator for the Guadalupe Police Department building. 

DISCUSSION: 

The estimated cost to purchase and install the generator is approximately $80,034.00.  (Attachment 1).  
The quote specifically excludes the costs of applying for and obtaining required permits such as from the 
Santa Barbara County Air Pollution Control Board.  Staff does not currently know the cost for any 
required permit(s), but if the available funds left over from the One805 Foundation and APRA monies in 
the amount of approximately $11,090.28 are not sufficient to cover the cost of obtaining any required 
permit(s), Proposition 172 funds under the control of the Public Safety Department are available to cover 
any remaining cost. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The fiscal impact of the generator purchase is covered by utilizing the One805 Foundation grant award 
of $41,127.28 and the City Council approved $50,000 ARPA funding.  These monies will not impact the 
General Fund and assist the police department with the purchase of the generator. Any additional cost 
for permits or installation beyond this amount will utilize Proposition 172 Funding not to exceed $50,000 
without City Council approval. 

Michael Cash  



Page 2 of 2 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Royal Industrial Solutions Generator Contract Quote, 60 KW Generator and filter - $80,034.00. 
2. Resolution No. 2023-60 

 



ATTACHMENT 1















Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-60 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE, CALIFORNIA AUTHORIZATION 
TO PURCHASE AND INSATLL A GENERATOR FOR THE GUADALUPE POLICE DEPARTMENT BUILDING 

UTILIZING GRANT MONIES FROM THE ONE805 FOUNDATION AWARD AND ARPA FUNDING NOT TO 
EXCEED $100,000 DOLLARS 

WHEREAS, on May 30, 2023, the One805 Foundation delivered a check in the amount of $41,127.28 to 
the Guadalupe Police Department towards the purchase of a generator for the Police Department 
building.  The group supports Santa Barbara County First Responder agencies to secure equipment and 
supplies these departments would normally not have funding to obtain; and   

WHEREAS, the Guadalupe City Council approved $50,000 from the ARPA funds to be set aside towards 
the purchase and installation of a generator for the Guadalupe Police Department building; and 

WHEREAS, the City has received a quote for the purchase and installation of the generator in the 
amount of approximately $80,034.00, which quote excludes the cost of obtaining any required 
permit(s); and 

WHEREAS, the amount remaining from the One805 Foundation and ARPA funds (in the amount of 
$11,093.28) for the cost of purchasing and installing the generator are insufficient to cover the costs of 
obtaining any required permit(s), then Proposition 172 funds under the control of the Public Safety 
Department can be used (up to $50,000 without City Council approval). 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Guadalupe as follows: 

SECTION 1. That City staff is authorized to purchase and install a generator for the Guadalupe Police 
Department building utilizing monies from the One805 Foundation award and ARPA 
funding, with any additional cost for permits or installation to be covered by using 
Proposition 172 Funding not to exceed $50,000 without City Council approval.  

SECTION 2.  The City Clerk is hereby authorized to make minor changes herein to address clerical 
errors, so long as substantial conformance of the intent of this document is maintained. In 
doing so, the City Clerk shall consult with the City Administrator and City Attorney 
concerning any changes deemed necessary.  

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting held on the 11th day of July 2023 by the 
following vote: 

MOTION: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAINED: 

ATTACHMENT 2



Page 2 of 2 
 

I, Amelia M. Villegas, City Clerk of the City of Guadalupe DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing 
Resolution, being C.C. Resolution No. 2023-60, has been duly signed by the Mayor and attested by the 
City Clerk, all at a regular meeting of the City Council, held July 11, 2023, and that same was approved 
and adopted. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________        ________________________ 
Amelia M. Villegas, City Clerk    Ariston Julian, Mayor 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
__________________________ 
Philip F. Sinco, City Attorney 

 

 



PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

City of Guadalupe 
918 Obispo Street 
P.O. Box 908 
Guadalupe, CA  93434 
Tel (805) 356-3903 

To: Mr. Mayor and City Councilmembers 
From: Larry Appel, Contract Planning Director 
Date: July 1, 2023 Planning Report Covering June 2023 

MINISTERIAL PROJECTS 

Zoning Clearances Approved   2 
Zoning Clearances Denied   1 
Zoning Verification Letters    0 
Business Licenses Approved   12 
Business Licenses Denied   0 
ADUs approved  4 
AUP for short-term rental  0 

DISCRETIONARY PROJECTS 

Please refer to the next page for specific projects and their current status. 

If you have any questions regarding any projects listed in this report, please contact me at 
smlarry@aol.com or call (805) 598-8385. 

Agenda Item No. 6I 1.

mailto:smlarry@aol.com


Ministerial Permit Report– June 2023 
(Reported 7-1-2023) 

 
 
 
 
Zoning Clearance Approvals 
 

 
2023-030-ZC Martinez rear paving  844 Guadalupe Street  
   and wall/fence 
 
2023-033-ZC Baez paving   4932 Pt. Sal Circle 
 
 

Zoning Clearance Denials 
 

  
2023-032-ZC Vidales RV storage  213 Pt. Sal Dune 
 

 
ADU Approvals  
 

2023-016-ZC  Magana ADU  4845 Pagaling Drive 
 
2023-025-ZC  Gonzalez ADU  4406 Fir Street 
 
2023-034-ZC  Herrera ADU  4646 Seventh Street 
 
2023-037-ZC  Corral ADU  4443 Third Street 
 
 

Business License Approvals 
 

Panchi FS Clothing online sales 103 Las Flores 
 
 
Business License Denials 
 
                 None 



Guadalupe City Planning Department 
Planning Processing Summary for June 2023 

(7-1-23 update) 
Case No. Name Submittal 

Date 
Comp. Date Status OK for Bldg. 

Permit Issuance 
2022-088-LM - 
Voluntary Lot 
Merger $ 
 

Trudy Brands December 5, 
2022 

 Under Review. NO 

2022-093-LS - 
Residential Lot 
Split $ 

Lupe Alvarez December 19, 
2022 

 Under state SB9 Code provisions at 246 
Egret Lane. Under review 

NO 

2022-021-LLA 
151 Obispo LLC 

LLA for 151 Obispo   Tentatively approved by planning staff on 
May 4th.  Must now be finalized by County 
Surveyor. 

NO 

2022-063-LM $ Mahoney Lot Merger August 11, 
2022 

INC 9-11-22 Incomplete Application Letter sent on 
September 11, 2022. 

NO 

2022-065-LLA - La 
Guardia $ 

La Guardia 
Townhomes lot line 
adjustment  

August 22, 
2022-  

COMP. Changed from an LLA to Lot Merger per 
Govt. Code and approved by City Engineer 
December 2023. 

NO 

2022-016-GPZ 
2022-017-DR 
2022-018-VTTM $ 

Snowy Plover 3-10-22 Incomplete    
4-09-22 

Application resubmitted on February 24, 
2023. Second Incomplete letter sent 3-24-23. 
Owner/applicant attempting to contact 
neighboring property for permission to 
access. 

NO 

2023-031-CUP Root One retail 
dispensary 

June 1, 2023 INC 
June 29, 2023 

Staff has reviewed application and 
determined that it is incomplete for 
processing 

NO 

2023-013-LS 
SB-9 Split 

Reed Lot Split 3-7-23  Staff continues to review application to 
ensure that the project is consistent with the 
Guadalupe Municipal Code 

NO 

2023-022-CUP Lopez H2A Housing 4-6-23 COMP 4-27-
23 

Approved by Council on 5-23-23 NO 

6th Cycle Housing 
Element 

Mandatory Update Fall 2022 n/a Draft Housing Element scheduled to City 
Council on July 11th. 

 

 
No$ = unreimbursed planning work 
$     = projects where a fixed fee has been paid 
7-1-23 
 
 



Agenda Item No. 6I 2. 



BUILDING INSPECTIONS LOG - JUNE 2023









RECREATION AND PARKS MONTHLY REPORT 

For April 2023 

Summary of Rentals/Usage for City Facilities & Parks 

FACILITY THIS MONTH THIS MONTH 

LAST YEAR 

THIS YEAR- 

TO-DATE 
(FY 22/23) 

LAST YEAR- 

TO-DATE 
(FY 21/22) 

Auditorium/Gym 11 0 177 48 

O’Connell Park 0 1 56   24 

LeRoy Park 16 0 59 1 

Senior Center 24 9 229 38 

Veterans Memorial 

Plaza 

0 0 5 8 

Council Chambers 9 15 69 35 

Central Park 0 0 0 0 

Veterans Hall 5 0 36 2 

Recreation and Parks 

918 Obispo Street 

P.O. Box 908 

Guadalupe, CA  93434 

Ph: 805.356.3906 

Fax: 805.343.5512 

Email: hsanchez@ci.guadalupe.ca.us 

Agenda Item No. 6I 3.



Recreation & Parks Commission Meeting – 04.04.2023 

• Central Park 

o Presentation from Pacific Coast Land Design for 50% Design Development 

Plan for Central Park 

▪ Design Team Requests of Rec & Park Commission by April 24 

• Type of surface for dog park (pea gravel or decomposed 

granite) 

• Whether to use the art sculptures owned by the city or hire an 

artist 

o Renaming of Central Park 

▪ Idea to name the park Las Mujeres Park as all parks are currently 

named after males 

• Add a female Guadalupe resident of influence each year to a 

plaque 

 

Auditorium 

The auditorium floor was deep cleaned and rebuffed for use.  

 

LeRoy Park  

• FEMA 

o The Recreation Services Manager is currently working with Public Safety 

and FEMA representatives to recover costs from damages/repairs of LeRoy 

Park. 

• Boys and Girls Club 

o Monthly Report for April  

▪ Current 

• Spring Break was held on the week of April 10-14, 2023. We 

averaged around 80 kids daily. All expenses were paid by 

GUSD. 

o We had STEAM activities 

o Mtiny Robot 

o Drones 

o Cooking 

o Pottery 

o Arts & Crafts 

▪ Events 

• Planning Summer, which will run for 6 weeks from June 12 

to the end of July. We once again are partnering once again 

with GUSD for student registration.  

▪ Facility Use 

• McKenzie Wrestling Monday, Wednesday, and Thursday 

from 6pm to 7:30pm 

• Bulldog sign ups Saturday, May 20, June 3 & 10 

• Woman & Infant Mobile Care last Tuesday of each month. 

They use bathrooms and when it rains facility 



• RERC will be meeting at the club on Wednesday, April 12, 

2023, in the afternoon.  

• GBA will be meeting on April 19, 2023 in the afternoon. 

• Next teen night will be Friday, April 14, 2023 5pm – 6pm. 

▪ Building & Grounds 

• Overall looking good.  

 

 

Upcoming Programs & Events 

Drop-in Sports for ages 16+ 

Free Drop-in volleyball and basketball for ages 16+ are currently taking place. 

The location/day of drop-in basketball varies depending on the availability of 

the auditorium. Participants ages 16 & 17 must provide a permission 

slip/liability waiver signed by a parent/legal guardian in order to participate. 

This form can be found on the Recreation Page of the city website. Go to 

https://ci.guadalupe.ca.us/recreation/  
 

April & May Drop In Schedule 
 

Drop In Volleyball  

• Wednesdays: 6:00pm – 8:00pm 

 

Drop In Basketball 

• Friday, April 7th – 6:00pm – 8:00pm 

• Thursday, April 13th – 6:00pm – 8:00pm 

• Friday, April 21st – 6:00pm – 8:00pm 

• Thursday, April 27th – 6:00pm – 8:00pm 

• Friday, May 5th – 6:00pm – 8:00pm 

• Friday, May 12th – 6:00pm – 8:00pm 

• Friday, May 19th – 6:00pm – 8:00pm 

• Thursday, May 25th – 6:00pm – 8:00pm 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://ci.guadalupe.ca.us/recreation/


2nd Annual Rec & Parks Cinco de Mayo Celebration 

While admission is free, we ask that those that plan on attending the Cinco de Mayo event 

reserve tickets through EventBrite. This will allow the department to compare/measure 

attendance.  

 

 
 



Coed Adult Softball League 

Games will be held on Thursdays at Jack O’Connell Park with a 5:00pm first game start 

time. Games after that are scheduled accordingly. The game schedule will be set at the 

Manager’s Meeting. Teams must provide their own equipment (team shirts, gloves, cleats, 

etc.). The referee fee will be $20 per team per game. Referee fees for championship games 

will be $30 per team per game. The rulebook is being adjusted. Adjustments will be 

discussed at the Manager’s Meeting. Two females are required to be on the field/batting 

line up for the entirety of the game. While the game may still be played without the two 

females, failure to follow this requirement will result in an automatic forfeit.   

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Guadalupe Color Run 

Volunteers are needed to assist with running the event. If interested in helping with this 

event, please contact the Recreation Services Manager by phone at (805)356-3906 or by 

email at hsanchez@ci.guadalupe.ca.us. 

 

 

mailto:hsanchez@ci.guadalupe.ca.us


Viva el Arte 

 

 

 



                     
 
 

RECREATION AND PARKS MONTHLY REPORT 

For May 2023 
  

 

 

Summary of Rentals/Usage for City Facilities & Parks 

 

 

FACILITY 

 

THIS MONTH 

 

THIS MONTH 

LAST YEAR 

 

THIS YEAR- 

TO-DATE 
(FY 22/23) 

 

LAST YEAR- 

TO-DATE 
(FY 21/22) 

 

Auditorium/Gym 

 

13 

 

4 

 

190 

 

48 

 

 

O’Connell Park  

 

1 

 

21 

 

57 

 

           24 

 

 

LeRoy Park 

 

16 

 

0 

 

75 

 

1 

 

 

Senior Center 

 

27 

 

12 

 

256 

 

38 

 

 

Veterans Memorial 

Plaza 

 

0 

 

1 

 

5 

 

8 

 

 

Council Chambers 

 

12 

 

9 

 

81 

 

35 

 

 

Central Park 

 

0 

 

0 

 

0 

 

0 

 

 

Veterans Hall 5 1 41 2 

 

 

                                                     
 

 

 

 

 

 

Recreation and Parks 

918 Obispo Street 

P.O. Box 908 

Guadalupe, CA  93434 

Ph: 805.356.3906 

Fax: 805.343.5512 

Email: hsanchez@ci.guadalupe.ca.us 

 



Recreation & Parks Commission Meeting – 05.02.2023 

• Central Park 

o Elevated Water Tank – Ms. Sweeney gave an update on the elevated water tank as 

it relates to the Central Park renovation. Per the grant, the water tower must include 

public art. This means that public works will be working with AP Wireless, T-

Mobile, AT&T, and Verizon to arrange for their cell towers to be re-located to 

allow time for the water tower to be wrapped. Ms. Sweeney suggested that the 

wrap on the water tower be the same as the wrap that will be on the new electric 

bus. The design depicts the Guadalupe Dunes. The Recreation and Parks 

Commission agreed with this idea.  

• O’Connell Park Field Grant 

o Commissioner Emily Dreiling presented to the Commission and Recreation 

Services Manager background information on how neighboring cities have utilized 

grants to update their outdoor facilities. Ms. Dreiling believes that there is a grant 

that would be able to cover the installation of a stadium at Jack O’Connell Park that 

could possibly include a multi-use turf field, a track around the field, and seating. 

Ms. Dreiling’s idea was to have Los Amigos de Guadalupe facilitate the grant 

administration for this project with city council’s approval. Ms. Dreiling and Ms. 

Sanchez will be working together on retrieving more information about this 

potential project.  

 

Central Park Renovation Meeting – 05.04.2023 

• 100% Design Development 
o Status Update 

▪ Plans, cutsheets and estimates to be submitted to Shannon on 5/19/23. 

• Water Tower 
o Shannon is sending a letter to the cell companies re: removing their equipment 

for the water tower maintenance. 
o Brooke explored wrapping the tower in a similar design/wrap as the new city bus. 
o The wrap company declined to install a wrap and recommended painting the 

mural on it. 

• Skatepark fencing 
o Concern about the aesthetics/feel of having the entire southeastern portion of the 

park fenced off. 
o Understand the desire to control access to the skatepark 
o Not currently in the budget 
o From kick-off meeting discussion, we were under the impression that it was going 

to remain open: 
o Fencing around the skatepark was discussed. There are concerns about the 

adjacent border with the railroad and the ability to close off the skatepark at 
night may ease neighbors’ apprehensions. However, staff is small and unable 
to be opening and locking gates at dawn and dusk. 
o Jaxon stated that it’s more progressive to leave it open. 

o Michael stated that the SLO skatepark is open and had a Community 

Ambassador to help keep the skaters on board with park rules. 

o Public Art 
o Is a public art committee to be assembled to select an artist for the mural art on 

the walls, art for the water tower and any sculptures? 
o Water line from Water Tower 



o Travis from ECG is reviewing options and costing for rerouting the waterline or 
sleeving it in place under the skatepark. 

o Private Property ADU 
o Are there approved plans for the ADU that we could review? 

 

2nd Annual Cinco de Mayo Celebration 

This event was held on Sunday, May 7th to allow those with a Saturday workday to still 

attend the event. Attendance was free but was tracked through EventBrite. EventBrite 

recorded that there were 48 people that attended the event, however, the rough guestimate 

was close to 60-70 people. The following groups attended in support of the event: 

Guadalupe Business Association, Kiwanis Club of Guadalupe, CAPSLO, Allan Hancock 

College, Boys & Girls Club of Mid Central Coast, Nena’s Kitchen, Lobo Butcher Shop, 

Los Danzantes de Santa Maria, and Righetti High School Marimba & Ballet Folklorico. 

Vendors were not charged this year to allow the community to recognize this as an annual 

event first, however, vendors were informed that next year there will be a cost associated 

with being a vendor at the event.  
 

Upcoming Programs & Events 

Drop-in Sports for ages 16+ 

Free Drop-in volleyball and basketball for ages 16+ are currently taking place. 

The location/day of drop-in basketball varies depending on the availability of 

the auditorium. Participants ages 16 & 17 must provide a permission 

slip/liability waiver signed by a parent/legal guardian in order to participate. 

This form can be found on the Recreation Page of the city website. Go to 

https://ci.guadalupe.ca.us/recreation/  
 

June Drop In Schedule 
 

Drop In Volleyball  

• Wednesdays: 6:00pm – 8:00pm 

 

Drop In Basketball 

• Thursday, June 1st – No Drop In 

• Friday, June 9th – 6:00pm – 8:00pm 

• Friday, June 16th – 6:00pm – 8:00pm 

• Thursday, June 22nd – 6:00pm – 8:00pm 

• Friday, June 30th – 6:00pm – 8:00pm 

 
 

 

 

https://ci.guadalupe.ca.us/recreation/


Coed Adult Softball League 

Games will be held on Thursdays at Jack O’Connell Park with a 5:00pm first game start 

time. Games after that are scheduled accordingly. The game schedule will be set at the 

Manager’s Meeting. Teams must provide their own equipment (team shirts, gloves, cleats, 

etc.). The referee fee will be $20 per team per game. Referee fees for championship games 

will be $30 per team per game. The rulebook is being adjusted. Adjustments will be 

discussed at the Manager’s Meeting. Two females are required to be on the field/batting 

line up for the entirety of the game. While the game may still be played without the two 

females, failure to follow this requirement will result in an automatic forfeit.   

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Guadalupe Color Run 

Volunteers are needed to assist with running the event. If interested in helping with 

this event, please contact the Recreation Services Manager by phone at (805)356-3906 

or by email at hsanchez@ci.guadalupe.ca.us. 

 

 

mailto:hsanchez@ci.guadalupe.ca.us


Viva el Arte 

 

 

 

Respectfully, 

 

Hannah Sanchez 

Recreation Services Manager 



CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 

July 11, 2023 

(Information below may be subject to change) 

1. Fiscal Year 23-24 Budget – More Time Needed
The Finance Director informed the City Administrator that she will need more time to
reconcile the budget from comments made by the City Council during the June 27th City
Council meeting.

Therefore, the proposed FY 23-24 budget will not be discussed at the July 11 meeting but
rather at the July 25 CC meeting.

2. City Business
City staff has been working hard to divide up the various projects and tasks since Shannon
Sweeney tenured her resignation on June 15. Please be patient, as the City Administrator and
other city staff will have an increased workload to cover. The city staff is actively recruiting a
replacement and will present an interim solution.

3. Project / Grants Management
The Mayor and City Administrator met to discuss possible ideas to develop a self-sustaining
grant consultant to procure and manage grants about grant related projects on-going. The
idea is that the grants will pay for the position/consultant to manage. It is felt that the city
does not need to miss any opportunities and possible means to manage them.

4. Pending CDBG Contract for City of Guadalupe – Water Collection System CDBG Grant
Extension
At the June 27, 2023, City Council meeting, Mayor Julian asked staff if the city has met the
deadline on the CDBG grant. The City Administrator said, “yes.” For more clarification,
according to Shannon Burge, CDBG representative at HCD who currently manages all the
active and pending contracts for the City of Guadalupe, comply. Here is some clarification.

The State assures the city that even if the city were to go over that 30-days (considering at
this moment they are well over that 30-days) the city will not be penalized. Once they were
verbally notified of Shannon Sweeney’s upcoming departure, effective June 15th, she was
verbally told by Ms. Burge that they would allow extra time for corrections. They had been
meeting regularly since the corrections letter was sent on questions that she had and one of
the biggest corrections was going to be the environmental (NEPA documents), which after
discussions and meetings with their NEPA team, they knew that this would go over the 30-
days.

Agenda Item No. 7



 
At this time, the City’s Engineer Technician Dayanira Cruz has been actively working with them 
and their NEPA team on the corrections that need to be made. They are confident that 
Dayanira will continue to have that open communication with all parties and get these 
corrections in on behalf of the City of Guadalupe as soon as possible.  
 

5. Department of Cannabis Control Inquiry for CEQA Compliance in City of Guadalupe 
The city will be tasked with several local, regional, and state cannabis regulators now that the 
city has a cannabis program. So far, the city approved: 1) Central Coast Processing's 
processing and distribution facility; 2) Planning approved an associated lot line adjustment 
for 151 Obispo, LLC (it still must be recorded); and 3) Element 7 retail dispensary. 
 
The City prepared CEQA Exemptions that the CC adopted for each. 
 
Consulting City Planner, Bill Scott submitted the adopted CEQA documents. 
 
Community Benefit Agreements:  

• Central Coast Processing LLC: Approved by council 
• Element 7 Retail, city staff in negotiations, July, or August council 

consideration 
• Root One Retail, soon to be negotiated, July/August or September council 

consideration. 
 

6. Central Coast Community (3ce) - Electric Bus Press Conference 
3ce is planning a press conference regarding the arrival of the new electric bus. Dayanira 
Engineer Technician is continuing the efforts on this project with the City Administrator and 
is working with the funding agencies and company who will deliver the bus and would like to 
do a presentation of it. News, photos, etc. They would like leadership there. City staff does 
not have the date/time/details yet. Just giving you a heads-up to see if you are interested in 
being the face of the city.   

 
7. Japanese American Citizens league Visit Guadalupe July 8th 

The Ventura County Japanese American Citizens League (JACL) & The Guadalupe Visual and 
Performing Arts Center (GVPAC) with the support of the City of Guadalupe are pleased to be 
hosting an event with author Naomi Hirahara (American Son) about the history of Japanese 
Americans in Guadalupe and take a tour of the Historic Royal Theater and downtown.  
 
Tentative Details of the event are below: 
 
Saturday, July 8th - Schedule 
10:30 am           Program: Welcome and Introduction by VC JACL by Janice M 
10:35 am           Introduction to Guadalupe by Mayor Ariston Julian  
10:40 am           Introduction to Naomi Hirahara by Janice M 
10:45 pm           Presentation by Naomi followed by Q & A 
11:15 am           Presentation on the Royal Theater & future programming by Tom 

Brandeberry 



11:25 am           Presentation by Local Business                                        
11:45 am          Lunch                                                                                            
12:30 pm         Tour of Royal Theater & Downtown Guadalupe 
 

8. Royal Theatre Update/History – June 2023 
Tom Brandeberry is the Project Manager for the Royal Theater. Tom works hand-in-hand with 
the City Administrator and utilizes our City Attorney, Planners, other staff and even the 
Mayor. Staff documents its time on this project so the city will get reimbursed for its time and 
funds come out of the grant as a transfer in. 
 
Funding Agencies Updates: 
 
A. EDA—This City has a signed contract with the Federal Economic Development 

Administration. The award amount is $4,889,121. The initial award required a two-
phase project, with the EDA only funding the renovation of the theater.  Since 
receiving the CAC funding, the city has been able to convince the EDA that the full 
scope of the project should be a one-phase project. To do this, a revised application 
was submitted, and the project will go back to an approval committee on April 19, 
2023. It was approved and we recently received the approved Amendment 1 to the 
contract for the mayor to sign. It took this long as it required Legal Counsel approval. 

 
a) The city has several items that the EDA must review and approve 

before we can release the Bid Package, with some items requiring EDA 
Legal Counsel’s review, which can take 2-3 months to get to the front 
of the queue: 

b)  
1) Lien, mortgage needs to be recorded (hold up due to lot 

merger—with the City Attorney, Philip Sinco now. Once done, 
will require EDA Legal review and approval. 
 

2) Evidence of Good Title (title is clear and without restrictions). 
Held up due to lot merger—with AGD now, then to Philip and 
then to the mayor. Once done, will require EDA Legal review 
and approval. 

 
3) Inspector RFQ (with city consultant now) 

 
4) Bid Package. Tom is finishing the Front End with some 

suggested changes by EDA. AGD is also working on getting the 
plans and spec easy to “read” for the EDA. Tom expects the 
Bid Package will be uploaded for EDA review by the end of this 
week, at the time of this writing. 

 
c) While the Lot Merger is approved, it will require another 30 days for 

the County to finalize the legal description and map, and to record and 
place it online.  



c) While the city will be sending the bid package to the EDA for their
review by the end of this week, it will need work to be “final” due to
potential changes from the EDA, adding final dates, etc.

B. CAC—The California Arts Council was named in the State’s budget to be the pass-
through agency for administering the $5M award.  Per the CAC, there is nothing more
needed until project completion.

The City received an $8M check from CAC, with $3M being funded for the Housing
Authorities’ Escalante Meadows County Center.  The city understands the check has
not been issued at this time and Philip is working on a legal agreement to be signed
by the HA and the city as the city on some level is “responsible for the full $8M.

C. RDA—These are the Successor Agency funds limited to use on the Royal
Theatre. Some costs bill to this fund will be able to be reimbursed from one
of the two other sources noted above.  To correct the January Report, these
funds are NOT limited to the Royal Theatre. Therefore, the city will work on a
plan to ensure that, if possible, that all funds in A and B above are exhausted
first and when appropriate, and feasible, the RDA funds will be reimbursed.

D. HTC—Historic Tax Credits. This process requires three applications, with the
first being applying for the building to be federally recognized (completed)
and the last being the completion of the project. The middle application is for
the State and Federal agencies to review and approve the renovation plans
and spec. The State has approved, and we made some changes to satisfy the
federal agency (National Park Services). The National Park Services has
approved verbally, and the city is waiting on an official notice.

a) The city hired Brian Wishneff & Associates, a Tax Credit consultant
firm, to manage the HTC process.

b) The city hired Robert Cowan of Bocarsly, Emden, Cowan, Esmail &
Arndt to represent the city as their Tax Attorney.

E. California HTC.  The State’s new tax credit program for historic preservation is
still in rule making. There is a possible timing issue (when the program gets
the green light to start and if the city’s project is ready to go, or too far along
to be eligible).

F. NMTC—The Tax Credit team has been informed by the city the following is
the preference of the city:

a) If the lowest, responsive bid comes in above the available funds
(above RDA and HTC), the City will apply for NMTC-Construction.



b) If the lowest, responsive comes in at budget, or with the comfortable
amount, allowing some RDA/HTC to be used, the city will apply for
NMTC-Operating.  These funds will allow the City to support/supervise 
the nonprofit operators for the first 12 months of startup/operating.

G. Timeline for Construction:

a) July 31, 2023: RFQ/Inspector EDA Approve

b) August 31, 2023: EDA Approves Bid Package

c) September 30, 2023:  Inspector hired.

d) October 31, 2023: Bid Package Released

e) December 1, 2023: EDA approve procurement of the Construction
Company

f) December 31, 2023: Council Approves Construction Contract

g) February 1, 2024: Notice to Proceed

h) December 1, 2024: Construction Complete

i) January 31, 2025: Occupancy



ATTACHMENT 1





Agenda Item No. 9 

REPORT TO THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE 
Agenda of July 11, 2023 

_________________________________ _________________________________ 
Prepared by  Approved by 
Larry Appel, Contract Planning Director  Todd Bodem, City Administrator  

SUBJECT: Review and approval of Draft Housing Element for review by Housing and Community 
Development (HCD) and adopting of Resolution No. 2023-61.  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

The California legislature identifies the attainment of an acceptable home and suitable living 
environment for every citizen as California’s main goal for housing.  Recognizing the important role 
local government planning plays to achieve this goal, the State mandates that all cities and counties 
prepare and adopt a housing element as part of their comprehensive General Plans.  In the housing 
element, State law requires local governments to adequately plan to meet the existing and projected 
housing needs of all economic segments of the community.  Unlike the other mandatory elements, the 
housing element is subject to detailed statutory requirements regarding its content and must be 
updated every five or eight years, according to a schedule set by the California Department of Housing 
and Community Development (HCD).  The housing element is also subject to mandatory review and 
certification by HCD. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

It is recommended that the City Council: 

1) Receive a presentation from staff and consultant; and
2) Conduct a public hearing; and
3) Direct staff to transmit the Draft Housing Element to HCD for the required 90-day review; and
4) Direct consultant to prepare an appropriate draft environmental document to address any

impacts created by adoption of the Draft Housing Element

BACKGROUND: 

The City Council entered into a contract with Dr. Cornelius Nuworsoo of De Lapide & Associates to 
prepare the 2023-2031 Housing Element.  This followed the adoption of the 2042 General Plan in 
November 2022.  On January 10, 2023, a public forum was held with the community and many 
interested agencies to learn what was going to be proposed for the new Housing Element.  The meeting 
was well attended and many comments were presented to staff and the consultant.  A short 
questionnaire was also given to the participants which were then used by the consultant to ensure that 
the draft document focused on issues important to the attendees.  An administrative draft element 
was submitted to the City in April 2023 which was thoroughly reviewed by staff.  Once the draft was 
prepared, staff made copies for Council, department heads, and distributed for public review.  Notice 



was included on the City’s website along with a downloadable copy of the draft.  The public comment 
period ran from May 30 – June 30.  A subsequent public forum was held on June 22nd.  At this time, we 
believe that the public has spoken and are satisfied with the draft document that is before you this 
evening 

DISCUSSION: 

The consultant will summarize the draft element using a PowerPoint presentation.  There have been 
many new sections required through HCD and with the knowledge of the consultant, he has been able 
to address all the issues.  Due to pre-scheduled travel plans, both Mr. Appel and Dr. Nuworsoo will be 
attending via Zoom. 

One very time-consuming task was preparing the “Housing Element Completeness Checklist” which is 
a quick reference of statutory requirements for Housing Element Updates. This was a new requirement 
from HCD for the 6th cycle housing elements. In this 23-page section, the consultant was required to 
show what page(s) within the draft document that each of the mandated topics was covered.  The 
checklist can be found within the draft document on pages xiv-xxv. 

The draft element contains a number of statistics derived from many sources.  One number that stands 
out is that from 2000 until 2020, the city has increased in population by 35% (5,653 to 7,654).  This is 
significant for any community.  To handle the increased population, housing agencies like People’s Self-
help Housing and the Housing Authority of Santa Barbara County have produced many new housing 
units primarily for low income families and farmworkers.  Private developers have also provided a large 
number of new homes, apartments, and condos for the residents. 

The city has also seen a rise in the number of H-2A employee housing projects which are contracted 
out for out-of-country farmworkers for around nine months each year. 

One other major area discussed in the draft document is the City’s ability to provide adequate land and 
density so as to allow developers to provide housing under various household income levels.  The 
Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) is a program mandated by the state and implemented 
through regional planning agencies.  Our program is implemented through Santa Barbara County 
Association of Governments (SBCAG).  In the 5th Cycle housing element, Guadalupe was required to 
provide land and densities that would ultimately allow for the development of 50 residential units. 
These were divided into five categories:  Extremely Low, Very Low, Low, Moderate, and Above 
Moderate.  The PowerPoint slide below will provide a graphic that shows the City did extremely well 
as it provided 808% of what was required.



2023-2031 Draft Housing Element Page 3 of 4 July 11, 2023 

RHNA Allocations Met and Unmet 

This Table has additional details of the City of Guadalupe’s compliance with 
the current 2015-2023 housing need allocations. 

The new RHNA numbers for the 6th Cycle now require the City to provide land and densities for 431 
units.  The recently adopted 2042 General Plan was able to increase densities in various parts of the 
City so that we could ensure that at least 431 units could be built during the eight-year housing cycle. 
A graphic in the PowerPoint will show that it is projected that the City will exceed the new allocation 
by approximately fifty percent. 

Effective January 1 2021, Government Code section 65583, subdivision (c)(10)(A) requires Housing 
Elements to include an assessment of fair housing to include discussion of four thematic areas: 

a) Integration and segregation patterns and trends
b) Racially or ethnically concentrated areas of poverty
c) Disparities in access to opportunity
d) Disproportionate housing needs within the jurisdiction, including displacement risk.

While there are no development proposals in the 2042 General Plan and this housing element that 
would cause disproportionate housing needs within the jurisdiction or create the risk of displacing 
segments of the population, the City has been typically below the recommended vacancy rate of 5 
percent, which would indicate that Guadalupe residents have limited housing choice and mobility 
and could be susceptible to displacement risks that low vacancy rates could trigger. While such risks 
may be greater for households in the lower-income segments from price competition, the City has 

Income Category 

Quantified 
Objective 

Completed Progress Future 

(Allocated 5th 
Cycle 

Dwelling 
Units) 

(Completed 
2015 to 
2019) 

(Completed 
2019 to 
2022) 

Total 
Completed in 

5th Cycle 

Percent of 5th 
Cycle RHNA 
Completed 

(Dwelling Units 
Pending 

Construction) 

RHNA 
Allocation 

New Construction 

Extremely low 5 2 4 6 120% 0 
Very Low 7 1 26 27 386% 0 

Low 8 1 7 8 100% 0 
Moderate 13 23 131 154 1185% 40 

Above Moderate 17 107 102 209 1229% 284 

Total 50 134 270 404 808% 320 



2023-2031 Draft Housing Element Page 4 of 4 July 11, 2023 

steadfastly kept the production of lower-income housing at par with its allocations over the previous 
two cycles. And the incidence of homelessness is relatively low in the City.  The analysis points to a 
favorable assessment of fair housing in Guadalupe. 

CONCLUSION: 

This draft housing element has been prepared by a consultant that has many years’ experience 
developing documents for agencies throughout the state.  This 6th cycle document has been most 
challenging as the State HCD has required a number of new sections which in turn required much 
more research to be able to provide a document that is acceptable to the agency.  If the Council 
agrees to direct staff to transmit the document, then we will be able to move forward with the 
required environmental document.  Any requests for revision will be discussed between the 
contractor and Planning Director to decide how to best address them, then those changes will be 
made and the environmental document will be completed.  Following that, the final document will 
be scheduled for hearing and we will request that the 2023-2031 Housing Element be adopted. 

PUBLIC NOTICE: 

Staff published the required Public Hearing Notice in a newspaper of general circulation for the draft 
Housing Element for comments.  The Notice was also posted in three public locations in the city as 
required by Government Code section 65090 on June 30, 2023. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Resolution No. 2023-61 directing staff to transmit the Draft Housing Element to Housing and
Community Development for 90-day review.

2. 2023-2031 Draft Housing Element



 RESOLUTION NO. 2023-61 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE, CALIFORNIA, 
TRANSMITTING THE DRAFT 6TH CYCLE HOUSING TO THE STATE DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING 

AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT FOR 90-DAY REVIEW  

WHEREAS, pursuant to California Government Code Section 65300, each city and county in 
California must adopt a comprehensive, long-term general plan, including the Housing Element, 
addressing the physical development of the county or city, and any land outside its boundaries 
which in the agency’s judgment bears relation to its planning; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Guadalupe has prepared a 6th Cycle Draft Housing Element, conforming to 
all the requirements required of HCD; and  

WHEREAS, on January 11, 2023, and June 22, 2023, public forums were conducted to provide 
information to residents and interested agencies of the changes that were planned for the draft 
document; and   

WHEREAS, the draft Housing Element was out for public review from May 30 to June 30, 2023; 
and 

WHEREAS, it is necessary, timely, and desirable to comprehensively update the 5th Cycle 2019 
Housing Element; and 

WHEREAS, through an extensive and lengthy public process, including workshops and hearings 
before the City Council, the City of Guadalupe has prepared a comprehensive update to the 2019 
Housing Element; and 

WHEREAS, the 2023-2031 Draft Housing Element includes updated Goals, Policies, and Programs 
reflecting the community’s vision of Guadalupe; and 

WHEREAS, on June 30, 2023, the City published a legal advertisement, pursuant to in the Santa 
Maria Times, a newspaper of local circulation in order to increase public awareness about the 6th 
Cycle Housing Element even though not legally required pursuant to Government Code § 
65353(a) and § 65090, in addition to posting the public hearing notice in three public places in 
the City of Guadalupe at least ten (10) days before said public hearing; and 

WHEREAS, the notice of the City Council’s hearing on the 2023-2031 Draft Housing Element was 
posted to the City’s website on June 30, 2023, at least 72-hours prior to the Council hearing as 
part of the City Council’s meeting agenda as required by the Brown Act. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Guadalupe does hereby 
find and determine as follows: 

ATTACHMENT 1



SECTION 1. The 6th Cycle Draft Housing Element is hereby approved, and staff is directed to 
transmitted it to the California Department of Housing and Community 
Development for its 90-day review. 

SECTION 2.   The City Clerk shall certify as to the adoption of this Resolution. 

SECTION 3.  That the City Clerk is hereby authorized to make minor changes herein to address 
clerical errors, so long as substantial conformance of the intent of this document 
is maintained. In doing so, the City Clerk shall consult with the City Administrator 
and City Attorney concerning any changes deemed necessary.  

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting on the 11th day of July 2023 by the 
following vote: 

MOTION: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT:  
ABSTAINED: 

I, Amelia M. Villegas, City Clerk of the City of Guadalupe DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing 
Resolution, being CC Resolution No. 2023-61, has been duly signed by the Mayor and attested 
by the City Clerk, all at a regular meeting of the City Council, held July 11, 2023, and that same 
was approved and adopted.   

ATTEST: 

_________________________________ _______________________________ 
Amelia M. Villegas, City Clerk  Ariston Julian Mayor 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

___________________________________ 
Philip F. Sinco, City Attorney 



CITY OF GUADALUPE

2023 – 2031 Housing Element 

Public Review Draft Update 

Submitted by the City of Guadalupe 

5/20/2023 

Prepared by: 

De Lapide & Associates, Inc. 
delapide@outlook.com

ATTACHMENT 2



Acknowledgments   
We are grateful to the City Council, the City Staff, and stakeholders of  the City of Guadalupe for their 

assistance in preparation of this Housing Element. We would like to acknowledge the following officials: 

 

City Council 
Ariston Julian, Mayor 

Eugene Costa Jr., Mayor Pro Tem 

Christina Hernandez, Council member 

Gilbert Robles, Council member 

Megan Lizalde, Council member 

Anna Marie Santillan Michaud, City Treasurer (Elected Official) 

Amelia M Villegas, City Clerk (Elected Official) 

 

Staff 
Todd Bodem, City Administrator 

Larry Appel, Planning Director 

Chief Michael Cash, Public Safety Department 

Shannon Sweeny, Public Works Director/City Engineer 

Lorena Zarate, Finance Director 

Juana Escobar, Administrative Assistant 

  



Contents 
Acknowledgments ........................................................................................................................................................................ ii 

City Council ............................................................................................................................................................................... ii 

Staff .......................................................................................................................................................................................... ii 

List of Tables ............................................................................................................................................................................... vii 

List of Figures ................................................................................................................................................................................ x 

City Council Resolution ............................................................................................................................................................... xii 

Housing Element Update Guidance .......................................................................................................................................... xiv 

Attachment 2: Completeness Checklist................................................................................................................................. xiv 

1.0 Introduction ............................................................................................................................................................................ 1 

1.1 Community Context ........................................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.2 Public Participation ............................................................................................................................................................. 2 

1.2.1 Consolidated Outreach Activities ................................................................................................................................ 2 

1.2.2 Special 6th Cycle Outreach Findings ............................................................................................................................. 3 

1.2.3 Inclusion of Outreach Findings in Housing Element .................................................................................................... 4 

1.3 Consistency with Other Elements of the General Plan ...................................................................................................... 4 

1.4 Organization of the Element .............................................................................................................................................. 5 

2.0 Housing Needs Assessment .................................................................................................................................................... 6 

2.1. Population Characteristics ................................................................................................................................................. 6 

2.1.1 Population Growth Trends .......................................................................................................................................... 6 

2.1.2 Age ............................................................................................................................................................................... 6 

2.1.3 Race and Ethnicity ....................................................................................................................................................... 7 

2.1.4 Conclusion ................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

2.2 Employment Trends ........................................................................................................................................................... 8 

2.2.1 Current Employment ................................................................................................................................................... 8 

2.2.2 Projected Job Growth ................................................................................................................................................ 10 

2.2.3 Jobs-Housing Balance ................................................................................................................................................ 10 

2.2.4 Conclusion ................................................................................................................................................................. 11 

2.3 Household Characteristics ................................................................................................................................................ 12 

2.3.1 Growth in Households ............................................................................................................................................... 12 

2.3.2 Household Composition and Size .............................................................................................................................. 12 

2.3.3 Household Income ..................................................................................................................................................... 13 



2.3.4 Conclusion ................................................................................................................................................................. 15 

2.4 Characteristics of the Housing Stock ................................................................................................................................ 15 

2.4.1 Housing Types and Growth ....................................................................................................................................... 15 

2.4.2 Housing Age and Conditions ..................................................................................................................................... 17 

2.4.3 Housing Tenure ......................................................................................................................................................... 18 

2.4.4 Vacancy ...................................................................................................................................................................... 19 

2.4.5 Housing Cost .............................................................................................................................................................. 19 

2.4.6 Affordability and Overpayment ................................................................................................................................. 21 

2.4.7 Overcrowding ............................................................................................................................................................ 22 

2.4.8 Conclusion ................................................................................................................................................................. 23 

2.5 Special Housing Needs ..................................................................................................................................................... 23 

2.5.1 Elderly ........................................................................................................................................................................ 23 

2.5.2 Large Households ...................................................................................................................................................... 25 

2.5.3 Female Headed Households ...................................................................................................................................... 26 

2.5.4 Persons with Disabilities ............................................................................................................................................ 28 

2.5.5 Farmworkers.............................................................................................................................................................. 29 

2.5.6 Unhoused .................................................................................................................................................................. 32 

2.5.7 Extremely Low-Income Households .......................................................................................................................... 32 

2.5.8 Persons with Developmental Disabilities .................................................................................................................. 33 

2.6 Assisted Housing At-Risk of Conversion ........................................................................................................................... 34 

2.6.1 Inventory of Potential At-Risk Units .......................................................................................................................... 34 

2.6.2 Risk of Conversion ..................................................................................................................................................... 35 

2.7 Future Growth Needs ....................................................................................................................................................... 35 

2.7.1 Overview of the Regional Housing Needs Allocation ................................................................................................ 35 

3.0 Resources for Residential Development .............................................................................................................................. 38 

3.1 Land Availability ................................................................................................................................................................ 38 

3.1.1 Vacant Residential Parcels ......................................................................................................................................... 39 

3.1.2 Mixed Use Development ........................................................................................................................................... 40 

3.1.3 DJ Farms Specific Plan Area ....................................................................................................................................... 41 

3.2 Financial Resources .......................................................................................................................................................... 41 

3.2.1 Federal and State Resources ..................................................................................................................................... 41 

3.2.2 Local Resources ......................................................................................................................................................... 45 



4.0 Constraints ........................................................................................................................................................................... 47 

4.1 Governmental Constraints ............................................................................................................................................... 47 

4.1.1 Land Use Controls ...................................................................................................................................................... 47 

4.1.2 Residential Development Processing Procedures ..................................................................................................... 57 

4.1.3 Development Fees ..................................................................................................................................................... 59 

4.1.4 Regional Constraints .................................................................................................................................................. 60 

4.1.5 Accessory Dwelling Units ........................................................................................................................................... 61 

4.2 Non-Governmental Constraints ....................................................................................................................................... 63 

4.2.1 Fiscal Constraints ....................................................................................................................................................... 63 

4.2.2 Citizen Behavior ......................................................................................................................................................... 65 

4.2.3 Environmental Constraints ........................................................................................................................................ 65 

4.2.4 Infrastructure and Public Facilities ............................................................................................................................ 68 

5.0 Energy Conservation Opportunities ..................................................................................................................................... 71 

5.1 Planning and land Use ...................................................................................................................................................... 71 

5.2 Energy Efficient Practices and Technologies .................................................................................................................... 72 

6.0 Housing Action Plan .............................................................................................................................................................. 74 

6.1 Affordable Housing Supply ............................................................................................................................................... 74 

6.2 Conservation and Rehabilitation ...................................................................................................................................... 77 

6.3 At-Risk Units ..................................................................................................................................................................... 77 

6.4 Special Needs.................................................................................................................................................................... 78 

6.5 Energy Conservation ......................................................................................................................................................... 80 

6.6 Equal Opportunity Housing .............................................................................................................................................. 81 

6.7 Quantified Objectives ....................................................................................................................................................... 83 

7.0 Appendices ........................................................................................................................................................................... 84 

7.1 Appendix A: Evaluation of 5th Cycle Housing Element ..................................................................................................... 84 

7.1.1 Program Evaluation ................................................................................................................................................... 84 

7.1.2 Appropriateness of Goals and Policies ...................................................................................................................... 84 

7.1.3. Progress in Meeting Quantified Objectives .............................................................................................................. 84 

7.1.4. Progress toward Special Needs Populations ............................................................................................................ 85 

7.1.5. Shortfall of Sites from the 5th Cycle Planning Period ................................................................................................ 85 

7.2 Appendix B: Residential Land Inventory ......................................................................................................................... 107 

7.2.1 Vacant Land ............................................................................................................................................................. 107 



7.2.2 Mixed-Use Development ......................................................................................................................................... 112 

7.2.3 DJ Farms Specific Plan ............................................................................................................................................. 117 

7.2.4 People’s Self-Help Housing Project ......................................................................................................................... 117 

7.2.5 Santa Barbara County Housing Authority ............................................................................................................... 117 

7.2.6 Conclusions on Inventory of Residential Opportunities .......................................................................................... 118 

7.3 Appendix C: Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing .................................................................................................. 119 

7.3.0 Legislative Basis for Fair Housing ........................................................................................................................ 119 

7.3.1 Fair Housing Outreach & Enforcement ................................................................................................................ 119 

7.3.2 Assessment of Fair Housing .................................................................................................................................. 124 

7.3.3 Sites Inventory ....................................................................................................................................................... 163 

7.3.4 Identification of Contributing Factors ................................................................................................................. 165 

7.3.5 Goals and Actions ................................................................................................................................................... 167 

7.4 Appendix D: Development Fees ..................................................................................................................................... 169 

8.0 References .......................................................................................................................................................................... 178 

 

  



List of Tables 
Table 2-1: Population Growth Trends. Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2000 – 2020 ................................................ 6 

Table 2-2: Age Distribution - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 ............................................................................ 7 

Table 2-3: Population by Race/Ethnicity - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 ....................................................... 7 

Table 2-4: Labor Force and Employment Rates - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 ............................................ 8 

Table 2-5: Distribution of Employment by Occupation and Median Earning – Guadalupe City, 2020 ........................................ 9 

Table 2-6: Protected Job Growth by Occupation from 2018 to 2028 – Santa Maria & Santa Barbara 

Metropolitan Statistical Area ..................................................................................................................................................... 10 

Table 2-7: Jobs to Housing Ratio - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 ................................................................. 11 

Table 2-8: Household Growth Trends - Guadalupe City, 2000 to 2020 ..................................................................................... 12 

Table 2-9: Household Composition - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 ............................................................. 13 

Table 2-10: Distribution of Household Sizes - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 ............................................... 13 

Table 2-11: Household Income - Guadalupe City, 2020 ............................................................................................................. 14 

Table 2-12: Comparative Median Household Incomes - Santa Barbara County and Cities, 2020 ............................................. 14 

Table 2-13: Median Income Distribution of Household Income Groups - Guadalupe City, 2020 .............................................. 15 

Table 2-14: Housing Unit Type- Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 ..................................................................... 16 

Table 2-15: Age Distribution and Growth of Housing Stock - Guadalupe City, 2020 ................................................................. 16 

Table 2-16: Trends in Housing Conditions - Guadalupe 2008 to 2017 ....................................................................................... 18 

Table 2-17: Trends in Housing Tenure of Occupied Units - Guadalupe, 2000 to 2020 .............................................................. 18 

Table 2-18: Comparative Median Home Values - Santa Barbara County and Cities, 2000 to 2020 .......................................... 20 

Table 2-19: Distribution of Contract Rent Payments - Guadalupe City, 2020 ............................................................................ 21 

Table 2-20: Percent of Household Income Spent on Housing – Guadalupe City, 2020 ............................................................. 21 

Table 2-21: Overcrowding - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 ........................................................................... 22 

Table 2-22: Households by Age of Householder - Guadalupe City, 2000 to 2020 ..................................................................... 23 

Table 2-23: Householder by Tenure and Age - Guadalupe City, 2020 ....................................................................................... 24 

Table 2-24: Number of Rooms per Occupied Housing Unit by Tenure – Guadalupe City, 2020 ............................................... 26 

Table 2-25: Number of Persons per Occupied Housing Unit by Tenure - Guadalupe City, 2020 ............................................... 26 

Table 2-26: Occupied Housing Units by Household Type by Tenure - Guadalupe City, 2020 .................................................... 27 

Table 2-27: Comparative Characteristics of Householders - Guadalupe City, 2020 .................................................................. 28 

Table 2-28: Population with Disability - Guadalupe City, 2020 .................................................................................................. 28 

Table 2-29: Top 10 Agriculture Products by Rank - Santa Barbara County, 2018 and 2020 ...................................................... 30 

Table 2-30: Estimates of Farmworker Population - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 ....................................... 31 



Table 2-31: Distribution of Persons with Developmental Disabilities - Guadalupe City, 2021 .................................................. 33 

Table 2-32: Inventory of Assisted Affordable Housing Developments - Guadalupe City, 2020 ................................................. 34 

Table 2-33: Shares of Households vs. RHNA Allocations by Income Groups - Guadalupe City, 2020 ....................................... 37 

Table 3-1: Capacity of Vacant Residential Land Exclusive of DJ Farms Specific Plan Area ......................................................... 40 

Table 3-2: Housing Capacity of DJ Farms Specific Plan Area ...................................................................................................... 41 

Table 3-3: Additional Federal, State, and Private Financial Resources ...................................................................................... 42 

Table 4-1: Guadalupe General Plan Residential Land Use Designations .................................................................................... 48 

Table 4-2: Residential & Commercial Zoning in Guadalupe ....................................................................................................... 49 

Table 4-3: Development Standards in Guadalupe Zoning Ordinance ........................................................................................ 50 

Table 4-4: Allowed Residential Development by Zone .............................................................................................................. 50 

Table 4-5: Parking Space & Street Width Standards .................................................................................................................. 54 

Table 4-6: Typical Permit Processing Time Requirements ......................................................................................................... 58 

Table 4-7: Fees that Affect Housing Production......................................................................................................................... 60 

Table 4-8: Sewer Capacity and Projected Sewer Demand ......................................................................................................... 69 

Table 6-1: Comparison of RHNA Allocations Met and Unmet by Income Groups in Guadalupe ............................................... 83 

Table A-1: Evaluation of Programs in 5th Cycle (2015 & 2019) Housing Element - City of Guadalupe ...................................... 86 

Table A-2: Appropriateness of 2015 Guadalupe Housing Element Goals and Policies .............................................................. 95 

Table A-3a. Progress in Achieving Quantified Objectives (All Incomes) .................................................................................... 98 

Table A-3b. Progress in Achieving Quantified Objectives (Lower Incomes) – Completed Apartments ..................................... 99 

Table A-3c. Progress in Achieving Quantified Objectives (Lower Incomes) – Completed ADUs ............................................... 99 

Table A-4a: Residential Permit Activities - City of Guadalupe, 2015 through 2021 ................................................................... 99 

Table A-4b: Recent Residential Permit Activities by Income - City of Guadalupe, 2019-2021 ................................................ 101 

Table A-5: Affordability of Residential Construction - City of Guadalupe, Late 2015 to Early 2019 ........................................ 102 

Table B-1: Summary of 2014-2022 RHNA Allocations to Guadalupe ....................................................................................... 107 

Table B-2: Inventory of Vacant Residential Infill Sites in Guadalupe from Land Use Inventory .............................................. 108 

Table B-3: Other Vacant Residential Land within Built-Up Area .............................................................................................. 111 

Table B-4. Mixed-Use Development Potential ......................................................................................................................... 113 

Table B-5: Other Lots with Mixed-Use Potential ...................................................................................................................... 116 

Table B-6: Housing Capacity at DJ Farms Specific Plan Area .................................................................................................... 117 

Table C-1: Number of Fair Housing Enforcement Cases in Counties near Guadalupe, 2010 and 2020 ................................... 121 

Table C-2: Population by Race/Ethnicity - Guadalupe City & Region, 2021 ............................................................................. 125 

Table C-3: Population by Race/Ethnicity - Guadalupe City & Region, 2010 ............................................................................. 125 



Table C-4: Incidence of Disability in the Guadalupe Region, 2019 ........................................................................................... 130 

Table C-5: Distribution of Household/Family Types in the Guadalupe Region, 2010 .............................................................. 133 

Table C-6: Distribution of Household/Family Types in the Guadalupe Region, 2019 .............................................................. 134 

Table C-7: 2010 and 2020 Median Incomes and Poverty Levels in the Guadalupe Region ..................................................... 135 

Table C-8: Comparative opportunity Indices for School Proficiency in the Guadalupe Region, 2020 ..................................... 153 

Table C-9: HUD Opportunity Indicators in Santa Barbara County, 2010.................................................................................. 154 

Table C-10: Labor Force and Employment Rates - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 ...................................... 154 

Table C-11: Distribution of Employment by Occupation (2021) and Median Earning (2020) ................................................. 156 

Table C-12. Progress in Achieving Quantified Objectives (All Incomes) in 2015-2023 Housing Element ................................ 162 

Table D-1:  Consolidated List of Fees in Guadalupe ................................................................................................................. 169 

 

  



List of Figures 

Figure 2-1: Age Distribution of Housing Stock - Guadalupe City, 2020 ...................................................................................... 17 

Figure 2-2: Median Household Income vs. Median Home Value – Guadalupe City, 2000-2020 ............................................... 20 

Figure 4-1: Environmental Constraints Map–Prime Agricultural Lands under Williamson Act Contract .................................. 66 

Figure 4-2: Environmental Constraints Map–Floodable Areas .................................................................................................. 67 

Figure 4-3: Environmental Constraints Map–Wetlands and Habitat Areas ............................................................................... 67 

Figure A-1 DJ Farms Site Map ................................................................................................................................................... 103 

Figure A-2: Peoples’ Self-Help Housing Breaks Ground on New Affordable Housing in Guadalupe, CA ................................. 104 

Figure A-3: Guadalupe Ranch Acres becomes Escalante Meadows Affordable Housing in Guadalupe, CA ............................ 105 

Figure B-1: Opportunities for Housing at Vacant Infill, Mix-Use, and DJ Farms Sites .............................................................. 110 

Figure C-1: Distribution of Fair Housing Enforcement Cases in Guadalupe & Region, 2010 ................................................... 122 

Figure C-2: Distribution of Fair Housing Enforcement Cases in Guadalupe & Region, 2020 ................................................... 123 

Figure C-3: 2020 Neighborhood Designations within the City of Guadalupe .......................................................................... 126 

Figure C-4: 2010 Concentrations of Hispanic Population by Census Block in Guadalupe Neighborhoods .............................. 128 

Figure C-5: 2020 Concentrations of Hispanic Population by Census Block in Guadalupe and its Region ................................ 129 

Figure C-6: 2014 Concentrations of Disability Populations in Guadalupe and its Region ........................................................ 131 

Figure C-7: 2019 Concentrations of Disability Populations in Guadalupe and its Region ........................................................ 132 

Figure C-8: Percent of Home Owners Paying >30% of Incomes on Housing, Guadalupe Region, 2014 .................................. 136 

Figure C-9: Percent of Home Owners Paying >30% of Incomes on Housing, Guadalupe Region, 2019 .................................. 137 

Figure C-10: Percent of Renters Paying >30% of Incomes on Housing, Guadalupe Region, 2014 ........................................... 138 

Figure C-11: Percent of Renters Paying >30% of Incomes on Housing, Guadalupe Region, 2019 ........................................... 139 

Figure C-12: Locations of Subsidized Housing Projects in the Guadalupe Region, 2021 ......................................................... 141 

Figure C-13: Locations of Subsidized Housing Projects within Guadalupe and Vicinity, 2021 ................................................ 142 

Figure C-14: Racially and Ethnically Concentrated Areas of Poverty in Guadalupe & Region, 2000 ....................................... 144 

Figure C-15: Racially and Ethnically Concentrated Areas of Poverty in Guadalupe & Region, 2010 ....................................... 145 

Figure C-16: Racially and Ethnically Concentrated Areas of Poverty in Guadalupe & Region, 2013 ....................................... 146 

Figure C-17: Composite Opportunity Areas in Guadalupe & Region, 2020 ............................................................................. 147 

Figure C-18: Concentrations of Non-Hispanic Whites in Guadalupe Neighborhoods, 2010 ................................................... 149 

Figure C-19: Concentrations of Non-Hispanic Whites in Guadalupe Neighborhoods, 2020 ................................................... 150 

Figure C-20: Levels of Resource Availability in Guadalupe & Region, 2020 ............................................................................. 152 

Figure C-21: Levels of Displacement Risk in Guadalupe & Region, 2019 ................................................................................. 159 



Figure C-22: 2010 to 2021 Trends in Housing Vacancy in Guadalupe and Santa Barbara County .......................................... 161 

Figure C-23: 2022 Incidence of Toxic Release by Census Tract in Guadalupe ......................................................................... 166  



City Council Resolution 
To be added . . . . 

  



  



Housing Element Update Guidance 

Attachment 2: Completeness Checklist 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

HOUSING ELEMENT COMPLETENESS 
CHECKLIST 

A Quick Reference of Statutory Requirements 
for Housing Element Updates 

Updated 1/2021 

 
 
 
 
The purpose of this completeness checklist is to assist local governments in the 
preparation of their housing element. It includes the statutory requirements of Government 
Code section 65580 – 65588. Completion of this checklist is not an indication of statutory 
compliance but is intended to provide a check to ensure that relevant requirements are 
included in the housing element prior to submittal to the Department of Housing and 
Community Development pursuant to Government Code section 65585(b). For purposes 
of the Checklist the term “analysis” is defined as a description and evaluation of specific 
needs, characteristics, and resources available to address identified needs. 

For technical assistance on each section visit California Housing and Community 
Development Building Blocks Technical Assistance 
(https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community- development/building-blocks/index.shtml) 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/building-blocks/index.shtml
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-


xv  

 

Public 
Participation 

Checklist 

Government Code section 65583, subdivision (c)(8) 
 

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

Description of the diligent efforts the jurisdiction made to include all economic 
segments of the community and/or their representatives in the development and 
update of the housing element 

1.2 
2 

Summary of the public input received and a description of how it will be 
considered and incorporated into the housing element. 

3-4 

 

Review and Revise 
Government Code section 65588, subdivision (a) 

 

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

Progress in implementation – A description of the actual results or outcomes of 
the previous element’s goals, objectives, policies, and programs (e.g. what 
happened). 

Tab A-1 
84-94 

Effectiveness of the element – For each program, include an analysis 
comparing the differences between what was projected or planned in the 
element and what was achieved. 

Tab A-3 
84, 98 

Appropriateness of goals, objectives, policies, and programs –A description of 
how the goals, objectives, policies, and programs in the updated element are 
being changed or adjusted to incorporate what has been learned from the 
results of the previous element. (e.g. continued, modified, or deleted.) 

Tab A-2 
84, 95-98 

Special needs populations – Provide a description of how past programs were 
effective in addressing the housing needs of the special populations. This 
analysis can be done as part of describing the effectiveness of the program 
pursuant to (2) if the jurisdiction has multiple programs to specifically address 
housing needs of special needs populations or if specific programs were not 
included, provide a summary of the cumulative results of the programs in 
addressing the housing need terms of units or services by special need group. 

7.1.4 
 

85, 99 

AB 1233 – Shortfall of sites from the 5th cycle planning period – Failure to 
implement rezoning required due to a shortfall of adequate sites to 
accommodate the 5th cycle planning period RHNA for lower-income 
households triggers the provisions of Government Code section 65584.09. 

7.1.5 
85 

 

Comme
nts: 

 

Besides, the key pages indicated in this checklist, there are other 
descriptions and analyses of these topics throughout the document. 



xvi  

Housing Needs Assessment – Quantification and Analysis 
of Need Government Code section 65583, subdivision (a)(1)(2) and 

section 65583.1, subdivision (d) 

For information on how to credit reductions to RHNA See “Housing Element Sites 
Inventory Guidebook” at HCD’s technical assistance memos 
(https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community- development/housing-element/housing-
element-memos.shtml) 

 

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

Population (e.g., by age, size, ethnicity, households by tenure) and 
employment trends 

6-11 

Household characteristics including trends, tenure, overcrowdings and 
severe overcrowding 

12-15 

Overpayment by income and tenure 21 

Existing housing need for extremely low-income households 32 

Projected housing needs: Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) 
by income group, including projected extremely low-income households 

35-37 

Housing stock conditions, including housing type, housing costs, vacancy rate 15-23 

Estimate of the number of units in need of replacement and rehabilitation 18 
 

Identification and Analysis of the Housing Needs for Special Needs 
Populations 
Government Code section 65583, subdivision (a)(7) 

 

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

Elderly 23 

Persons with Disabilities, including Developmental Disabilities 28 

Large Households 25 

Farmworkers (seasonal and permanent) 29 

Female Headed Households 26 

Homeless (seasonal and annual based on the point in time count 32 

Optional: Other (e.g. students, military) Extremely low-income 32 
 

Comments: 
Commensurate with Housing Needs assessments for Special Needs 
Populations, there are policies and programs directed at these groups. 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/housing-element/housing-element-memos.shtml
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/housing-element/housing-element-memos.shtml
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-


xvii  

Affirmatively Further Fair Housing - An Assessment of Fair 
Housing – Required for Housing Element due after 1/1/2021. 
Government Code section 65583, subdivision 
(c)(10)(A) Part 1 Outreach 

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

Does the element describe and incorporate meaningful engagement that 
represents all segments of the community into the development of the housing 
element, including goals and actions? 

7.3 

2-4, 119 

Part 2 Assessment of Fair Housing 
 

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

Does the element include a summary of fair housing enforcement and capacity 
in the jurisdiction? 

119 

The element must include an analysis of these four areas: 
Integration and segregation patterns and trends 

124 

Racially or ethnically concentrated areas of poverty 143 

Disparities in access to opportunity 151 

Disproportionate housing needs within the jurisdiction, including 
displacement risk 

158 

Each analysis should include these components: 
■ Local: Review and analysis of data at a local level 
■ Regional impact; Analysis of local data as it compares on a regional level 
■ Trends and patterns: Review of data to identify trends and patterns over time 

■ Other relevant factors, including other local data and knowledge 
■ Conclusion and findings with a summary of fair housing issues 

Part 3 Sites Inventory 
 

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

Did the element identify and evaluate (e.g., maps) the number of units, location 
and assumed affordability of identified sites throughout the community (i.e., 
lower, moderate, and above moderate income RHNA) relative to all 
components of the assessment of fair housing? 

 
163 

Did the element analyze and conclude whether the identified sites improve or 
exacerbate conditions for each of the fair housing areas (integration and 
segregation, racially and ethnically concentrated areas of poverty, areas of 
opportunity, disproportionate housing needs including displacement)? 

 
164 

Comments: 
Appendix B has additional details on residential land inventory. It includes table 
and maps of actual sites on pages 81 through 92 

 

 

  



xviii  

Part 4 Identification of Contributing Factors 
 

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

Did the element identify, evaluate, and prioritize the contributing factors to fair 
housing issues? 

165 

Part 5 Goals and Actions Page 
 

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

Did the element identify, goals and actions based on the identified and 
prioritized contributing factors? 

81, 167 

Do goals and actions address mobility enhancement, new housing choices and 
affordability in high opportunity areas, place-based strategies for preservation 
and revitalization, displacement protection and other program areas? 

81, 167 

 

Programs must include the following components: 
 

Actions must be significant, meaningful and sufficient to overcome identified 

patterns of segregation and affirmatively further fair housing. 

Metrics and milestones for evaluating progress on programs/actions and fair 

housing results. 

Affordable Housing Units At-Risk of Conversion to Market Rate 
Government Code section 65583, subdivision (a)(9) 

See Preserving Existing Affordable Housing 
(https://www.hcd.ca.gov/policy- research/preserving-existing-
affordable-housing.shtml) 

 

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

Provide an inventory of units at-risk of conversion from affordable to market-rate 
rents within 10 years of the beginning of the planning period. The inventory 
must list each development by project name and address, the type of 
governmental assistance received, the earliest possible date of change from 
low-income use, and the total number of elderly and nonelderly units that could 
be lost from the locality’s low-income housing stock in each year. 

34-35  

Provide an estimate and comparison of replacement costs vs. preservation 
costs 

34 

Identify qualified entities to acquire and manage affordable housing 34 

Identify potential funding sources to preserve affordable housing 41 
 

Comments: According to the Santa Barbara County Housing Authority and City data, 7 percent or 

18 of the 272 assisted units in the City could be at risk of converting to market rate in 

2030, near the end of the 2023-2031 time period. 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/policy-research/preserving-existing-affordable-housing.shtml
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/policy-research/preserving-existing-affordable-housing.shtml
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/policy-


xix  

Analysis of Actual and Potential Governmental Constraints 
Government Code section, 65583, subdivisions (a)(5), (a)(4), (c)(1), and 
section 65583.2, subdivision (c) 

See “Accessory Dwelling Unit Handbook” at HCD’s Accessory Dwelling Unit 
Assistance page (https://www.hcd.ca.gov/policy-
research/accessorydwellingunits.shtml) 

 

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

Land use controls (e.g. parking, lot coverage, heights, unit size requirements, 
open space requirements, Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) requirements, floor 
area ratios, growth controls (e.g., caps on units or population or voter approval 
requirements, conformance with the requirements of SB 330), inclusionary 
requirements, consistency with State Density Bonus Law and Housing 
Accountability Act, and consistency with zoning and development standard 
website publication and transparency requirements pursuant to Gov. Code § 
65940.1 subd. (a)(1)(B)). 

 
 

 
47 

Local processing and permit procedures (e.g., typical processing times, permit 
types/requirements by housing type and zone, decision making criteria/findings, 
design/site/architectural review process and findings, description of standards 
[objective/subjective], planned development process). Element should also 
describe whether the jurisdiction has a process to accommodate SB 35 
streamline applications and by-right applications for permanent supportive 
housing and navigation centers. 

 
 

57 

Building codes and their enforcement (e.g., current application of the California 
Building Code, any local amendments, and local code enforcement process and 
programs) 

 

55 

On and Off-Site improvement requirements (e.g., street widths, curbing 
requirements) 

60 

Fees and other exactions (e.g., list all fees regardless of entity collecting the fee, 
analyze all planning and impact fees for both single family and multifamily 
development, provided typical totals and proration to total development costs per 
square foot, and consistency with fee website publication and transparency 
requirements pursuant to Gov. Code § 65940.1 subd. (a)(1)(A)). 

 
 

59 

Housing for persons with disabilities (e.g. definition of family, concentrating/siting 
requirements for group homes, reasonable accommodation procedures, 
application of building codes and ADA requirements, zoning for group homes 
and community care facilities) 

 
83, 133 

Analysis of locally-adopted ordinances that directly impact the cost and supply of 
housing (e.g. inclusionary ordinance, short-term rental ordinance) 

49 

 

Comments: 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/policy-research/accessorydwellingunits.shtml
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/policy-research/accessorydwellingunits.shtml
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/policy-research/accessorydwellingunits.shtml)
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/policy-research/accessorydwellingunits.shtml)


xx  

An Analysis of Potential and Actual Nongovernmental Constraints 
Government Code section, 65583, subdivision (a)(6) 

 

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

Availability of financing 63 

Price of land 64 

Cost of Construction 64 

Requests to develop housing below identified densities in the sites inventory 
and analysis 

NA 

Typical timeframes between approval for a housing development project and 
application for building permits 

57, 58 

 

Does the analysis demonstrate the jurisdiction’s action(s) to mitigate 
nongovernmental constraints that create a gap between planning for housing to 
accommodate all income levels and the construction of housing to accommodate all 
income levels? 

 

Zoning for a Variety of Housing Types 
Government Code section, 65583, subdivisions (a)(4), (c)(1), and subdivision 
65583.2 subdivision (c) 

Provide an analysis of zoning and availability of sites for a variety of housing types 
including the following: 

 

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

Multifamily Rental Housing 51 

Housing for Agricultural Employees (permanent and seasonal) (compliance with 
Health and Safety Code sections 17021.5, 17021.6, and 17021.8 

52 

Emergency Shelters (including compliance with new development/parking 
standards pursuant to AB 139/Gov. Code § 65583 subd. (a)(4)(A)). 

51 

Low Barrier Navigation Centers 52 

Transitional Housing 51 

Supportive Housing (including compliance with AB 2162, statutes of 2019) 51 

Single-Room Occupancy Units 53 

Manufactured homes, including compliance with Gov. Code § 65852.3 53 

Mobile Home Parks 53 

Accessory Dwelling Units 61 
 

Comments: 



xxi  

Site Inventory and Analysis 
Government Code, section 65583, subdivision (a)(3), section 65583.1, 
subdivision 
See “Housing Element Sites Inventory Guidebook” and “Default Density Standard 
Option” at HCD’s technical assistance memos (https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community- 
development/housing-element/housing-element-memos.shtml) 
See Site Inventory Form (https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-
development/housing- element/docs/Site_inventory_template09022020.xlsm) and 
Site Inventory Form Instructions (https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-
development/housing- element/docs/Site_inventory_instructions.pdf) 
Site Inventory – The site inventory must be prepared using the form adopted 
by HCD. An electronic copy of the site inventory is due at the time the adopted 
housing element is submitted to HCD for review and can be sent to 
siteinventory@hcd.ca.gov. 
Site Inventory 

 

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

Sites Inventory Form Listing: Parcel listing by parcel number, size, general plan 
and zoning, existing uses on non-vacant sites, realistic capacity, level of 
affordability by income group, publicly owned sites (optional). 

 
108 

Prior Identified Sites: Address whether sites are adequate to accommodate 
lower income needs based on identification in the prior planning period for non- 
vacant sites or two or more for vacant sites. 

 
113 

Map of sites 110 
 

Did the jurisdiction use the sites inventory form adopted by HCD? 
 

Site Inventory Analysis and Methodology 
 

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

RHNA Progress: List the number of pending, approved or permitted units by 
income group based on actual or anticipated sales prices and rents since the 
beginning of the projection period 

 
84, 100-
101 

Environmental Constraints: Address any known environmental or other 
constraints, conditions or circumstances, including mitigation measures, 
which impede development in the planning period 

 
65-67 

Appropriate density: Identification of zoning to accommodate RHNA for lower- 
income households: 

• Identify zones meeting the “default” density (Gov. Code § 65583.2 subd. 
(c)(3)(B)) or; 

• Identify and analyze zones with densities less than the “deemed appropriate” 
(default) density that are appropriate to accommodate lower RHNA. 

 

 
 

Comments: 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/housing-element/housing-element-memos.shtml
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/housing-element/docs/Site_inventory_template09022020.xlsm
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/housing-
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/housing-
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/housing-element/docs/Site_inventory_instructions.pdf
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/housing-
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/housing-
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/housing-
mailto:siteinventory@hcd.ca.gov


xxii  

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

Capacity: Describe the methodology used in quantifying the number of units 
that can be accommodated on each APN: 

• If development is required to meet a minimum density, identify the minimum 
density, or; 

• Describe the methodology used to determine realistic capacity accounting for 
land use controls and site improvement requirements, typical density trends 
for projects of similar affordability, and current or planned infrastructure. 

• For sites with zones allowing non-residential uses, demonstrate the 
likelihood of residential development 

 
 
 
 

108 

Infrastructure: Existing or planned infrastructure to accommodate the regional 
housing need, including water, sewer and dry utilities 68 

Small and large sites: Sites identified to accommodate lower RHNA that are 
less than one-half acre or larger than 10 acres require analysis to establish they 
are adequate to accommodate the development of affordable units. 

 
116 

Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing: Identified sites throughout the community 
that affirmatively furthers fair housing (see page 5 of checklist) 

163 

Nonvacant Sites Analysis: For nonvacant sites, demonstrate the potential and 
likelihood of additional development within the planning period based on extent 
to which existing uses may constitute an impediment to additional residential 
development, past experience with converting existing uses to higher density 
residential development, current market demand for the existing use, any 
existing leases or other contracts that would perpetuate the existing use or 
prevent redevelopment of the site for additional residential development, 
development trends, market conditions, and regulatory or other incentives or 
standards to encourage additional residential development on these sites 

 
 
 

163 

If nonvacant sites accommodate 50 percent or more of the lower-income 
RHNA, demonstrate the existing use is not an impediment to additional 
development and will likely discontinue in the planning period, including adopted 
findings based on substantial evidence. 

 
NA 

Nonvacant sites that include residential units (either existing or demolished) that 
are/were occupied by, or subject to, affordability agreements for lower-income 
households within 5 years are subject to a housing replacement program. (Gov. 
Code § 65583.2 subd. (g)(3)) 

 
NA 

 

Please note: This checklist does not include new requirements related to zoning 
for sites accommodating the moderate and above moderate income pursuant to 
AB 725, statutes of 2020 as this requirement is not enacted until 2022. 

Comments: 



xxiii  

Alternative Methods to Accommodate the RHNA: Optional 
 

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

Accessory Dwelling Units: Analyze the number and affordability level of ADU 
units projected to be built within the planning period, including resources and 
incentives and other relevant factors such as potential constraints, and the 
likelihood of availability for rent 

NA 

Existing Residential Units: number and affordability level of units rehabilitated, 
converted or preserved that meet the provisions of alternative adequate sites. In 
addition, this includes units in a motel, hotel, or hostel that are converted to 
residential units and made available to persons experiencing homelessness as 
part of a COVID-19 response and acquisition of mobile home park. If using this 
option, the adequate site alternative checklist must be provided. 

NA 

Other: Jurisdictions are encouraged to consult with HCD regarding other 
alternative methods options including new manufactured housing park hook- 
ups, floating homes/live aboard berths, conversion of military housing, adaptive 
reuse of commercial uses, or other housing opportunities unique to the 
community to ensure their adequacy to accommodate RHNA. 

NA 

Other Miscellaneous Requirements 
Also see Technical Advisories issued by the Governor’s Office of Planning and 
Research at: New state legislation related to General Plans Appendix C 
(http://opr.ca.gov/docs/OPR_Appendix_C_final.pdf) and Fire Hazard Planning 
General Plan Technical Advice Series (http://opr.ca.gov/docs/Final_6.26.15.pdf) 

 

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

Description of the means by which consistency with the general plan will be 
achieved and maintained. (Gov. Code § 65583 subd. (c)(8)) 

4 

Description of construction, demolition, and conversion of housing for lower- 
and moderate-income households within the Coastal Zone (if applicable). (Gov. 
Code § 65588 subds. (c) and (d)) 

NA 

Description of opportunities for energy conservation in residential development. 
(Gov. Code § 65583 subd. (a)(8)) 

72 

Description of consistency with water and sewer priority requirements pursuant 
to SB 1087 (Gov. Code § 65589.7) 

68 

Other elements of the general plan triggered by housing element adoption: 

• Disadvantaged Communities (Gov. Code § 65302.10) 

• Flood Hazard and Management (Gov. Code § 65302 subds. (d)(3) and 
(g)(2)(B)) 

• Fire Hazard (Gov. Code § 65302 and 65302.5) 

• Environmental Justice (Gov. Code § 65302 subd. (h)) 
• Climate Adaptation 

4 

 

Comments: Environmental Justice 

http://opr.ca.gov/docs/OPR_Appendix_C_final.pdf
http://opr.ca.gov/docs/OPR_Appendix_C_final.pdf)
http://opr.ca.gov/docs/Final_6.26.15.pdf
http://opr.ca.gov/docs/Final_6.26.15.pdf
http://opr.ca.gov/docs/Final_6.26.15.pdf)


xxiv  

Schedule of Actions/Programs 
Government Code, section 65583, subdivisions (c)(1 – 7), and (10) 

For adequate site programs See “Housing Element Sites Inventory Guidebook” 
at HCD’s technical assistance memos (https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-
development/housing- element/housing-element-memos.shtml) 

 

Program Description Program numbers Page 
number 

Program(s) to provide adequate sites (large/small 
sites, incentives for mixed use/nonvacant sites, 
publicly owned sites, annexation, etc.) 

 
Pol 1.1 

 
74 

If required: Program to accommodate a shortfall 
of adequate sites to accommodate the lower 
RHNA. This program must meet the specific 
criteria identified in Gov. Code § 65583.2 subd. 
(h) and (i). 

 
 

NA 

 

If required: Program to accommodate an 
unaccommodated need from the previous 
planning period pursuant to Gov code § 
65584.09 

 
Prg-1.3 

 
75 

If required: Program when vacant/nonvacant 
sites to accommodate lower RHNA have been 
identified in multiple housing elements, if 
needed. (Gov. Code § 65583.2 subd. (c)) 

 
NA 

 

If required: Program to provide replacement 
units when occupied by, or deed restricted to 
lower-income households within the last 5 years, 
if needed. (Gov. Code § 65583.2 subd. (g)(3)) 

 
NA 

 

Program(s) to assist in the development of housing to 
accommodate extremely-low, very-low, low or 
moderate-income households, including special 
needs populations 

 
Goal 1 

 
74 

Program to address governmental and 
nongovernmental constraints to the maintenance, 
improvement, and development of housing 

 

Goal 2, Pol 2.1 – Pol 2.6 
 

77 

Program(s) to conserve and improve the condition of 
the existing affordable housing stock 

 
Prg-3.1 

 
78 

 

Comments: 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/housing-element/housing-element-memos.shtml
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/housing-
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/housing-


  
 

 

■ 

Program Description Program numbers Page 
number 

Program(s) to promote and affirmative further fair 
housing opportunities 

 
Prg-6.1  -  Prg-6.4 

 
81 

Program(s) to preserve units at-risk of conversion 
from affordable to market-rate rents. 

 
Goal 3 

 
77 

Program(s) to incentivize and promote the creation of 
accessory dwelling units that can be offered at an 
affordable rent. 

 
Prg-1.3 

 
75 

 

Do programs specify specific clear commitment, meaningful actions, 
which will have beneficial impact within the planning period? 

 

Do programs identify timing, objectives (quantified where appropriate), and 
responsible parties, if appropriate for implementation? 

 

Quantified Objectives 
Government Code, section 65583, subdivisions (b) 

 

For an example table addressing this requirement visit California Housing and 
Community Development Building Blocks (https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-
development/building- blocks/program-requirements/program-overview.shtml) 

 

Description of Requirement Page 
Number 

Estimate the number of units likely to be constructed, rehabilitated and 
conserved or preserved by income level, including extremely low-income, 
during the planning period 

 
83 

 

Comments: 
  

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/building-blocks/program-requirements/program-overview.shtml
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/building-blocks/program-requirements/program-overview.shtml
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/building-
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/building-
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/building-
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/building-


 

1 
 

1.0 Introduction 
The California legislature identifies the attainment of an acceptable home and suitable living 

environment for every citizen as California's main goal for housing. Recognizing the important role local 

government planning plays to achieve this goal, the State mandates that all cities and counties prepare 

and adopt a housing element as part of their comprehensive General Plans. In the housing element, 

State law requires local governments to adequately plan to meet the existing and projected housing 

needs of all economic segments of the community. Unlike the other mandatory elements, the housing 

element is subject to detailed statutory requirements regarding its content and must be updated every, 

five or eight years, according to a schedule set by the California Department of Housing and Community 

Development (HCD). The housing element is also subject to mandatory review and certification by HCD. 

The City of Guadalupe is on a 4-year review cycle. 

This 2023-2031 update of Guadalupe’s Housing Element includes policies and programs to address the 

City’s housing needs through 2031. It serves as the short-term version of the long-term vision 

encapsulated in the Guadalupe 2042 General Plan which addresses comprehensive housing needs for 

residents of all income levels within the City through 2042 and serves as one of the bastions for 

allocation of land use in the future. This 2023-2031 update provides a comprehensive analysis of 

Guadalupe's demographic, economic, and housing characteristics as required by State law. The Element 

also contains an evaluation of the City's progress in implementing the 2019 Housing Element. Based on 

the City's housing needs, available resources, constraints and opportunities for housing production and 

preservation, and its past performance, the 2023-2031 update of the Housing Element establishes a 

strategy of goals, measurable objectives, and related policies and programs to address present and 

future housing needs of the City. 

1.1 Community Context 
The City of Guadalupe is located within the rich agricultural region of the Santa Maria Valley, in the 

northwest portion of Santa Barbara County. It was incorporated in 1946. Surrounded by farmlands, the 

City serves as an agricultural service center for processing and shipping of many of the crops from the 

productive farms in the valley. The predominant land use within City limits is residential as the City 

provides homes for persons employed in the production, processing, and shipping of agricultural 

products, among others. Compared to other cities in the County, Guadalupe has been a relatively stable 

community, experiencing modest population growth over the past three decades.  

The City occupies approximately 1.31 square miles including the sphere of influence. According to the 

American Community Survey of the United States Census Bureau, Guadalupe had a population of 6,770 

in 2010, 7,218 in 2015, and 7,654 in 2020. Between 2010 and 2020, the population of Guadalupe grew 

at a rate of 1.3 percent a year, while Santa Barbara County grew at 0.7 percent a year. Approximately 88 

percent of the population claims Hispanic origin with the majority (79 percent) of Mexican descent. With 

much of the workforce involved in agriculture, median household income is below State and County 

medians triggering the need for affordable workforce housing. Household incomes are in general among 



 

2 
 

the lowest in Santa Barbara County and as a result, many Guadalupe residents fall in the income ranges 

that need affordable housing.  

Between 2000 and 2009, Guadalupe's median home value more than doubled to $313,500, significantly 

outpacing the area's income growth; since then, however, Guadalupe's median home price decreased 

by 35 percent to a 2015 median home value of $203,100 and rebounded to $337,100 in 2021 (US 

Census, ACS, DP04, 2009, 2015, 2021). Historically, in part because of increases in housing prices, 

overcrowding has been a major issue in Guadalupe, putting emphasis on the need for more affordable 

housing. 

The construction of projects identified as affordable housing in Guadalupe started in the 1980s.The first 

were Treasure Park and Bonita Pacifica, which helped with home ownership. People's Self-Help Housing, 

Habitat for Humanity, Santa Barbara County Housing Authority, and Community Development Block 

Grants have provided financing and administration of affordable housing programs in Guadalupe.  

In 2021, Guadalupe's housing stock consisted of approximately 2,180 residential units. Of these, 77 

percent were single-family houses or condominiums, 23 percent were multi-family units including 1 

percent mobile homes and trailers (US Census, ACS, DP04, 2021). Most of the residential growth (85 

percent) occurred over 30 years old, the age when most homes begin to require major repairs. Nearly 

two-thirds of the housing stock in Guadalupe was built before 1990 and another third was built between 

1990 and 2010. The last decade saw the construction of 3.5 percent of the housing stock. 

1.2 Public Participation 

1.2.1 Consolidated Outreach Activities 

During the General Plan process, cities and counties in California must provide opportunities to involve 

residents in the community planning process to ensure that policies reflect the aspirations of the 

community. This housing element is a product of broad community participation by residents and 

stakeholders of Guadalupe, including City Staff, the School District, and City Council jointly with the 

preparation of the Guadalupe General Plan. Input from all segments of the community is to help assure 

that appropriate housing strategies are more efficiently and effectively evaluated, developed, and 

implemented. During preparation of the update to the Housing Element, citizen and stakeholder 

participation was actively sought in the following ways:  

• Four community workshops (10/12/2017, 11/7/2017, 3/7/2018, and 3/21/2018), a hearing held 

jointly with Council Meeting (10/23/2018), and a public meeting to kick off preparation of the 6th 

Cycle Housing Element (1/10/2023)  to gather input on existing housing needs, housing 

conditions, opportunities and constraints, and other housing issues and concerns;  

• Public notices of the community workshops were posted on the City's website, in the local 

newspaper, and at City Hall.  

• Notices were in both English and Spanish; they were also mailed out in addition to postings.  

• The following other activities are anticipated: 



 

3 
 

o Public Review of the draft and a public hearing with City Council prior to submittal to 

state for review 

o The Draft Housing Element to be reviewed by the State Department of Housing and 

Community Development (HCD). Comments provided by HCD would be addressed 

o A public hearing jointly with Council Meeting to discuss the Housing Element following 

revisions due to comments on this draft from HCD.  

1.2.2 Special 6th Cycle Outreach Findings 

The special outreach effort for the 6th Cycle Housing Element culminated in a workshop on January 10, 

2023. The effort included both a survey and the workshop. The survey recapped the issues and 

aspirations the Guadalupe Community expressed in previous public meetings that related to housing, 

asked for confirmation of the issues and preferences and offered respondents an opportunity to update 

them or add new ones. 

From previous meetings, participants identified several strengths of Guadalupe in terms of housing as: 

the presence of strong residential neighborhoods; and the relatively affordable housing in the City when 

compared to other communities nearby. They also expressed such aspirations for the future of housing 

as: the development of affordable workforce housing; expanding the stock of low-income housing; and 

also expanding the availability of shelters. 

 

Participants expressed similar levels of preference for three types of housing development that 

included small apartments in the lead followed by duplexes and single family detached homes. These 

preferences reflected an intrinsic aspiration for affordability.  

 

When asked about preferences for types of affordable housing, participants expressed preference for 

secondary dwelling units in the lead followed by apartments. There was comparatively low aspiration 

for mobile homes. 

 

When asked specifically about preferences for special needs housing, participants expressed preference 

for all types but at varying degrees as follows: 

• Topping the list are farm worker housing and senior housing 

• Followed by single-parent and linguistically challenged (or new migrant worker) housing  

• With a comparatively lower desire for disability housing. 

• Four years ago, participants did not give much weight to homeless shelters. 

The survey for the 6th Cycle Plan sought to find out whether priorities for housing have remained the 

same or have changed. The survey, which was in both English and Spanish, was disseminated widely to 

many stakeholders including residents, housing agencies, and providers about a week before the 

workshop and at the workshop. Returns were collected before, during, and after the workshop. 

Approximately forty participants attended the workshop and engaged in the meeting. 



 

4 
 

Survey results largely confirmed the issues that were most important for members of the community 

and the priorities with preferences and aspirations of residents. Nevertheless, a few new issues have 

arisen and some items gained higher priority. 

On issues with housing, The three top priorities in order of importance are cost and affordability, 

homelessness, and options or choices with housing. Notably, homelessness has become an issue of 

grave concern among respondents. The other new issues mentioned concern subletting in the new 

Pasadera development leading to crowding and shortage of parking as well as lack of trash receptacles 

and maintenance at the new parks in the development. 

On priorities for general housing types,  single family units and duplexes jumped ahead to first and 

second places respectively, followed closely by small apartment complexes. These confirm the 

aspirations for units that are large enough for families but remain affordable. 

Specifically on affordable housing types, apartments and other multi-family units jumped ahead of 

accessory dwelling units. Mobile homes remained a distant third. 

Respondents continue to recognize and express the importance of all forms of special needs housing. 

Topping the list are farmworker and senior housing in first and second place, respectively. Single-parent 

housing is in a not-too-distant third place. Rounding off the list are housing to suit those with disability 

and recent migrants. 

Finally, respondents are partial to the development of future new housing in the neighborhoods 

designated from the General Plan development process as future growth areas. With little difference in 

the numbers of respondents, the priorities are as follows: 

a. The northeast residential area east of Mary Buren Elementary School (Gularte Tract).   

b. The downtown mixed-use corridor and surrounding residential neighborhood 

c. DJ Farms Specific Plan Area now popularly known as Pasadera.  

1.2.3 Inclusion of Outreach Findings in Housing Element 

Discussions and findings from all public outreach efforts serve as the basis of space allocation for types 

of housing in the new Housing Element. Findings indicate that concerns related to housing for families, 

seniors, and farmworkers. Housing types include multi-family, single-family, and single-room occupancy 

units. Residents of Guadalupe also support infill development that is affordable by design in the 

downtown core of Guadalupe and other growth centers in the northeast (Gularte Tract), Obispo and 

Pasadera neighborhoods. This update of the Housing Element captures these community aspirations for 

housing. 

1.3 Consistency with Other Elements of the General Plan 
State law requires that all portions of the General Plan be internally consistent. The City of Guadalupe’s 

adopted 2042 General Plan consists of thirteen subject areas consolidated into various elements. These 

include the original mandated subjects on land use, circulation, housing, conservation, open space, 

noise, and safety. The Plan also covers Environmental Justice and Air Quality subjects as mandated by 



 

5 
 

Senate Bill 100 for disadvantaged communities. For further depth, the General Plan covers four optional 

subjects including economic development, public services and facilities, community design, and health. 

This Housing Element builds upon the other elements and is consistent with the policies in the General 

Plan. For example, the Housing Element incorporates residential development capacities established in 

the land Use Element and discussion of infrastructure and public services based upon information from 

the land Use and Public Facilities Elements. As the Housing Element is updated through time, it should 

maintain internal consistency with the General Plan.  

Senate Bill 1087 of 2005 requires cities to provide a copy of their Housing Elements to local water and 

sewer providers, and also requires that these agencies provide priority hookups for developments with 

lower-income housing. The City of Guadalupe is its own water and sewer provider; there is no separate 

water or sewer district. Staff members from the City Public Works Department were consulted during 

the preparation of the Housing Element, in compliance with this requirement, and key water and sewer 

service staff will be provided with a copy of the Housing Element upon adoption. 

The Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) set a due date of February 15, 2023 for 
this 2023-2031 revision of the Housing Element and required updates to the Safety and Conservation 
Elements (pursuant to GC Section 65302(g)), and an Environmental Justice Element (pursuant to GC 
Section 56430) of the General Plan on or before this update of the Housing Element. These elements 
have been appropriately updated during the development of the Guadalupe 2042 General Plan. 
 

1.4 Organization of the Element 
The Housing Element is organized into six chapters. This first chapter is introductory, touching on the 

statutory requirements of a Housing Element. Chapter 2 provides assessment of housing needs in terms 

of subject matters outlined by State law. It discusses characteristics of the population, employment, 

household, and housing stock; special housing needs; assisted housing at-risk of conversion; and future 

growth according to the Santa Barbara County Association of Governments. Chapter 3 describes the 

resources available in Guadalupe to achieve the City's allocation of regional housing needs, including 

land resources, financial and administrative resources, and energy conservation opportunities. Chapter 

4 provides a discussion of both governmental and nongovernmental constraints. Chapter 5 discusses 

opportunities for conserving energy in residential development. Finally, Chapter 6 contains goals, 

measurable objectives, policies, and programs for housing in Guadalupe based on community input and 

background research. Appendices include additional details as follows: 

• Appendix A provides a review of the 2015 and mid-cycle 2019 Housing Elements;  

• Appendix B has detailed analysis of sites suitable for residential development;  

• Appendix C covers the all new detailed discussion on Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing; and  

• Appendix D includes a schedule of fees.  



 

6 
 

2.0 Housing Needs Assessment 
State law requires local governments to adequately plan to meet their existing and projected housing 

needs, including their share of the regional housing needs. This chapter provides an assessment of 

housing needs based on analyses of general characteristics and trends in the population, employment, 

households, and housing stock. The chapter looks at characteristics of disadvantaged groups with special 

housing needs and whether any existing assisted housing units are at-risk of conversion to market rate 

housing. Finally, the chapter examines the City's projected housing needs based on the Santa Barbara 

County Association of Governments’ 2023-2031 Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA).  

This Housing Needs Assessment relies on the most recent data from the US Census of Population and 

Housing, US Economic Census, California Department of Finance, California Employment Development 

Department (EDD), Santa Barbara County Association of Governments (SBCAG), and other relevant 

sources. The discussion includes implications of findings for the City's housing policies and programs. 

2.1. Population Characteristics 

2.1.1 Population Growth Trends 

Population growth is a primary determinant of housing need. The City of Guadalupe has experienced a 

steady population growth since 2000. Table 2-1 shows that between 2000 and 2020, the City's 

population increased by 35 percent to 7,654 people, which represents 1.7 percent of the total County 

population. Guadalupe’s growth equates to an annual increase of 1.8 percent. By comparison, Santa 

Barbara County’s total 2020 population of 444,895 represents an annual growth of 0.6 percent over the 

same period. Although a relatively small city, Guadalupe has been growing approximately three times as 

fast as the County over the last two decades. 

Table 2-1: Population Growth Trends. Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2000 – 2020  

Year Guadalupe City 
Santa Barbara 

County 

2000 5,653 399,347 

2010 6,770 416,051 

2015 7,218 435,850 

2020                   7,654 444,895 

Percent change  35% 11% 

Annual percent change 1.8% 0.6% 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, DEC SF4, Table DP1, 2000; U.S Census Bureau, 2010 American Community Survey 5-Year 

Estimates, Table DP05; U.S Census Bureau, 2015 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP05; U.S 

Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP05. 

2.1.2 Age 

Age characteristics of the population influence housing needs as different age groups have different 

housing needs based on lifestyles, family types, income levels, and housing preferences. Table 2-2 

compares the age distributions of the population in the City and the County in 2020. The table depicts a 



 

7 
 

more youthful population in Guadalupe than Santa Barbara County while the County has a higher share 

of the senior population. For instance, in 2020, 48 percent of City residents were under the age of 25 

compared to 37 percent in the County. Consistent with this distribution the median age in the City was 

28 compared to 34 years in the County in 2020. 

Table 2-2: Age Distribution - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 

Age Group 
Guadalupe City Santa Barbara County 

Persons Percent Persons Percent 

Under 18 years 2,802 37% 113,259 25% 

18 to 24 years 854 11% 55,531 12% 

25 to 44 years  1,919  25%  110,272  25% 

45 to 64 years  1,464  19%  97,813  22% 

65 to 74 years  323  4%  37,416  8% 

75 to 84 years  225  3%  20,110  5% 

85 years and over  67  1%  10,494  2% 

Total Population  7,654  100%  444,895  100% 

Median age (years) 28 34 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP05. 

2.1.3 Race and Ethnicity 

Table 2-3 reveals that the City of Guadalupe depicts slightly more racial diversity than Santa Barbara 

County. While approximately two thirds (62 percent) of the City’s population is white, nearly three 

quarters (72 percent) of the County population is white. There are hardly any stark differences in the 

composition of other races between the City and the County. Where the difference is most noticeable is 

in Hispanic origin. While 46 percent of County residents claimed Hispanic origin in 2020, two times the 

share or 92 percent of City residents claimed Hispanic origin.  

Table 2-3: Population by Race/Ethnicity - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 

[Table 2-3]                                      Race and Ethnicity 
Guadalupe City Santa Barbara County 

Persons Percent Persons Percent 

Racial Distribution   

White alone 4,719 62% 319,547 72% 

Black or African American alone 33 0% 8,474 2% 

American Indian and Alaska Native alone 141 2% 4,941  1% 

Asian alone 274 4% 24,678  6% 

Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander alone 79 1%  528  0% 

Some other race alone 1492 20% 43,441  10% 

Two or more races 916 12%  43,286  10% 

Total Population 7,654 100%      444,895  100% 



 

8 
 

[Table 2-3]                                      Race and Ethnicity 
Guadalupe City Santa Barbara County 

Persons Percent Persons Percent 

Hispanic Origin   

Hispanic or Latino (of any race)  7,035  92%  203,207  46% 

Not Hispanic or Latino 619  8%    241,688  54% 

All Origins  7,654  100%  444,895  100% 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP05. 

2.1.4 Conclusion 

Population data indicates steady growth which would suggest the need for a steady supply of housing. 

The youthful population could indicate either the need for housing to suit large families with youthful 

dependents or housing for households of young adults. A subsequent section of this chapter on 

household characteristics further explores these potential needs. 

2.2 Employment Trends 

2.2.1 Current Employment 

Different types of employment opportunities determine household incomes which in turn determine 

the types and sizes of housing that households could afford.  According to the American Community 

Survey, both Guadalupe and Santa Barbara County depicted similar levels of employment with 

approximately three out of five of those residents in the labor force employed in 2020. Approximately 5 

percent of those in the labor force were unemployed in 2020, reflecting statewide and national trends. 

The next subsection and the section on household characteristics further explore the distribution of 

incomes by employment type and households respectively and implications for housing affordability. 

Table 2-4: Labor Force and Employment Rates - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 

  
Guadalupe City Santa Barbara County 

Persons Percent Persons Percent 

In Labor Force* 5,198 68% 356,699 64% 

Employed - 65% - 60% 

Unemployed - 4% - 6% 

Not in Labor Force  2,841  32%     129,950  36% 

All ages 16 and over 
                  

8,039    
              

486,649    
*Ages 16 and over in labor force. 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table S2301. 

Table 2-5 shows the distribution of employment by occupation and median earnings. In 2020, the 

largest employment sector for Guadalupe residents was farming, fishing, forestry with approximately 

one out of every four employed residents. With a median earning of just over $23,000, agriculture 

provided nearly $15,000 more in annual salary than the lowest-paying sector (Building and Grounds 



 

9 
 

Cleaning and Maintenance), but it provided $45,000 lower annual salary than the highest-paying sector 

(Art, Design, Entertainment, Sports, and Media). Close examination of the distribution suggests that 

working residents of Guadalupe fall predominantly into occupations that pay low to mid-level salaries 

that are below $40,000 a year. Housing affordability would depend on the number of income earners in 

households and families. 

Table 2-5: Distribution of Employment by Occupation and Median Earning – Guadalupe City, 2020 

Industry Persons Percent 
Median 
Earning 

Farming, fishing, and forestry occupations 825 24% 23,171 

Office and administrative support occupations 394 12% 52,237 

Sales and related occupations 326 10% 23,750 

Material moving occupations 311 9% 25,898 

Healthcare support occupations 255 8% 18,450 

Building and grounds cleaning and maintenance occupations 191 6% 7,165 

Construction and extraction occupations 162 5% 32,027 

Management occupations 153 5% 32,014 

Installation, maintenance, and repair occupations 142 4% 36,023 

Production occupations 117 3% 26,902 

Transportation occupations 91 3% 30,865 

Personal care and service occupations 77 2% 15,709 

Protective service occupations 76 2% 43,333 

Food preparation and serving related occupations 71 2% 14,777 

Arts, design, entertainment, sports, and media occupations 61 2% 67,882 

Educational instruction, and library occupations 46 1% 30,278 

Business and financial operations occupations 37 1% 45,795 

Healthcare practitioners and technical occupations 36 1% 43,125 

Life, physical, and social science occupations 11 0% - 

Architecture and engineering occupations 8 0% - 

Legal occupations 3 0% - 

Community and social service occupations 0 0% - 

Computer and mathematical occupations 0 0% - 

All Employed 3,393 100% 26,646 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table S2401; U.S Census Bureau, 

2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B24011.     



 

10 
 

2.2.2 Projected Job Growth 

The numbers and types of new future jobs affect future housing affordability. Table 2-6 shows projected 

job growth by occupation for the Santa Barbara-Santa Maria-Goleta Metropolitan Statistical Area (Santa 

Barbara MSA) over the decade from 2018 to 2028. Total employment is projected to grow by 9 percent 

during this period for an increase of 19,000 new jobs. This would bring the employment of Santa 

Barbara MSA to approximately 222,100 by 2028 (California Employment Development Department, 

2020). Close examination reveals that economic sectors with the most growth are a mixture of typically 

well-paying occupations such as Information, as well as the typically low-paying occupations such as 

Construction, Leisure and Hospitality, and Educational Services. Table 2-6 shows, however, that low 

paying occupations would dominate in job growth. This would not bode well in terms of housing 

affordability for Guadalupe residents who are concentrated in the low-paying job sectors. Without 

multiple income-earning persons in households, difficulties with housing affordability could remain. 

Table 2-6: Protected Job Growth by Occupation from 2018 to 2028 – Santa Maria & Santa Barbara 

Metropolitan Statistical Area 

Occupation Title 

Annual Average 
Employment Employment Change 

2018 2028 Jobs Percent 

Information 4,000 4,700 700 18% 

Educational Services (Private), Health Care, and 
Social Assistance 27,400 31,600 4,200 15% 

Construction 8,800 10,000 1,200 14% 

Leisure and Hospitality 28,200 31,400 3,200 11% 

Professional and Business Services 22,700 25,200 2,500 11% 

Self-Employment 14,400 15,700 1,300 9% 

Total Farm 22,900 24,800 1,900 8% 

Government 39,000 42,200 3,200 8% 

Transportation, Warehousing, and Utilities 3,400 3,600 200 6% 

Wholesale Trade 5,100 5,400 300 6% 

Manufacturing 12,900 13,600 700 5% 

Trade, Transportation, and Utilities 27,200 27,400 200 1% 

Retail Trade 18,700 18,300 -400 -2% 

Financial Activities 6,700 6,500 -200 -3% 

Mining and Logging 1,000 800 -200 -20% 

Private Household Workers 700 500 -200 -29% 

Total Employment  222,100 241,000 18,900 9% 
Source: California Employment Development Department, 2022.  

2.2.3 Jobs-Housing Balance 

A regional balance of jobs to housing is necessary for housing demand to match with supply. When the 

number of jobs significantly exceeds the housing supply, the rental and for-sale housing markets may 



 

11 
 

become saturated, requiring households to pay much larger shares of their incomes for housing than 

would otherwise be necessary. A tight housing market can also result in overcrowding as households 

double up in available units or in longer commute times as workers seek more affordable housing 

outside the region. According to the Regional Growth Forecast 2050 (2019) for the Santa Barbara County 

Association of Governments (SBCAG), the relationship between jobs and housing keeps gaining 

increasing importance. The problem of jobs to housing imbalance intensified in recent years and 

workers have increasingly crowded into the limited available housing in Santa Barbara County or sought 

less-expensive housing outside of Santa Barbara County. 

Conventional wisdom dictates that reasonable jobs to housing ratios should be within the range of 1.0 

to 1.5 jobs to one housing unit (SBCAG, 2007). A ratio above 1.5 could indicate that there may be an 

insufficient supply of housing to meet the needs of the local workforce. A ratio below 1.0 could denote 

an insufficient supply of jobs to support the local population. Table 2-7 shows that the City of Guadalupe 

had jobs to housing ratio of approximately 0.72 compared to the County ratio of 1.2.  

In 2020, Guadalupe had 1,436 jobs for 3,394 employed workers within the City. This already shows 

insufficiency of jobs for the labor force. It also means that large numbers of the labor force likely 

commuted to outlying areas for work. U.S. Census data reveals that Guadalupe had very little “In-Area 

Employment Efficiency” for all Jobs in 2020. Only 18 percent of the jobs within the City are held by 

residents while 82 percent are held by those who lived outside the City. Similarly, 91 percent of 

employed residents worked outside the City. This indicates that workers from other parts of the County 

continue to move to Guadalupe for its relative affordability, but this external demand can cause increase 

in the cost of housing in the City. The 2042 General Plan recommends that the City should monitor 

housing costs for affordability and take steps to create new jobs that suit the skills of residents to reduce 

commute times and improve the quality of life for residents. 

Table 2-7: Jobs to Housing Ratio - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 

  Guadalupe City 
Santa Barbara 

County 

Total Housing Units 1,993 159,317 

Total Jobs 1,436 190,550 

Jobs to Housing Ratio 0.72 1.20 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP05; US Census, On-The-

Map Tool of the Longitudinal Employer Household Dynamics, 2019. 

2.2.4 Conclusion 

The employment characteristics and trends indicate a strong need for moderate-income and lower-

income housing to support the housing needs of residents employed by the farming and services 

sectors. The demand for affordable homes and apartments is likely to remain very high as many of the 

new jobs created are not likely to provide the incomes needed to buy market-rate homes in the region. 

It is therefore important to provide adequate affordable housing, particularly for farm and service 



 

12 
 

workers. The City should also monitor housing prices as new units are built and continue to cultivate 

local job growth in order to reduce the imbalance between jobs and housing. 

2.3 Household Characteristics 

2.3.1 Growth in Households 

Household characteristics are important indicators of the type and size of housing needed in a city. The 

U.S. Census Bureau defines a "household" as all persons occupying a housing unit, which may include 

single persons living alone, families related through marriage or blood, or unrelated persons who share 

a single unit. Under this definition, the number of households in a community has the most direct effect 

on the quantity of housing units needed irrespective of the sizes of or amenities within the units. Table 

2-8 shows trends in the growth of households in Guadalupe from 2000 to 2020. The City experienced a 

large growth spurt of 132 percent between 2000 and 2010 followed by a slight decline in growth from 

2010 to 2015. In 2020, there were 1,993 households in Guadalupe reflecting the latest period of growth 

and an average annual rate of 1 percent between 2015 and 2020. This result is consistent with the 

previous finding that many people in the region choose to live in Guadalupe for the relative affordability 

of its housing even if they do not have employment within the City. 

Table 2-8: Household Growth Trends - Guadalupe City, 2000 to 2020 

Year Households 
Inter-Census 

Change 

Annual Inter-
Census 

Growth Rate 

2000 264 - - 

2010 2,007 1,743 132% 

2015 1,896 -111 -1% 

2020    1,993  97 1% 

Average Annual Growth (2000-2020) 33% 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, DEC SF4, Table DP1, 2000; U.S Census Bureau, 2010 American Community Survey 5-Year 

Estimates, Table DP05; U.S Census Bureau, 2015 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP05; U.S 

Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP05.     

2.3.2 Household Composition and Size 

Table 2-9 provides a snapshot of family orientation among households in Guadalupe compared to Santa 

Barbara County. Households in the City are much more family-oriented than in the County. Family 

households comprised approximately 85 percent of all households in the City while the County had 66 

percent of family households. Similarly, family composition is more youthful in the City with 40 percent 

of all households having minor children under 18 years old compared to just 28 percent of all 

households in the County. Consistent with these data therefore, the City has larger average household 

and family sizes than the County. This suggests that housing in the City should cater mostly to relatively 

larger family households. 

 



 

13 
 

Table 2-9: Household Composition - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 

Type 

Guadalupe City Santa Barbara County 

Households Percent Households Percent 

Total Households 1,912 100% 148,309 100% 

Family Households 1,624 85% 97,397 66% 

Households w/ children under 18 years 876 46% 42,187 28% 

Non-Family Households 288 15% 50,912 34% 

Average Household Size 4.00 2.86 

Average Family Size 4.25 3.37 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table S1101. 

Further scrutiny of the distribution of household sizes reveals in Table 2-10 that almost half of all 

households in Guadalupe had four or more persons in 2020. On the contrary, more than half of all 

households in the County had two or fewer persons per household. The data suggest that Guadalupe 

has a higher need for large housing units than some of the other communities in Santa Barbara County. 

Table 2-10: Distribution of Household Sizes - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020  

Persons per Household 

Guadalupe City Santa Barbara County 

Households Percent Households Percent 

1-Person Household 266 14% 35,383 24% 

2-Person Household 293 15% 48,122 32% 

3-Person Household 309 16% 22,106 15% 

4-Person Household 330 17% 20,442 14% 

5-Person Household 340 18% 11,472 8% 

6-Person Household 205 11% 5,472 4% 

7-Person Household 169 9% 5,312 4% 

Total Households 1,912 100% 148,309 100% 

Average Household Size 4.00 2.86 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B11016. 

2.3.3 Household Income 

Household income is a primary factor in housing affordability. Table 2-11 shows the breakdown of the 

City’s households by income in 2020. It reveals a concentration of households in the low to lower 

middle-income categories with two out of five households earning less than $50,000. This reinforces the 

need for affordable housing units in the City. 

 

 



 

14 
 

Table 2-11: Household Income - Guadalupe City, 2020 

Income Range Households Percent 
Cumulative 

Percent 

Less than $10,000 94 5% 5% 

$10,000 to $14,999 71 4% 9% 

$15,000 to $24,999 193 10% 19% 

$25,000 to $34,999 254 13% 32% 

$35,000 to $49,999 258 14% 46% 

$50,000 to $74,999 369 19% 65% 

$75,000 to $99,999 229 12% 77% 

$100,000 to $149,999 325 17% 94% 

$150,000 or more 120 6% 100% 

All Households 1,912     
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table S1901. 

Comparative median income data in Table 2-12 for 2020 further confirms the need for more affordable 

housing in Guadalupe than some other communities in the region.  Guadalupe had one of the three 

lowest median incomes among cities in Santa Barbara County in 2020 at $68,000. Previously, Guadalupe 

had lower than 80 percent of the Area Median Income (AMI), which placed it under the classification of 

a “disadvantaged community” under the criteria of the State of California. In 2020, Guadalupe barely 

broke above the threshold. This provides further justification for relatively more affordable housing to 

adequately accommodate the lower incomes of the City’s residents. 

Table 2-12: Comparative Median Household Incomes - Santa Barbara County and Cities, 2020 

Jurisdiction 

Median 
Household 

Income 
Percent of County 

Median Income 

State of California 78,672 93% 

Santa Barbara County 84,846 100% 

Goleta City 98,035 116% 

Buellton City 105,694 125% 

Carpinteria City 74,868 88% 

Santa Maria City 67,634 80% 

Lompoc City 57,071 67% 

Guadalupe City 68,781 81% 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table S1901. 

State law established household income categories for purposes of housing programs based on area 

median income (AMI). State law also requires quantification and analysis of housing needs for various-

income groups. The criteria for the categories are as follows: 

• Extremely low-income households earn up to 30 percent of AMI 



 

15 
 

• Very low-income households earn 31 percent to 50 percent of AMI  

• Low income households earn 51 percent to 80 percent of AMI 

• Moderate income households earn 81 percent to 120 percent of AMI  

• Above moderate-income households earn 121 percent and above of AMI.  

Table 2-13 reveals that households in Guadalupe fall predominantly in the lower income categories with 

60 percent in those “lower” categories compared to 40 percent in the “upper” categories. The table 

reflects the equivalent re-allocation (hypothetical) of Guadalupe’s share of 2023 to 2031 RHNA units 

according to the proportional distribution of households in the 2020 income groups. 

 

Table 2-13: Median Income Distribution of Household Income Groups - Guadalupe City, 2020 

Income Group Definition 
(Percent 

AMI*) 
2020 Income 

Range 
2020 

Households 
Percent of 

Households 

Equivalent 
2023-2031 

RHNA 
Units 

Extremely Low < 31% < $23,678 347 18% 78 

Very low 31% - 50% $24,467 - $39,463 468 24% 106 

Low 51% - 80% $40,252 - $63,140 365 19% 82 

Moderate 81% - 120% $63,929 - $94,710 276 14% 62 

Above Moderate > 121% > $95,499 456 24% 103 

Total - - 1,912 100% 431 
Notes: 

*For a four person household.  

Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table S1901; Santa Barbara 

County Association of Governments, Regional Housing Needs Allocation Plan, 2023-2031. 

2.3.4 Conclusion 

Guadalupe has experienced steady household growth. This trend is anticipated to continue under the 

2042 General Plan. To adequately accommodate residents, it is essential to provide adequately sized 

and reasonably priced housing for all types of households, but especially for large-family households. 

The demand for affordable homes including apartments is likely to remain high given the distribution of 

households by income groups. 

2.4 Characteristics of the Housing Stock 

2.4.1 Housing Types and Growth 

The City of Guadalupe had 1,993 housing units in 2020. Table 2-14 reveals that the housing stock was 

predominantly single-family detached, which made up approximately two-thirds of the total stock. The 

next highest category with just over a quarter of the total stock is multi-family units. Compared to the 

County as a whole, Guadalupe had a much higher percentage of single-family detached units, a slightly 

lower percentage of multi-family units, and no mobile homes. Since City residents depict higher shares 



 

16 
 

of large family households than the County, it is likely mobile homes would tend to be too small to suit 

the housing needs of many Guadalupe residents although mobile homes provide an avenue for 

affordable units.  

Table 2-14: Housing Unit Type- Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 

Housing Type 

Guadalupe City Santa Barbara County 

Number Percent Number Percent 

1-Unit Detached 1,337 67% 91,448 57% 

1-Unit Attached 108 5% 11,256 7% 

2+ Units 548 28% 49,703 31% 

Mobile Home 0 0% 6,841 4% 

Total Units 1,993 100% 159,248 100% 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP04. 

Table 2-15 shows growth in the occupied housing stock over the past 30 years. The City began to 

experience relatively high growth in its housing stock and related occupancy in 2000 and the growth 

sustained through 2020. During its boom period, the City produced an average of 78 housing units per 

year although annual average over the 30 year period was only 37 units per year. The data in Table 2-15 

is from 2020 for housing units through the end of 2019. Additionally, records of the City’s Building 

Department indicate that the Pasadera housing development kept building strongly through 2021, and 

only slowed after that because of temporary difficulties in gaining approval to build the two bridges over 

to the second half of the project. 

Table 2-15: Age Distribution and Growth of Housing Stock - Guadalupe City, 2020 

Year Built/Occupied 
Housing 

Units 

Percent of 
2019 

Housing 
Stock 

Cumulative 
Percent 

Average 
Annual 

Increase 

Moved in 1989 and earlier 345 18% 18%   

Moved in 1990 to 1999 205 11% 29% 21 

Moved in 2000 to 2009 468 25% 53% 47 

Moved in 2010 to 2014 461 24% 77% 92 

Moved in 2015 to 2018 400 21% 98% 100 

Moved in 2019 or later 33 2% 100% 33 

Total Occupied 1,912 100% - - 

Built 2015-2019 433 23% - 43  

Built 1989 to 2019 1,479 77% - 37  
    Total housing units 1993    

        Occupied housing units 1912    
        Vacant housing units 81 4%   

        Homeowner vacancy rate 0.0    
        Rental vacancy rate 4.9    

Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP04. 



 

17 
 

2.4.2 Housing Age and Conditions 

Housing age may be an important indicator of housing condition. Housing units built prior to 1978, 

before stringent limits on the amount of lead in paint were imposed, may have exterior or interior 

building components coated with lead-based paint. It is most likely that housing units of that era would 

also have lead-based paint in deteriorating conditions that can be hazardous and would require 

rehabilitation. Figure 2-1 shows the age distribution of the housing stock. In combination with Table 2-

15, the data indicates that approximately one third of the housing stock was constructed before 2000 or 

are more than 20 years old. These findings suggest that there may be a strong need for maintenance 

and rehabilitation, including remediation of lead-based paint, for a large portion of the City's housing 

stock. The lead-based Paint Hazard Control (LHC) and the lead Hazard Reduction (LHRD) grant programs 

provide opportunities to identify and control lead-based paint hazards in eligible privately-owned 

housing for renter or owner-occupants. 

Figure 2-1: Age Distribution of Housing Stock - Guadalupe City, 2020 

 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP04 

In October 2017, graduate students from the City and Regional Planning Department of the California 

Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo, conducted a citywide walking survey to identify the 

general structural conditions of homes in Guadalupe. Table 2-16 summarizes the results of this survey 

and others before it. The surveys categorized the conditions of the housing units as follows:  

• Good – dwelling units in sound condition, required no repairs, or would only need minor 

maintenance (such as painting or patching of roof, etc.). 

• Fair – dwelling units in moderate condition and required rehabilitation in the form of one or 

more structural repairs. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

30+ 20-29 10-19 0-9

P
er

ce
n

t 
o

f 
2

0
1

9
 H

o
u

si
n

g 
St

o
ck

Age of Housing Units (Years)

Age Group Cumulative Percent



 

18 
 

• Poor – dwelling units in dilapidated condition required the replacement of all exterior elements 

and were generally considered not feasible for repairs, but rather for reconstruction. 

The 2017 housing survey revealed that most of the housing stock (81 percent) was in good condition.  A 

very small proportion was considered dilapidated and in need of replacement. The general trend depicts 

increase in overall quality of housing. This increase in quality could be partially due to rehabilitation 

grant programs funded by the now defunct Guadalupe Redevelopment Agency and partially due to 

newly constructed housing. 

Table 2-16: Trends in Housing Conditions - Guadalupe 2008 to 2017 

Condition 

Cal Poly Land Use 
Inventory 2008 

Cal Poly Land Use 
Inventory 2017 

Number  Percent Number  Percent 

Good 1,654 90% 1,248 81% 

Fair 171 9% 275 18% 

Poor 11 1% 13 1% 

Total Housing Units 1,836 100% 1,536 100% 
Source: City of Guadalupe, 2019 - 2027 Housing Element; City of Guadalupe, 2017 Background Report, Figure 6-1. 

2.4.3 Housing Tenure 

Housing tenure, or the split between owner-occupied and renter-occupied housing units, is an 

important indicator of the housing market. Communities need an adequate supply of units for both 

rental and purchase in order to accommodate a range of households with varying incomes, family sizes 

and composition, needs, and lifestyles. Table 2-17 shows that the share of owner-occupied housing units 

in Guadalupe has hovered consistently near 50 percent of the total housing stock since 2000 with an 

ever so slight a downward trend in recent years. The share of renter-occupied units depicted a 

consistent upward trend from 43 percent to 50 percent over the previous two decades. Vacancy rates 

remained very low throughout the period, with an all-time low of no vacancies in 2010, reflecting a tight 

housing market in the region.  

Table 2-17: Trends in Housing Tenure of Occupied Units - Guadalupe, 2000 to 2020 

Housing Type 2000 2010 2015 2017 2020 

Occupied housing 
units 1,432 98% 1,888 100% 1,837 97% 1,944 98% 1,912 96% 

Owner-occupied 803 55% 955 51% 920 49% 975 49% 909 46% 

Renter-occupied 629 43% 933 49% 917 48% 969 49% 1,003 50% 

Vacant housing units 36 2% 0 0% 59 3% 39 2% 81 4% 

Total Units 1,468 100% 1,888 100% 1,896 100% 1,983 100% 1,993 100% 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, DEC SF2, Table DP1, 2000; U.S Census Bureau, DEC SF1, Table H003, 2000;  U.S Census 

Bureau, 2010 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP04; U.S Census Bureau, 2015 American 

Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP04; U.S Census Bureau, 2017 American Community Survey 5-Year 

Estimates, Table DP04; U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP04. 



 

19 
 

2.4.4 Vacancy 

Housing vacancy rate depicts the relationship between housing supply and demand. For example, if the 

demand for housing is greater than the available supply, then the vacancy rate would be very low, and 

the price of housing could most likely increase. A low overall vacancy rate that indicates high demand 

and short supply of housing may result in overcrowding and ultimately unsafe, unsanitary, or otherwise 

unsuitable accommodations. When low vacancy results in high prices of homes and rentals, the effect is 

most severe on lower income households, people on fixed incomes, families with children, and other 

special-need groups. Housing discrimination could occur when the rental vacancy rate is low. 

The vacancy rate also indicates whether a community has an adequate housing supply to provide choice 

and mobility. The US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) indicates that a vacancy 

rate of 5 percent is enough to provide choice and mobility. Table 2-17 shows that the highest vacancy 

rate in Guadalupe over the previous two decades was 4 percent in 2020. During the housing market 

crash in the 2000s, the vacancy rate dropped to 0 percent in 2010. The data reveal that the City has 

been typically below the recommended vacancy rate of 5 percent, which would indicate that Guadalupe 

residents have limited housing choice and mobility and could be susceptible to the adverse conditions 

associated with low vacancy rates.  

2.4.5 Housing Cost 

A major barrier to housing availability is the cost of housing. That is why State Law expressly requires 

cities to plan for a variety of housing opportunities at various prices that are suitable and affordable to 

various income groups in the community. Figure 2-2 shows that the median home value in Guadalupe 

more than doubled from $112,800 in 2000 to $270,100 in 2010 but retreated to $203,100 in 2015. Since 

2015, the median home price has increased drastically to $304,400 in 2020. Over two decades, home 

values increased at an average annual rate of 8 percent compared to 4 percent for household incomes. 

This implies increasing pressure from housing expenditure on households over time.  

While home prices over the period increased overall, historically the median sale price in Guadalupe has 

been substantially lower than the median sales prices for the neighboring areas. Table 2-18 compares 

home values in Guadalupe with neighboring communities, the County and the State from 2000 to 2020. 

The data confirms that Guadalupe traditionally had lower housing cost than its neighbors. 

The median rent in Guadalupe was $1,212 per month for all types of rental housing in 2020. Table 2-19 

shows the distribution of rental units by contract rent payments in 2020. This compares favorably to 30 

percent of the City’s median income at $1,720. The fact remains that approximately half of all 

households in Guadalupe who earn below the median income would be hard pressed to afford the 

median rent in the City. Comparably, 30 percent of median income in the County of Santa Barbara was 

$2,121 per month, but rents are much higher in the region outside Guadalupe.   



 

20 
 

Figure 2-2: Median Household Income vs. Median Home Value – Guadalupe City, 2000-2020 

 
Sources: Median Home Values –U.S Census Bureau, DEC SF3, Table DP3, 2000; U.S Census Bureau, 2010 American 

Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP03; U.S Census Bureau, 2015 American Community Survey 5-Year 

Estimates, Table DP03; U.S Census Bureau, 2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP03; U.S 

Census Bureau, 2019 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP03.  

Median Household Incomes –U.S Census Bureau, DEC SF3, Table DP4, 2000; U.S Census Bureau, 2010 American 

Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B25109; U.S Census Bureau, 2015 American Community Survey 5-Year 

Estimates, Table B25109; U.S Census Bureau, 2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B25109; 

U.S Census Bureau, 2019 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B25109. 

Table 2-18: Comparative Median Home Values - Santa Barbara County and Cities, 2000 to 2020 

Jurisdiction 2000 2010 2015 2017 2020 

State of California 211,500 458,500 385,500 443,400 538,500 

Santa Barbara County 293,000 576,500 465,300 509,400 610,300 

Goleta 425,700 - - - 813,000 

Buellton 269,500 561,100 574,600 458,600 580,100 

Carpinteria City 382,400 669,200 203,100 617,000 711,100 

Santa Maria City 145,600 338,800   297,200 359,700 

Lompoc City 148,300 330,600 262,200 269,100 337,100 

Guadalupe City 112,800 270,100 230,500 221,400 304,400 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, DEC SF3, Table DP4, 2000; U.S Census Bureau, 2010 American Community Survey 5-Year 

Estimates, Table B25109; U.S Census Bureau, 2015 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B25109; 

U.S Census Bureau, 2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B25109; U.S Census Bureau, 2020 

American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B25109 

 

$31,205 $42,978 $43,710 $44,000 $55,511
$112,800

$270,100

$203,100
$221,400

$304,400

 $-

 $50,000

 $100,000

 $150,000

 $200,000

 $250,000

 $300,000

 $350,000

2000 2010 2015 2017 2020

V
al

u
es

 (
$

)

Year

Median Household Income Median Home Value



 

21 
 

Table 2-19: Distribution of Contract Rent Payments - Guadalupe City, 2020 

Value Number Percent 
Cumulative 

Percent 

Less than $500 44 4% 4% 

$500 to $999 231 23% 27% 

$1,000 to $1,499 530 53% 80% 

$1,500 to $1,999 149 15% 95% 

$2,000 to $2,499 41 4% 99% 

$2,500 to $2,999 0 0% 99% 

$3,000 or more 0 0% 99% 

No rent paid 8 1% 100% 

Total 1,003 100%   

Total Median Gross Rent 1,212 

Total Median Contract Rent 1,049 

2-bedroom Apartment 1,163 

30% City's Median Income 1,720 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP04; U.S Census Bureau, 

2019 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B25058; U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community 

Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B25031. 

2.4.6 Affordability and Overpayment 

Housing is typically the largest single item of recurrent expenditure for California families. According to 

HCD criteria, housing is affordable when a household spends less than 30 percent of its gross income on 

rental or ownership. When a household spends 30 percent or more of its gross income on housing, it is 

classified as cost-burdened or “overpaying”. 

Table 2-20 shows the distributions of households by income range, expenditure, and tenure. The data 

reveals that over half of all renters in Guadalupe overpaid for housing while nearly one fifth of owners 

overpaid in 2020. In absolute numbers, more than three times as many renters as owners were cost-

burdened. It is also noteworthy that the population of renters fell disproportionately in the lower 

income categories compared to the population of owners.  

Table 2-20: Percent of Household Income Spent on Housing – Guadalupe City, 2020 

Tenure 

Household Income Range  Total  

Less 
than 

$10,000 

$10,000 
to 

$34,999 

$35,000 
to 

$49,999 

$50,000 
to 

$74,999 

$75,000 
or 

more Count 
Percent of 

Households 

Owner – Occupied Units  

Less than 30 percent 12 107 51 70 502 742 82% 

30 percent or more 16 59 16 76 0 167 18% 

Not computed 0 0 0 0 0 0 0% 

Total 28 166       67  146 502 909 100% 

Renter – Occupied Units  

Less than 30 percent 0 0 81 159 172 412 41% 



 

22 
 

Tenure 

Household Income Range  Total  

Less 
than 

$10,000 

$10,000 
to 

$34,999 

$35,000 
to 

$49,999 

$50,000 
to 

$74,999 

$75,000 
or 

more Count 
Percent of 

Households 

30 percent or more 58 352 102 64 0 576 57% 

Not computed 7 0 8 0 0 15 1% 

Total 65 352 191  223      172  1,003 100% 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B25074; U.S Census Bureau, 

2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B25095. 

2.4.7 Overcrowding 

Limited household incomes, high housing prices, and inadequate sizes of units within a community 

trigger overcrowding. The U.S Census Bureau considers a housing unit to be overcrowded when there is 

more than one person per room, excluding bathrooms and kitchens. Severe overcrowding occurs when 

a unit has more than 1.5 occupants per room. Overcrowding can result when there are not enough 

adequately sized housing units within a community, or when high housing costs relative to income force 

too many individuals or families to share housing. Overcrowding can also accelerate deterioration of the 

housing stock. 

Table 2-21 shows that overcrowding is more prevalent in Guadalupe than in Santa Barbara County as a 

whole. In 2020, 8 percent of owner households in the City lived under overcrowded conditions 

compared to three percent of owner residents in the County. There were more than double the levels of 

overcrowding among renters with 19 percent and 8 percent in the City and County, respectively. 

Therefore by tenure, renter units were more crowded than owner units. This suggests the need for 

larger and more affordable rental units in the City. 

 

Table 2-21: Overcrowding - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 

Household Type 

Guadalupe City Santa Barbara County 

Households Percent Households Percent 

Owner Occupied 909 48% 77,504 52% 

Overcrowded 102 5% 2,631 2% 

Severely Overcrowded 49 3% 1,199 1% 

Renter Occupied 1,003 52% 70,805 48% 

Overcrowded 252 13% 6,979 5% 

Severely Overcrowded 112 6% 4,525 3% 

Total Households 1,912 100% 148,309 100% 
Note:  

1. Overcrowded is when there is more than 1 person per room 

2. Severely overcrowded is when there are more than 1.5 persons per room 

Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B25014. 



 

23 
 

2.4.8 Conclusion 

The City's housing stock is largely in good condition; however, one third of the housing stock is more 

than 20 years old, which might require more regular maintenance and repair. Since 2000, housing prices 

in the City have increased at a faster pace than household incomes. As a result, nearly half of all 

households in the City spent approximately a third or more of their incomes on housing with the cost 

burden more common among renters than owners. The numbers of households that can comfortably 

afford the median priced home in the City and the numbers that can afford the median priced 

apartment have declined since 2000. All these findings point to the need for more affordable housing in 

the future. Programs to assist moderate-income first-time buyers and lower-income renters could help 

narrow the affordability gap. Chapter 3 includes a list of potential funding sources and programs. 

2.5 Special Housing Needs 
Special circumstances make it difficult for certain groups to find decent, affordable housing. The 

circumstances may relate to type of employment and income, family characteristics, disability, or other 

limiting conditions. Those who fall into these circumstances would have a “special need” for housing. 

Those with such specific demographic characteristics such as large families with low incomes, for 

instance, might need housing units with three or more bedrooms that they can afford. Those in such 

special occupational groups as seasonal farm workers might need single-room occupancy units. Analysis 

of special needs housing can help a municipality identify groups with the most serious housing needs in 

order to develop and prioritize programs to respond to those needs. State law specifically requires 

analysis of the special housing needs of the elderly, large families, female-headed households, persons 

with disabilities, farmworkers, homeless persons and families, and extremely low-income households. 

Chapters 3 and 4 further discuss housing resources and constraints to housing provision. 

2.5.1 Elderly 

Fixed incomes, high health care costs, and physical disabilities are three typical circumstances that 

categorize some senior households for special housing need. Table 2-22 shows the trend in senior-

headed households in Guadalupe from 2000 to 2020. Senior households have kept pace with other 

households growing from 302 in 2000 to 329 in 2020 thereby maintaining a similar, but slightly declining 

share from 21 percent of all households in 2000 to 17 percent in 2020. The share of senior-headed 

households in Guadalupe was lower than Santa Barbara County, which had 41,284 senior-headed 

households, (or 28 percent of all households) in 2020. 

Table 2-22: Households by Age of Householder - Guadalupe City, 2000 to 2020 

Age of 
Householder 

2000 2010 2015 2020 

Households % Households % Households % Households % 

Up to 64 years 1,130 79% 1,615 86% 1,522 83% 1,583 83% 

65 years+  302 21% 273 14% 315 17% 329 17% 

Total 1,432 100% 1,888 100% 1,837 100% 1,912 100% 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, DEC SF3, Table H014, 2000; U.S Census Bureau, 2010 American Community Survey 5-

Year Estimates, Table B25007; U.S Census Bureau, 2015 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table 

B25007; U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B25007. 



 

24 
 

Table 2-23 shows the distribution of householders by tenure in Guadalupe in 2020. At 11 percent, 

senior-headed households make up one of the smallest shares among renters and with 36 percent 

senior-headed households make up the single largest share among home owners. Because senior 

citizens are on fixed incomes, they particularly tend to need affordable housing, especially if homes 

become too costly to maintain or if rents increase. Some senior citizens who do not rent or own housing 

can share housing with other family members. For instance, some elderly parents could live with their 

adult children or in other shared arrangements which could result in overcrowding. 

Table 2-23: Householder by Tenure and Age - Guadalupe City, 2020 

Age of Householder 

Renter Occupied Owner Occupied All Tenure  

Households Percent Households Percent Households Percent 

15 to 24 16 2% 0 0% 16 1% 

25 to 34 295 28% 38 4% 333 16% 

35 to 44 325 31% 130 13% 455 22% 

45 to 54 211 20% 147 14% 358 17% 

55 to 64 77 7% 344 34% 421 20% 

65 and over 119 11% 363 36% 482 23% 

Total 1,043 100% 1,022 100% 2,065 100% 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2019 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B25007. 

Elderly persons may also have additional physical and social needs particularly if: (a) they have no 

immediate family; (b) lack mobility through physical impairment; (c) or lack access to transportation 

alternatives. Such needs may include transportation, social service referrals, financial assistance 

employment, long-term care for the home-bound, and day care. 

It behooves long-range planning to recognize elderly persons' needs and design programs to address 

them. Various organizations and programs that can assist seniors with their housing needs in Guadalupe 

include supportive services, rental subsidies, senior housing, and housing rehabilitation assistance. The 

Guadalupe Senior Citizens Center offers many programs for senior residents. The nutrition program 

serves lunch at the community center every day and delivers meals to homebound seniors who are 

unable to walk or drive to the center. The Club provides transportation for doctors' visits and shopping. 

A health nurse comes in regularly to check blood pressure and general health. Bread and perishable 

staples are available weekly while commodities are distributed once a month free of charge to seniors 

who want them. 

The Central Coast Commission for Senior Citizens has compiled a directory of services available for 

elderly persons in Santa Barbara County. Some of the services include adult education, financial 

planning services, health facilities such as home nursing and mental health care, and recreation and 

community interaction programs. 



 

25 
 

To address elderly housing needs, the City could require developers to design housing units that are 

accessible to all persons, regardless of physical ability. Units should also be affordable for seniors who 

are on fixed incomes. 

2.5.2 Large Households 

The U.S Census Bureau defines large households as those comprising five or more persons. These 

households may have special housing needs because there is often a limited supply of adequately sized, 

affordable housing units in communities. Large units generally cost more than smaller units pushing 

them out of the affordability range. To cover expenditure on such necessities as food and health care, it 

is common for large lower-income households to reside in smaller (more affordable) units, which 

frequently results in overcrowding. It is important, therefore, that there is both adequate supply and 

affordability of large units for large households in Guadalupe. 

Table 2-24 shows the distribution of occupied housing units by number of rooms and tenure in 2020. It 

reveals that approximately 80 percent of renter units and 80 percent of owner units have four to six 

rooms, which would seem to be predominantly family-friendly. However, large families need at least as 

many rooms as there are persons in the household to prevent living in overcrowded conditions. In 2020, 

large units of five or more rooms made up approximately 40 percent of renter units and 85 percent of 

owner units. The large units were not necessarily affordable as there were two times as many large 

owner units as renter units. This would explain the overcrowding noted in Table 2-21. 

Table 2-25 shows the distribution of occupied housing units by number of persons and tenure for 2020 

which provides further insight into the potential for overcrowding. Households with five or more 

persons occupied 40 percent of renter units and 35 percent of owner units. While the share of large 

renter units matched the share of large households, the share of large owner units far outstrips the 

share of large households suggesting affordability issues with owner units for large families. 

To address overcrowding and adequately supply large households with suitable housing, the City can 

offer incentives to facilitate the development of large housing units with four or more bedrooms. A 

shortage of large units can be alleviated through inclusionary zoning and community partnerships with 

entities such as People's Self-Help Housing, Habitat for Humanity, and other affordable housing 

developers that offer opportunities for affordable housing ownership. Funding sources such as the first-

time homebuyer program and Community Development Block Grant program can help move renters to 

home ownership. Chapter 3 discusses resources for general financial assistance which may be available 

to large households. 

  



 

26 
 

Table 2-24: Number of Rooms per Occupied Housing Unit by Tenure – Guadalupe City, 2020 

Number of Rooms 

Renter Occupied Owner Occupied All Tenure  

Housing 
Units Percent 

Housing 
Units Percent 

Housing 
Units Percent 

1 Room 41 4% 13 1% 54 3% 

2 Rooms 28 3% 0 0% 28 1% 

3 Rooms 94 9% 12 1% 106 6% 

4 Rooms 406 40% 104 11% 510 27% 

5 Rooms 241 24% 412 45% 653 34% 

6 Rooms 143 14% 199 22% 342 18% 

7 Rooms 19 2% 93 10% 112 6% 

8 Rooms 0 0% 22 2% 22 1% 

9 Rooms or more 31 3% 54 6% 85 4% 

Total 1,003 100% 909 100% 1,912 100% 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B25020.  

Table 2-25: Number of Persons per Occupied Housing Unit by Tenure - Guadalupe City, 2020 

Number of Rooms 
Renter Occupied Owner Occupied All Tenure  

Housing 
Units Percent 

Housing 
Units Percent 

Housing 
Units Percent 

1 Person 109 11% 157 17% 266 14% 

2 Persons 153 15% 140 15% 293 15% 

3 Persons 171 17% 138 15% 309 16% 

4 Persons 171 17% 159 17% 330 17% 

5 Persons 203 20% 137 15% 340 18% 

6 Persons 98 10% 107 12% 205 11% 

7 Persons or more 98 10% 71 8% 169 9% 

Total 1,003 100% 909 100% 1,912 100% 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B25009.  

2.5.3 Female Headed Households 

Single-parent households, particularly female-headed households, often require special consideration 

and assistance with affordable housing, accessible day care, health care, and other supportive services. 

Because of relatively lower incomes and higher living expenses, female-headed households tend to have 

limited opportunities for affordable, decent, and safe housing. These households become particularly 

vulnerable as they try to balance the needs of their children with responsibilities of work. 

Table 2-26 shows the distribution of household types in Guadalupe by tenure in 2020. In comparing 

unmarried households, there were nearly twice as many female-headed households as male-headed 

households in the City. Table 2-27 reveals that the burden of single-parenting fell disproportionately on 

women with 76 percent of these households looking after one or more persons under age 18 years. A 



 

27 
 

third of unmarried female householders also had care-taking responsibilities for persons aged 60 years 

and over.  

From the perspective of tenure, there were three times as many female-headed households in renter 

units as in owner units. This has implications for the incomes of female-headed households and the 

availability of affordable units to suit their needs. In 2020, 25 percent of female-headed households 

lived below the poverty level. 

Table 2-26: Occupied Housing Units by Household Type by Tenure - Guadalupe City, 2020 

Number of Rooms 

Renter Occupied Owner Occupied All Tenure 
Housing 

Units Percent 
Housing 

Units Percent 
Housing 

Units Percent 

Married Couple Family 448 45% 601 66% 1,049 55% 

Male Householder, no spouse present 152 15% 73 8% 225 12% 

Female Householder, no spouse 
present 272 27% 78 9% 350 18% 

Nonfamily Householders 131 13% 157 17% 288 15% 

Total 1,003 100% 909 100% 1,912 100% 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table S2501.  

The Boys and Girls Club is a resource for female-headed households with children. This organization has 

a branch in Guadalupe where it offers many programs and opportunities for children and young adults. 

The River View townhomes also provide low-income housing and includes a community center, health 

clinic, learning center, and education assistance to children and adults. 

In addition, the federal Aid for Dependent Children program (AFDC) provides support for the children in 

single-parent families. Depending on household income, single-parent family households may also 

qualify for other federal housing assistance programs, such as Section 8 vouchers (also called housing 

choice vouchers), which subsidize the balance of the rental cost in excess of 30 percent of the renter's 

gross income. The program enables the prospective tenant to use the subsidy in the private market 

place in search of rental housing. To further address the housing needs of female-headed households, 

the City should promote the development of additional multifamily housing. 

  



 

28 
 

Table 2-27: Comparative Characteristics of Householders - Guadalupe City, 2020 

Household Type 

One or more 
people under 18 

years 

One or more 
people aged 60 
years and over 

Income in the 
past 12 months 
below poverty 

level 

Housing 
Units Percent 

Housing 
Units Percent 

Housing 
Units Percent 

Married Couple Family 732 70% 283 27% 149 14% 

Male Householder, no spouse present 112 50% 62 28% 75 33% 

Female Householder, no spouse present 267 76% 110 31% 88 25% 

Nonfamily Householders 14 5% 150 52% - - 

All Household Types 1,125 - 605 - 312 - 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table S1101; U.S Census Bureau, 

2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B17013. 

2.5.4 Persons with Disabilities 

A disability is a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits major life activities. Persons with 

disabilities tend to have special housing needs in the form of affordable housing because of low or fixed 

incomes, higher health costs associated with their disabilities, and special requirements for mobility. 

Table 2-28 shows the distribution of the disability population in Guadalupe among the six groups that 

the U.S Census identifies. Census data for 2020 revealed that the incidence of disability in Guadalupe 

cuts across gender, age, and race. City-wide, 8 percent of the population had one or more of the six 

disability types. The two most prevalent forms of disability in 2020 were: (a) ambulatory and (b) an 

independent living disability, which both occurred disproportionately among seniors. 

The living arrangements for persons with disabilities depend on the type and severity of the disability. 

Many disabled persons can live at home in an independent environment with or without the help of 

other family members. To maintain independent living, disabled persons may require assistance, which 

may include special design features for the physically disabled, income support for those who are unable 

to work, and in-home care for persons with medical conditions. These services are available through 

public or private agencies. 

Table 2-28: Population with Disability - Guadalupe City, 2020 

Type of Disability 
Disability 

Population 
Percentage of Total 
Civilian Population 

With hearing difficulty 127 1.7% 

With vision difficult 93 1.2% 

With a cognitive difficulty 166 2.2% 

With an ambulatory difficulty 334 4.4% 

With a self-care difficulty 89 1.2% 

With an independent living difficulty 189 2.5% 

Subtotal Disability Population 610 8.0% 

Total Civilian Noninstitutionalized Population 7,654 100% 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table S1810.  



 

29 
 

In 1984, Title 24 of the State Uniform Building Code mandated that all multiple-family residential 

projects containing more than five units and constructed after September 15, 1985 conform to specific 

disabled, adaptability, and accessibility regulations. In 1988, the Federal government enacted the U.S 

Fair Housing Amendment Act with the intent to increase the number of rental units being built that 

would be accessible to disabled individuals. In July 1993, the State of California issued the "California 

Multifamily Access Requirements" based upon the Act. However, despite these regulatory changes, the 

actual increase in the number of accessible units available in the rental market has remained small. Even 

though Federal and State housing laws require certain design features or adaptation of housing design 

for physical accessibility in multifamily residential buildings, many dwelling units built before March 

1991 are not subject to these accessibility requirements. There is a need therefore to adapt houses or 

apartments for wheelchairs and other special requirements for individuals with physical disabilities. 

Requiring adaptive design features in new construction, for example, does not assist such individuals as 

seniors who may choose to remain in older housing rather than move to assisted living facilities or other 

newly constructed housing. A good planning consideration to suit persons with physical disabilities is to 

locate new housing units in proximity to services and public transportation. 

The Tri-Counties Regional Center provides support and services for individuals with developmental 

disabilities living in the counties of San Luis Obispo, Santa Barbara and Ventura. The agency documents 

individuals who receive services from the Tri-Counties Regional Center including those from Guadalupe.  

Persons with mental disabilities are a critically under-served population with respect to housing. The 

physical modification of housing is typically not necessary to accommodate intellectually disabled 

persons, but they generally require more services and more monetary support. The mentally disabled 

tend to have limited opportunities for jobs and incomes making affordable housing important for them. 

Many intellectually disabled persons would prefer to live independently, but because of monetary 

circumstances, they are compelled to live with other family members or in group homes. This may cause 

additional stress and problems. In some cases, the need for a resident assistant to help deal with crisis 

or challenging situations may also create special housing demand. This would suggest that there is a 

need for some apartment or condominium complexes that are reserved exclusively for persons 

requiring extra assistance in dealing with their daily routines. However, Guadalupe may be too small for 

such apartments, which are typically found in large cities. Because many intellectually disabled persons 

are unable to drive, access to public transportation for these residents is also important. There are a 

limited number of day treatment facilities and programs in Guadalupe, which include drop-in 

socialization centers to serve persons with mental disabilities. These individuals do not have regional 

centers as do the persons with physical disabilities and there is no respite care for families who provide 

round-the-clock care for relatives with mental disabilities. 

2.5.5 Farmworkers 

The definition of “farmworker” is a person who earns primary income through permanent or seasonal 

agricultural labor. Permanent farm laborers work year-round in the fields, processing plants, or 

supporting activities. When workload increases during harvest periods, employers of seasonal workers 

supplement the labor force often through a labor contractor. For some crops, farms may hire migrant 



 

30 
 

workers, that is, those whose travels prevent them from returning to their primary residence every 

evening. 

It has been problematic estimating the size of the agricultural labor force as the U.S Census and other 

data sources undercounted or mis-classified farmworkers. For instance, the government agencies that 

track farm labor are not consistent in the definitions of related terms. Farm labor sometimes includes 

only field laborers and other times includes workers in plants that process farm produce. Length of 

employment sometimes includes only permanent workers and other times includes seasonal workers. 

Place of work sometimes refers to the location of the business, but other times refers to the field. 

The 2011 Census reported that there were approximately 12,094 farmworkers in Santa Barbara County 

and 590 in the City of Guadalupe. The 2020 Census reported approximately 18,824 in Santa Barbara 

County and 1,186 in the City of Guadalupe. This equals 35 percent of all employed persons in the City. In 

addition, The U.S. Census of Agriculture (Ag Census) estimates that farms and ranches across Santa 

Barbara County hired 22,985 laborers in 2007, a 6 percent increase over a 10-year period. According to 

the Ag Census, while the number of hired farm laborers increased, the number of farms decreased by 8 

percent since 2012. Table 2-29 shows the top ten agricultural products in Santa Barbara County and 

listed by rank of annual revenue in 2020. 

Table 2-29: Top 10 Agriculture Products by Rank - Santa Barbara County, 2018 and 2020 

Crop Value 2018 Rank 2020 Rank 

Strawberries $1,643,241,000 1 1 

Cauliflower $109,282,000 6 2 

Broccoli $104,654,000 5 3 

Nursery Products $98,567,000 3 4 

Wine Grapes $93,836,000 2 5 

Avocado $80,161,000 9 6 

Lettuce, leaf $78,084,000 8 7 

Lettuce, head $74,298,000 7 8 

Celery $61,688,000 - 9 

Blackberries $46,560,000 - 10 
Source: Santa Barbara County, Agricultural Production Report, 2020; https://www.countyofsb.org/469/Crop-

Reports.        

Table 2-30 shows the distributions of the total employed populations in Guadalupe and Santa Barbara 

County in 2020. The Agriculture Industry was the single largest employer of Guadalupe residents making 

up 35 percent of the employed in the City and 9 percent of the employed in the County. In 2020, the 

concentration of agricultural workers in Guadalupe (35 percent of all jobs) was three times the 

concentration of such workers in the County (9 percent of all jobs). This reflects the importance of 

farmworkers in the City. Using the 2017 U.S Census of Agriculture for the County and applying the share 

of those employed in Agriculture would yield an upper estimate of 1,448 farmworkers in Guadalupe. 

This would include both permanent and temporary workers in agriculture within the year. Since 



 

31 
 

historically farmworkers are among the lowest earning categories of workers, many farmworkers are 

likely to fall into the lower income groupings for housing affordability.  

The scale and type of agricultural production in the County and the sector's importance to both the local 

and State economies suggest the need for decent and sanitary housing options for farmworkers. 

Seasonal and migrant farmworkers tend to save as much of their earnings as possible for repatriation to 

their countries of origin to support families. This often leads migrant farmworkers to seek the lowest-

cost alternatives for housing during their stay. This further exacerbates the need for housing that is 

affordable to farmworkers. Given the importance of agriculture and its labor force, the provision of 

adequate farmworker housing is a critical issue for Guadalupe as many of these workers are believed to 

live in poor housing conditions and face the problems of overpayment or overcrowding. 

An effective means to address the housing needs of the City's farmworker population is to facilitate 

development of new rental housing that is affordable to low and very low-income households. This 

should include both single and multiple room units. The City previously approved the Guadalupe Court 

affordable housing project, which included 38 extremely low, very low, and low-income rental housing 

units. The City also has several programs in place to increase affordable housing. Examples of such 

programs include density bonuses for subdivisions that include an affordable housing component and 

ongoing pursuit of state and federal funds to assist in the development of affordable housing. 

Table 2-30: Estimates of Farmworker Population - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 

Industry 

Guadalupe City 
Santa Barbara 

County 

Guadalupe 
City 

Percent 
of City 

Santa 
Barbara 
County 

Percent 
of 

County 

Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting, and 
mining 1,186 35% 18,824 9% 

Construction 110 3% 11,534 5% 

Manufacturing 178 5% 14,778 7% 

Wholesale trade 183 5% 4,291 2% 

Retail trade 333 10% 20,694 10% 

Transportation and warehousing, and utilities 40 1% 6,430 3% 

Information 36 1% 4,161 2% 

Finance and insurance, and real estate and rental 
and leasing 163 5% 9,998 5% 

Professional, scientific, and management, and 
administrative and waste management services 226 7% 25,068 12% 

Educational services, and health care and social 
assistance 590 17% 49,005 23% 

Arts, entertainment, and recreation, and 
accommodation and food services 136 4% 26,135 12% 

Other services, except public administration 139 4% 11,684 6% 

Public administration 73 2% 9,149 4% 



 

32 
 

Civilian Employed Population 16 Years and Over 3,393 100% 211,751 100% 

2017 U.S Census of Agriculture Farm Workers 1,4481 22,985 

Percent of County Employed in Agriculture 6% 100% 

Agriculture as Share of Ag. Forestry … Mining 122% 122% 
Note:  

1. Guadalupe City estimate = Santa Barbara County 2017 Farmworkers total of 22,985 * 0.06 

Sources: U.S Census Bureau, 2017 & 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP03;  
U.S Census of Agriculture, 2017 Census Volume 1, Chapter 2: County Level Data, Table 7. 

2.5.6 Unhoused 

Unhoused persons are individuals who lack regular nighttime residence possibly due to limited or lack of 

regular income. Some of them need short-term, temporary, or emergency shelter probably due to 

immediate crisis while others have long-term or chronic needs. The unhoused population represents a 

broad spectrum of the population including single men and women, couples, families, displaced youth 

without parents, and seniors. They can include individuals who are victims of economic dislocation, the 

physically disabled, teen parents with children, veterans, those discharged from hospital or jail, alcohol 

and drug abusers, survivors of domestic violence, persons with HIV AIDS, immigrants, refugees, and 

farmworkers. 

According to the Guadalupe Police Department, there were rarely any unhoused persons in the City. The 

County of Santa Barbara conducted a count of unhoused people in the County in 2022. While the survey 

counted 1,962 people in the County, less than one percent lived in Montecito, Guadalupe, Orcutt, and 

the Santa Ynez Valley combined. In the past, unhoused persons have been transient farmworkers who 

had not yet found a place to live, but they did not remain unsheltered over extended periods of time. 

Most transient workers were able to afford some form of shelter when they gained employment, but 

often under overcrowded or otherwise inadequate conditions. 

The rare occurrence of homelessness in Guadalupe does not call for an emergency shelter or transitional 

housing facility, however, such a facility is permitted by right in areas zoned R-3 for residential uses. 

Chapter 4 further discusses this issue under constraints to housing development. There are social 

services and year-round shelters for the unhoused at locations in Santa Maria and Santa Barbara. The 

Santa Barbara County Housing Authority has an office location in Guadalupe (at 1050 Escalante St, 

Guadalupe, CA 93434) to provide public housing assistance. The City also meets and coordinates with 

other government agencies and community groups to address homelessness. 

2.5.7 Extremely Low-Income Households 

The California Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) defines “extremely low-

income” households as those earning up to 30 percent of area median income (AMI). In 2020, Santa 

Barbara County had a median income of 84,846. Households earning up to $25,453 would therefore fall 

into the classification of extremely low-income households. Table 2-13 reveals that households in 

Guadalupe fall predominantly in the lower income categories with 60 percent in those “lower-income” 

categories compared to 40 percent in the “upper-income” categories. About 18 percent of total 

households in Guadalupe fell into the extremely low-income category. These households (among others) 



 

33 
 

depict a variety of housing situations and needs when they face overpayment, overcrowding, and 

substandard housing conditions. Other families and individuals receiving public assistance in the form of 

social security insurance (SSI) or disability insurance tend to fall into the category of extremely low-

income households. 

One way to address the housing needs of those in the extremely low-income category is to facilitate 

development of single and multiple room rental housing, as well as supportive rental housing linked to a 

range of support services. Supportive housing can help residents to maintain stable housing and lead 

productive lives. Services may include childcare, after-school tutoring, and career counseling, among 

others. The River View and the Guadalupe Court affordable housing developments  in Guadalupe offer 

supportive services to their residents. 

2.5.8 Persons with Developmental Disabilities 

The presence of developmental disability is mild, but nevertheless present among the population of 

Guadalupe. As of December 2021, the Department of Developmental Services recorded 95 cases in 

Guadalupe, which equated to a rate of 11.7 per thousand population. Among the cases, 5.5 out of every 

ten were minors under age 18 while the remainder were adults of 18 years old or above. Table 3-31 has 

details. As far as type of care, persons with developmental disability receive care overwhelmingly (95%) 

from the homes of parents, family, or guardians. Therefore, issues of housing availability and choice 

relate primarily to care-givers rather than the subjects. 

Table 2-31: Distribution of Persons with Developmental Disabilities - Guadalupe City, 2021 

Developmental Disability by Type of Care Count 
Percent of 

Cases Percent of Population 

Home of Parent /Family /Guardian 90 95% 1.11% 

Independent /Supported Living <11 5% 0.06% 

Community Care Facility 0 0% 0.00% 

Intermediate Care Facility 0 0% 0.00% 

Foster /Family Home 0 0% 0.00% 

Total Residents >90 100% 1.17% 

Developmental Disability by Age Group   

Minors (00-17 years old) 52 55% 0.64% 

Adults (18+ years old) 43 45% 0.53% 

Total All Ages 95 100% 1.17% 

Rate of developmental Disability (per 1000 
population) 

11.7 
  

Total Population of McFarland, 2021 8,138 
 

Source: Department of Developmental Services. (December, 2021). 

https://www.dds.ca.gov/transparency/facts-stats/. 



 

34 
 

2.6 Assisted Housing At-Risk of Conversion 
This section identifies all residential projects in Guadalupe that are under an affordability covenant, 

along with those housing projects that are at-risk of losing their low-income affordability restrictions 

within the eight-year period from 2023 to 2031. This information is used to establish quantified 

objectives for units that can be conserved during this planning period. The inventory includes all units 

assisted under any federal, state, or local program. 

2.6.1 Inventory of Potential At-Risk Units 

Table 2-32 is an inventory of developments within Guadalupe which participate in federal, state, or local 

programs that provide some form of assistance either through financial subsidy or control. 

Table 2-32: Inventory of Assisted Affordable Housing Developments - Guadalupe City, 2020 

Project 
Name Address Year 

Number 
of Units Authority Program Covenant Expires 

Escalante 
Tract 

(Guadalupe 
Ranch 
Acres) 

1050 
Escalante 
Drive 

late 
1950s 

to 
early 
1960s 80 

Housing 
Authority 

of the 
County of 

Santa 
Barbara 

Apartment 
complex rents to 

low-income 
families. Rent is 

based on a 
percentage of 

the family's 
income. Permanent 

Guadalupe 
Ranch 
Senior 

Apartments 

4561 
Tenth 
Street 1975 56 

Housing 
Authority 

of the 
County of 

Santa 
Barbara 

Apartment for 
elderly low-

income 
residents. Permanent 

Riverview 
Townhome

s 

230 Calle 
Cesar 
Chavez 2003 80 

People's 
Self Help 
Housing 

80 affordable 
rental units, 39 
of which are for 

farmworkers; 
includes a 

community 
center, health, 

clinic, and 
learning center.  Permanent 

Point Sal 
Dunes 

Point Sal 
Dunes 
Way 2000 18 

- 

Provides 18 
mortgage 

subsidies for the 
low- income 

residents. Units 
have a 30-year 

deed restriction 
that limits the 
resale price of 2030 



 

35 
 

Project 
Name Address Year 

Number 
of Units Authority Program Covenant Expires 

these units to 
the average 
increase in 

median income 
in the County.  

Guadalupe 
Court 

11th 
Street 2014 38 

People's 
Self Help 
Housing 

38 affordable 
rental units for 
farmworkers 2070 

Source: Housing Authority of the County of Santa Barbara, 2022; Affordable Housing Online, 2022. 

2.6.2 Risk of Conversion 

According to the Santa Barbara County Housing Authority and City data, 7 percent or 18 of the 272 

assisted units in the City would be at risk of converting to market rate in 2030, near the end of the 2023-

2031 time period. Guadalupe could consider reinstating the convent for Point Sal Dunes units at the end 

of its term in 2030 and modifying it to become permanent as most of the other assisted units are in the 

City. 

2.7 Future Growth Needs 
In accordance with State law, this section provides a quantification of Guadalupe's share of the regional 

housing need as established in the Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) prepared by the Santa 

Barbara County Association of Governments (SBCAG). 

2.7.1 Overview of the Regional Housing Needs Allocation 

The Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) process is a key planning tool for local governments to 

anticipate and prepare for future housing need. RHNA quantifies the anticipated need for housing within 

each jurisdiction based on regional population forecasts of the California Department of Finance. 

Communities within specific regions determine collaboratively how to share the need and address it in 

updates to the housing elements of general plans. 

SBCAG has the responsibility of preparing the RHNA for the incorporated and unincorporated 

communities within Santa Barbara County, which includes the City of Guadalupe. The most current 

RHNA was adopted in July 2021 and covers a period from February 2023 through February 2031. SBCAG 

applied the following methodology to allocate housing units to each jurisdiction: 

• SBCAG estimated the future population within each jurisdiction based upon State Department 

of Finance projections and knowledge of circumstances particular to Santa Barbara County.  

• SBCAG converted the change in population into housing units necessary to accommodate 

increases in population. The estimate included a vacancy rate that reflects a "healthy" housing 

market that would enable movement among units and replacement of existing units that may 

become demolished. 



 

36 
 

• SBCAG divided the estimate of housing needs into four groups based on income categories 

labelled as very low, low, moderate, and above moderate income. This step is to target enough 

quantity of housing for all income groups in the community.  

• The “very low” category is subdivided in this document to show the “extremely low” (ELI) as a 

fifth category. HCD recommends that the projected housing need for ELI households be 

calculated either by using available census data to determine the number of very low-income 

households that qualify as ELI households or by presuming that 50 percent of the regional 

housing need allocation (RHNA) for very low-income households qualify as ELI households. 

• The process first allocates housing needs for each jurisdiction based on the percentage of 

households that falls into each category. For instance, if 15 percent of households fall under the 

low-income category then 15 percent of future housing needs should be affordable to 

households within that income category. 

• The process then adjusted allocations according to such factors that may be particular to each 

jurisdiction as disproportionate housing types, number of renters, number of persons receiving 

public assistance, employment patterns, commuting patterns, and avoidance of over-impaction 

of low-income households. 

Senate Bill 375 (5B 375) (Steinberg, 2008) and Senate Bill 575 (Steinberg, 2009) affect the RHNA process 

and this 6th Housing Element cycles in several ways. The main changes since the 5th Cycle include: (a) the 

integration of the RHNA process with the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) and the Sustainable 

Communities Strategy (SCS); (b) requirement for coordination and consistency of the housing element 

with the RTP and SCS; and (c) the length of the housing element cycle. The sixth cycle for the Santa 

Barbara County region covers an eight-year planning horizon (February, 2023 to February, 2031). The 

City of Guadalupe is on a 4-year update cycle due to a late submittal of a previous update to the Housing 

Element although each update continues to plan for an eight-year horizon. 

Table 2-33 compares the shares of households in five income categories in 2020 with the adjusted 

shares of SBCAG's RHNA allocations for the 2023-2031 period. While the RHNA allocation indicates a 

split of 6 percent to the lower income categories and 94 percent to the upper income categories, in 

2020, a more substantial 60 percent of households fell into the lower-income and 40 percent of 

households fell into in the upper-income categories. Table 2-33 shows what would be equivalent 

allocations based solely on shares of households in various income categories as is the practice with 

many RHNA processes. SBCAG adjusts the percentages to account for special circumstances. At any rate, 

Guadalupe needs to plan for a substantial proportion of affordable housing to meet the needs of lower 

income households. 

  



 

37 
 

Table 2-33: Shares of Households vs. RHNA Allocations by Income Groups - Guadalupe City, 2020 

Income Group 

2020 Shares of Households by Income 
Group Allocations 

Income Range Households 
Percent of 

Households 

Hypothetical 
Equivalent 

Units 

2023-2031  
RHNA 
Units 

Extremely Low < $23,678 347 18% 78 1 

Very low $24,467 - $39,463 468 24% 106 2 

Low $40,252 - $63,140 365 19% 82 24 

Moderate $63,929 - $94,710 276 14% 62 77 

Above Moderate > $95,499 456 24% 103 327 

Civilian Employed 
Population 16 Years 

and Over - 1,912 100% 431 431 
Sources: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table S1901; 
  Santa Barbara County Association of Governments, Regional Housing Needs Allocation Plan, 2023-2031. 

SBCAG projects a total need of 431 new housing units in Guadalupe across various income categories 

over the eight-year planning period. Comparing the hypothetical units of 103 to the allocation of 327 in 

Table 2-33, one can infer that the RHNA allocations indicate that Guadalupe is to focus its future supply 

of housing units in the above moderate income category to contribute to the needs of the region in that 

income bracket. 

 

  



 

38 
 

3.0 Resources for Residential Development 

3.1 Land Availability 
Government Code Section 65583(a)(3) requires the Housing Element to contain "an inventory of land 

suitable for residential development, including vacant sites and sites having the potential for 

redevelopment, and an analysis of the relationship of zoning and public facilities and services to these 

sites." Appendix B contains a detailed analysis of vacant land and potential development opportunities. 

The following paragraphs summarize the results of this analysis. 

The most recent Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) for Santa Barbara County covers the eight-

year planning horizon from 2023 to 2031. Consistent with this length of planning horizon, this 2023-

2031 housing element for Guadalupe adopts the City's share of the regional housing need of 431 units. 

Consistent with the City’s 2042 General Plan, the housing element focuses on the development potential 

of vacant land zoned for residential uses (infill sites), underdeveloped General-Commercial sites that 

could accommodate mixed use development in the City's Downtown Mixed Use District, and the DJ 

Farms Specific Plan area. Sites that are zoned R-3, Multiple Dwelling Residential (high density), would 

allow a density of up to 26 dwelling units per acre and are most appropriate for new housing for lower 

income households. R-3 zoned parcels are located on both sides of State Highway 1 to the north, east, 

and west of Guadalupe's downtown commercial core. Downtown extends from Sixth Street to Twelfth 

Street. There are many parcels within this area that are either vacant or could be redeveloped with 

projects that would exceed 26 to 30 units/acre to accommodate 50 or more units. Additionally, the 

Pasadera residential development can accommodate up to 322 additional dwelling units.  

Development potential depends on the residential density standards of the City. Consideration of 

whether site constraints and land use controls can achieve the permitted densities help in refining the 

estimates of housing capacities. In general, the acreage of the parcel was multiplied by the allowable 

density, unlike the more restrictive minimum lot area per unit set forth in the Zoning Ordinance. Any 

fractional component on the number of units allowed under the density standards was dropped. The 

application of density bonuses was not included in the calculation of allowable units; rather, the 

allowable base land use density was used. The conduct of a parcel by parcel evaluation of any unusual 

site characteristics or land use controls led to further downward adjustments to the allowable number 

of residential units if additional constraints to development existed. Constraints that in some cases 

resulted in lower residential development potential included right-of-way for road access, irregular lot 

shapes, difficulty in meeting minimum roadway frontage requirements, and existence of wetlands or 

drainage courses on the parcel. Such constraints had enough of an effect to result in reduced residential 

capacity on some of the available lots. Adherence to this methodology provided a conservative 

residential capacity that took into consideration any special or unusual circumstances. 

Although in many cases, lot consolidation could result in a larger percentage of buildable area and a 

higher number of housing units, this methodology to calculate development potential did not take this 

possibility into account. It should be noted, however, that there are opportunities for lot consolidation, 

particularly in the City's Downtown Mixed Use District. For example, development of multiple 

contiguous parcels has occurred in Guadalupe with the Ruiz Apartments project on Olivera Street and 



 

39 
 

the Dune Villas project on Eleventh Street. The following paragraph further illustrates other examples of 

land consolidation.  

In the past, development projects on lots zoned for multi-family residential (R-3) uses have been 

approved or developed at a density of 20-unlts per acre in Guadalupe. Examples of this include 

residential projects such as the 74-unit La Plaza Villas at 736-754 Olivera Street (built in 2006), the 7-unit 

Dune Villas project at 4623 Eleventh Street (approved in May 2006, with an extension of the tract map 

granted until 2010), the 38-unit Guadalupe Court (approved October14, 2014), and the 34-unit Pioneer 

Street Apartments project. Other multi-family projects approved in the last few years include the La 

Guardia Townhomes (20 units + 2 ADUs) approved in 2022 and now under construction; and Escalante 

Meadows (80 units + community center) approved in 2020 also under construction (replacing  50-unit 

Guadalupe Ranch Acres).  Approximately 20 units of other multi-family units have been approved in 

three projects in 2021-2022. 

3.1.1 Vacant Residential Parcels 

The California Polytechnic State University in San Luis Obispo conducted a Land Use Inventory in 2017 as 

part of the update to the General Plan and Land Use Element. As of September 30, 2017, the City had 

one hundred and thirty vacant parcels. The largest parcel was the DJ Farms Specific Plan Area, now 

known as Pasadera Homes. Besides the DJ Farms Specific Plan Area, there were 10.12 acres of other 

vacant residential lands within City limits. Based on the residential densities in the Zoning Ordinance and 

Land Use Element, and as further evaluated for site and planning constraints in Table B-1 in Appendix B, 

Table 3-1 indicates that the 10.12 acres of vacant residential land can conservatively accommodate 

approximately 102 units, which would satisfy the 27 very low and low income housing units RHNA 

allocated to Guadalupe. Additionally, there is residential development potential at the DJ Farms Specific 

Plan area and residential/commercial mixed-use in the downtown area. 

As stated in the 2042 General Plan, DJ Farms has 363 existing dwelling units according to the Guadalupe 

Building Department. A total of 740 dwelling units were authorized for the site as of 2022. The 

difference of 377 units are to be developed on approximately 31.5 acres of land at an average density of 

12.0 dwelling units per acre. 

Development potential for the mixed-use designation assumed that all new development would 

accommodate commercial activities on the ground-floor and residential uses on the second floor. 

Residential potential applied 25.5 dwelling units per acre (which is the midpoint of the allowable density 

for the High-Density Residential designation to the single-story square footage to estimate the potential 

for 35 additional dwelling units. 

Together, these potentials for additional housing would exceed the short-term RHNA allocations for the 

2023-2031 cycle. Besides, the 2042 General Plan has also identified additional acreage for residential 

development in the long term to a grand total of 874 units. 



 

40 
 

Table 3-1: Capacity of Vacant Residential Land Exclusive of DJ Farms Specific Plan Area 

Zoning 
Vacant Land 

(acres) 

Allowable 
Density (units 

per acre) 

Realistic 
Capacity 
(housing 

units) 

R-1, R-1-5P 4.56 6 23 

R-1-M, R-1-M-SP 0.37 10 0 

R-2, R-2-5P 1.03 10 10 

R-3 4.16 20 69 

Total 10.12 - 102 
Source: Cal Poly land Use Inventory, 2017; City of Guadalupe 2042 General Plan; City of Guadalupe Zoning 

Ordinance  

Appendix B includes an analysis of the suitability of vacant parcels for residential development. All high-

density vacant sites were less than half an acre in size except one and all except four sites were less than 

one-third of an acre in size. It is also notable that the City's updated General Plan has policies and 

programs that promote the consolidation of small lots, which would be expected to result in larger unit 

production potentials for consolidated properties. In addition, the Planned Residential Development 

Overlay provides for flexibility in design and allows modifications to base zoning district development 

standards to provide for more efficient utilization of housing sites to generate additional housing units.  

The City has been active in facilitating development of smaller lots to produce affordable housing 

projects. City support for such affordable housing projects is primarily through the application of the 

Planned Development overlay district, which provides for flexibility with respect to density, on-site 

parking requirements, and other design standards. Historically, the City has utilized reductions in water 

meter connection fees and the negotiation of development agreements as additional tools to promote 

affordable housing. For instance, the City worked directly with Cabrillo Economic Development 

Corporation to approve in October 2014 a 38-unit multi-family affordable housing project on 3.12 acres 

located at 4202 11th Street. 

3.1.2 Mixed Use Development 

Parcels zoned “General Commercial” in the City’s downtown have been amended to Downtown Mixed 

Use which replaces Central Business District General Commercial.  The Mixed-Use development would 

provide additional housing opportunities. The Santa Barbara County Assessor's data revealed 26.86 

acres of commercially zoned land in the Downtown Mixed Use District that could accommodate mixed 

use development. 

Maximum building intensity standards in the Land Use Element of the City’s General Plan and Zoning 

Ordinance allow for a floor-to-area ratio (FAR) of 0.35. Assuming 20 percent buildout potential of sites 

zoned for general commercial use, the acreage could yield 54,874 square feet of residential 

development or 35 dwelling units (at approximately 1570 square feet of average unit size) . Table B-3 in 

Appendix B includes details of the estimates. Although lot consolidation could provide increased 

residential capacity the estimate included no assumptions on lot consolidation. 



 

41 
 

3.1.3 DJ Farms Specific Plan Area 

The DJ Farms Specific Plan Area covers 209 acres of land providing ample opportunities for both market-

rate and affordable residential development. The Plan area is in the southeastern section of the City 

south of West Main Street/State Route 166 and east of Highway 1. The Specific Plan was adopted in 

2012 and called for residential development on 146 acres of the Plan area for up to 802 housing units. 

As of August 2022, about 363 units were built with approval for construction of 377 more. The 

remaining 65 acres are to be developed into commercial uses, open space and parks, and a school. Table 

3-2 shows the housing capacity of Pasadera. Even in the absence of infill development elsewhere in the 

City, developing the remainder of the approved housing in the DJ farms Specific Plan area would 

accommodate most of the 431 RHNA units. 

Table 3-2: Housing Capacity of DJ Farms Specific Plan Area 

Density  

Land 
Available 

(acres) 

Allowable 
Density 

Realistic 
Capacity 
(housing 

units) 

Very Low  4.6 6 units/acre 15 

Low  25.4 7 units/acre 108 

Medium  71.4 8 units/acre 357 

High  44.6 14 units/acre 322 

Total  146   802 
Source: Revised DJ Farm Specific Plan, August 2012. 

Additional factors that can increase the potential for housing (but not specifically evaluated) include: (a) 

development of accessory (or secondary) dwelling units (also called granny units); (b) redevelopment of 

underdeveloped parcels that were not built to full allowable density; and (c) General Plan updates and 

Zoning Ordinance amendments to increase intensity in strategic areas of the City. While Guadalupe can 

meet its housing allocation without exercising these other options, they present additional opportunities 

for expansion of housing and affordable housing in the City. Indeed, since the conclusion of the 2042 

General Plan Update, the City has upzoned many parcels for additional residential units and the City is 

already processing numerous applications for ADUs each year.  Additionally, with the SB-9 regulations, 

the City is also processing ministerial small lot splits in R-1 zones.  

3.2 Financial Resources 
Financing is available for infrastructure and housing improvements through Federal, State, and local 

programs. The following subsections identify certain programs. 

3.2.1 Federal and State Resources 

Community Development Block Grant Program (CDBG) – Federal funding for housing is available 

through the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). The CDBG program is flexible 

allowing funds to be used for a wide range of activities. The eligible activities include, but are not limited 

to, acquisition or disposition of real estate or property, public facilities and improvements, relocation, 

rehabilitation and construction of housing with certain limitations, homeownership assistance, and 



 

42 
 

clearance activities. The City continues to apply for CDBG funds for housing and community 

development. 

Low-Income Housing Tax Credit Program – The Tax Reform Act of 1986 created the low-Income 

Housing Tax Credit Program to provide an alternate method of funding low-income and moderate-

income housing. Each state receives a tax credit based on population to fund housing that meets 

program guidelines. The tax credits typically leverage private capital into new construction or acquisition 

and rehabilitation of affordable housing. Limitations on projects funded under the Tax Credit programs 

include requirements that rent is restricted by median income on certain minimum percentages of units. 

Other Federal and State Resources -Table 3-3 summarizes additional funding sources that can assist 

extremely low, very low, low, and moderate-income households or developers of affordable housing. 

Many of these funding sources are typically eligible for specific types of projects and may not be secure. 

However, they do offer opportunities to facilitate affordable and adequate housing. 

Table 3-3: Additional Federal, State, and Private Financial Resources 

[Table 3-3]               Program Description Eligible Activities 

Federal Resources 

HUD Section 202 
Forgivable loans to non-profit developers of 
supportive housing for the elderly 

Site acquisitions, 
rehabilitation, new 

construction 

HUD Section 203(k) 

Long-term, low interest loans at fixed rate to 
finance acquisition and rehabilitation of single-
family homes 

Site acquisitions, 
rehabilitation, new 

construction 

HUD Section 811 

Grants to non-profit developers of supportive 
housing for persons with disabilities, including 
group homes, independent living facilities and 
intermediate care facilitates 

Site acquisitions, 
rehabilitation, new 
construction, rental 

assistance 

U.S Department of 
Agriculture (USDA), Rural 

Development Service's 
Section 514 Farm Labor 

Housing Program 
Below market-rate loans for farmworker rental 
housing 

Site acquisitions, 
rehabilitation, new 

construction 

U.S Department of 
Agriculture (USDA), Rural 

Development Service's 
Section 514 Rural Rental 

Housing Program 
Below market-rate loans for low and very low-
income rental housing Rental assistance 

USDA Rural Development 
Section 504 Housing 

Repair and Rehabilitation 
Program 

Loans and grants to repair and rehabilitate the 
homes for low-income families and seniors Rehabilitation 

USDA Rural Development 
Section 533 Housing 

Preservation Grant (HGP) 

Grants to nonprofit and government agencies to 
fund housing rehabilitation programs for low-
income households Rehabilitation 



 

43 
 

[Table 3-3]               Program Description Eligible Activities 

Program 

Section 8 

Rental assistance program which provides a 
subsidy to very low-income families, individuals, 
seniors, and disabled people. Participants pay a 
percentage of their adjusted income toward rent Rental assistance 

HOME 

Grant program intended to expand the supply of 
decent and safe affordable housing. HOME is 
designed as a partnership program between the 
federal, state, local governments, non-profit and 
for-profit housing entities to finance 
build/rehabilitate, and manage housing for lower 
income owners and renters 

Rehabilitation, 
administration 

ACCESS and National 
Homebuyers Fund (NHF) 

Gold Programs 

ACCESS and NHF are second loan programs for 
down payments assistance. Allows low and 
moderate-income homebuyers to pay for down 
payment and closing costs up to 7% of the sales 
price 

Down payment 
assistance 

233(f) Mortgage Insurance 
for Purchase/Refinance 

Mortgage insurance for purchase or refinance of 
existing multifamily projects 

New rental housing 
operation, 

administration, 
acquisition 

241(a) Rehabilitation 
Loans for Multifamily 

Projects 
Provides mortgage insurance for improvements 
repairs, or additions to multi-family projects 

Rehab of apartments, 
energy conservation 

Congregate Housing 
Services Program 

Provides grants to public agency or private non-
profit to provide meal services and other 
supportive services to frail elderly and disables 
residents in federally assisted housing. Also 
supports remodeling to meet physical needs Grants 

HOPE 3- Homeownership 
of Single-Family Homes 

Program provides grants to State and local 
governments and non-profit organizations to 
assist low-income, first time homebuyers in 
becoming homeowners by utilizing government 
owned or finances single-family properties Grants 

HOPE 6- Revitalization of 
Severely Distressed Public 

Housing 

Provides funds for revitalization, demolition and 
disposition of severely distressed public housing 
for Section 8 tenant-based assistance Grants, rent subsidies 

HOPE II- Homeownership 
for Multifamily Housing 

Provides grants to develop programs allowing 
mostly low-income families to purchase units in 
multifamily housing projects owned, finances or 
insured by HU or other federal, state, or local 
public agencies Grants 

Sec. 202 Supportive 
Housing for Elderly 

Provides capital grants and operation subsidies for 
supportive housing for elderly 

Rent subsidies, 
construction, 
rehabilitation 

State Resources 



 

44 
 

[Table 3-3]               Program Description Eligible Activities 

CaliHome 

Provides grants to local governments and non-
profit agencies for owner occupied rehabilitation 
programs and new home development projects 

Site acquisition, 
rehabilitation 

CalHFA Rental Housing 
Programs 

Provides below market rate financing offered to 
builders and developers of multifamily and elderly 
rental housing. Tax exempt bonds provide below-
market mortgages 

Site acquisitions, 
rehabilitation, new 

construction 

Self-help Builder 
Assistance Program 

(SHBAP) 

State lower interest rate CalHFA loans to owner-
builders who participate in self-help housing 
projects sponsored by non-profit housing 
developers 

Site acquisitions, 
rehabilitation, new 
construction, home 
buyers’ assistance 

Multifamily Housing 
Program (MHP) State deferred-payment loans 

Rehabilitation, new 
construction, rental 
housing, supportive 
housing for disabled 

Multifamily Housing 
Program (MHP) 

Supportive Housing 
Allocation 

MHP loans for supportive housing for special 
needs populations Supportive housing 

Joe Serna Jr. Farmworker 
Housing Grant Program 

(JSJPWHG) 

Provides grants and loans to local governments 
and nonprofit housing developers for farmworker 
housing 

New construction, 
acquisition, migrant 

housing, housing with 
related health 

services 

Weatherization Assistance 
Program 

Grants from California Department of Community 
Services and Development to improve the energy 
efficiency of homes occupied by low-income 
households to reduce their heating and cooling 
costs Improvements 

Mobile Home Park 
Resident Ownership 
Programs (MPROP)  

Loans from California Department of Housing and 
Community Development for the purchase of 
mobile home parks by local governments, 
nonprofit corporations, or residents Mobile homes 

California Self-Help 
Housing Program (CSHHP) 

Grants from the California Department of Housing 
and Community Development for the 
administrative costs of self-help or owner-builder 
housing projects 

Administration, new 
construction 

Predevelopment Loan 
Program (PDLP) 

Short-term loans from the California Department 
of Housing and Community Development for the 
construction, rehabilitation, conversion, or 
preservation of affordable housing projects 

Rehabilitation of 
apartments, 
acquisition, 

preservation of 
affordable housing, 
new rental housing 

Special Needs Affordable 
Housing Lending Program 

All multifamily projects that serve at-risk tenants 
in need of special services 

Rehabilitation of 
apartments, 

acquisition, new 



 

45 
 

[Table 3-3]               Program Description Eligible Activities 

rental housing 

Private Resources 

Federal Home Loan Bank 
(FHLB) Affordable Housing 

Program 

Provides competitive grants and subsidized loans 
to create affordable rental and homeownership 
opportunities 

New construction, 
new rental housing 

Access to Housing and 
Economic Assistance for 

Development (AHEAD) 
Program 

Recoverable grants from the Federal Home Loan 
Bank of San Francisco to support housing projects 
during the conception and early stages of 
development 

New construction, 
new rental housing 

Community Investment 
Program (CIP) 

Funds from the Federal Home Loan Bank of San 
Francisco to finance first-time homebuyer 
programs, create and maintain affordable 
housing, and support other community economic 
development activities 

Homebuyer 
assistance 

Federal National 
Mortgage Association 

(Fannie Mae) 

A variety of homebuyer assistance, rehab 
assistance, and minority homeownership 
assistance 

Homebuyer 
assistance, 

rehabilitation, 
minority 

homeownership 
assistance 

California Community 
Reinvestment Corporation 

(CCRC) 

Nonprofit mortgage banking consortium that 
pools resources to reduce lender risk in finance of 
affordable housing. Provides long term debt 
financing for affordable multifamily rental housing 

New construction, 
rehabilitation, 

acquisition 

Community Reinvestment 
Act Loan Program 

Provides real estate construction financing, small 
business loans, and consumer loans 

Acquisition loans, 
business loans, 

predevelopment or 
interim finance, 
construction or 

rehabilitation loans 

Vision Forward 
To provide affordable housing to low-income 
residents throughout the U.S 

Acquisition loans, 
construction or 

rehabilitation loans, 
down payment 

assistance 

Affordable Housing 
Programs 

Provides grants or subsidies interest rate loans for 
purchase, construction, or rehabilitation of 
owner-occupied housing by or for very low-, low-, 
and moderate-income households or to finance 
the purchase, construction or rehabilitation of 
rental housing 

Construction or 
rehabilitation loans, 

grants, long-term 
loans, technical 

assistance 

 

3.2.2 Local Resources 

Guadalupe Redevelopment Agency (RDA) – As of February 1, 2012, the statewide dissolution of all 

Redevelopment Agencies ceased this local resource for funding affordable housing and redevelopment 



 

46 
 

projects in Guadalupe. However, “redevelopment” remains a viable approach to housing development 

and renewal of blighted area. 

Santa Barbara County Housing Authority – This Housing Authority provides rental housing and 

supportive services to eligible persons with limited incomes through a variety of programs. The agency 

develops and manages housing for low-income households; it administers federal Section 8 rental 

housing assistance programs in the private rental market; and it offers a HUD-certified comprehensive 

counseling agency that serves homeowners and renters. The Santa Barbara County Housing Authority 

has owned and managed the Guadalupe Ranch Acres project for many years.  Constructed between the 

late 1950s and early 1960s, the Authority determined that the project had reached the end of its useful 

life and began processing a project to replace it in 2018.  A new project was approved in 2020 that 

included 80 units in ten buildings plus a large Community Center.  All 50 residents were given an 

opportunity to relocate to another Section 8 housing property, and will be given first right of refusal to 

return to the new development once completed..  

Peoples' Self-Help Housing Corporation (PSHHC) – PSHHC is a housing and community development 

corporation that serves the counties of San Luis Obispo, Santa Barbara, and Ventura. PSHHC helps low-

income individuals, families, senior citizens and developmentally disabled individuals to obtain 

affordable housing. PSHHC also offers first-time homebuyers an opportunity to build their own homes in 

lieu of down payments as was the case with the 50 affordable homes in the River View development in 

Guadalupe. PSHHC also owns and manages the 80 affordable River View Townhomes in the City, which 

opened in 2003. PSHHC purchased an approved project from Cabrillo Economic Development 

Corporation.  The 38 unit project on eastern Eleventh Street has been constructed and is fully occupied 

by local farmworker families.  There are 37 low income units and one manager’s unit. 

Habitat for Humanity – Habitat for Humanity is a non-profit organization dedicated to building 

affordable housing and rehabilitating damaged homes for lower income families. The agency builds 

homes with the help of volunteers and partner-families who may be homeowners and sells to partner 

families at no profit with affordable, no-interest loans. The City provided Habitat for Humanity three 

separate affordable housing sites: one on the 800 block of Pioneer Street, one on Twelfth Street 

between Olivera Street and Pacheco Street, and the third on the 1100 block of Pacheco Street. All three 

of these housing sites are relatively small lots that range from 5,000 square feet to 7,500 square feet 

and the anticipation is to develop each exclusively for affordable housing. 

  



 

47 
 

4.0 Constraints 
The Government Code prescribes that the Housing Element addresses constraints to housing production 

and availability (Gov. Code §65583(a)(5) and (6)). Governmental constraints impact housing costs and 

supply as well as certainty with the housing market via controls on use of land, codes and enforcement, 

requirements for on-site and off-site improvements, fees and exactions, processing and permit 

procedures, and guidelines for housing production to suit persons with disabilities. 

Non-governmental constraints are primarily market-driven and generally outside direct government 

control, but jurisdictions can influence and offset the negative impacts of nongovernmental constraints 

through responsive programs and policies. This group of constraints include land prices, construction 

costs, and availability of financing. The following sections analyze various constraints to housing. 

4.1 Governmental Constraints 
Governmental regulations intend to control development for the health, safety, and welfare of the 

community, but can also unintentionally increase the costs of development and consequently the cost 

of housing. The following subsections describe potential governmental constraints, which could affect 

the supply and cost of housing in Guadalupe. 

4.1.1 Land Use Controls 

General Plan  

State law requires each city and county in California to prepare a long-term, comprehensive plan to 

guide its growth and future development. The Land Use Element of the General Plan establishes the 

basic land uses and density of development within the various areas of the City. Under State law, the 

elements of the General Plan must be internally consistent, and the City's zoning must be consistent 

with the General Plan. The Land Use Element must therefore provide suitable locations and densities to 

implement the policies of the Housing Element.  

The City adopted an updated General Plan in November 2022. The Guadalupe 2042 General Plan covers 

a comprehensive set of required and optional elements. Table 4-1 shows the residential land use 

designations in the Land Use Element, which include low density, medium density, and high-density 

housing in addition to mixed-use. The residential land use categories can accommodate a variety of 

housing types and styles and can assure a diversity and mixture of housing types throughout the City. 

The category termed Planned Residential Development is an overlay district that allows increased 

flexibility in design with relaxed development standards for efficient use of certain housing sites. Specific 

allowances include deviation from standard setback requirements, removal of minimum or maximum lot 

size standards, and reduced parking requirements. Development sites seeking this overlay designation 

must demonstrate to the City Council that the project meets one or more of the following criteria: 

• It provides facilities or amenities suited to such special needs groups as the elderly or 

families with children.  

• It transfers allowable development within a site from areas of greater to areas of lower 

environmental sensitivity or hazard.  



 

48 
 

• It provides a wider range of housing types and costs than would be possible with 

development of uniform dwellings throughout the project site or neighborhood.  

• Features of the design meet or exceed tenets of conventional standards related to privacy, 

usable open spaces, adequate parking, compatibility with neighborhood character, and 

others.  

• It incorporates features which can result in lower consumption of materials, energy, or 

water than conventional development. 

Table 4-1: Guadalupe General Plan Residential Land Use Designations 

Land Use 
Designation 

Density 
  

Housing Type 
  

Low Density 
Residential Up to 12 units per gross acre 

Detached single-family housing, group homes with 
six (6) or fewer residents, accessory dwelling units 

Medium Density 
Residential 13-20 units per gross acre 

Single-family homes, duplexes, triplexes, 
fourplexes, townhouses  

High Density 
Residential 21-30 units per gross acre 

Single-family homes, apartments, townhouses, 
similar multiple-family structures, homeless 
shelters, and group homes of any size 

Planned 
Residential 

Development 

Provides up to 15 percent 
more housing units per acre in 
Low and Medium Density 
Housing Areas1 

Single-family and multi-family housing units up to 
the maximum allowed densities in the underlying 
residential designation  

Mixed Use 
(including 

housing) 

Up to 30 units per gross acre in 
addition to other compatible 
uses 

Vertical or lateral juxtaposition of such compatible 
uses as housing (typically in the form of flats), 
office, and retail. Residences occupy second floors 
(e.g., above ground-floor non-residential uses) 
including: 1) single-room occupancies, apartments, 
and stacked-flat-style condominiums; and 2) 
attached two- and three-story residences 
occupying their own 
sites. This second form of residential use is limited 
to townhouse-style condominiums, townhouse-
style 
zero-lot-line units, and townhouse-style 
apartments that are not located on Guadalupe 
Street north of 7th Street 

Note: 

1. In January 2008, the City amended the Zoning Ordinance for a Planned Residential Development Overlay 

District 

Source: 2042  Guadalupe General Plan, 2022.  

The City has had three Specific Plan development sites, which include River View and Point Sal Dunes 

(both built out many years ago), and DJ Farms (currently under development). Specific Plans provide 

additional guidance on standards for development within the specific plan areas. Where the zoning 



 

49 
 

ordinance and subdivision regulations differ from the Specific Plan, the requirements of the Specific Plan 

take precedence. Conversely, unless otherwise prescribed by the Specific Plan, the standards and 

regulations of the underlying zoning district apply. The General Plan and Zoning Ordinance assigns an 

"SP" suffix to the land use designations and zone districts subject to a Specific Plan. The SP designation is 

intended to alert developers and property owners that the property is subject to the development 

standards and other requirements of a Specific Plan. 

Zoning Designations  

The City regulates the type, location, density, and scale of residential development through the Zoning 

Ordinance. Zoning regulations are tools to implement the General Plan and are designed to protect and 

promote the health, safety, and general welfare of residents. The Zoning Ordinance also helps to 

preserve the character and integrity of existing neighborhoods. The Zoning Ordinance sets forth 

residential development standards for each zoning district. Table 4-2 shows the five zones that allow 

residential development by right in Guadalupe. 

In addition to the residential zones, four commercial zones permit varying levels of mixed-use and 

multiple-family residential development as either allowed or conditionally permitted uses. The General-

Commercial (G-C) zoning district, for instance, permits single-family or multi-family dwellings if located 

above a permitted commercial use, but they are subject to a Conditional Use Permit if not associated or 

mixed with a permitted commercial use (that is, if for instance they are located on a floor above a 

permitted use). Table 4-2 also shows the commercial zones. As part of the recent General Plan update, 

most General Commercial-zoned lots in the downtown were changed to Downtown Mixed Use. 

Table 4-2: Residential & Commercial Zoning in Guadalupe 

Zoning Ordinance Density 

Residential 

R-1, R-1-SP, and R/N-SP-CZ Single-Family (Low Density) Residential District 

R-1-M and R-1-M-SP Single-Family (Medium Density) Residential District 

R-2 and R-2-SP Multiple Dwelling (Medium Density) Residential District 

R-3 Multiple Dwelling (High Density) Residential District 

PD Planned Development Overlay 

Commercial 

MIX Mixed Use District 

C-S Commercial Service District 

G-C General Commercial District 

C-N Commercial Neighborhood District 
Source: City of Guadalupe Zoning Ordinance.  

Table 4-3 summarizes the development standards in the City’s zoning regulations. Following recent 
adoption of the Guadalupe 2042 General Plan, the zoning regulations have been updated to harmonize 
with the densities in the Plan where necessary.  The new zoning regulations went into effect on April 27, 
2023.  Several other revisions to the zoning ordinance were made to ensure compatibility with the 
adopted General Plan. 



 

50 
 

Table 4-4 provides a summary of the residential uses permitted under the City's zoning regulations. It is 
possible to accommodate low-income housing and special needs housing in multiple zones in the City of 
Guadalupe, provided they meet site-specific development standards. 

Table 4-3: Development Standards in Guadalupe Zoning Ordinance 

Zoning 
Designation 

Minimum Lot 
Size (Sq. Ft.) 

Density (units 
per acre)/FA1 

Setback Requirements (Feet) Height 
Limit 
(feet) Front Rear Side 

Corner 
Lot 

R-1 3,630 5 20 15 5 10 35 

R-1-M 3,630 10 10 15 5 10 35 

R-2 2,178 14 20 15 5 10 35 

R-3 1,452 202 20 15 5 10 35 

PD3   9-15           

MIX None 6 None None None None 50 

G-C None Not Specified None None None None 50 

C-S None Not Specified None None None None 50 

C-N None 4 None None None None 50 
Note: 

1. FAR is ratio of building floor area (sq ft) to land area (sq ft) 
2. 1,452 sq. ft. minimum lot size excludes roads, sidewalks, and other infrastructure needs; Gross Density of 

30 units per acre established in the Land Use Element 
3. Where a PD overlay is applied, any standards identified or set in the approved planned development shall 

take precedence in development; those standards in the underlying zone shall remain in effect.   
Source: City of Guadalupe Zoning Ordinance. Guadalupe, California Municipal Code. Title 18 ZONING  

Table 4-4: Allowed Residential Development by Zone 

Housing Types R-1 R-1-M R-2 R-3 PD MIX G-C C-S C-N 

Single-Family Detached P P P P P         

Single-Family Duplex   P P P P         

Multiple Dwelling     P P P C P   C 

Mobile Homes       C           

Dwelling Groups1     C P2 P C C   C 

Farmworker Housing     P P P C P   C 

Care Facilities     C P2     C   C3 

Single Room Occupancy     P P P P P   C 

Emergency Shelters       P     C C C 
Note:  

1. 18.08.100 of the Guadalupe Municipal Code defines "Dwelling groups" as a group of 2 or more detached or semi-

detached one-family, two-family, or multiple dwellings occupying a parcel of land in one ownership, and having any 

yard or court in common, but not including motels, hotels, boardinghouses, or rest homes. [Ord, 189 Art. 7, 1980). 

2. Provided that there is no more than one residing occupant for each 500 square feet of land in the lot or parcel on 

which the use is located.  

3. Providing care for six or more persons.  

P = Permitted; C = Conditional Use Permit; D =  Design Review 

Source: Guadalupe Zoning Ordinance.  



 

51 
 

Zoning for a Variety of Housing Types  

Emergency Shelters, Transitional Housing, and Supportive Housing – In 2007, the State Legislature 

adopted Senate Bill 2 (SB 2), which requires local governments to identify one or more zoning districts 

that permit emergency shelters by right in their Zoning Ordinances. That means the shelters would not 

require a conditional use permit, which could pose constraints. The law requires jurisdictions to amend 

Zoning Ordinances to allow by right in all residential zoning districts "transitional housing" and 

"supportive housing" (as defined by the Health and Safety Code Sections 50675.2(h) and 50675.14(b)). 

SB 2 also specifies that "emergency shelters" (as defined in the Health and Safety Code Section 

50801(e)) may only be subject to those development and management standards that apply to 

residential developments within the same zone except that a local government may apply written, 

objective standards that include all the following: 

• The maximum number of beds or persons permitted to be served nightly by the facility.  

• Off-street parking based upon demonstrated need, provided that the standards do not 

require more parking for emergency shelters than for other residential or commercial uses 

within the same zone.  

• The size and location of client exterior and interior onsite waiting and client intake areas.  

• The provision of onsite management.  

• The proximity to other emergency shelters if emergency shelters are not required to be 

more than 300 feet apart.  

• The length of stay.  

• Lighting.  

• Security during hours that the emergency shelter is in operation. 

Table 4-4 reveals that the City's Zoning Ordinance lists Emergency Shelters as a permitted use by right 

within the R-3 zone and as a conditionally permitted use in three commercial zones designated C-S, C-N, 

and G-C zones.  Ord. 2019-478 updated the Zoning Ordinance and added transitional and supportive 

housing definitions to allow these residential uses subject only to those regulations that apply to other 

residential dwellings of the same type within the same zone. “By right” means the shelters would not 

require conditional use permits. 

Title 18 of the Guadalupe Municipal Code covers “ZONING”; and Chapter 18.73 covers “DESIGN 

REVIEW”. Close examination of this chapter of the Code reveals the following: 

1. Section 18.73.010 on “Applicability” identifies a list of circumstances which require design 

review. The list does not include emergency shelters, but expressly identified “New 

multifamily residential developments exceeding 3 units or additions to existing multifamily 

developments where the addition would result in a total of 3 or more units on a given 

property”. 

2. Section 18.73.030 on “Exceptions and exemptions” is also silent on emergency shelters. 

3. Section 18.73.100 on “Findings required for approval” is silent as well on emergency 

shelters. 



 

52 
 

Low-Barrier Navigation Centers (LBNC) - A Low-Barrier Navigation Center (LBNC) is a temporary, 

service-enriched shelter that helps homeless individuals and families to quickly obtain permanent 

housing with little or no barriers to entry. In that respect it projects a "Housing First," attitude to help 

persons and families in distress in advance of resolving the mitigating circumstances. The City has 

designated Leroy Park as a location for emergency shelter during natural disasters. Close examination 

of the Municipal Code confirms that Guadalupe has not faced the need for emergency shelters for 

individuals in the past given that it has hardly any homeless population. However, the Code needs to 

make provisions for such other circumstances that might need emergency shelters for victims of 

spousal abuse, child abuse, and sudden, catastrophic economic situations. This housing element adds 

programs to allow emergency shelters in all zones that permit housing without requirements for design 

review permits and other discretionary actions (e.g. conditional use permits) as the design review 

decision-making criteria. 

Permanent Supportive Housing: Residential Care Facilities and Group Homes – Residential care 

facilities include any family home, group home, or rehabilitation facility that provides non-medical care 

to persons in need of such personal services that are essential for daily living as protection, supervision, 

assistance, guidance, or training. State law (Health and Safety Code Sections 1267.8, 1566.3, and 

1568.08) requires local governments to treat licensed group homes and residential care facilities with six 

or fewer residents the same as single-family uses. Furthermore, local governments must allow licensed 

residential care facilities in any area zoned for residential use and may not require licensed residential 

care facilities of six or fewer persons to obtain conditional use permits or variances that are not required 

of other family dwellings. The City’s zoning ordinance allows such facilities on properties zoned single-

family residential (R-1, R-1-M, R-2 and R-3). However, they are conditionally allowed in the R-2 (Medium 

Density Residential) and G-C (General Commercial) zoning districts and they are permitted in the R-3 

(High Density Residential) district. In the R-2 and R-3 zoning districts, the Zoning Ordinance limits the 

size of such facilities to no more than one occupant per 500 square foot of lot area. For minimum lot 

sizes of 1700 to 3000 square feet, this restriction translates to a range of 3 to 6 persons in each of these 

types of facilities. 

Farmworker Housing – The City complies with the Employee Housing Act (Government Code Sections 

17021.5 and 17021.6). Farmworker housing is allowed by right in all R-2, R-3, MIX, and G-C zones. They 

may be constructed to the standards of multifamily housing units, single-rate occupancy units, or 

dormitories as needs require in Guadalupe. The Housing Element includes Programs to facilitate the 

development of multi-family housing in Guadalupe to serve those working in the agricultural sector. 

Housing for Persons with Disabilities – Both the Federal Fair Housing Act and the California Fair 

Employment and Housing Act impose an affirmative duty on local governments to make reasonable 

accommodations in the form of modifications or exceptions in zoning laws and other land use 

regulations when such accommodations may be necessary to afford disabled persons an equal 

opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling. The Building Code adopted by the City of Guadalupe 

incorporates accessibility standards contained in Title 24 of the California Administrative Code. 



 

53 
 

Adherence to zoning and development standards in the City's Zoning Ordinance can present a potential 

constraint on the development, maintenance, and improvement of housing for persons with disabilities. 

Such standards do not pose a major constraint for new construction or redevelopment on large parcels 

because there is typically ample design flexibility to include accommodations for persons with 

disabilities. However, for redevelopment or retrofitting of existing buildings on smaller lots, setback 

requirements may conflict with the provision of accommodations for persons with disabilities. Programs 

in the Housing Element call for modification of zoning standards short of a variance to provide for 

accommodations for persons with disabilities. 

Notwithstanding constraints related to zoning and development standards, the City strives to provide 

reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities in the enforcement of building codes and 

issuance of building permits. The City takes special needs into consideration and allows for adjustment 

of specification if requested. The City may accept changes due to practical difficulties or unnecessary 

hardship in enforcing the Code. In addition, the zoning ordinance makes provisions to reasonably 

accommodate accessibility needs. As part of these provisions, the City provides information to all 

interested parties regarding accommodations in zoning, permit processes, and application of building 

codes for persons with disabilities. 

Compliance with accessibility standards contained in the Building Code could increase the cost of 

housing production and can also impact viability in the rehabilitation of older properties that need to be 

brought up to code. However, these regulations provide minimum standards that require compliance to 

assure the development of safe and accessible housing. In addition to providing disabled access in new 

construction projects, Guadalupe also provides funding for retrofitting existing rental and owner-

occupied housing for ADA access under the City's Housing Rehabilitation Program. 

Single Room Occupancy – A single room occupancy unit (SRO) is a single room that is typically 80-250 

square feet in size, sometimes with a sink and closet, but requires the occupant to share a communal 

bathroom, shower, and kitchen. This use would be permitted by right in all R-2, R-3, and MIX zones and 

would require a conditional use permit.. It is only subject to those development and management 

standards that apply to residential development within the same zone. The Housing Element includes 

programs to facilitate the development of single room occupancy units in Guadalupe. 

Mobile and Manufactured Homes – Pursuant to Government Code Section 65852.3, the location and 

permit process for manufactured housing should be regulated in the same manner as a conventional or 

stick-built structure. Specifically, Government Code Section 65852.3(a) requires that except for 

architectural requirements, a local government should only subject manufactured homes (also called 

mobile homes) to the same development standards as a conventional single-family residential dwelling 

on the same lot including, but not limited to, requirements for building setback, side and rear yard, 

enclosures, access, vehicle parking, aesthetics, and minimum square footage. Mobile and manufactured 

homes are conditionally permitted uses in the R-3 zone in Guadalupe. 

 

 



 

54 
 

Standard Parking and Street Requirements  

Excessive parking standards can pose a significant constraint to housing development by increasing 

development costs and reducing the potential land availability for project amenities or additional units. 

Many parking standards do not reflect actual parking demand. Table 4-5 lists the parking standards in 

the Guadalupe Zoning Ordinance. These requirements are generally not a development constraint and 

are comparable to those in jurisdictions throughout the state. 

Table 4-5: Parking Space & Street Width Standards 

Type of Use Requirement 

Parking 

Single Dwelling Unit 2 spaces per dwelling unit,  1 of the spaces need to be covered 

Multiple Dwelling Unit 2 spaces per dwelling unit,  1 of the spaces need to be covered 

Convalescent and Care Facilities no limit on guest spaces; 1 space per 2 employees per shift 

Streets 

Residential Street 52 feet wide 

Collector Street 56 feet wide 

Local Arterial 72 to 84 feet wide 

Principal Arterial 106 to 126 feet wide 
Source: City of Guadalupe Zoning Ordinance, amended with Ord. 2019-478. 

Parking requirements may be reduced in a Planned Residential Development. There are no other formal 

provisions for parking reductions, say for housing serving persons with disabilities, which might 

demonstrate a lower need. The Housing Element includes programs to establish a formal and written 

procedure to reasonably accommodate accessibility needs, including reduced parking for special needs 

housing. 

Street Standards  

Table 4-5 also lists the standards for street width in the Guadalupe Zoning Ordinance. These 

requirements are generally not a development constraint and compare to those in jurisdictions 

throughout the state. 

Curbs and Sidewalks  

The Guadalupe Zoning Ordinance has several specifications for the design and installation of curbs, 

gutters, and sidewalks to assure consistency and safety throughout the City. The specifications are 

generally not a development constraint, compare to those in jurisdictions throughout the state, and 

include the following stipulations: 

• Construct curbs and gutters separately from sidewalks.  

• Use Weakened Plane Joints for all joints, except expansion joints shall be placed in curbs, 

gutters, and sidewalks at BCR and ECR and around utility poles located in sidewalk areas. 

• Construct Weakened Plane Joints at regular intervals, up to 10 feet for walks and up to 20 

feet for gutters.  

• Align sidewalk and curb joints.  

• Curb and gutter widths are generally 24 inches.  



 

55 
 

• Sidewalk widths should be 4 to 6 feet. 

• Curbs and gutters can be constructed of Portland Cement Concrete or of Asphalt Concrete. 

• Anchor curbs with dowels or epoxy.  

• Measure the grade line at the curb line at top of curb; round all exposed corners on PCC 

curbs and gutters by half an inch and make gutters integral with the curb unless otherwise 

specified. 

 

Other Potential Governmental Constraints  

Since the early 2000s, policies and programs in the City’s General Plan and Housing Element have 

maintained the collection of affordable housing development fees for large developments. This Housing 

Element will continue to retain the pertinent policy and associated program which require new housing 

projects of at least 50 units that are located on land that has received an increase in allowable density 

through a general plan amendment, rezoning, or specific plan to pay a fee of 2% of the building 

valuation into an affordable housing trust fund although no residential developments in the city have 

triggered the 2% fee requirement. The fee may be waived by the City Council if it has determined that 

the project provides enough lower income housing units commensurate with that which the collection 

of the fee would generate. The applicant seeking a waiver would request this in the development 

approval process and present the rationale for how the subject project meets the criteria for the waiver. 

The affordable housing fee requirement is not expected to present a significant constraint on projects 

since the economic benefit of increased units would be larger than the cost of complying with the policy. 

Furthermore, for projects with affordable housing components that would equal or exceed the value of 

the calculated fee, the City Council could waive the fee. 

Building Codes  

The Guadalupe Building Code was updated from the 2019 to 2022 California Building Codes (CBC), which 

determines the minimum residential construction requirements for all of California. The 2022 CBC 

promotes safe housing and is not considered a significant constraint to housing production as it is the 

minimum necessary to protect public health, safety, and welfare. The City’s code (15.04.010) states:  

“The following codes are hereby adopted as the Building Code, Residential Code, Administrative 

Code, Electrical Code, Plumbing Code, Mechanical Code, Energy Code, Green Building Standards 

Code and Referenced Standards Code of the City of Guadalupe, and are incorporated herein as if 

fully set forth, with such further incorporation and amendment of individual sections and 

appendices as following below: 

        A.    2022 California Building Code, Volumes one and two. 

        B.     2022 California Residential Code. 

        C.     2022 California Administrative Code. 

        D.    2022 California Electrical Code. 

        E.     2022 National Electrical Code (NEC). 

        F.     2022 California Plumbing Code. 

        G.    2022 California Mechanical Code. 

        H.    2022 California Energy Code. 



 

56 
 

        I.     2022 California Green Building Standards Code. 

        J.     2022 California Referenced Standards Code. (Ord. 2016-458 §1)”. 

Since the adoption of the 2019-2021 mid-Cycle housing element, the City hired a full time code 

enforcement officer. Previously, the process began with a field investigation following a complaint. 

Whether in response to a complaint of routine inspections of code enforcement officer, the investigator 

assesses the gravity of the problem and the City responds through letters, phone calls, or site visits to 

serious violations that have implications for health and safety. The City encourages voluntary 

compliance. If compliance is not forthcoming, the City may take more aggressive action through the 

legal process. The City's philosophy is to mitigate serious health or safety problems, but to allow the 

property owners reasonable time and flexibility to comply. The City attempts to balance the need to 

ensure safe housing against the potential loss of affordable housing that might result from overly strict 

enforcement. There is no indication that code enforcement actions have unnecessarily restricted the use 

of older buildings or inhibited rehabilitation. 

Building Heights  

Section 18.52.020 of the Municipal Code on “Height limits” states the following: 

“In R-1, R-2 and R-3 districts, the height of a building or structure shall not exceed 2 stories, or a height of 

35 feet. In all other districts, a building or structure shall not exceed 50 feet in height. Additional height 

may be permitted by granting a conditional use permit. (Ord. 189 Art. 4 §3, 1980)” 

The 2042 General Plan recommends compact mixed-use development primarily in the downtown areas 

and the increase in intensity of development for a more efficient way to develop the City. Consistent 

with the General Plan, this Housing Element includes programs for amendment to the Zoning Ordinance 

to enable development of three-story structures in areas designated for multi-family housing as an 

avenue to produce more housing for the available acreage, reduce cost per unit, and make these types 

of units even more affordable. This is possible under the existing code under conditional use permits, 

but the amendment can make development of affordable units more attractive to developers especially 

where lot sizes are limited. According to the Fire Department, due to limitations of fire apparatus, 

development of structures over two-stories is permitted on a case by case basis.  In the recent past, no 

development has been permitted over three stories by the Fire Department.  

 

Code Enforcement Activities 

Prior to 2019, the City did not establish the ability to track code enforcement complaints electronically. 

Since the 2019 H.E. was adopted, the City has hired a full time code enforcement officer. However, due 

to interruptions to work patterns from COVID-19 restrictions, data is not yet available on code 

enforcement activities.  



 

57 
 

4.1.2 Residential Development Processing Procedures 

There are various levels of review and processing of residential development applications, depending on 

the size and complexity of the development. Due to budgetary constraints and limited development 

projects, the Planning Commission was disbanded in 2012 and therefore the City Council is responsible 

for hearing all discretionary development projects.  City planners process all ministerial projects. The 

City also has a design review process, which may be required for residential developments, depending 

on the scope and location of the proposed development. Subsequent paragraphs discuss the Design 

Review Process in further detail. 

City staff review all discretionary permit applications for completeness prior to determining if the 

project is exempt from environmental review.  If the project is exempt, then staff prepare a Resolution 

that includes Findings for Approval, a CEQA exemption, and Conditions of Approval.  A staff report is also 

prepared and presented to the City Council at a public hearing.  If environmental review is required, 

then staff prepare the appropriate document, circulate it for public comment and then hold the public 

hearing on the project.  If City Council approves the project, then the applicant files for a zoning 

clearance which is used to ensure that all conditions have been met prior to issuance of a building 

permit or other entitlement. 

Even though Guadalupe is a small town, the planners have been able to expedite projects 

through the planning process.  As an example, a recent employee housing project for 

farmworkers was approved in less than four weeks from deeming the project complete to the 

approval hearing with the City Council.  The City’s permit processing for both discretionary 

permits and ministerial permits is efficient with no backlog of cases.”   Include the rest of your 

paragraph but change the design review to 2-4 months. Table 4-6 lists typical permit processing 

times. As noted, a typical single-family residential subdivision takes on average 6 to 12 months to 

process, depending on whether a tract map or parcel map is required. A typical multi-family residential 

development requires a Design Review Permit and zoning clearance and has an average processing time 

of 2 to 4 months. Therefore, development processing procedures in Guadalupe do not present a 

significant constraint to housing production. 

Ordinance No. 2008-393 adopted the Design Review requirements and inserted them into the Zoning 

Ordinance in April 2008 as Chapter 18.73 of the code. The chapter lists the procedures, components for 

review, as well as findings required for approval. Staff review plans and a planning application for 

projects requiring a design review permit (DRP) for completeness, and then schedule them for 

consideration of the Planning Commission (whose duties the City Council performs). A separate DRP is 

not required when the project, such as a parcel map, tract map, or a conditional use permit, has a 

component that already would require Planning Commission or City Council review. Projects that would 

otherwise only require a zoning clearance do not trigger the DRP. 

 



 

58 
 

Table 4-6: Typical Permit Processing Time Requirements 

Type of Approval or Permit 
Typical Processing Time Approval Body 

Zoning Clearance  15 days City Staff 

Administrative Use Permit 15 days City Staff 

Conditional Use Permit 3 months City Council 

Variance 3 months City Council 

Zone Change 4 months City Council 

General Plan Amendment 3 to 4 months City Council 

Design Review 2 to 4 months City Council 

Tract Maps 12 months City Council 

Parcel Maps 6 months City Council 

Initial Environmental Study 30 days Planning Staff 

Negative declaration 3 months City Council 

Environmental Impact Report 9 months City Council 
Source: City of Guadalupe Housing Element, 2019. 

Certain residential projects are exempt from a DRP including most single-family residential projects and 

duplexes not on Main Street or Guadalupe Street, or in the City's Downtown Mixed Use District. The DRP 

requirement would most typically occur in the case of multi-family or mixed-use development in the 

City's Downtown Mixed Use District, or multi-family development elsewhere in the City. While the 

requirement for a DRP does add to the project’s permit fees (by $1,500 for minor and $3,500 for major 

DRP), it does not result in a substantial constraint or disincentive to development. The purview of the 

City Council is specific to the design of the project as it relates to compliance with other Zoning 

Ordinance regulations; staff evaluate development standards. Section 18.73.90 of the Zoning Ordinance 

describes eight design components the City Council considers upon application for a DRP, which cover 

such design issues as layout and orientation; height, bulk, and scale; and interference with scenic views. 

In addition, Section 18.73.100, identifies fourteen findings that the approving agency should assess prior 

to approval of a DRP. These findings represent specific design objectives and include compatibility and 

harmony with neighborhoods; grading and landscaping; appropriate integration of mechanical and 

service systems; and conformity with the General Plan. They are intended to enhance the appearance 

and value of property and the livability of neighborhoods. They do not represent a constraint to 

development but simply help assure orderly and safe development in the City. Nonetheless, to provide 

greater certainty for residential projects subject to the Design Review Process, programs in the updated 

General Plan and the Housing Action Plan propose establishment of design guidelines to illustrate and 

guide the application of standards. A new Finding was recently added during the Consistency Rezone 

process whereby housing development in the Downtown Mixed Use zone may seek reduced or 

elimination of parking if certain beneficial findings can be made. 

When processing a request to retrofit homes for accessibility, the procedure is the same as for any 

home improvement and its handling depends on the scope of the change. The City does not impose 

special permit procedures or requirements that could impede the retrofitting of homes for accessibility 



 

59 
 

and for meeting ADA requirements. City officials are not aware of any instances in which an applicant 

experienced delays or rejection of a retrofit proposal for accessibility to persons with disabilities. 

4.1.3 Development Fees 

State law limits the charging of fees to process development permits to a reasonable cost of providing 

the service. The City and other public agencies charge various fees and assessments to cover the costs of 

processing permit applications and providing services and facilities such as schools, parks, and 

infrastructure. Assessment of many of the fees depends on the magnitude of the project's impact or on 

the extent of the benefits to be derived. The three main types of development and permitting fees are:  

1) Planning Application fees, which are collected at the outset of a project;  

2) Development Impact Fees; and  

3) Plan check fees, which are collected at the end of the process during issuance of the building 

permits.  

The City updated planning application fees as of the 2022 to 2023 fiscal year. The intent of this revision 

was to better ensure that the City collects enough funds to cover the staff costs of processing the 

applications. Many of the City's discretionary permit application fees are now actual costs based on 

deposits collected at time of application submittal. Most ministerial permits are one-time flat fees. All 

development projects including the development of new residential units require a zoning clearance, 

which is a ministerial permit that allows staff to confirm that the proposed development meets Zoning 

Ordinance standards and requirements. Development projects may also require a Design Review Permit, 

although most single-family residential projects and additions are exempt from this requirement. Large 

development projects may require a tract map or a conditional use permit, and some projects require 

rezoning or are planned residential developments. Table 4-7 includes the most common planning fees 

and Appendix D includes the complete schedule of fees. 

Development impact fees - the City does not have any adopted Development Fees, nor a fee program, 

other than standard fees that are adopted annually by the City Council and thus do not present a 

significant obstacle to production of affordable housing. There is discussion about commissioning a fee 

study for Council consideration.  School districts have development fees, and Pasadera has development 

fees per its specific development agreement. The City of Guadalupe is responsible for such public 

services as water, wastewater, fire, and police; therefore, no county or regional fees are required for 

these services. 

The actual total development impact fee per unit derives from all fees that are required for the project. 

Some fees may not be applicable to certain projects. Some fees are based on sliding scale for size of unit 

or number of units in multi-family projects. Typical fees range from $6,000 and up for a single-family 

unit to $22,000 for a multi-family project of seven units or more. The total fee depends on how many 

units are being built and if plan check fees for grading or other activities apply. 

Development and processing fees are lower in Guadalupe than in other areas. Furthermore, Guadalupe's 

financial condition makes further reductions in already low fees infeasible. It is the City's intent to give 



 

60 
 

high priority for processing low-income residential projects; however, the processing time for all types 

of projects is considerably shorter in Guadalupe than other cities in the area. 

On-Site and Off-Site Improvements 

In order to provide a safe and suitable environment for residential development, the City requires that 

certain public improvements be made. Each dwelling unit must connect to the City's water and sewer 

systems and project sites must properly capture and discharge runoff water into detention basins or 

storm drain systems. The City also requires that curbs, gutters, and sidewalks be placed along the 

frontage of every lot on which new construction or significant alteration is done. Table 4-7 lists public 

facility and traffic impact fees. These and other site improvement costs are typical of all cities in 

California and do not impose a significant constraint on the development of housing in Guadalupe. The 

City does not impose any unusual requirements as conditions of approval for new development. City 

regulations generally intend to facilitate private development and new construction. 

Table 4-7: Fees that Affect Housing Production 

Type of Approval or Permit 
Flat Fee or Deposit for Cost-Based 

Fee  
Final Map $7,500 Deposit  

General Plan Amendment and Zone Change – minor1 $4,000 Deposit  

General Plan Amendment and Zone Change – major1 $8,000 Deposit  

Encroachment Permit $63 Flat Fee  

Public Improvement Plan Checking 
$1460 per subdivision or $290 per 

single lot 
 

Public Facility and Traffic Impact Fees 
Subdivision = $300 per lot 
Annexation = $800 per lot 

 

Building Permit Fee required by CBC  

Grading Permit Fee required by CBC  

Water Connection Fee 
Flat Fee based on the diameter of the 

service line 
 

Sewer Connection Fee (Single-Family Unit) $3,542 per single-family residence  

Sewer Connection Fee (Multi-Family Unit) $2,361 per unit  

Source: City of Guadalupe, Master Fee Schedule, 2022/2023. 
1 Staff reduces the deposit from the posted fee to one that staff believes will cover the actual processing cost. 

4.1.4 Regional Constraints 

Regional constraints can result from policies of external jurisdictions that affect a community. In 

Guadalupe, regional constraints are possible from policies of Santa Barbara County or the Santa Barbara 

Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) if the City must follow those policies.  The Santa Barbara 

LAFCO is a supra-local planning agency that reviews and evaluates all proposals for formation of special 

districts, incorporation of cities, annexation to special districts or cities, consolidation of districts, and 

merger of districts with cities. If Guadalupe needed outward expansion to accommodate growth of 

housing, it would need approval from its LAFCO. However, Guadalupe's Sphere of Influence, which 

represents the City's ultimate anticipated growth boundary is congruent with City limits, thus precluding 



 

61 
 

outward expansion. This could have been an important governmental constraint to meeting the City's 

housing needs except the updated 2042 General Plan has determined that Guadalupe already has 

enough land within its City limits to accommodate growth to 2042 and beyond. Chapter 3 has additional 

details on availability of land in Guadalupe for housing. 

4.1.5 Accessory Dwelling Units 

Ordinance No. 2022-506 of January 10, 2023 amended Section 18.53.030 of Chapter 18.53 of the 

Guadalupe Municipal Code on “Accessory Dwelling Units and Junior Accessory Dwelling Units”. The 

revamped chapter is intended to comply with State law (Government Code Section 65852.2), and to 

implement the policies in the City's 2042 General Plan and  the Housing Element.  

The ordinance defines an "accessory dwelling unit, (ADU)" as an attached or a detached residential 

dwelling unit that provides complete independent living facilities for one or more persons and is located 

on a lot with a proposed or existing primary residence or multifamily unit. It shall include permanent 

provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation on the same parcel as the single-family or 

multifamily dwelling is or will be situated. 

A "Junior ADU" means a unit which is no more than 500 square feet, typically developed from a 

bedroom(s) in a single-family home with an exterior entrance, including cooking facilities with 

appliances, food prep counter and storage cabinets that are of reasonable size in relation to size of the 

JADU, and may share bathroom facilities with no additional parking required. 

The update allows accessory dwelling units (ADU) through ministerial review in all Residential Districts, 

subject to certain requirements and standards, which include: 

• An ADU may be an efficiency unit (as defined in Section 17958.1 of Health and Safety Code), a 

manufactured home (as defined in Section 18007 of the Health and Safety Code Rev: 01-28-

2019), or a converted existing accessory structure (e.g. garage, carport, or covered parking 

structure) 

• The minimum total square footage of the accessory dwelling unit shall be 110 square feet 

(suitable for an efficiency unit) and the maximum size shall be no more than 1,200 square feet. 

• Its implementation involves such usual requirements for new housing as filing an application 

with the planning department for ministerial approval, providing site plan, floor plans, 

elevations, and cross sections that are drawn to scale, and payment of application fees in the 

City’s most current schedule of fees. 

• ADUs are required to pay any applicable growth mitigation fees in effect at the time a zoning 

clearance and building permit are requested. 

• Accessory dwelling units are only allowed on lots that allow single-family homes and multifamily 

uses where an existing legal single-family dwelling or multifamily use exists or is proposed. 

• Besides the required parking for the primary dwelling unit, there should be one parking space 

per ADU except that tandem parking is allowed for ADUs as stated in Government Code Section 

65852.2(a)(I)(D)(x) if the driveway is sufficiently long to accommodate vehicles without any 

encroachment on a sidewalk or street. 



 

62 
 

• Rental of the accessory dwelling unit is allowed for 30 days or longer and separate from rental of 

the primary residence. For an accessory dwelling unit to be rented for a period of less than 30 

days, the owner shall be required to comply with the provisions of Chapter 18.55 (Short Term 

Rentals).  

• The ADU may not be sold separately from the primary dwelling unit unless specific requirements 

are met through Government Code Section 65852.26. A JADU may not be sold separately. All 

conditions of the permit, restrictive covenants, and other contractual agreements with the City 

apply to the property. 

Certain provisions of the Code promote affordability thereby reducing governmental constraints and 

ultimately cost on the implementation of ADUs. These include fees related to utility connections and 

access as well as reduced parking requirements as follows: 

• ADUs are not new residential uses for the purpose of calculating utility connection fees or 

capacity charges for water and sewer service. ADUs within existing residence e.g. basement) or 

an existing accessory structure (e.g. converted garage) do not need to install new or separate 

utility connections or pay related connection fees or capacity charges.  

• New attached and detached accessory dwelling units, however, may pay connection fees or 

capacity charges that are proportionate to the burden of the unit on the water or sewer system 

based on the size of the unit or the number of plumbing fixtures.  

• Two-story detached ADUs are allowed but must limit the major access to stairs, decks, entry 

doors, and windows to the interior of the lot or an alley.  

• Only one (1) curb cut is permitted per parcel and no additional driveways or access points 

should be created to accommodate the accessory or main dwelling unit. 

• Access to a first story ADU or ADA accessible ramp may be permitted in the front of the primary 

dwelling.   

• A detached accessory dwelling unit shall not exceed a height of 16 feet, unless the property is 

within ½ mile walking distance from a major transit stop or high-quality transit corridor whereby 

the height may increase to 18 feet. In such a case, the City shall also allow an additional two feet 

in height (to 20 feet) to accommodate a roof pitch on the accessory dwelling unit that is aligned 

with the roof pitch of the primary dwelling unit. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a height of 18 

feet for a detached accessory dwelling unit on a lot with an existing or proposed multifamily, 

multistory dwelling shall be allowed. This clause shall not require the City to allow an accessory 

dwelling unit to exceed two stories. 

• An attached accessory dwelling unit may occupy any level of the primary dwelling unit if it is 

designed as an integral part of the primary dwelling unit and a separate ingress and egress is 

provided. Attached ADUs may be constructed up to 50% of the size of the primary dwelling and 

can be as tall as the primary dwelling or the maximum zoning height, whichever is less. A height 

of 25 feet or the height limitation in the local zoning ordinance shall apply to the primary 

dwelling, whichever is lower, for an accessory dwelling unit that is attached to a primary 

dwelling.  



 

63 
 

• ADU parking is not required in instances where the ADU is: (a) located within one-half mile of 

public transit; (b) located within any Historic Overlay District that may be in existence at the 

time a zoning clearance or building permit for an ADU is requested; and (c) part of the existing 

single family residence, or an existing accessory structure except when a garage, carport, or 

covered parking structure is demolished or converted to construct the ADU. 

 

4.2 Non-Governmental Constraints 
Non-governmental constraints are primarily market-driven and generally outside direct government 

control. However, local governments can influence and offset negative impacts of non-governmental 

constraints through responsive programs and policies. Analyzing specific housing cost components 

including the availability of financing, cost of land, and construction costs assists a local government in 

developing and implementing housing and land-use programs that respond to prevailing conditions. 

Factors that influence the cost of new housing may be beyond a locality's control, yet municipalities can 

create such essential preconditions as favorable zoning and development standards as well as fast-track 

permit processing among others to facilitate development of a variety of housing types at affordable 

levels. For instance, the Zoning Ordinance (Ord. 2019-478 §1; Ord. 189 Art. 7, 1980) expanded the 

definition of “Family” as follows: 

" One or more persons occupying a dwelling unit and living as a single housekeeping unit.” 

This has facilitated the qualification of non-family households to obtain affordable and assisted housing. 

This is particularly helpful when persons with disabilities need to join others in living arrangements who 

they may not even relate to by blood. 

 

18.08.330 Family. 

         One or more persons occupying a dwelling unit and living as a single housekeeping unit. (Ord. 2019-

478 §1; Ord. 189 Art. 7, 1980) 

4.2.1 Fiscal Constraints 

Many of the constraints to new (and especially affordable) housing production stem from insufficient 

funding, which is a common problem throughout the State, but particularly in Guadalupe. Proposition 

13 limits the increase of property assessments to two percent per year, unless the property is sold, in 

which case it is reassessed at its selling price. Property taxes comprise approximately 56 percent of the 

City's total tax revenue while in other California cities this percentage is as low as 25 percent. As a result 

of this level of dependency on property taxes, the City admits having a difficult time maintaining needed 

services. This makes the City less able to use direct fiscal means to promote housing production. 

Availability of Financing 

The availability of financing affects a household's ability to purchase a home or improve it. For example, 

in Guadalupe, it can be difficult for very low, low, and moderate-income first-time homebuyers to 



 

64 
 

acquire enough savings and income to pay for down payment, closing costs, monthly mortgage, and tax 

and insurance payments. It can also be challenging for households in these income groups to 

rehabilitate their homes. However, a few private financing and government assistance programs are 

available to the community as discussed in Chapter 3 on Resources for Residential Development. 

Cost of Land 

The cost of land varies and influences the cost of housing production. Cost factors include location, the 

market value of land as reflected in its unit price per square foot, the intended use (whether residential 

or commercial) reflected in its zoning designation, the number of proposed units or density of 

development permitted on the site, and the size of the parcel. Land that is conveniently located in a 

desirable area that is zoned for residential or commercial uses will likely tend to be more valuable and 

thus more expensive than a remote piece of land that is zoned for agricultural uses. 

The County Assessor's office estimated the value of a single-family residential lot with water and sewer 

service at $50,000 to $66,000. When the DJ Farms lot 5 subdivision was approved in November 2014 the 

cost of a lot averaged approximately $65,000 per lot, which is toward the upper end of the County 

Assessor’s estimate. With price stability in the real estate market the price of land could remain in the 

same ballpark but recent escalations in the price of real estate would suggest higher prices of land. 

Site Improvement Costs 

Non-governmental site improvement costs may include the cost of providing access to the site, clearing 

the site, and grading building pad areas. In the case of a subdivision, such costs may also include major 

improvements like building roads and installing new infrastructure. As with land costs, multiple factors 

such as site topography and proximity to established roads, sewer lines, and water lines can affect site 

improvement costs. Site improvement costs typically also include engineering and other technical 

assistance costs to assure construction of the development according to established codes and 

standards. For the DJ Farms lot 5 subdivision, which was approved in November 2014, site improvement 

costs added approximately $65,000 per lot. 

Cost of Construction 

Construction costs do vary widely depending on the environmental conditions and scale of 

development. Important determinants of construction costs include the amenities built into the unit, 

materials used, the prevailing labor rate, and any unusual project site conditions that require special 

construction measures. In Guadalupe, expansive soils and mitigation of liquefaction risk often 

necessitate more extensive footings for houses that could increase construction costs. The unit 

construction cost for multi-family residences such as apartments is generally lower than single-family 

residences. The average construction cost of a good quality multifamily apartment averages 

approximately $130 per square foot under prevailing wage rates. 

Prevailing Wages 

State and federal laws require that when government funds assist affordable housing projects, the units 

must be constructed using the prevailing wages adopted by the State Department of Industrial Relations 

or the Federal Department of labor. Wages typically add 25 to 30 percent to the cost of construction. 



 

65 
 

Given Guadalupe’s proximity to large population centers, there is no issue with finding the requisite 

labor at prevailing wages.  

4.2.2 Citizen Behavior 

Housing preferences have evolved over the past half century. From the inception of track home 

construction of 900 to 1200 square feet, consumers have opted for predominantly large, detached 

houses of two to three times the typical sizes of the past. The expectation to live in large homes is not 

compatible with affordable housing in California and has contributed to the high cost of living in the 

State. Bias towards single-family residences can become a constraint when neighbors oppose the 

location of denser, more affordable housing in their neighborhoods. 

Auto dependency causes housing expansion to increase road traffic volumes, congestion, and noise. 

Community disdain for these types of problems sometimes lead to opposition to all types of 

development whether residential, commercial, or industrial. Community opposition can delay housing 

production, increase costs, and impair a city’s ability to meet its housing and economic goals. However, 

community opposition to single-family or multi-family development is typically not a factor and 

therefore does not pose a constraint to housing development in Guadalupe. 

4.2.3 Environmental Constraints 

The environmental factors that have the potential to constrain residential development include City 

boundaries and limits, protected agricultural land, proximity to a coastal zone, floodable areas, and 

seismic faults. Figures 4-1, 4-2, and 4-3 identify the key environmental constraints in and around 

Guadalupe. In addition to the coastal zone, Williamson Act lands, floodable areas, and habitat areas fall 

almost entirely outside City boundaries and thus do not pose constraints to housing development. 



 

66 
 

Figure 4-1: Environmental Constraints Map–Prime Agricultural Lands under Williamson Act Contract 

 
Source: Santa Barbara County GIS database, 2017 

 



 

67 
 

Figure 4-2: Environmental Constraints Map–Floodable Areas 

 
Source: Santa Barbara County GIS database, 2017 

Figure 4-3: Environmental Constraints Map–Wetlands and Habitat Areas 

 
Source: Santa Barbara County GIS database, 2017 

 

 



 

68 
 

The City's General Plan policies include measures to protect sensitive areas from development, and to 

protect public safety by avoiding development in hazardous areas. While these policies could constrain 

residential development, they are necessary to promote the public good. It is important to also note 

that these environmental factors do not substantially constrain vacant lands identified in Appendix B to 

accommodate the City's fair share of housing. 

Boundaries/Limits 

City boundaries limit the available land for housing development. The Santa Maria River defines 

northern boundary and limits expansion to the north of the City. Williamson Act contract lands surround 

nearly all the City’s boundaries to the east, south, and west and thus limit expansion to those directions 

as well. However, Guadalupe has ample available land within its boundaries to accommodate its share 

of housing needs into the long-term future. 

Coastal Zone 

The California Coastal Commission regulates development of parcels within the Coastal Zone. Such 

development must comply with the Local Coastal Program, which is approved and adopted by the 

Coastal Commission. In Guadalupe, approximately 60 acres in the southwestern portion of the City are 

within the coastal zone. The City annexed this land in 1990 and prepared a local coastal plan (LCP) that 

California Coastal Commission has certified. All of the land within the coastal zone has been fully 

developed. None of the RHNA-allocated units will be in the coastal zone of the City. 

Flood Zones 

Portions of land northwest of City limits fall within the 100-year and 500-year flood zones. None of these 

lands is developed and there is no plan to develop any in the future. However, the west side of lower 

Pioneer Street received significant flood damage during the 2023 winter storms. 

Seismic Faults 

The Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Act (Public Resources Code Section 2621, et seq.) restricts 

development on the surface traces of known active faults that are mapped by the State Geologist. No 

Alquist-Priolo faults are within the City limits. Twenty-one older commercial buildings in the City's 

downtown core are identified to be of unreinforced masonry construction. The City has been working 

with owners to seismically upgrade these buildings. Seismic faults do not pose a constraint to housing 

development in the City. All buildings have been reinforced except for the Royal Theater, Far Western 

Restaurant and City Hall. 

4.2.4 Infrastructure and Public Facilities 

The availability of infrastructure and public facilities is important in evaluating the potential of 

developing additional housing. The following subsections discuss the capacity of such key facilities as 

water and sewer. Both the City's water and sewage treatment systems are adequate to serve current 

and future needs. 

Wastewater System 

The City operates a wastewater treatment plant with a sewer capacity of about one million gallons per 

day. Based on a per capita wastewater generation of 80 gallons per day, the sewer could accommodate 



 

69 
 

a population of about 12,000 residents. The City of Guadalupe completed a Wastewater System and 

Treatment Master Plan in 2014, which confirmed that the existing and proposed wastewater 

infrastructure could adequately serve the City's residents over a 20-year planning period. In addition, 

the study established a plan for future wastewater improvements to accommodate future growth. Table 

4-8 show that sewer capacity will be more than adequate beyond the next eight years, the planning 

horizon of this Housing Element. 

Table 4-8: Sewer Capacity and Projected Sewer Demand 

Future Year 
Population Projection 

(Persons) 
Gallon Per 

Person/Day 
Total City Usage 

(Gallons) 
Capacity 
(Gallons) 

Percent of 
Capacity 

2030                   8,068  
                         

80                645,440  
              

966,000  67% 

2035                   6,427  
                         

80                514,160  
              

966,000  53% 

2040                   9,209  
                         

80                736,720  
              

966,000  76% 
Sources: City of Guadalupe 2042 General Plan; 2014 Wastewater System and Treatment Master Plan. 

Water Supply Sources 

The Santa Maria Groundwater Basin and the State Water Project are the City’s two primary water supply 

sources. In 1997, the Santa Maria Valley Water Conservation District filed a lawsuit to adjudicate water 

rights in the Basin (Santa Maria Valley Water Conservation District vs. City of Santa Maria CV 770214, 

January 11, 2005). In June 2006, the Santa Maria Valley Water Conservation District negotiated a 

Settlement Agreement with terms and conditions for a solution concerning the overall management of 

the water resources in the Basin including rights to groundwater use. According to that agreement, 

Santa Maria, the Golden State Water Company, and the City of Guadalupe have preferential 

appropriative rights to surplus native groundwater. Therefore, these parties may pump groundwater 

without limitation unless a severe water shortage condition exists. If a severe water shortage exists, the 

Court may require these parties to limit their pumping to their respective shares and assigned rights. 

The Court granted the City of Guadalupe 1,300 acre-feet per year (AFY) of prescriptive rights in the Basin 

during drought conditions (Santa Maria Valley Water Management Agreement, 2005). The City 

completed a Water Master Plan Update in 2021, which calculated existing and future water demand 

within the City. The study confirmed that the existing and proposed water infrastructure could 

adequately serve the City's residents over a 20-year planning period. In addition, the study established a 

plan for future water improvements to accommodate future growth.  

The City of Guadalupe retrieves all its water supply from the State Water Project and two wells which 

tap the Santa Maria Ground Water Basin. The Obispo Tank Well is located just west of Obispo Street 

near its intersection with Fir Street. The second well is located within the Pasadera Development and 

has a pumping capacity of 1,000 gpm. There is also a dedicated 12-inch transmission pipeline from the 

Pasadera Well to the Obispo Tank Site. It should be noted that City has utilized several other wells in the 

past, but that those wells have been decommissioned because of water quality and/or operation issues. 

They include the 9th Street Well, 242 Obispo Well, 5th Street Well, and Tognazinni Well. In addition to 



 

70 
 

the 1,300 acre-feet per year in well water, the City is also entitled to 550 acre-feet per year from the 

State Water Project. Annual state water deliveries are impacted by annual rainfall and Sierra Nevada 

snow pack.  

Water quality and supply are limiting factors for growth in cities throughout California; however, 

Guadalupe has adequate groundwater and State Water Project allocations to accommodate population 

increase. The Pasadera Development is the primary source of new water demand in Guadalupe, which 

can be served by the Santa Maria Groundwater Basin through the new Pasadera well and pumping 

station. The 2042 Guadalupe General Plan calls for incorporation of water conservation measures 

through the implementation of the State mandated Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance and 

incorporating Executive Order E-37-16 for existing and new developments. This action could offset some 

of the new water demand. All indications are that water supply poses no immediate constraint to 

housing development in Guadalupe.  



 

71 
 

5.0 Energy Conservation Opportunities 
State law requires all new construction to comply with energy conservation standards that establish 

maximum allowable energy use from non-renewable sources (California Administrative Code, Title 24). 

These requirements apply to design components such as structural insulation, air infiltration and 

leakage control, features on thermostats, and water heating system insulation for tanks and pipes. State 

law also requires that a tentative tract map provide for future passive or natural heating or cooling 

opportunities in the subdivision, including designing the lot sizes and configurations to permit orienting 

structures to take advantage of a southern exposure, shade or prevailing breezes. 

This chapter describes opportunities to conserve energy in residential development, including energy 

saving design, energy saving materials, and energy efficient systems and features. Areas evaluated 

include planning and land use and energy efficient building practices and technologies. Planning to 

maximize energy efficiency and the incorporation of energy conservation and green building features 

can contribute to reduced housing costs for homeowners and renters, in addition to promoting 

sustainable community design and reduced dependence on vehicles. Such planning and development 

standards can also reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Chapter 6 on Housing Action Plan provides the 

goals, policies, and programs for conserving energy in new housing development and retrofits in 

Guadalupe. 

5.1 Planning and land Use 
The arrangement and compactness of land uses can conserve energy. Land use patterns that separate 

uses excessively, spread development on the landscape, and promote auto dependency tend to isolate 

residential areas from commercial uses like grocery stores causing residents to travel long distances to 

take care of daily shopping and service needs. Alternatively, keeping a balance between jobs and 

housing within the same community and locating them near each other can help to reduce travel 

distances, promote use of alternative forms of transportation, and reduce energy use. Long trips 

necessitate use of the automobile or other mechanical form of movement with attendant gasoline 

consumption. Short distances promote walking and cycling. Changing the land use pattern therefore can 

change energy use patterns. The intent of energy-efficient land use planning is to reduce the distances 

of automobile travel, reduce the costs of construction, and increase the potential for residents to 

complete shopping and other chores without driving or by driving short distances. 

The small, compact nature of Guadalupe and its prevailing land use pattern are inherently energy 

efficient. The City promotes development of vacant and underutilized lots to assure a compact and 

contiguous community. According to the Urban Land Institute (ULI), "conserving or developing infill 

housing within a more urban core has been shown to reduce primary energy consumption an average of 

20 percent per household over newer sprawl developments." (ULI, 2008, Growing Cooler). Compact 

development results in secondary energy savings or “embodied energy,” which is the term used for the 

energy spent producing the materials and finished products like sewer pipes, electrical lines, paving 

materials, and so on. Minimizing the length of necessary water, sewer, and electricity lines, consumes 

less of those products, thereby decreasing the total energy consumption. 



 

72 
 

The City's compact development also helps promote convenience and accessibility to public transit. 

Efficient transit service generally requires a minimum of 6 housing units per acre in residential areas 

(Victoria Transport Policy Institute, 2008). In Guadalupe, the older housing tracts have an average 

density of 7 to 10 units per acre. The newer Point Sal Dunes development has a density of 6 units per 

acre. At full buildout, the DJ Farms Specific Plan development will have an overall density of about 6 

units per acre while individual residential tracts within the Plan area will have densities ranging from 6 

units per acre to 14 units per acre. The residential zones and mixed-use areas in the Downtown Mixed 

Use District of Guadalupe have the potential for higher residential densities of up to 30 units per acre. 

The City promotes mixed-use development, particularly in the core areas of the community and along 

such major roads as Guadalupe Street (State Route 1) and Main Street (State Route 166). Many 

residents, however, opt to do grocery and other shopping outside the City because Guadalupe lacks a 

large grocery store. There are stores within Guadalupe that can take care of daily essentials, but many 

residents drive to Santa Maria and neighboring communities for shopping. 

The 2042 General Plan continues to promote prevailing patterns of compact growth with enhancements 

in the form of mixed-use development, neighborhood commercial centers, a network of biking and 

walking paths, and augmentation of public transit stops. Implementation of the Plan can promote use of 

public transit, reduce vehicle trips to neighboring cities, promote biking and walking, and conserve 

energy use. 

5.2 Energy Efficient Practices and Technologies 
Energy usage in housing largely depends on indoor heating and cooling. These in turn depend on the 

energy efficiency of: (a) the home in terms of material quality and insulation; (b) appliances, which 

include hot water heaters, dishwashers, washers, and dryers; (c) plumbing fixtures; and (d) mechanical 

systems within the building. To conserve energy in new housing developments and retrofits, the City 

should promote or require the use of any of the following practices and technologies: 

• Passive solar construction techniques that require proper solar orientation, appropriate 

levels of thermal mass, south facing windows, and moderate insulation levels;  

• Higher insulation levels in place of thermal mass or energy conserving window orientation;  

• Active solar water heating in exchange for lower insulation or energy-conserving window 

treatments;  

• Energy-efficient indoor and outdoor lighting, including fluorescent lighting;  

• Energy-efficient appliances;  

• Drought tolerant landscaping and drip irrigation for landscaping, which reduces the amount 

of energy needed to pump water;  

• Weatherization of windows and doors;  

• Individual meters in multi-family units for gas, electricity, and water to promote 

conservation;  

• Photovoltaic systems;  

• Deciduous trees to naturally cool buildings, create wind barriers to surrounding areas, and 

enhance streetscapes to promote walking and bicycling; and  



 

73 
 

• Green building practices, which incorporate materials and construction practices that 

reduce a building's energy consumption. 

Pacific Gas & Electric provides a variety of energy conservation services for residents and participates in 

several other energy assistance programs for lower income households, which help qualified 

homeowners and renters conserve energy and control electricity costs. These programs include the 

California Alternate Rates for Energy (CARE) Program and the Relief for Energy Assistance through 

Community Help (REACH) Program. 

The California Alternate Rates for Energy Program (CARE) provides a 15 percent monthly discount on gas 

and electric rates to income-qualified households, certain non-profits, facilities that house agricultural 

employees, homeless shelters, hospices and other qualified non-profit group-living facilities. 

The REACH Program provides one-time energy assistance to customers who have no other way to pay 

their energy bills. The intent of REACH is to assist low-income customers, particularly the elderly, 

disabled people, the sick, the working poor, and the unemployed who experience severe hardships and 

are unable to pay for their necessary energy needs. 

In addition, the State Department of Community Services & Development administers a home 

weatherization program as part of its Low-Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP). This 

program provides free energy efficiency upgrades to the dwellings of low-income families to help lower 

their monthly utility bills. 

  



 

74 
 

6.0 Housing Action Plan 
This chapter provides statements of community goals, policies, programs, and quantified objectives as 

they relate to the maintenance, preservation, improvement, and development of housing in Guadalupe. 

The framework covers the 2023 to 2031 planning horizon.  

6.1 Affordable Housing Supply 
Goal 1: An adequate supply of affordable housing for all income levels. 

Policies:  

Pol-1.1. Designate an adequate number of housing sites for both rent and purchase to accommodate 

the City’s share of regional housing needs for each income classification.  

Pol-1.2. Adopt policies, regulations, and procedures that do not add unnecessarily to the cost of housing 

while still attaining other important City objectives.  

Pol-1.3. Give high priority for permit processing to low-income residential projects, and the highest 

priority for projects that include housing units for extremely low-income households.  

Pol-1.4. Continue to support the efforts of the Santa Barbara County Housing Authority in Guadalupe.  

Pol-1.5. Apply for funds from the State and Federal governments through the Santa Barbara County 

Housing Authority or in conjunction with nonprofit or for-profit developers to construct housing for the 

lower income households.  

Pol-1.6. Continue to provide Section 8 assistance to eligible households through the Santa Barbara 

County Housing Authority.  

Pol-1.7. Require dispersal of low-income housing throughout new residential projects instead of 

concentration into single buildings or single portions of the site to the extent practical given the size of 

the project and other site constraints.  

Pol-1.8. Distribute low-income housing produced through government subsidies, incentives, or 

regulatory programs throughout the City rather than concentrate them in particular areas or 

neighborhoods.  

Pol-1.9. If low-income units are proposed in density bonus projects, they shall be constructed at the 

same time as the market-rate units in the development.  

Pol-1.10. Designate locations where adequate facilities are available for the development of multi-family 

dwellings if such development is consistent with neighborhood character.  

Pol-1.11. Allow rehabilitation of legal, non-conforming dwellings that do not meet requirements for lot 

size, setbacks, and other zoning standards if the non-conformity does not increase and there is no threat 

to public health or safety.  

  



 

75 
 

Programs:  

Prg-1.1. Evaluate annually the adequacy of services and facilities for additional residential development; 

identify service deficiencies and costs as well as priorities for correcting them.  

Responsibility: City Administrator  

Timeframe: Ongoing with an annual update report  

Funding: General Fund  

Expected Outcome: Annual review and priority report  

Prg-1.2. Maintain priority water and sewer service procedures for developments with units that are 

affordable to lower income households.  

Responsibility: Public Works Department  

Timeframe: Ongoing  

Funding: Water Fund  

Expected Outcome: Priority water and service procedures  

Prg-1.3. Enforce the new zoning ordinance that complies with California State law, which allows 

accessory dwelling units, mobile and manufactured homes, licensed residential care facilities and group 

homes with fewer than six residents, rental housing, and transitional and supportive housing in all 

residential zones. Subject these uses to the development and management standards that apply to 

residential development within the same zones. Promote the use of secondary units through public 

awareness campaigns and dissemination of informational materials to property owners, builders, and 

developers.  

Responsibility: Planning Department  

Timeframe: immediately  

Funding: General Fund  

Expected Outcome: Zoning Ordinance Amendment  

Prg-1.4. Require a 55-year continued affordability condition for projects that receive a density bonus 

together with government funds. Also, require at least 20 years of continued affordability to projects 

that are awarded density bonuses but do not use government funds. Monitor projects built under all 

options for compliance with State density bonus laws.  

Responsibility: Planning Department  

Timeframe: Ongoing 

Funding: General Fund  

Expected Outcome: Zoning Ordinance Amendment  

Prg-1.5. Team with the Santa Barbara County Housing Authority, People's Self-Help Housing 

Corporation, or other non-profit agencies to secure funds through State and Federal programs for 

development of new low-income housing, rehabilitation, and room additions to relieve overcrowding 

among low-income households. Prioritize opportunities for the development of housing for extremely 



 

76 
 

low-income households to meet the City’s housing allocation in this RHNA cycle. Coordinate with the 

County and provide letters of support and technical support to nonprofits in seeking new funding. 

Participate in the Housing Trust Fund of Santa Barbara County to leverage the City's resources. Expedite 

the processing of density bonus applications which include affordable housing. And provide a report 

annually to the City Council on progress in this endeavor.  

Responsibility: City Administrator  

Timeframe:  (1) Meet with the Santa Barbara Housing Authority, the Self-Help Housing 

Corporation, and other non-profit agencies at least once a year;  

(2) Submit funding applications to these agencies annually; 

(3) Report to the City Council in December of every year.  

(4) Expedite processing of density bonus applications continuously.  

Funding: Various Housing Development Funds  

Expected Outcome: Secured funding and support for construction of low-income housing  

Prg-1.6. Continue code enforcement efforts to preserve the City’s housing stock.  Continue the City’s 

Home Rehabilitation Program by applying annually for grants such as the Community Development 

Block Grant (CDBG) and providing annual loan programs (based on available funds) to low-income 

homeowners. 

Responsibility: Public Safety & Building 

Timeframe: Ongoing 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome: Preservation of low-income housing 

Prg-1.7. Add regulations to permit the development of affordable, multi-family housing on small sites 

(e.g., less than a half-acre) offering incentives beyond State Density Bonus Law (GC Section 65915)  

Responsibility: Planning Department  

Timeframe: within 2 years in preparation for next RHNA cycle 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome: Zoning Ordinance Amendment 

Prg-1.8. Revise the zoning code to allow emergency shelters in all zones that permit housing without 

requirements for design review permits and discretionary actions as the design review decision-making 

criteria. 

Responsibility: Planning Department  

Timeframe: Immediately  

Funding: General Fund  

Expected Outcome: Zoning Ordinance Amendment  

Prg-1.9. Modify the zoning code by 2025 to establish written procedures to grant priority water and 

sewer services to developments with units affordable to lower-income households. 



 

77 
 

Responsibility: Planning Department  

Timeframe: Immediately  

Funding: General Fund  

Expected Outcome: Zoning Ordinance Amendment 

 

6.2 Conservation and Rehabilitation 
Goal 2: Conservation and rehabilitation of the City's existing stock of affordable housing.  

Policies:  

Pol-2.1. Refer all requests for the funding of rehabilitation projects or the construction of new 

affordable housing projects to review by the Santa Barbara County Housing and Community 

Development Department.  

Pol-2.2. Continue to coordinate with the Santa Barbara County Housing Authority to maintain Section 8 

rent subsidies.  

Pol-2.3. Apply for funds, including CDBG grants, for the purpose of rehabilitating low cost, owner 

occupied and rental housing.  

Pol-2.4. Promote private financing of the rehabilitation of housing.  

Pol-2.5. Require the abatement of unsafe structures, while giving property owners ample time to correct 

deficiencies. Provide relocation assistance to residents displaced by such abatement.  

Pol-2.6. Allow the demolition of existing multi-family housing only when: (a) the structure is found to be 

substandard and unsuitable for rehabilitation; (b) relocation assistance is available to tenants with 

reasonable notice; (c) tenants could purchase the replacement property, if for sale.  

Programs:  

Prg-2.1. Coordinate the City’s efforts with the Santa Barbara County Housing Authority to continue 

receiving Section 8 subsidy funds. 

Responsibility: City Administrator  

Timeframe: Ongoing 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome: Maintenance of existing Section 8 subsidies 

6.3 At-Risk Units 
Goal 3: Preservation of at-risk units in Guadalupe.  

Policies:  

Pol-3.1. Strive to preserve all at-risk dwelling units in the City.  



 

78 
 

Pol-3.2. Require at least two years notice to the City, HCD, the Santa Barbara County Housing Authority, 

and residents of at-risk units prior to the conversion of any units for low-income households to market 

rate under any of the following circumstances:  

• The units were constructed with the aid of government funding  

• The units were required by an inclusionary zoning ordinance  

• The project was granted a density bonus  

• The project received other incentives  

Programs:  

Prg-3.1. Coordinate with the Santa Barbara County Housing Authority to maintain a list of all dwellings 

within the City that are subsidized by government funding or are low-income housing developed 

through regulations or incentives. At a minimum, the list should include the number of units, type of 

government program, and the date at which the units may convert to market-rate dwellings 

Responsibility: City Administrator  

Timeframe: Ongoing 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome: List of subsidized or incentivized housing 

Prg-3.2. Add to existing incentive programs, and include in all new incentive or regulatory programs, 

requirements to give notice prior to conversion to market rate units.  

Responsibility: Planning Department 

Timeframe: Ongoing with annual update reports 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome: Revised housing incentive and regulatory programs 

6.4 Special Needs  
Goal 4: Adequate housing for special needs groups in Guadalupe, including farmworkers, people with 

disabilities, and large families.  

Policies:  

Pol-4.1. Promote the development of housing for farmworkers and large families.  

Pol-4.2. Remove housing restraints for those with disabilities as outlined in Senate Bill 520 (Chapter 671 

California Code).  

Pol-4.3. Disseminate information about housing opportunities and services in the area to migrant 

farmworkers.  

Programs:  

Prg-4.1. Amend the zoning ordinance to grant density bonuses in conformance with Chapter 16.97 of 

the State Density Bonus law, or exemption from the in-lieu fee requirement, or both, for projects that 

include three-and four-bedroom units, or single room occupancy units, as significant components of the 



 

79 
 

projects. Determine the thresholds for the qualifying number of such units and exact size of the density 

increase or fee exemption in the drafting of the ordinance but based on affordable housing needs. Peg 

the period of affordability for the qualifying units at 55 years or more. 

Responsibility: Planning Department 

Timeframe: Ongoing 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome: Zoning ordinance amendment for special needs housing 

Prg-4.2. Adopt a procedure for making reasonable accommodations in the form of modifications or 

exceptions in zoning laws and other land use regulations and practices when such accommodations may 

be necessary to afford persons with disabilities and other special needs equal opportunity to use and 

enjoy housing. Include in the amendment a revised definition of family that is consistent with State 

housing law. The regulation should address all aspects of the Americans with Disabilities Act that relate 

to home construction, retrofitting, and parking requirements. And address financial incentives for 

housing developers who address SB 520 issues in new construction and in retrofitting existing homes.  

Responsibility: Planning Department 

Timeframe: Ongoing 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome: Zoning ordinance amendment for special needs housing 

Prg-4.3. Continue to disseminate information in both English and Spanish about housing opportunities 

and services for homeless persons and migrant farmworkers through the Police Department and City 

Hall. 

Responsibility: City Administrator, Police Department, and Planning Department 

Timeframe: Ongoing 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome: Continually updated information on special needs housing 

Prg-4.4. Cooperate biennially with Santa Barbara County and other agencies in the development of 

programs aimed at providing affordable, multi-family housing, including housing for families with special 

needs. As part of this cooperation, identify sites biennially that could support affordable multi-family 

housing development and consult with the site owner or housing partners on the feasibility of 

developing the site for affordable housing. 

Responsibility: Planning Department 

Timeframe: within two years in preparation for next RHNA cycle 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome: Coordination and development of affordable, multi-family housing. 



 

80 
 

Prg-4.5. Continue to allow residential areas to permit emergency, transitional, and supportive housing 

as residential uses, subject only to those regulations that apply to other residential dwellings of the 

same type in the same zones.  

Responsibility: Planning Department 

Timeframe: Ongoing 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome. Accommodation of transitional housing 

Prg-4.6. Adopt by 2025 priority processing, granting of fee waivers or deferrals, modifying 
development standards, granting concessions, and offering incentives (beyond State Density 
Bonus Law) for housing developments that include units affordable to extremely low-income 
households or farmworkers. Assist and support the pursuit of funding applications, outreach, 
and coordination with affordable housing developers to biennially identify development 
opportunities and coordinate with farmworkers, employers, and other related organizations in 
expanding housing for extremely low-income and farmworker households. 

Responsibility: Planning Department 

Timeframe: Within two years in conformity with the new RHNA cycle 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome: Coordination and development of affordable, multi-family housing. 

 

6.5 Energy Conservation  
Goal 5: Energy efficient housing units that result in reduced energy costs for Guadalupe residents.  

Policies:  

Pol-5.1. Require new dwelling units to meet State requirements for energy efficiency and retrofits to 

existing units to meet similar standards.  

Pol-5.2. Maintain the land use patterns in the 2042 General Plan for proactive energy efficiency.  

Programs:  

Prg-5.1. Continue to implement Title 24 of the California Code on new developments 

Responsibility: Building Department 

Timeframe: Ongoing 

Funding: General Fund with fees for plan reviews and building inspections 

Expected Outcome. Implementation of Title 24 

  

Prg-5.2. Coordinate with PG&E to involve residents in energy efficiency retrofit programs. Conduct 

outreach on energy awareness programs in conjunction with PG&E to educate residents about the 

benefits of various retrofit programs. 



 

81 
 

Responsibility: Planning Department 

Timeframe: Ongoing 

Funding: General Fund and PG&E 

Expected Outcome. Increased awareness of and participation in energy efficiency programs 

Prg-5.3. Amend the subdivision ordinance to require orientation of subdivisions for solar access. 

Responsibility: Planning Department 

Timeframe: Ongoing 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome. Subdivision Ordinance amendment 

Prg-5.4. Apply for and support applications for affordable housing funds from agencies that reward and 

incentivize good planning. Examples include the HCD's Multifamily Housing Program (MHP) and 

California Tax Credit Allocation Committee resources which provide competitive advantage for 

affordable infill housing and affordable housing built close to jobs, transportation, and amenities.  

Responsibility: Planning Department 

Timeframe: Ongoing 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome. Smart growth of the City 

Prg-5.5. Partner with public utility districts and private energy companies to promote free energy audits 

for low-income owners and renters, rebate programs for installing energy efficient features and 

appliances and public education about ideas to conserve energy. 

Responsibility: Planning Department 

Timeframe: Ongoing 

Funding: Various sources 

Expected Outcome. Reduction in per capita energy use 

6.6 Equal Opportunity Housing 
Goal 6: Equal access to sound, affordable housing for all persons regardless of race, creed, age or sex.  

Policies:  

Pol-6.1. Strive to achieve equal access to sound and affordable housing for all persons regardless of 

race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, national origin, ancestry, family status, 

source of income, or disability.  

Pol-6.2. Enforce the policies of the State Fair Employment and Housing Commission.  

Programs:  

Prg-6.1. Continue to provide information in English and Spanish from the Housing Authority and 

Department of Equal Housing and Employment about housing and tenant rights in City Hall.  



 

82 
 

Responsibility: Planning Department 

Timeframe: Ongoing 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome. Readily available information about equal opportunity to housing 

Prg-6.2. Cooperate with neighboring jurisdictions and local organizations that sponsor workshops on fair 

housing laws and how those who are victims of discrimination can address their grievances including 

referrals of persons experiencing discrimination in housing for legal assistance. 

Responsibility: All City Departments 

Timeframe: Ongoing 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome. Minimization of housing discrimination 

Prg-6.3. Notify stakeholders such as People's Self-Help Housing Corporation, Santa Barbara County 

Housing Authority, California Rural legal Assistance, and churches as well as post notices at public 

venues prior to public meetings for amendments or updates to the housing element. 

Responsibility: Planning Department 

Timeframe: Prior to public meetings and in conjunction with other planning efforts 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome. Awareness of Housing Element updates and increased participation 

Prg-6.4. Continue to permit up to 3-story structures in areas designated for multifamily housing. Notify 

and collaborate with such stakeholders as People's Self-Help Housing Corporation and the Santa Barbara 

County Housing Authority as well as post notices at public venues prior to public meetings about the 

amendments and create information material for dissemination to other developers. 

Responsibility: Planning Department 

Timeframe: Ongoing 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome. Flexibility and attractiveness of multifamily housing sites for production of 

affordable units 

Prg-6.5. Evaluate the municipal code on the design review permit process and amend to include 

refinement of design guidelines that establish objective design standards and define required findings 

on terms like “compatibility” and “harmony” to reduce subjectivity and thereby address potential 

constraints or impacts on certainty about the City’s expectations on design. 

Responsibility: Planning Department 

Timeframe: within a year 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome. Lower subjectivity of officials and uncertainty to stakeholders about 

expectations of the City for design review 



 

83 
 

6.7 Quantified Objectives  
Table 6-1 presents an estimate of the number of units to be constructed by income level during the 

planning period from 2023 to 2031. The quantified objectives do not represent ceilings on development 

but rather set target goals for the City to achieve based on needs, resources and constraints. The target 

of 431 total units is a steep increase from the 50 units in the 2014-2022 cycle presumably because of 

Guadalupe’s potential to deliver a good number of housing units to serve the region.  

 Table 6-1 reveals that not only did Guadalupe fully meet its allocation for the 5th Cycle but exceeded it 

substantially for the income categories of very low, moderate, and above moderate. Appendix A has 

additional details on building permits and accomplishments in housing construction in Guadalupe.  

Table 6-1 also shows that if the excess of 354 housing units completed in the 5th Cycle were counted 

toward Guadalupe’s allocation for the 6th Cycle plus the 324 other units anticipated to be completed 

mostly in the Pasadera development over the period, then over 678 total housing units are expected in 

the 6th Cycle. This number exceeds the 6th Cycle allocation of 431 units by more than 50 percent.  

 

 

Table 6-1: Comparison of RHNA Allocations Met and Unmet by Income Groups in Guadalupe 

Income Category  
5th Cycle 

RHNA 
Allocation 

Total 
Completed 
in 5th Cycle 

Balance 
from 5th 

Cycle 

Pending 
Construction 

Total 
Potential in 

6th Cycle 

6th Cycle 
RHNA 

Allocation 

  
RHNA 

Allocation 
  

Applicable to 6th Cycle 
RHNA 

Allocation 

Extremely low  5 6 1 0 1 1 

Very Low 7 27 20 0 20 2 

Low 8 8 0 0 0 24 

Moderate  13 154 141 40 181 77 

Above Moderate  17 209 192 284 476 327 

Total 50 404 354 324 678 431 
Sources: City of Guadalupe Planning Department; SBCAG, 2014-2022 & 2023-2031 RHNA Allocations.  



 

84 
 

7.0 Appendices 
 

7.1 Appendix A: Evaluation of 5th Cycle Housing Element 
Government Code Section 65588(a) requires that jurisdictions evaluate the effectiveness of the existing 

Housing Element, the appropriateness of goals, objectives, and policies, and the progress in 

implementing programs for the previous planning period. This appendix contains a review of the goals, 

policies, and programs of the previous housing element and evaluates the degree to which these 

programs have been implemented during the previous planning period, 2019 through 2023. The analysis 

includes an assessment of the appropriateness of goals, objectives, policies, and programs. 

7.1.1 Program Evaluation 

Table A-1 summarizes the effectiveness of programs contained in the previous Housing Element along 

with responsible agencies, accomplishments, and policies or actions to pursue moving forward. Many 

programs are essential for continued good planning and planning administration. The recommendation 

is for those programs that remain relevant to continue in the new cycle. 

7.1.2 Appropriateness of Goals and Policies 

Table A-2 evaluates the appropriateness of previous goals and policies and identifies necessary changes 

considering the City's experience during the past planning period. The goals and policies address 

mandatory requirement for housing according to State law. Therefore, many remain appropriate and 

would be retained in the new cycle. 

7.1.3. Progress in Meeting Quantified Objectives  

Table A-3 presents the City's progress in meeting the quantified objectives across the two previous 

Housing Elements within the 5th Cycle . The DJ Farms Specific Plan area broke ground in 2015, built, and 

sold 130 new housing units by January 2019. By the end of 2022, the development completed 363 

dwelling units out of a total authorization of 740 dwelling units (Guadalupe Building Department) 

leaving a difference of 377 units to construct during the new cycle. The units fall primarily in the 

moderate and above moderate-income categories, but nevertheless fulfilled more than the City’s RHNA 

allocations for the planning period in those two income categories. The City fulfilled the housing need in 

the lower income categories with People’s Self-Help construction of 37 assisted housing apartments and 

the construction of a few ADUs.  

Table A-4 presents a summary of development activity in terms of permits from 2015 through 2021. 

Table A-4a provides a broad over view of trends and indicate that the period registered steady increases 

in permit activities for new homes and accessory dwelling units as well as extensions and repairs to 

existing housing.  

Table A-4b shows details by income group of permit activity in the recent years for which data were 

available. The trends in development permit activity within Guadalupe reflected fluctuation from year to 

year in number of entitlements approved, consistent number of building permits issued at about 70 per 

annum, and increasing number of certificates of occupancy issued as construction is completed for 



 

85 
 

permits issued in prior years. It also shows that ADUs represented the latest form of satisfying demand 

for lower income housing. Most permitting activities, however, related to above moderate priced 

housing. 

Table A-5 presents analysis of completed housing construction since 2015. The analysis shows how 

much households could afford to pay for housing assuming 30 percent of income points that represent 

definitions of various income ranges. Estimate of mortgage payments under prevailing market 

conditions shed light on the household income groups that can afford the price ranges of the completed 

housing units.   

 

7.1.4. Progress toward Special Needs Populations 

Table A-3a reveals that Guadalupe produced 41 housing units in the three lower income categories 

compared to the 20 units allocated in the 5th Cycle. The foremost requirement for special needs housing 

is affordability. In producing the lower income units, the City largely fulfilled the single most important 

need and additionally, implementation addressed accessibility issues with disabled people and seniors. 

The City fulfilled the housing need in the lower income categories with People’s Self-Help construction 

of 37 assisted housing apartments and the construction of a few ADUs.  

 

7.1.5. Shortfall of Sites from the 5th Cycle Planning Period  

There was no shortage of sites for housing in Guadalupe over the 5th Cycle planning period. The 

following paragraphs explain. 

The 5th Cycle Housing Element relied on the production of housing within the then newly approved DJ 

Farms Specific Plan area for a compact City hemmed in by Williamson Act contract lands and the coastal 

zone. The Plan worked beyond expectations when DJ Farms broke ground in 2015 as the Pasadera 

Development, built and sold 130 new housing units by January 2019. This compared to the total RHNA 

allocation of 50. As of August 2022, which was toward the end of the 5th Cycle, 363 units were built with 

approval for construction of 377 more. The original Specific Plan was approved for 803 units.  

Additionally, amendments to Chapter 18.53 of the Guadalupe Municipal Code in January 2023 on 

“Accessory Dwelling Units” revamped the ADU ordinance, is intended to comply with State law 

(Government Code Section 65852.2), and is to implement the policies in the City's 2042 General Plan 

and the Housing Element. The update allows accessory dwelling units (ADU) through ministerial review 

in all Residential Districts. This created additional opportunities for housing units. 

  



 

86 
 

Table A-1: Evaluation of Programs in 5th Cycle (2015 & 2019) Housing Element - City of Guadalupe 

[Table A-1]   Program 
Responsible  
Agency  

Time 
Frame  

Evaluation & 2015-2022 
Accomplishments  

Future Policies  
and Actions  

A.1. The City shall annually 
evaluate the adequacy of 
services and facilities for 
additional residential 
development. Service 
deficiencies and the cost 
of correcting such 
deficiencies will be 
identified and priorities 
will be set. 

City 
Administrator  

Ongoing  

Ongoing part of 
development review 
process.  
   The City completed a 
water and wastewater 
system Master Plan and a 
water and wastewater rate 
study that incorporated the 
cost of needed water & 
wastewater capital 
Improvements, 
  This program assured 
adequacy of services and 
facilities as actual housing 
construction became 4 
times the RHNA allocation. 

Continue 
program  

A.2. The City shall 
establish priority water 
and sewer service 
procedures for 
developments with units 
affordable to lower-
income households. 

Planning 
Department  

Ongoing 

Part of development 

review process 

   This enabled construction 

of ADU units and three 

dozen assisted housing 

apartments 

Continue 

program 

A.3. The City should 
amend the zoning 
ordinance to comply with 
California State law and 
allow accessory dwelling 
units (ADU), mobile and 
manufactured homes, 
licensed residential care 
facilities and group homes 
with fewer than six 
residents, rental housing, 
and transitional and 
supportive housing in all 
residential zones. These 
uses are subject to those 
development and 
management standards 
that apply to residential 
development within the 
same zone.  

Planning 
Department  

Ongoing  

Amendments made to the 

Guadalupe Municipal Code 

between August 2017 and 

January 2019 include 

Chapter 18.53 of January 

28, 2019 on “ACCESSORY 

DWELLING UNITS”. 

  ADUs are easily permitted 

and a four ADU units were 

built. 

Continue 

program  to 

promote use of  

ADUs by 

providing a 

public 

awareness 

campaign to 

property 

owners, 

builders, and 

developers 



 

87 
 

[Table A-1]   Program 
Responsible  
Agency  

Time 
Frame  

Evaluation & 2015-2022 
Accomplishments  

Future Policies  
and Actions  

A.4. The City shall require 
a 55-year continued 
affordability condition in 
projects that receive a 
density bonus that also 
utilize government funds. 
As an additional incentive, 
projects that do not use 
any government monies 
may be eligible for 
bonuses if the units have 
at least 20 years of 
continued affordability. 
The City will ensure all 
options comply with State 
density bonus laws. 

Planning 
Department  

Ongoing  

Ongoing part of 

development review 

process, 

   Applied to the assisted 

living units. 

Continue 

program 

A.5. The City shall 
continue to work with the 
Santa Barbara County 
Housing Authority, 
People's Self-Help Housing 
Corporation, or other non-
profit agencies to secure 
funds through State and 
Federal programs for 
development of new low-
income housing, and 
rehabilitation or room 
additions to relieve 
overcrowding for existing 
low-income households. 
Opportunities for the 
development of housing at 
the ELI level shall be a 
priority, until the City 
meets its ELI housing 
allocation in the RHNA 
cycle. The City will 
coordinate with the 
County applications for 
new funding and will 
provide letters of support 
and technical support to 
nonprofits. The City will 

City 
Administrator  

Ongoing 

Essential element of 

affordable housing 

facilitation and production. 

   It aided the funding and 

construction of assisted 

housing apartments 

Continue 

program 



 

88 
 

[Table A-1]   Program 
Responsible  
Agency  

Time 
Frame  

Evaluation & 2015-2022 
Accomplishments  

Future Policies  
and Actions  

also participate in the 
Housing Trust Fund of 
Santa Barbara County to 
leverage the City's 
funding. The City will also 
continue to incentivize 
affordable housing by 
expediting the density 
bonus applications which 
include affordable 
housing. A report will be 
provided annually to the 
City Council on progress in 
this endeavor. 

A.6. The City of Guadalupe 
shall continue code 
enforcement efforts to 
preserve its existing 
housing stock and to 
expedite the issuance of 
building permits for new 
low-income housing, 
including those units at 
the ELI level, housing 
rehabilitation projects and 
room additions for existing 
low-income housing. All 
requests for funding 
assistance will be 
forwarded to the County 
of Santa Barbara Housing 
and Community 
Development 
Department's 
rehabilitation assistance 
program to help alleviate 
the impact of high 
overcrowding. 

City 
Administrator  

Ongoing 

Essential element of 

affordable housing 

retention. 

   This has helped in 

maintaining the quality of 

affordable and assisted 

units in the City 

Continue 

program 

B.1. The City shall 
coordinate its efforts with 
the Santa Barbara County 
Housing Authority to 
continue receiving Section 
8 subsidy monies. A City 

City 
Administrator  

Ongoing 

Essential element of 

affordable housing for 

those in the very low end 

of income spectrum 

   The subsidies have made 

Continue 

program 



 

89 
 

[Table A-1]   Program 
Responsible  
Agency  

Time 
Frame  

Evaluation & 2015-2022 
Accomplishments  

Future Policies  
and Actions  

staff liaison will have the 
responsibility of 
coordinating these efforts. 

housing affordable for 

large segments of the City’s 

residents 

C.1. Coordinate with the 
Santa Barbara County 
Housing Authority to 
maintain a list of all 
dwellings within the City 
that are subsidized by 
government funding or 
low-income housing 
developed through 
regulations or incentives. 
The list shall Include, at a 
minimum, the number of 
units, type of government 
program, and the date at 
which the units may 
convert to market-rate 
dwellings 

Planning 
Department  

Ongoing 

Essential element of 

tracking affordable 

housing. 

   It has provided data for 

analysis in the 

development of the new 

housing element. 

Continue 

program 

C.2. The City shall add to 
existing incentive 
programs, and include in 
all new incentive or 
regulatory programs, 
requirements, to give 
notice prior to conversion 
units to market rate. 

Planning 
Department  

Ongoing 

Ongoing part of 

development review 

process. 

   This has aided the 

preservation of affordable 

units across the City. 

Continue 

program 

D.1. The City shall amend 
its zoning ordinance to 
grant a density bonus in 
conformance with Chapter 
16.97 of the State Density 
Bonus law, or exemption 
from the in-lieu fee 
requirement, or both for 
projects that include 
three- and four-bedroom 
units, or single room 
occupancy units, as a 
significant portion of the 
total project. The 
thresholds for determining 

Planning 
Department  

Ongoing 

Density bonus provision is 

part of Zoning Ordinance. 

   Besides DJ Farms no 

other major housing 

development projects 

occurred in the City. It 

helped in approval of the 

number of units at DJ 

Farms and enabled the 

development to provide 

multiple parks and 

infrastructure.  

Continue 

program 



 

90 
 

[Table A-1]   Program 
Responsible  
Agency  

Time 
Frame  

Evaluation & 2015-2022 
Accomplishments  

Future Policies  
and Actions  

the number of such units 
and exact size of 
the density increase or fee 
exemption shall be 
determined during 
drafting of the ordinance. 
The period of affordability 
for the density bonus units 
will be 55 years or more. 

D.2. The City shall adopt a 
procedure to make 
reasonable 
accommodations (i.e. 
modifications or 
exceptions) in its zoning 
laws and other land use 
regulations and practices 
when such 
accommodations may be 
necessary to afford 
persons with disabilities 
and other special needs an 
equal opportunity to use 
and enjoy a dwelling. The 
amendment to the Zoning 
Ordinance shall include a 
revised definition of family 
that is consistent with 
State housing law. It shall 
address all aspects of the 
Americans with Disabilities 
Act in regard to home 
construction, retrofitting 
restrictions, and parking 
requirements due to City 
Zoning Ordinance. The City 
will also address financial 
incentives for developers 
who address code issues 
in new construction and in 
retrofitting existing 
homes. 

Planning 
Department  

Ongoing 

Compliance with ADA 

requirements is part of the 

Building Code. 

   It has helped make lower 

income and assisted 

housing developments 

accessible to those with 

disabilities. 

Continue 

program 



 

91 
 

[Table A-1]   Program 
Responsible  
Agency  

Time 
Frame  

Evaluation & 2015-2022 
Accomplishments  

Future Policies  
and Actions  

D.3. The City shall 
continue to provide 
information about housing 
opportunities and services 
for homeless persons to 
migrant farmworkers 
through the Police 
Department, as well as 
City Hall; provide 
information in both 
English and Spanish and 
provide other additional 
language material to other 
minority languages in the 
community; and survey 
the community for the 
need of other language 
materials. 

Police 
Department,  
City 
Administrator  

Ongoing 

Information is available at 

City Hall. 

   This has aided a large 

segment of the population 

for whom English is a 

second language and 

incoming migrants to 

navigate the housing 

landscape. 

Continue 

program 

D.4. The City shall 
cooperate with Santa 
Barbara County and other 
agencies in the 
development of programs 
aimed at providing 
affordable multi-family 
housing, including housing 
for families with special 
needs. As part of this 
cooperation, the City shall 
identify one or more sites 
that could support 
affordable multi-family 
housing development and 
consult with the site 
owner and housing 
partners on the 
feasibility of developing 
the site for affordable 
housing. 

Police 
Department,  
City 
Administrator  

Ongoing 

This is necessary to 

continue provision of 

assisted housing for those 

in the lowest income 

brackets.  

  This facilitated the 

construction of the new 

multi-family assisted living 

apartments of three dozen 

units.  

Continue 

program 



 

92 
 

[Table A-1]   Program 
Responsible  
Agency  

Time 
Frame  

Evaluation & 2015-2022 
Accomplishments  

Future Policies  
and Actions  

D.5. To encourage 
transitional and 
supportive housing, the 
City will amend all zoning 
districts allowing 
residential uses to permit 
transitional and 
supportive housing as a 
residential use, subject 
only to those regulations 
that apply to other 
residential dwellings of the 
same type in the same 
zoning (i.e. apartments in 
a multi-family zone). 

Planning 
Department  

Ongoing 

Overlay district created 

permitting such uses. 

  This facilitate the 

construction of SROs, 

shelters, and ADUs in most 

zones within the City. 

Continue 

program 

E.1. The City shall continue 
to implement Title 24 of 
the California Code on all 
new development. 

Building 
Department  

Ongoing 
Verified during plan check 

for building permits 

Continue 

program 

E.2. The City shall work 
with PG&E to encourage 
existing residents to 
participate in energy 
efficiency retrofit 
programs. The City will 
consider sponsoring an 
energy awareness 
program, in conjunction 
with PG&E to educate 
residents about the 
benefits of various retrofit 
programs. 

Planning 
Department  

Ongoing 

Disseminated 

collaboratively in utility 

bills  

Continue 

program 

E.3. The City shall amend 
the subdivision ordinance 
to implement the 
subdivision map act on 
subdivision orientation for 
solar access. 

Planning 
Department  

Ongoing 
Part of development 

review process. 

Continue 

program 

E.4. New annexations to 
the City shall be 
contiguous to the existing 
City to maintain compact 
urban form and energy 
efficiency. 

Planning 
Department  

Ongoing 
Addressed in update to 

General Plan 

Continue 

program 



 

93 
 

[Table A-1]   Program 
Responsible  
Agency  

Time 
Frame  

Evaluation & 2015-2022 
Accomplishments  

Future Policies  
and Actions  

E.5. The City shall apply for 
and support applications 
for affordable housing 
funds from agencies that 
reward and incentivize 
good planning. Examples 
include the HCD's Multi-
family Housing Program 
(MHP) and California Tax 
Credit Allocation 
Committee resources 
which provide competitive 
advantage for affordable 
infill housing and 
affordable housing built 
close to jobs, 
transportation, and 
amenities. 

City 
Administrator  

Ongoing 
Part of application efforts 

for grant resources 

Continue 

program 

E.6. Partner with public 
utility districts and private 
energy companies to 
promote free energy 
audits for low-income 
owners and renters, 
rebate programs for 
installing energy efficient 
features and appliances 
and public education 
about ideas to conserve 
energy. 

Planning 
Department  

Ongoing 

Disseminated 

collaboratively in utility 

bills  

Continue 

program 

F.1. The City will continue 
to provide information 
from the Housing 
Authority and Department 
of Equal Housing and 
Employment regarding 
housing and tenant rights 
at City Hall. And the City 
will continue to provide 
information in Spanish as 
well as review the need 
for any third language 
information in Guadalupe. 

Planning 
Department  

Ongoing 

Information is available at 

City Hall. 

   This has aided a large 

segment of the population 

for whom English is a 

second language and 

incoming migrants to 

navigate rights and 

requirements for housing 

access in the City. 

   

Continue 

program 



 

94 
 

[Table A-1]   Program 
Responsible  
Agency  

Time 
Frame  

Evaluation & 2015-2022 
Accomplishments  

Future Policies  
and Actions  

F.2. The City will refer 
persons experiencing 
discrimination in housing 
to California Rural Legal 
Assistance. The City will 
cooperate with 
neighboring jurisdictions 
and local organizations 
that sponsor workshops 
on fair housing laws and 
how those who are victims 
of discrimination can 
address their grievances. 

All city 
Departments 
that  
receive 
complaints 

Ongoing 

Part of outreach activities. 

   This has aided a large 

segment of the population 

and incoming migrants to 

fight off discrimination in 

housing access. 

Continue 

program 

F.3. The City shall notify 
People's Self-Help Housing 
Corporation, Santa 
Barbara County Housing 
Authority, California Rural 
legal Assistance and local 
churches. as well as post 
notices at significant 
public locations, prior to 
any public hearing where 
the City is considering 
amending or updating the 
housing element. 

Planning 
Department  

Ongoing 

Part of outreach activities 

during development of 

plans. 

  This has made People’s 

Self-Help a strong partner 

for affordable and assisted 

housing production and 

collaboration with the City. 

Continue 

program 

 

  



 

95 
 

Table A-2: Appropriateness of 2015 Guadalupe Housing Element Goals and Policies  

[Table A-2]                                     Goals & Policy  
Evaluation & 2015-2022 

Accomplishments  
Appropriateness 

Goal A: An adequate supply of affordable housing 
for all income levels. 

The City has exceeded it Still Appropriate - 
retain  

Policy A.1: The City shall provide an adequate number 
of housing sites for both rent and purchase to 
accommodate its share of regional housing needs, 
including the number of units for each income 
classification. 

This City accomplished this 
with the new General Plan 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 

Policy A.2: The City shall ensure that adopted policies, 
regulations, and procedures do not add unnecessarily 
to the cost of housing while still attaining other 
important City objectives. 

The City streamlined but 
largely left fees unchanged Still Appropriate - 

retain 

Policy A.3: The City shall give high priority for permit 
processing to low-income residential projects, and 
the highest priority for projects that provide housing 
units at the extremely-low income (ELI) level. 

This integral to the 
development application 
review process 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 

Policy A.4: The City shall continue to support the 
efforts of the Santa Barbara County Housing Authority 
within the City. 

The City and SBCHA are 
strong cooperating partners Still Appropriate - 

retain 

Policy A.5: The City shall, through the Santa Barbara 
County Housing Authority or in conjunction with 
nonprofit or for-profit developers, apply for funds 
from the State and Federal governments to construct 
housing for low-income households. 

The City has strong 
partnership with SBCHA, 
People’s Self-Help and 
Habitat for Humanity 

Still Appropriate - 
retain  

Policy A. 6: The City shall continue to provide Section 
8 assistance to eligible households through the Santa 
Barbara County Housing Authority. 

This has greatly aided large 
segments of residents 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 

Policy A. 7: Housing for low-income households that is 
required in a new residential project shall not be 
concentrated into a single building or portion of the 
site but shall be dispersed throughout the project, to 
the extent practical given the size of the project and 
other site constraints. 

This has fostered integration 
in the City 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 

Policy A. 8: low-income housing produced through 
government subsidies or through incentives or 
regulatory programs shall be distributed throughout 
the City and not concentrated in a particular area of 
the community. 

This is the case in the City 
and prevented segregation 

Still Appropriate - 
retain  

Policy A. 9: The City shall require low-income housing 
units in density bonus projects to be available at the 
same time as the market-rate units in the project. 

This is part of the application 
review process for 
development 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 

Policy A. 10: The City shall encourage the 
development of multi-family dwellings in locations 
where adequate facilities are available and where 
such development would be consistent with 

This has aided cost effective 
construction of affordable 
units 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 



 

96 
 

[Table A-2]                                     Goals & Policy  
Evaluation & 2015-2022 

Accomplishments  
Appropriateness 

neighborhood character. 

Policy A. 11: The City shall allow rehabilitation for 
legal, non-conforming dwellings that do not meet 
current lot size requirements, setbacks, yard 
requirements, and other current zoning 
requirements, so long as the non-conformity is not 
increased and there is no threat to public health and 
or safety. 

This is part of the application 
review process for 
development 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 

Policy A. 12: To meet the City's needs to provide 
housing at the extremely low income (ELI) level, the 
City shall encourage projects that meet the housing 
needs of ELI households by offering financial 
incentives, financial assistance, or regulatory 
concessions to encourage the development of ELI 
units, such as that provided by single-room occupancy 
units. The City shall consider prioritizing its affordable 
housing development assistance to one or more 
projects that meet the City's Ell housing needs, as 
identified in the latest RHNA allocation. 

This culminated in the 
construction of three dozen 
apartments as solely assisted 
living units 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 

Goal B: Conservation and rehabilitation of the City's 
existing stock of affordable housing. 

This has preserved the 
affordable housing stock 

Still Appropriate - 
retain  

Policy B.1: The City shall refer all requests for the 
funding of rehabilitation projects or the construction 
of new affordable housing projects to the Santa 
Barbara County Housing and Community 
Development Department. 

This aided construction of 
three dozen apartments as 
solely assisted living units 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 

Policy B.2: The City shall continue to coordinate with 
the Santa Barbara County Housing Authority to 
maintain Section 8 rent subsidies. 

This aids large segments of 
residents in the City 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 

Policy B.3: The City shall apply for funds, including 
CDBG grants for the purpose of rehabilitating low 
cost, owner occupied and rental housing. 

This contributed to upkeep 
of affordable units across 
the City  

Still Appropriate - 
retain  

Policy B.4: Private financing of the rehabilitation of 
housing shall be encouraged. 

Is has given flexibility to 
providers of affordable 
housing 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 

Policy B.5: The City shall require the abatement of 
unsafe structures, while giving property owners 
ample time to correct deficiencies. Residents 
displaced by such abatement should be provided 
relocation assistance. 

Given ample time has been 
the practice and has worked 
well 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 



 

97 
 

[Table A-2]                                     Goals & Policy  
Evaluation & 2015-2022 

Accomplishments  
Appropriateness 

Policy B.6: The demolition of existing multi-family 
housing shall be allowed when: a) the structure(s) is 
found to be substandard and unsuitable for 
rehabilitation; b) tenants are provided reasonable 
notice and an opportunity to purchase the property; 
and c) relocation assistance is provided. 

There has not been the need 
to demolish multi-family 
housing but the policy is 
good. 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 

Goal C: Preservation of all at-risk units in Guadalupe. 
This has helped avoid 
displacements 

Still Appropriate - 
retain  

Policy C.1: The City shall strive to preserve all at-risk 
dwelling units  

This has helped avoid 
displacements 

Still Appropriate - 
retain  

Policy C.2: At least two years notice shall be required 
prior to the conversion of any units for low-income 
households to market rate units in any of the 
following circumstances: 
• The units were constructed with the aid of 
government funding 
• The units were required by an inclusionary zoning 
ordinance 
• The project was granted a density bonus 
• The project received other incentives  
 
Such a notice shall be given at least to the following: 
• The City; 
• HCD; 
• Santa Barbara County Housing Authority; and 
• Residents of at-risk units. 

There has not been recent 
need to convert units for 
low-income households 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 

Goal D: Adequate housing for special needs groups 
in Guadalupe, including farmworkers, people with 
disabilities, and large families. 

This is the City’s strength 
historically and enable new 
RHNA allocations in the 
moderate and above income 
groups. 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 

Policy D.1: The City shall encourage the development 
of housing for farmworkers and large families. 

This is the City’s strength 
historically and enable it to 
house farmworkers who are 
vital for its economic base 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 

Policy D.2: The City will encourage the removal of 
housing restraints for those with disabilities as 
outlined in Senate Bill 520 (Chapter 671 California 
Code). 

This has made the City a 
friendly place for persons 
with disabilities 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 

Policy D.3: The City shall provide information to 
migrant farmworkers about housing opportunities 
and services for in the area. 

This has aided a large 
segment of incoming 
migrants to access housing 
conveniently 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 

Goal E: Energy efficient housing units that result in a 
reduction in energy costs to Guadalupe residents. 

This is implemented during 
the application review 

Still Appropriate - 
retain  



 

98 
 

[Table A-2]                                     Goals & Policy  
Evaluation & 2015-2022 

Accomplishments  
Appropriateness 

process 

Policy E.1: All new dwelling units shall be required to 
meet current State requirements for energy efficiency 
and retrofitting of existing units shall be encouraged. 

This is implemented during 
the application review 
process 

Still Appropriate - 
retain 

Policy E.2: New land use patterns shall encourage 
energy efficiency, to the extent possible. 

The spirit of the new General 
Plan encapsulates this policy 

Still Appropriate - 
retain  

Goal F: Assurance of equal access to sound, 
affordable housing for all persons regardless of race, 
creed, age or sex. 

The City has lived by this 
tenet making it one of the 
most diverse communities in 
the area. 

Still Appropriate - 
retain  

Policy F.1: The City declares that all persons 
regardless of race, color, religion, sex, sexual 
orientation, marital status, national origin, ancestry, 
familial status, source of income, or disability should 
have equal access to sound and affordable housing. 

The City has lived by this 
tenet making it one of the 
most diverse communities in 
the area. 

Still Appropriate - 
retain  

Policy F.2: The City will promote the enforcement of 
the policies of the State Fair Employment and 
Housing Commission. 

The City has lived by this 
tenet making it one of the 
most diverse communities in 
the area. 

Still Appropriate - 
retain  

  

 

Table A-3a. Progress in Achieving Quantified Objectives (All Incomes) 

Income Category  

Quantified 
Objective 

Completed Progress  Future 

(Allocated 5th 
Cycle Dwelling 

Units)  

(Completed 
2015 to 2019) 

(Completed 
2019 to 2022) 

Total 
Completed in 

5th Cycle 

Percent of 5th 
Cycle RHNA 
Completed 

(Dwelling Units 
Pending 

Construction) 

  

RHNA 
Allocation 

New Construction 
  

Extremely low  5 2 4 6 120% 0 

Very Low 7 1 26 27 386% 0 

Low 8 1 7 8 100% 0 

Moderate  13 23 131 154 1185% 40 

Above Moderate  17 107 102 209 1229% 284 

    Total  50 134 270 404 808% 320 
00 – Accessory Dwelling Units 
00 – People’s Self-Help Housing Project 
00 – Pasadera Housing Development 

 

 
Sources: City of Guadalupe Planning Department; SBCAG, 2014-2022 RHNA Allocations. 



 

99 
 

Table A-3b. Progress in Achieving Quantified Objectives (Lower Incomes) – Completed Apartments 

Tenant Affordability Level Number of Units Mechanism to Achieve Affordability 

At or below 30% AMI – Extremely Low 4 Rent set to tenant income 

At or below 40% AMI – Very Low 2 Rent set to tenant income 

At or below 45% AMI – Very Low 5 Rent set to tenant income 

At or below 50% AMI – Very Low 19 Rent set to tenant income 

At or below 60% AMI – Low 7 Rent set to tenant income 

Total (dwelling units in Guadalupe Courts) 37  Prg-1.4 & Prg-1.5 (Chapter 6) 

Table A-3c. Progress in Achieving Quantified Objectives (Lower Incomes) – Completed ADUs 

A
D

U
 

Lo
ca

ti
o

n
 

Sq
u

ar
e

 F
e

e
t 

C
o

st
 E

st
im

at
e

 

In
te

re
st

 R
at

e
 

Te
rm

 (
Y

e
ar

s)
 

M
o

n
th

ly
 

P
ay

m
e

n
t 

M
o

n
th

ly
+2

5
%

 

M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 

In
co

m
e

 G
ro

u
p

s 

To
ta

l P
ay

m
e

n
t 

1 4443 Elm St 396 $34,000  5% 30 ($182) $227 EL $65,434  

2 4578 Twelfth St. 800 $50,000  5% 30 ($267) $334 EL $96,227  

3 379 Campodonico 1,023 $90,000  5% 30 ($481) $601 VL $173,209  

4 150 Egret Lane 976 $200,000  5% 30 ($1,069) $1,336 L $384,908  

 

Table A-4a: Residential Permit Activities - City of Guadalupe, 2015 through 2021 

A-4a: Residential Permits 
2015 

Permits 
Issued 

2016 
Permits 
Issued 

2017 
Permits 
Issued 

2019 
Permits 
Issued 

2020 
Permits 
Issued 

2021 
Permits 
Issued 

Detached Single-family 
Dwellings 

6 35 95 
  

85 148 

Detached Single-family 
Dwellings w/ Secondary 
Dwelling 

      
      

Attached Single-family 
Dwellings 

      
      

Attached Single-family 
Dwelling w/ Secondary 
Dwelling 

      
      

Attached or Detached 
Secondary Dwellings 

  1   
  

6 14 

Multi-family Dwellings       72     

Residential Additions 5 5 2       

Residential Alterations 3 5 8       

New Garage/Carports   3 1       

Residential Repairs             



 

100 
 

A-4a: Residential Permits 
2015 

Permits 
Issued 

2016 
Permits 
Issued 

2017 
Permits 
Issued 

2019 
Permits 
Issued 

2020 
Permits 
Issued 

2021 
Permits 
Issued 

Residential Re-roofs 27 18 35       

Residential Misc. Plumbing, 
Electrical, Mechanical 
Permit 

39 57 39 
      

Residential Accessory 
Buildings, Structures, 
Driveways 

3 4 6 
      

Residential Pools/ Spas             

Residential Grading, Site 
Work, Stockpiling, Misc. 

      
      

Residential Demolitions             

Residential Permit Re-
issued 

  1 1 
      

Residential Solar 43 41 9       

Residential Fire 8 34 86       

Total Residential Permits 134 204 282 72 91 162 

Source: Guadalupe Planning Department  



 

101 
 

Table A-4b: Recent Residential Permit Activities by Income - City of Guadalupe, 2019-2021 

 
Source: Guadalupe Planning Department  

In
co

m
e 

G
ro

up

M
ul

tif
am

ily
 

(5
+ 

un
its

)

Ac
ce

ss
or

y 

D
w

el
lin

g 

U
ni

ts

Si
ng

le
 

Fa
m

ily
 

D
et

ac
he

d
G

ra
nd

 T
ot

al

M
ul

tif
am

ily
 

(5
+ 

un
its

)

Ac
ce

ss
or

y 

D
w

el
lin

g 

U
ni

ts

Si
ng

le
 

Fa
m

ily
 

D
et

ac
he

d
G

ra
nd

 T
ot

al

M
ul

tif
am

i

ly
 (5

+ 

un
its

)

Ac
ce

ss
or

y 

D
w

el
lin

g 

U
ni

ts

Si
ng

le
 

Fa
m

ily
 

D
et

ac
he

d
G

ra
nd

 T
ot

al

En
tit

le
m

en
ts

Ve
ry

 L
ow

- I
nc

om
e 

De
ed

 R
es

tr
ic

te
d

0
0

0

Ve
ry

 L
ow

- I
nc

om
e 

  N
on

 D
ee

d 
Re

st
ric

te
d

0
0

0

Lo
w

- I
nc

om
e 

De
ed

 R
es

tr
ic

te
d

0
0

0

Lo
w

- I
nc

om
e 

  N
on

 D
ee

d 
Re

st
ric

te
d

0
0

0

M
od

er
at

e-
 In

co
m

e 
De

ed
 R

es
tr

ic
te

d
0

0
0

M
od

er
at

e-
 In

co
m

e 
N

on
 D

ee
d 

Re
st

ric
te

d
0

0
0

Ab
ov

e M
od

er
at

e-
 In

co
m

e
0

0
57

57

Su
bt

ot
al

 E
nt

itl
em

en
ts

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
57

57

Bu
ild

in
g 

Pe
rm

its

Ve
ry

 L
ow

- I
nc

om
e 

De
ed

 R
es

tr
ic

te
d

30
30

0
0

Ve
ry

 L
ow

- I
nc

om
e 

  N
on

 D
ee

d 
Re

st
ric

te
d

0
0

0

Lo
w

- I
nc

om
e 

De
ed

 R
es

tr
ic

te
d

7
7

0
0

Lo
w

- I
nc

om
e 

  N
on

 D
ee

d 
Re

st
ric

te
d

0
6

6
0

M
od

er
at

e-
 In

co
m

e 
De

ed
 R

es
tr

ic
te

d
1

1
0

0

M
od

er
at

e-
 In

co
m

e 
N

on
 D

ee
d 

Re
st

ric
te

d
34

34
0

0

Ab
ov

e M
od

er
at

e-
 In

co
m

e
0

67
67

12
57

69

Su
bt

ot
al

 P
er

m
its

72
0

0
72

6
67

73
0

12
57

69

Ce
rt

ifi
ca

te
s o

f O
cc

up
an

cy

Ve
ry

 L
ow

- I
nc

om
e 

De
ed

 R
es

tr
ic

te
d

0
0

0

Ve
ry

 L
ow

- I
nc

om
e 

  N
on

 D
ee

d 
Re

st
ric

te
d

0
0

0

Lo
w

- I
nc

om
e 

De
ed

 R
es

tr
ic

te
d

0
0

0

Lo
w

- I
nc

om
e 

  N
on

 D
ee

d 
Re

st
ric

te
d

0
0

0

M
od

er
at

e-
 In

co
m

e 
De

ed
 R

es
tr

ic
te

d
0

0
0

M
od

er
at

e-
 In

co
m

e 
N

on
 D

ee
d 

Re
st

ric
te

d
0

4
4

0

Ab
ov

e M
od

er
at

e-
 In

co
m

e
0

14
14

2
34

36

Su
bt

ot
al

 C
er

tif
ic

at
es

0
0

0
0

0
18

18
0

2
34

36

G
ra

nd
 T

ot
al

 A
ll 

Ac
tiv

iti
es

72
0

0
72

0
6

85
91

0
14

14
8

16
2

20
19

20
20

20
21



 

102 
 

Table A-5: Affordability of Residential Construction - City of Guadalupe, Late 2015 to Early 2019 

Income Range for Santa Barbara County Area Median Income 

Income Group  Low Mid High 

Extremely Low  $12,000 $16,203 $20,407 

Very Low  $20,408 $27,210 $34,012 

Low  $34,012 $44,215 $54,418 

Moderate  $54,419 $68,023 $81,628 

Above Moderate  $81,628 $100,814 $120,000 
 

Affordable Monthly Housing Expenditure @ 30% of Monthly Income 

Extremely Low  $300 $405 $510 

Very Low  $510 $680 $850 

Low  $850 $1,105 $1,360 

Moderate  $1,360 $1,701 $2,041 

Above Moderate  $2,041 $2,520 $3,000 

DJ Farms Home Price $340,000  $400,000  $470,000  

Potential Mortgage (P&I) $1,786  $2,101  $2,469  

 

DJ Farms Housing Production Cielo Collection Paseo Collection ALL 

Planned units 217 600 817 

Price Range $340k to $400k $400k to $470k $340k to $470k 

Assumed Home Price $340,000  $400,000  $470,000  

Potential Mortgage (P&I) $1,786  $2,101  $2,469  

Construction Start Late 2015 Late 2015 Late 2015 

Built by January 2019 23 107 130 

Percent of Total Built 18% 82% 100% 

 
Sample calculation of mortgage terms and payment 

  



 

103 
 

Figure A-1 DJ Farms Site Map  

 
Source: Pasadera Homes web site: https://newpasaderahomes.com/pasadera-site-map 

  



 

104 
 

Figure A-2: Peoples’ Self-Help Housing Breaks Ground on New Affordable Housing in Guadalupe, CA  

 

 

Source: https://pshhc.org/medias/press_releases.html/article/2019/01/04/peoples-self-help-housing-

breaks-ground-on-new-affordable-housing-in-guadalupe-ca  



 

105 
 

Figure A-3: Guadalupe Ranch Acres becomes Escalante Meadows Affordable Housing in Guadalupe, CA  

 

 

 

                 

                

         

             

                                

                                              

                        

                                    

              

                        

              

                                          

          

                           

                              

                          

                           

                   

          

                               

                              

                          

                   

          

           

       



 

106 
 

 

 

 

  

                       

                     

                                                                  
                                                                  
                                                          
                                                               
                                                                 
                                                                 
                                                             
                                                                    
                                                  

                                                                 
                                                            
                                                         
                                                                  
                                                              
                                                                
                        

                                                              
                                                                
                                                              
                                                          
                                                           
                                                               
                                                                    
                                                                
                                                             

               
         

 
               

                       

                                                  
                                                        
                                                     
                                                       
                                                         
                                                        
                                                       
                                                    
                                                        
                                                      
                                                    
                                                
                                                       
                                                         
                       

                                                         
                                             
                                                     
               



 

107 
 

7.2 Appendix B: Residential Land Inventory 
Preparation of the 2042 Guadalupe General Plan included a complete land use inventory in 2017, which 

identified specific sites that are suitable for residential development. This analysis compares the City’s 

regional housing need allocation of 431 units with its residential development capacity. The site 

inventory and analysis are to help in determining whether program actions are necessary to designate 

sites with appropriate zoning, development standards, and infrastructure capacity to accommodate the 

RHNA-allocated units. Using the inventory of available land, the analysis proceeded to determine (a) the 

suitability of individual parcels and (b) the appropriate development densities. For the 2023 to 2031 

planning horizon, the Santa Barbara County Association of Governments approved the Regional Housing 

Needs Allocations (RHNA) and assigned a total of 431 new housing units to Guadalupe. Table B-1 shows 

the distribution of the City’s allocation by income groups.  

Table B-1: Summary of 2014-2022 RHNA Allocations to Guadalupe 

Income Group  Dwelling Units  Percent  

Extremely Low  1 0.2% 

Very Low 2 0.5% 

Low 24 5.6% 

Moderate  77 17.9% 

Above Moderate  327 75.9% 

Total 431 100.0% 
Source: SBCAG, 2023-2031 Regional Housing Needs Allocation Plan   

To accommodate the 431 new RHNA units, the examination focused on the development potential of 

vacant land that are infill sites, the approved Guadalupe Court multi-family housing project, and the DJ 

Farms Specific Plan area. The following paragraph describes the methodology applied to determine 

residential development capacity.  

Residential development potential depends on the residential density standards of the City. The analysis 

evaluated whether site constraints and land use controls enabled the achievement of the permitted 

densities. First, the acreage of the parcel was multiplied by the allowable density. Fractional 

components on the number of units allowed under the density standards were discarded. The allowable 

unit calculation applied base land use densities with no assumptions about density bonuses. A parcel by 

parcel evaluation of any unusual site characteristics or land use controls revealed where the allowable 

number of residential units should adjust further downward in areas where additional constraints to 

development existed. Constraints that resulted in lower residential capacity included road rights-of-way, 

irregular lot shapes, difficulty in meeting minimum roadway frontage requirements, and existence of 

wetlands or drainage courses on the parcels. The methodology results in a more conservative residential 

capacity that takes into consideration special or unusual circumstances. 

7.2.1 Vacant Land 

In 2017, the City and Regional Planning Department of the California Polytechnic State University 

conducted a parcel-by-parcel inventory of all land within the City. The inventory revealed that 4.9 acres 



 

108 
 

of vacant land that is zoned for housing is available suitable to accommodate 57 housing units. Table B-2 

summarizes the inventory of vacant residential infill sites within the built-up area and indicates there is 

opportunity for housing to suit all income segments within the community. Most of these sites, that is 

40 out of 57, can accommodate low, very low, and extremely low-income housing. 

Table B-2: Inventory of Vacant Residential Infill Sites in Guadalupe from Land Use Inventory 
[Table B-2] 

Parcel 
Number 

Parcel 
Size 

General 
Plan  

Designation 

Zoning  
Designation 

Density 
(du per 

acre) 

Capacity 
(dwelling 

units)  

Income 
Group  

Affordability  

On-Site  
Constraints  

113-370-
037 

0.27 Low Density  R-1 6.00 1 
Above 

Moderate,  
Moderate 

Road Access 
Required  

115-122-
001 

0.2 Low Density R-1 6.00 1 
Above 

Moderate,  
Moderate 

None 

115-132-
016 

0.22 Low Density R-1 6.00 1 
Above 

Moderate,  
Moderate 

None 

115-201-
011 

0.18 Low Density R-1 6.00 1 
Above 

Moderate,  
Moderate 

None 

115-201-
012 

0.17 Low Density R-1 6.00 1 
Above 

Moderate,  
Moderate 

None 

115-201-
013 

0.18 Low Density R-1 6.00 1 
Above 

Moderate,  
Moderate 

None 

115-230-
010 

0.25 Low Density R-1 6.00 1 
Above 

Moderate,  
Moderate 

None 

115·082-
021 

1.03 
Medium 
Density 

R-2 10.00 10 
Moderate, 

Low  
None 

115-032-
005 

0.11 High Density R-3 20.00 1 

Low, Very 
Low,  

Extremely 
low  

Irregularly  
shaped lot 

115-034-
016 

0.33 High Density R-3 20.00 6 

Low, Very 
Low,  

Extremely 
low  

None 

115-035-
001 

0.35 High Density R-3 20.00 7 

Low, Very 
Low,  

Extremely 
low  

None 

115-035-
006 

0.17 High Density R-3 20.00 3 

Low, Very 
Low,  

Extremely 
low  

None 

115-036-
002 

0.12 High Density R-3 20.00 2 
Low, Very 

Low,  
None 



 

109 
 

[Table B-2] 
Parcel 

Number 

Parcel 
Size 

General 
Plan  

Designation 

Zoning  
Designation 

Density 
(du per 

acre) 

Capacity 
(dwelling 

units)  

Income 
Group  

Affordability  

On-Site  
Constraints  

Extremely 
low  

115-036-
015 

0.12 High Density R-3 20.00 2 

Low, Very 
Low,  

Extremely 
low  

None 

115-036-
018 

0.17 High Density R-3 20.00 3 

Low, Very 
Low,  

Extremely 
low  

None 

115-102-
013 

0.17 High Density R-3 20.00 3 

Low, Very 
Low,  

Extremely 
low  

None 

115-102-
015 

0.17 High Density R-3 20.00 3 

Low, Very 
Low,  

Extremely 
low  

Drainage 
Crosses far 

southeastern 
corner of site  

115-102-
016 

0.17 High Density R-3 20.00 1 

Low, Very 
Low,  

Extremely 
low  

Drainage 
crosses site  

115-102-
017 

0.17 High Density R-3 20.00 3 

Low, Very 
Low,  

Extremely 
low  

Drainage 
crosses 

southeastern 
corner of site  

15-102-018 0.17 High Density R-3 20.00 3 

Low, Very 
Low,  

Extremely 
low  

Drainage 
crosses  

northwestern 
corner of site  

115-063-
019 

0.18 High Density R-3 20.00 3 

Low, Very 
Low,  

Extremely 
low  

None 

 

The Guadalupe 2042 General Plan identified several other opportunities for housing development in the 

City. These include many small, vacant lots which might need some mitigation or might allow accessory 

dwelling units, mixed-use sites, and a large reservoir of development opportunity in the DJ Farms 

Specific Plan area.  Figure B-1 shows the distribution of opportunity sites across the City. The next two 

subsections present opportunities for housing at mixed-use locations and the DJ Farms site. Table B-3 is 

an inventory of “other vacant lands” within the built-up area. 



 

110 
 

Figure B-1: Opportunities for Housing at Vacant Infill, Mix-Use, and DJ Farms Sites 

 

Source: 2017 Land Use Inventory 

 

 

  



 

111 
 

Table B-3: Other Vacant Residential Land within Built-Up Area 

[Table B-3]      Parcel Number 
Zoning 

Designation 
Parcel Size 
(Acreage) 

113-320-097 R-2 0.31 

113-370-036 R-2 0.1 

113-370-037 R-2 0.27 

113-370-038 R-2 0.25 

113-450-004 R-2 31.25 

113-460-001 R-2 0.15 

113-460-002 R-2 0.13 

113-460-003 R-2 0.13 

113-460-004 R-2 0.12 

113-460-005 R-2 0.12 

113-460-006 R-2 0.12 

113-460-007 R-2 0.12 

113-460-008 R-2 0.12 

113-460-009 R-2 0.12 

113-460-010 R-2 0.12 

113-460-011 R-2 0.12 

113-460-012 R-2 0.12 

113-460-013 R-2 0.17 

113-460-014 R-2 0.12 

113-460-015 R-2 0.12 

113-460-017 R-1 0.12 

113-460-032 R-1 0.12 

113-460-033 R-1 0.12 

113-460-034 R-1 0.12 

113-460-035 R-1 0.11 

113-460-036 R-1 0.17 

113-470-001 R-1 0.12 

113-470-002 R-1 0.12 

113-470-003 R-1 0.12 

113-470-004 R-1 0.12 

113-470-005 R-1 0.12 

113-470-006 R-1 0.12 

113-470-007 R-1 0.12 

113-470-008 R-1 0.12 

113-470-009 R-1 0.12 

113-470-010 R-1 0.12 

113-470-011 R-1 0.12 

113-470-012 R-1 0.12 

113-480-001 R-1 0.12 



 

112 
 

[Table B-3]      Parcel Number 
Zoning 

Designation 
Parcel Size 
(Acreage) 

113-480-002 R-1 0.12 

113-480-003 R-1 0.12 

113-480-004 R-1 0.12 

113-480-005 R-1 0.12 

113-480-006 R-1 0.12 

113-480-007 R-1 0.12 

113-480-008 R-1 0.12 

113-480-009 R-1 0.12 

113-480-010 R-1 0.12 

113-480-011 R-1 0.11 

113-480-012 R-1 0.14 

113-480-013 R-1 0.2 

113-480-014 R-1 0.18 

113-480-015 R-1 0.17 

113-480-016 R-1 0.12 

113-480-017 R-1 0.12 

113-480-018 R-1 0.12 

113-480-019 R-1 0.12 

113-480-020 R-1 0.12 

115-031-001 R-1 0.01 

115-036-012 R-1 0.19 

115-041-010 R-1 0.11 

115-063-002 R-1 0.1 

115-063-011 R-1 0.09 

115-082-009 R-1 0.09 

115-102-014 R-1 0.17 

115-102-022 R-1 0.36 

115-153-014 Undecided 0.18 

115-201-012 Undecided 0.17 

115-201-013 Undecided 0.18 

115-202-002 Undecided 0.18 

115-230-009 Undecided 0.48 

115-230-028 Undecided 1.77 

115-230-030 Undecided 2.92 

Total All 45.88 

 

7.2.2 Mixed-Use Development 

The updated General Plan designates mixed-use development strategically in the City’s Downtown 

Mixed Use District. This offers additional housing opportunities, including those for lower income 



 

113 
 

residents. The General Plan identified 26.22 acres of commercially-zoned land across 113 parcels to 

accommodate mixed-use development. The General Plan specifies maximum building intensity 

standards of 0.35 floor-to-area ratio (FAR) under the general vision that upper levels would be 

developed for residential uses and lower levels for commercial uses. Table B-4 shows that at full build-

out, mixed-use area can accommodate 383 dwelling units. Conservatively assuming 20 percent buildout 

potential of sites zoned for general commercial use, the acreage could yield 54,874 square feet of 

residential development or 35 dwelling units (at approximately 1570 square feet of average unit size). 

Table B-5 lists additional mixed-use opportunities beyond the vetted sites. These other sites total 

approximately 10 additional acres of which 6.4 acres are under temporary agricultural use and are not 

likely to be developed for housing. 

Table B-4. Mixed-Use Development Potential 

[Table B-4] 
 

Parcel Number 

Parcel 
Site  

(sq. ft.) 
Zoning  

Floor-
Area  
Ratio  

Maximum  
Developable 
Area (sq. ft.) 

Maximum  
Residential 

Area (sq. ft.) 

Adjusted 
Potential  
Dwelling 

Units  

On-Site  
Constraints  

115-092-001 23,958 G-C 0.35 8,385.30 5,618.15 9 None 

115-092-003 14,810 G-C 0.35 5,183.64 3,473.04 5 None 

115-092-004 10,019 G-C 0.35 3,506.58 2,349.41 3 None 

115-052-007 15,246 G-C 0.35 5,336.10 3,575.19 6 None 

115-051-007 19,166 G-C 0.35 6,708.24 4,494.52 7 None 

115-101-001 6,970 G-C 0.35 2,439.36 1,634.37 2 None 

115-052-015 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-140-011 22,651 G-C 0.35 7,927.92 5,311.71 8 None 

115-071-019 13,068 G-C 0.35 4,573.80 3,064.45 5 None 

115-052-018 10,019 G-C 0.35 3,506.58 2,349.41 3 None 

115-091-002 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-091-006 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-092-005 10,019 G-C 0.35 3,506.58 2,349.41 3 None 

115-113-001 12,197 G-C 0.35 4,268.88 2,860.15 4 None 

115-113-0Q4 7,841 G-C 0.35 2,744.28 1,838.67 3 None 

115-113-005 16,117 G-C 0.35 5,641.02 3,779.48 6 None 

115-071-015 11,761 G-C 0.35 4,116.42 2,758.00 4 None 

115-071-018 33,977 G-C 0.35 11,891.88 7,967.56 13 None 

115-072-014 2,178 G-C 0.35 762.30 510.74 0 None 

115-072-015 5,227 G-C 0.35 1,829.52 1,225.78 2 None 

115-072-018 11,326 G-C 0.35 3,963.96 2,655.85 4 None 

115-092-016 3,485 G-C 0.35 1,219.68 817.19 1 None 

115-092-017 2,178 G-C 0.35 762.30 510.74 0 None 

115-092-019 6,970 G-C 0.35 2,439.36 1,634.37 2 None 

115-092-023 3,485 G-C 0.35 1,219.68 817.19 1 None 

115-101-003 3,485 G-C 0.35 1,219.68 817.19 1 None 



 

114 
 

[Table B-4] 
 

Parcel Number 

Parcel 
Site  

(sq. ft.) 
Zoning  

Floor-
Area  
Ratio  

Maximum  
Developable 
Area (sq. ft.) 

Maximum  
Residential 

Area (sq. ft.) 

Adjusted 
Potential  
Dwelling 

Units  

On-Site  
Constraints  

115-101-011 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-112-002 8,276 G-C 0.35 2,896.74 1,940.82 3 None 

115-121-014 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-072-001 10,890 G-C 0.35 3,811.50 2,553.71 4 None 

115-101-006 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-112-001 56,628 G-C 0.35 19,819.80 13,279.27 22 None 

115-113-006 16,117 G-C 0.35 5,641.02 3,779.48 6 None 

115-101-016 20,473 G-C 0.35 7,165.62 4,800.97 8 None 

115-052-009 5,663 G-C 0.35 1,981.98 1,327.93 2 None 

115-072-002 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-052-013 4,356 G-C 0.35 1,524.60 1,021.48 1 None 

115-092-009 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-092-021 10,890 G-C 0.35 3,811.50 2,553.71 4 None 

115-101-005 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-052-010 8,712 G-C 0.35 3,049.20 2,042.96 3 None 

115-051-004 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-072-010 5.227 G-C 0.35 1,829.52 1,225.78 2 None 

115-091-012 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-071-012 16,553 G-C 0.35 5,793.48 3,881.63 6 None 

115-072-003 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-092-006 10,019 G-C 0.35 3,506.58 2,349.41 3 None 

115-092-024 10,890 G-C 0.35 3,811.50 2,553.71 4 None 

115-121-016 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591,82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-091-007 7,405 G-C 0.35 2.591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-140-013 22,651 G-C 0.35 7,927.92 5,311.71 8 None 

115-112-003 27,878 G-C 0.35 9,757.44 6,537.48 10 None 

115-052-012 4,792 G-C 0.35 1,677.06 1,123.63 1 None 

115-072-012 3,485 G-C 0.35 1.219.68 817.19 1 None 

115-092-008 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-092-018 4,792 G-C 0.35 1,677.06 1,123.63 1 None 

115-101-002 3,485 G-C 0.35 1,219.68 817.19 1 None 

115-112-005 12 G-C 0.35 4,116.42 2,758.00 4 None 

115-052-014 11,326 G-C 0.35 3,963.96 2,655.85 4 None 

115-071-002 5,227 G-C 0.35 1,829.52 1,225.78 2 None 

115-071-003 3,920 G-C 0.35 1,372.14 919.33 1 None 

115-071-004 6,098 G-C 0.35 2,134.44 1,430.07 2 None 

115-071-005 4,356 G-C 0.35 1,524.60 1,021.48 1 None 

115-072-011 2,178 G-C 0.35 762.3 510.74 0 None 



 

115 
 

[Table B-4] 
 

Parcel Number 

Parcel 
Site  

(sq. ft.) 
Zoning  

Floor-
Area  
Ratio  

Maximum  
Developable 
Area (sq. ft.) 

Maximum  
Residential 

Area (sq. ft.) 

Adjusted 
Potential  
Dwelling 

Units  

On-Site  
Constraints  

115-072-013 3,920 G-C 0.35 1,372.14 919.33 1 None 

115-072-020 15,246 G-C 0.35 5,336.10 3,575.19 6 None 

115-092-012 7,405 G-C 0.35 2.591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-092-013 14,375 G-C 0.35 5,031.18 3,370.89 5 None 

115-092-014 2,178 G-C 0.35 762.30 510.74 0 None 

115-101-004 6,970 G-C 0.35 2,439.36 1,634.37 2 None 

115-101-014 37,897 G-C 0.35 13,264.02 8,886.89 14 None 

115-121-011 3,485 G-C 0.35 1,219.68 817.19 1 None 

115-121-012 33,541 G-C 0.35 11,739.42 7,865.41 13 None 

115-121-015 14,375 G-C 0.35 5,031.18 3,370.89 5 None 

115-121-017 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-140-001 12,632 G-C 0.35 4,421.34 2,962.30 4 None 

115-052-017 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-052-016 13,939 G-C 0.35 4,878.72 3,268.74 5 None 

115-071-001 18,295 G-C 0.35 6,403.32 4,290.22 7 None 

115-091-004 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-091-005 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-091-008 12,197 G-C 0.35 4,268.88 2,860.15 4 None 

115-091-013 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-133-004 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-051-005 6,970 G-C 0.35 2,439.36 1634.37 2 None 

115-052-003 4,792 G-C 0.35 1,677.06 1,123.63 1 None 

115-052-Q04 4,792 G-C 0.35 1,677.06 1,123.63 1 None 

115-052-005 4,792 G-C 0.35 1,677.06 1,123.63 1 None 

115-052-011 5,227 G-C 0.35 1,829.52 1,225.78 2 None 

115-071-014 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-072-004 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-072-005 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-072-007 6,534 G-C 0.35 2,286.90 1,532.22 2 None 

115-072-008 7,841 G-C 0.35 2,744.28 1,838.67 3 None 

115-072-009 14,810 G-C 0.35 5,183.64 3,473.04 5 None 

115-092-020 9,148 G-C 0.35 3,201.66 2,145.11 3 None 

115-101-010 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115·121-018 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-121-019 11,326 G-C 0.35 3,963.96 2,655.85 4 None 

115-121-020 4,356 G-C 0.35 1,524.60 1,021.48 1 None 

115-121-022 2,178 G-C 0.35 762.30 510.74 0 None 

115-113-007 14,810 G-C 0.35 5,183.64 3,473.04 5 None 



 

116 
 

[Table B-4] 
 

Parcel Number 

Parcel 
Site  

(sq. ft.) 
Zoning  

Floor-
Area  
Ratio  

Maximum  
Developable 
Area (sq. ft.) 

Maximum  
Residential 

Area (sq. ft.) 

Adjusted 
Potential  
Dwelling 

Units  

On-Site  
Constraints  

115-051-006 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-091-003 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-092-002 11,326 G-C 0.35 3,963.96 2,655.85 4 None 

115-051-009 15,246 G-C 0.35 5,336.10 3,575.19 6 None 

115-052-006 7,841 G-C 0.35 2,744.28 1,838.67 3 None 

115-071-016 12,197 G-C 0.35 4,268.88 2,860.15 4 None 

115-071-017 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-092-015 2,178 G-C 0.35 762.30 510.74 0 None 

115-101-009 7,405 G-C 0.35 2,591.82 1,736.52 2 None 

115-101-013 30,056 G-C 0.35 10,519.74 7,048.23 11 None 

115-121-021 1,307 G-C 0.35 457.38 306.44 0 None 

ALL 1,142,157     160,540.38 271,816.40 383   
 

Table B-5: Other Lots with Mixed-Use Potential 

Parcel Number 
Zoning 

Designation Parcel Size 

113-450-003 A-1 4.645 

113-450-010 A-1 1.775 

115-020-032 - 0.74 

115-020-033 - 0.1 

115-051-001 R-1 0.68 

115-051-007 - 0.44 

115-051-010 R-1 0.32 

115-121-023 R-1 0.17 

115-121-024 R-1 0.17 

115-133-005 R-1 0.17 

115-133-008 G-C 0.2 

115-134-004 G-C 0.34 

115-134-005 G-C 0.18 

115-134-006 G-C 0.51 

115-140-004 R-1 0.53 

115-153-004 G-C 0.32 

115-153-005 G-C 0.18 

ALL   10.19 

Note: Parcels without zoning designation are excluded from the total 



 

117 
 

7.2.3 DJ Farms Specific Plan 

The DJ Farms Specific Plan area covers 209 acres south of West Main Street (or State Route 166) and 

west of Guadalupe Street (or SR 1) in the southeastern section of the City. It offers tremendous 

opportunity for the development of market-rate and affordable housing in addition to public facilities 

and commercial uses. The 2012 Specific Plan calls for the development of up to 802 housing units on 

approximately 145 acres. Table B-6 shows the distribution of housing densities in the DJ Farms area. The 

remaining acreage is for commercial uses, parks and open space, and a school. Housing opportunity at 

DJ Farms is so much that it alone could primarily meet the City’s above moderate regional housing need 

for a couple of cycles into the future even without development elsewhere in the City. 

 Table B-6: Housing Capacity at DJ Farms Specific Plan Area 

Density  
Land Available  

(acres)  
Allowable Density  

(units per acre) 
Capacity 

(dwelling units) 

Low  30 Up to 7 units/acre 123 

Medium  71 Up to 8 units/acre 357 

High  45 10-20 units/acre 322 

Total  145   802 

Source: DJ Farms Specific Plan, August 2012 

The DJ Farms Specific Plan area broke ground in 2015, built and sold 130 new housing units by January 

2019. As of August 2022, 363 units were built with approval for construction of 377 more. 

7.2.4 People’s Self-Help Housing Project 

People’s Self-Help Housing broke ground in January 2019 to add additional 37 low-income units to the 

Guadalupe Ranch Acres site on 11th street to be called Escalante Meadows. Table A-3b shows the 

distribution of units all of which are restricted to serve specified low-income categories. With the 

completion of this project, the City of Guadalupe met practically all its housing need allocation for the 

new RHNA cycle in the lower income groups.  

7.2.5 Santa Barbara County Housing Authority 

Escalante Meadows is the newest affordable and assisted housing project of the Santa Barbara County 

Housing Authority in Guadalupe, CA. It involves the demolition of 52 Public Housing units and $60M 

reconstruction of 80 new units through the HUD Rental Assistance Demonstration program (RAD).  The 

existing 52 Public Housing duplex units were built in three phases beginning in the mid 1950’s and have 

exceeded their useful life.  The redevelopment will keep the previous mix of unit types and add 28 

additional units.  All new buildings will be of similar garden apartment style construction.  Additionally, 

the project will include 1,125 square feet of a maintenance building on-site. 

Common area amenities will include a large children’s playground, sports court, community playground, 

BBQ/picnic area, bicycle racks, and raised‐bed community garden space.  The covered parking will also 

include the installation of a photovoltaic solar system targeted to meet 100% of consumption needs.  

The project will be built in accordance with the minimum requirements of the GreenPoint Rated 

program. Figure A-3 shows a 3-D view of the development. 



 

118 
 

7.2.6 Conclusions on Inventory of Residential Opportunities 

The 2042 General Plan has determined that Guadalupe already has enough land within its City limits to 

accommodate growth to 2042 and beyond.  The 2042 General Plan and this 6th Cycle Housing Element 

therefore identified enough land for the construction of housing to suit households in all income groups 

and fulfill the City’s share of the Regional Housing Needs Allocation. Opportunities for housing 

development include vacant infill, mixed-use, and the DJ Farms sites. Other options, especially for 

affordable housing, exist in the built-up area for accessory (or secondary) dwelling units (also termed 

granny units). While Guadalupe's housing allocation can be met without exercising all these options, 

they present multiple opportunities for affordable and market rate housing within the City.  



 

119 
 

7.3 Appendix C: Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing 

7.3.0 Legislative Basis for Fair Housing 

Assembly Bill 686 passed in 2017 requiring Housing Elements to include an analysis of barriers that 

restrict access to opportunity and commitments from local governments to specific meaningful actions 

to Affirmatively Further Fair Housing (AFFH) that are consistent with the Federal Fair Housing Act. AB 

686 mandates that local governments identify meaningful goals to address the impacts of systemic 

issues such as residential segregation, housing cost burden, and unequal educational or employment 

opportunities in as far as these issues create or perpetuate discrimination against protected classes. 

Therefore, AB 686 seeks the following: 

• Requires the State, cities, counties, and public housing authorities to administer programs and 

activities related to housing and community development in a way that affirmatively furthers 

fair housing;  

• Prohibits the State, cities, counties, and public housing authorities from taking actions that are 

materially inconsistent with the AFFH obligation;  

• Requires that the interpretation of the AFFH obligation be consistent with HUD’s 2015 

regulation, irrespective of federal actions on the regulation;  

• Adds an AFFH analysis to the mandated, short-term, Housing Element that are due from the 

beginning of 2021; and  

• Requires that the AFFH analysis in the Housing Element includes an examination of issues such 

as segregation and resident displacement, as well as the required identification of fair housing 

goals.  

 

Effective January 1 2021, Government Code section 65583, subdivision (c)(10)(A) requires Housing 

Elements to include an assessment of fair housing. The discussion is to cover regional and local trends in 

specified topical areas. The checklist of topics for discussion includes the following five parts:  

1. Part 1 Outreach and Fair Housing Enforcement 

2. Part 2 Assessment of Fair Housing (in four thematic areas) 

3. Part 3 Sites Inventory 

4. Part 4 Identification of Contributing Factors 

5. Part 5 Goals and Actions 

The Assessment of Fair Housing in Part 2 is to include discussion of these four thematic areas:  

a) Integration and segregation patterns and trends 

b) Racially or ethnically concentrated areas of poverty 

c) Disparities in access to opportunity 

d) Disproportionate housing needs within the jurisdiction, including displacement risk. 

The sections that follow describe and analyze these topical areas for Guadalupe. 

7.3.1 Fair Housing Outreach & Enforcement 

7.3.1.1 Fair Housing Outreach 

This housing element is a product of broad community participation by stakeholders of Guadalupe, 

including residents, City Staff, the School District, Planning Commission, and City Council jointly with the 



 

120 
 

preparation of the General Plan and specifically for the Housing Element. Input from all segments of the 

community was to help assure efficient and effective evaluation, development, and implementation of 

appropriate housing strategies. During preparation of the update to the Housing Element, citizen and 

stakeholder participation was actively sought in four outreach meetings and two public meetings. 

Section 1.2 provides additional information on each meeting. 

A broad cross-section of residents in terms of ethnicity, income level, and occupation attended the 

meetings for which there were Spanish translations and versions of materials. Discussions at these 

workshops and meetings indicate that housing for families and farmworkers is a concern and both 

single-family and single-room occupancy units are desired to accommodate the need. Residents of 

Guadalupe also support infill development that is affordable by design in the downtown core of the City. 

This update of the Housing Element captures these community aspirations for housing. 

7.3.1.2 Fair Housing Enforcement 

Enforcement refers to activities directed at addressing compliance with fair housing laws. Such actions 

may include investigation of complaints, putting remedies in place, and disseminating information 

related to fair housing to assure community members are well aware of fair housing laws and people’s 

rights. There are two key laws to foster fair housing in the State of California. They are the Fair 

Employment and Housing Act (FEHA) and the Unruh Civil Rights Act. These laws cover the same 

protected classes of persons as federal law and also prohibit discrimination based on marital status, 

sexual orientation, source of income, ancestry, immigration status, citizenship, primary language, and 

such arbitrary factors as age or occupation. 

Regional Trends and Comparisons of Fair Housing Enforcement  

The United States Department of Housing and Urban Development - HUD’s - Office of Fair Housing and 

Equal Opportunity (FHEO) works toward eliminating housing discrimination, promoting economic 

opportunity, and achieving diverse, inclusive communities. FHEO maintains a dataset of all the Title VIII 

fair housing cases filed by FHEO from 01/01/2006 to 06/30/2020. Like other key data on Fair Housing, 

FHEO data is accessible online through the State of California’s Housing and Community Development 

(HCD) AFFH Data Viewer.  

For the purposes of this analysis, the “Guadalupe Region” extends from the City of Paso Robles and the 

City of Delano in the north to the City of Thousand Oaks in the south. It encompasses cities and smaller 

communities that are within both the central cost and the Central Valley of California and cut across the 

four contiguous counties of Ventura, Santa Barbara, San Luis Obispo, and Kern. 

Table C-1 shows the number of cases in 2010 and 2020 in the counties within the Guadalupe Region. 

Results indicate that Santa Barbara County had lower frequency of total cases than two of its 

neighboring counties with disability bias and familial bias as the main reasons for enforcement. What 

may be promising is the reduction by half in cases in Santa Barbara County between 2010 and 2020, 

which is similar to the rate in many of the other counties in the region. It is worth noting, however, that 

the reduction could simply be due to a half-year of data in 2020 which, if true, would mean little to no 

change in the frequency of enforcement cases between the two years. 



 

121 
 

Table C-1: Number of Fair Housing Enforcement Cases in Counties near Guadalupe, 2010 and 2020 

  2010 2020   
County Total 

Cases1 
Disability 
Bias 

Familial 
Bias 

Racial 
Bias 

Total 
Cases1 

Disability 
Bias 

Familial 
Bias 

Racial 
Bias 

Percent 
Change 
(2010-2020) 

Guadalupe Region  
Ventura 16 7 3 2 5 4   -69% 

Santa Barbara 10 8   5 2 2 1 -50% 

San Luis Obispo 4 1 3 0 4 1 3 0 0% 

Kern 17 9 6 3 9 4 2 0 -47% 

Region Total 47 25 12 5 23 11 7 1 -51% 

Source: State HCD AFFH Data Viewer, 2022) 
1Note: Cases may involve more than one bias category and other reasons may not be in the dataset. 

Figure C-1 and Figure C-2 compare trends in the distribution of the number of FHEO cases in 2010 and 

2020 respectively against State averages. The data, which is aggregated at the county level, reveals the 

following: 

• In 2010. Santa Barbara County depicted close to an average level of frequency among counties 

in the State of California, similar to its neighbor, San Luis Obispo County and lower than Kern 

and Ventura counties.  

• In 2020, Santa Barbara County again depicted close to an average level of frequency among 

counties in the State of California, but higher than its neighbor, San Luis Obispo County but was 

similar in frequency to Kern and Ventura counties. 

• The pattern for Sant Barbara, therefore worsened relatively between 2010 and 2020. 

 

Local Trends and Analysis  

The data on fair housing enforcement complaints is available at the county level. And the City of 

Guadalupe does not keep a record of such complaints. Therefore it is not possible to analyze local trends 

on fair housing enforcement cases. 

 



 

122 
 

Figure C-1: Distribution of Fair Housing Enforcement Cases in Guadalupe & Region, 2010 

 

Source: State HCD AFFH Data Viewer, 2022 



 

123 
 

Figure C-2: Distribution of Fair Housing Enforcement Cases in Guadalupe & Region, 2020 

 

Source: State HCD AFFH Data Viewer, 2022  



 

124 
 

7.3.2 Assessment of Fair Housing 

Guadalupe is a predominantly Hispanic community. In 2020, for instance, The US Census indicates 92 

percent of City residents claimed Hispanic origin. The assessment of affirmatively furthering fair housing 

(AFFH) discusses patterns and trends in socio-economic characteristics within the City and between the 

City and its region. The following subsections elaborate. 

 

7.3.2.1 Integration and segregation patterns and trends 

Integration refers to the situation when groups of varied demographic or socioeconomic characteristics 

mix in a geographic area resulting in even or proportional distribution of the groups within the area. 

Segregation is the separation of groups of varied demographic or socioeconomic characteristics into 

different geographic areas, resulting in uneven or disproportional distribution of the groups across 

geographic locations. This subsection discusses integration and segregation in the study area in terms of 

race and ethnic composition, populations with disabilities, household types, income groups, and trends 

in housing choice vouchers. 

 

7.3.2.1-a Race and ethnic composition 

The Fair Housing Act prohibits housing discrimination on the basis of race or ethnicity. Therefore, racial 

and ethnic composition of areas become useful considerations in analyzing housing demand, 

opportunity, acceptance, and other issues that relate to fairness in obtaining or keeping housing. 

 

Regional Trends and Comparisons  

Table C-2 reveals that the City of Guadalupe depicted slightly higher racial diversity than Santa Barbara 

County and neighboring counties in 2021. Guadalupe’s dominant racial groups were white (making up  

nearly half of the population), some other race (making up a quarter of the population), and two or 

more races (making up a fifth of the population). The shares of the white population ranged from 

approximately 60 percent to 80 percent among the counties in the region and therefore were noticeably 

higher than Guadalupe. There were clear differences in the distribution of the races between the City 

and the counties in the region. Table C-3 shows similar data for 2010 and confirms the persistence of the 

trends over the decade. 

Tables C-2 and C-3 also reveal that Guadalupe is a predominantly Hispanic community. This stems 

partially from its high dependence on an agriculture related economic base. The difference between 

Guadalupe and the region is most noticeable in Hispanic origin. While approximately a quarter to half of 

residents in the counties within the region claimed Hispanic origin, most of the City residents or 

between 85 percent and 90 percent claimed Hispanic origin in 2010 and 2021, respectively. Since 

persons of Hispanic origin are generally considered “minorities,” one can also conclude that the City of 

Guadalupe is a predominantly minority community. Therefore, Guadalupe appears more integrated and 

less segregated in racial composition, but not so in ethnic composition in comparison to its region.  



 

125 
 

Table C-2: Population by Race/Ethnicity - Guadalupe City & Region, 2021 

  
Kern County, 

California 

San Luis Obispo 
County, 

California 

Santa Barbara 
County, 

California 

Ventura 
County, 

California 

Guadalupe city, 
California 

Race and Ethnicity Estimate Percent Estimate Percent Estimate Percent Estimate Percent Estimate Percent 

Racial Distribution  

White 564,183 62.30% 225,822 79.90% 294,936 65.90% 592,773 70.10% 3,959.00  48.60% 

Black or 
African American 

48741 5.40% 4,237 1.50% 8,423 1.90% 15,486 1.80%      21.00  0.30% 

American 
Indian and Alaska 

Native 
8842 1.00% 2,371 0.80% 5,318 1.20% 9,584 1.10%      89.00  1.10% 

Asian 43812 4.80% 10,137 3.60% 24,633 5.50% 61,322 7.30%    396.00  4.90% 

Native 
Hawaiian and Other 

Pacific Islander 
1214 0.10% 309 0.10% 656 0.10% 1,677 0.20%      94.00  1.20% 

Some other 
race 

124,568 13.80% 12,831 4.50% 50,790 11.30% 58,603 6.90% 
 

2,027.00  
24.90% 

Two or more 
races 

114,284 12.60% 27,064 9.60% 62,895 14.10% 105,810 12.50% 1,552.00  19.10% 

Total 
Population 

905,644 100% 282,771 100% 447,651 100% 845,255 100% 
 

8,138.00  
100% 

Hispanic Origin  

Hispanic or 
Latino (of any race) 

495,742 54.70% 65,588 23.20% 207,554 46.40% 366,211 43.30% 7,178.00  88.20% 

Not Hispanic or 
Latino 

409,902 45.30% 217,183 76.80% 240,097 53.60% 479,044 56.70%    960.00  11.80% 

All Origins 905,644 100.00% 282,771 100.00% 447,651 100.00% 845,255 100.00% 8,138.00  100.00% 

Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2021 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP05  

Table C-3: Population by Race/Ethnicity - Guadalupe City & Region, 2010 

  
Kern County, 

California 

San Luis Obispo 
County, 

California 

Santa Barbara 
County, 

California 

Ventura 
County, 

California 

Guadalupe city, 
California 

Race and Ethnicity Estimate Percent Estimate Percent Estimate Percent Estimate Percent Estimate Percent 

Racial Distribution  

White 537,410 65.90% 223,464 84.10% 317,602 76.30% 559,845 69.20% 5,476.00  80.90% 

Black or 
African American 

45273 5.60% 5,666 2.10% 7,976 1.90% 14,532 1.80%      45.00  0.70% 

American 
Indian and Alaska 

Native 
8367 1.00% 2,539 1.00% 4,162 1.00% 9,881 1.20%      78.00  1.20% 

Asian 32097 3.90% 8,158 3.10% 20,663 5.00% 55,733 6.90%    174.00  2.60% 

Native 
Hawaiian and Other 

Pacific Islander 
947 0.10% 349 0.10% 804 0.20% 1,411 0.20%               -    0.00% 

Some other 
race 

159,750 19.60% 16,823 6.30% 50,387 12.10% 137,640 17.00%    856.00  12.60% 

Two or more 
races 

31,849 3.90% 8,578 3.20% 14,457 3.50% 30,038 3.70%    141.00  2.10% 

Total 
Population 

815,693 100% 265,577 100% 416,051 100% 809,080 100% 6,770.00  100% 



 

126 
 

  
Kern County, 

California 

San Luis Obispo 
County, 

California 

Santa Barbara 
County, 

California 

Ventura 
County, 

California 

Guadalupe city, 
California 

Race and Ethnicity Estimate Percent Estimate Percent Estimate Percent Estimate Percent Estimate Percent 

Hispanic Origin  

Hispanic or 
Latino (of any race) 

388,756 47.70% 52,751 19.90% 170,439 41.00% 315,604 39.00% 5,742.00  84.80% 

Not Hispanic or 
Latino 

426,937 52.30% 212,826 80.10% 245,612 59.00% 493,476 61.00% 1,028.00  15.20% 

All Origins 815,693 100.00% 265,577 100.00% 416,051 100.00% 809,080 100.00% 6,770.00  100.00% 

Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2010 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP05 

Local Trends and Analysis 

Within City comparisons are between neighborhoods as discerned from residents and local officials, 

housing type, income, and other socioeconomic characteristics in the Guadalupe 2042 General Plan. 

Figure C-3 identifies six neighborhoods within the City.   

Figure C-3: 2020 Neighborhood Designations within the City of Guadalupe  

 
Source: City of Guadalupe 2042 General Plan 



 

127 
 

 

Figures C-4 and C-5 show the concentrations of persons of Hispanic ethnicity in Guadalupe and its 

immediate region for 2010 and 2020, respectively. It is noteworthy that the concentration is more 

pronounced in Guadalupe than neighboring cities.  

Within Guadalupe, differences in ethnic composition varied only slightly by neighborhood in 2010. The 

highest concentrations (above 74 percent) existed in the predominantly residential neighborhood of 

Downtown, Northeast (Gularte Tract), West, and Obispo; the Pasadera neighborhood was not yet in 

existence. In 2020, the composition became rather uniformly high, rising between 75 percent and 100 

percent of the population in all neighborhoods except the new Pasadera neighborhood, which 

nevertheless reflected between 50 percent and 75 percent Hispanic origin in the population. Overall, the 

percentage increased by census block from an average of 83 percent in 2010 to 86 percent in 2020. 

 

Trends and Patterns 

It is discernible from Tables C-2 and C-3 as well as Figures C-4 and C-5 that trends in Hispanic 

residency have persisted and intensified across the region. In Guadalupe, the concentration of 

Hispanic residents increased between 2010 and 2020 to make it a de facto Hispanic community.  

 

Other Relevant Factors 

The typical pattern in the composition of labor pools by race and ethnicity indicates a more than 

proportionate concentration of persons of Hispanic origin in the agricultural sector, especially in 

California. As a geographical center of agricultural production in the State, the Santa Maria Valley of 

California has a high concentration of agricultural workers. Since Guadalupe is located in the Santa 

Maria Valley and its economic base is predominantly agricultural, it follows reason that most of its 

residents are Hispanic. It is also notable that incomes are much lower in the agricultural sector than in 

many other sectors of the economy. The issue of affordability of housing would gain prominence in such 

a community. Conventional knowledge indicates that Hispanics tend to have larger families than other 

races in the US. The average household size in Guadalupe was 4.0 persons in 2020 compared to 2.85 in 

Santa Barbara County. This would suggest the need for large housing units even as the units are 

affordable.  

 

Conclusion  

Segregation and integration are not key issues in Guadalupe. Population data indicates steady growth 

which would suggest the need for a steady supply of housing. The comparatively low incomes, the 

youthful population, and relatively large household and family sizes could indicate the need for 

affordable housing to suit large families among other special needs groups. 



 

128 
 

Figure C-4: 2010 Concentrations of Hispanic Population by Census Block in Guadalupe Neighborhoods 

 

Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2010 Decennial Census, Table P2 



 

129 
 

Figure C-5: 2020 Concentrations of Hispanic Population by Census Block in Guadalupe and its Region 

 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 Decennial Census, Table P2 

  



 

130 
 

7.3.2.1-b Populations with disabilities 

The Fair Housing Act prohibits housing discrimination on the basis of disability. The US Census Bureau 

identifies persons with any one of six impairments as having a disability. The impairments may relate to 

hearing, vision, cognitive, ambulatory, self-care, and independent living. Persons with disabilities may 

have special housing needs because of the higher health costs associated with the disability or 

inaccessibility and unaffordability of housing. Additionally, many persons with disability could depend on 

fixed incomes which could further limit housing options for them. Also, the disability status and the 

types of accommodations associated with them sometimes can make them victims of  housing 

discrimination.  

Regional Trends and Comparisons  

Figures C-6 and C-7 show the concentrations of persons with disability by census tract in Guadalupe and 

its region for 2014 and 2019, respectively. The concentration measured as percent of population varied 

widely across the region and within Santa Barbara County. The two maps reveal that the levels of 

concentration in the region reduced between 2014 and 2019 compared to the respective statewide 

averages. Overall, the percentages of persons with disabilities were close among counties in the region 

but varied widely by race, age, and type of disability as Table C-4 shows.  

Local Trends and Analysis 

With tract-level data one could not distinguish the concentrations in populations with disability among 

neighborhoods within Guadalupe.  Citywide, while the concentration was close to the state average in 

2014, it fell below the state average in 2019.  

Table C-4: Incidence of Disability in the Guadalupe Region, 2019 

 
Sources: U.S Census Bureau, 2019 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table S1810 

 Santa Barbara County, 2023 – 2031 Housing Element, Table D-6    



 

131 
 

Figure C-6: 2014 Concentrations of Disability Populations in Guadalupe and its Region 

 

Source: State HCD AFFH Data Viewer, 2022 



 

132 
 

Figure C-7: 2019 Concentrations of Disability Populations in Guadalupe and its Region 

 

Source: State HCD AFFH Data Viewer, 2022  



 

133 
 

7.3.2.1-c Household type or family status  

The Fair Housing Act prohibits housing discrimination on the basis of family status or household type. 

Family status refers to the presence of children under the age of 18, pregnant women, or persons in the 

process of securing legal custody of a minor child whether by adoption or foster parenting. Household 

type refers to such characteristics as family or non-family groups, marriage, male or female heads, or 

single parenting. 

Regional Trends and Comparisons  

Tables C-5 and C-6 show the distribution of households and family types in the Guadalupe region in 

2010 and 2019, respectively. In 2010, family households dominated across the region ranging from 78 

percent in San Luis Obispo County to 90 percent in Kern County and 95 percent in Guadalupe. By 2019, 

family households remained dominant but reduced in shares across the board ranging from 63 percent 

in San Luis Obispo County to 74 percent in Kern County and 82 percent in Guadalupe. 

Local Trends and Analysis 

Similarly, Tables C-5 and C-6 show county-level and city-level data but revealed that Guadalupe 

maintained the highest share of family households among other cities in the region. Data was 

unavailable at the neighborhood level. 

Table C-5: Distribution of Household/Family Types in the Guadalupe Region, 2010 

Household/Family Type 
Kern 

County 

San Luis 
Obispo 
County 

Santa 
Barbara 
County 

Ventura 
County 

Guadalupe 
City 

Total Households 
        

802,874     252,631      406,113     812,718  
             

7,080  

Family households 90% 78% 81% 88% 95% 

Married couple family 63% 60% 61% 68% 64% 

Other family 27% 17% 20% 20% 31% 

Male householder, no spouse 
present 9% 6% 7% 7% 10% 

            Female householder, no 
spouse present 18% 11% 13% 13% 21% 

Nonfamily households 10% 22% 19% 12% 5% 

        Households with a male 
householder 6% 11% 9% 6% 3% 

            1-person household 3% 5% 4% 3% 1% 

            2-or-more-person 
household 3% 7% 6% 3% 1% 

        Households with a female 
householder 5% 11% 10% 6% 2% 

           1-person household 3% 6% 5% 4% 2% 

        2-or-more-person 
household 1% 5% 5% 2% 1% 

Sources:  U.S Census Bureau, 2010 Decennial Census, Table P30 



 

134 
 

Table C-6: Distribution of Household/Family Types in the Guadalupe Region, 2019 

 

 
Sources:  U.S Census Bureau, 2019 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates 

 Santa Barbara County, 2023 – 2031 Housing Element, Table D-9  & D-10  

 

7.3.2.1-d Income groups 

Household and family income levels are key to housing affordability. The concentration of populations 

of various income levels in geographic areas affect perception of wealth of residents and have 

implications for integration and segregation of populations. The income profiles of areas have direct 

relationship to issues about fair housing especially for those in lower income brackets. Ultimately, the 

share of income spent on housing reflects affordability for respective income groups no matter how high 

or low the income or whether the household owns or rents housing. Housing that requires 30 percent or 

more of household income is unaffordable.  

Regional Trends and Comparisons  

Table C-7 compares median incomes in 2010 and 2020 across the Guadalupe region. In both years, 

median incomes were close between Santa Barbara County and San Luis Obispo County, noticeably 

lower compared to Ventura County, and noticeably higher compared to Kern County. The table also 

reveals that lower median incomes correlated with higher levels of poverty in the population. Over the 

decade, median incomes grew by 16 percent in Kern County and 36 percent in San Luis Obispo County. 

The percent of residents below the poverty level also increased slightly in the counties over the decade 

except for San Luis Obispo County where it fell by 15 percent.   

Figures C-8 and C-9 show the percentages of home owners by census tract who paid 30 percent or more 

of their incomes on housing in 2014 and 2019, respectively. In 2014, tracts in cities within the region 

indicate that 20 percent to 60 percent of owners paid more than 30 percent of incomes on housing. 



 

135 
 

Effectively, one can conclude that home ownership was generally unaffordable across the region. In 

2019, the situation improved slightly for owners across the region. One would assume that home prices 

fell, or incomes went up, or more wealthy persons took over much of the housing. or multiple income 

earners shared in the housing cost per unit. 

Figures C-10 and C-11 show the percentages of renters by census tract who paid 30 percent or more of 

their incomes on housing in 2014 and 2019, respectively. Similarly in 2014, tracts in cities within the 

region indicate that 40 percent to 80 percent of renters paid more than 30 percent of incomes on 

housing. Effectively, one can conclude that rental housing was noticeably unaffordable in communities 

across the region. In 2019, the situation improved slightly for renters across the region. One would 

assume that home prices fell, or incomes went up, or more wealthy persons took over much of the 

housing, or multiple income earners shared in the rental housing cost per unit. 

Table C-7: 2010 and 2020 Median Incomes and Poverty Levels in the Guadalupe Region 

Income and Poverty 
Kern 

County 

San Luis 
Obispo 
County 

Santa 
Barbara 
County 

Ventura 
County Guadalupe City 

2010         
Percent of Santa 
Barbara County 

    Median income $47,089 $57,365 $60,078 $75,348 $42,978 72% 

  Below poverty level 18% 13% 12% 8% 17%   

  

2020   

    Median income $54,851 $77,948 $78,925 $89,295 $55,511 70% 

  Below poverty level 19% 11% 12% 8% 24%   

  

Percent change 2010 to 2020 

    Median income 16% 36% 31% 19% 29%   

  Below poverty level 7% -15% 2% 5% 45%   
Sources:  U.S Census Bureau, 2010 & 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table S2201  

 

Local Trends and Analysis 

Data was not detailed enough to make comparisons by neighborhoods. Table C-7 reveal that Guadalupe 

historically depicted lower median incomes than Santa Barbara and the other counties in the region. It 

also depicted a higher percentage of persons living below the poverty line than the counties in the 

region. Over the decade, while Guadalupe’s median income increased by 29 percent, the percentage of 

residents living below the poverty level increased by nearly half or 45 percent. 

Using Figures C-8, C-9, C-10, and C-11, the census tract within which Guadalupe falls depicted similar 

trends as the region. For home owners, Guadalupe was in the 20 percent to 40 percent range in 2014 

and the situation improved in 2019 when less than 20 percent of owners had unaffordable housing 

costs. For renters, the situation was worse in 2014 when 40 percent to 60 percent of renters had to pay 

unaffordable cost for housing and the situation remained the same in 2019. 



 

136 
 

Figure C-8: Percent of Home Owners Paying >30% of Incomes on Housing, Guadalupe Region, 2014 

 

Source: State HCD AFFH Data Viewer, 2022 

  



 

137 
 

Figure C-9: Percent of Home Owners Paying >30% of Incomes on Housing, Guadalupe Region, 2019 

 

Source: State HCD AFFH Data Viewer, 2022 

  



 

138 
 

Figure C-10: Percent of Renters Paying >30% of Incomes on Housing, Guadalupe Region, 2014 

 

Source: State HCD AFFH Data Viewer, 2022 

  



 

139 
 

Figure C-11: Percent of Renters Paying >30% of Incomes on Housing, Guadalupe Region, 2019 

 

Source: State HCD AFFH Data Viewer, 2022 

  



 

140 
 

7.3.2.1-e Trends in housing choice vouchers 

The US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) explains the housing choice voucher 

(HCV) program as “the federal government's major program for assisting very low-income families, the 

elderly, and the disabled to afford decent, safe, and sanitary housing in the private market. Since housing 

assistance is provided on behalf of the family or individual, participants are able to find their own 

housing, including single-family homes, townhouses and apartments.” 

(https://www.hud.gov/topics/housing_choice_voucher_program_section_8)  

Public housing agencies (PHAs) receive federal funds from HUD to administer the voucher program. 

Notably,  participants  are free to choose any housing that meets the requirements of the program and 

are not limited to units located in subsidized housing projects. The PHA pays a housing subsidy directly 

to the landlord on behalf of the participant. The family then pays the difference between the actual rent 

and the amount the program subsidizes. With authorization from the PHA, a participant may use the 

voucher to purchase a modest home under certain circumstances. 

A key objective of the program is to help  participants get out of poverty. Therefore, if the use of HCV 

concentrates participants in areas of high poverty because of low rents in those areas, then segregation 

into enclaves of poverty can occur and it defeats integration. 

 

Regional Trends and Comparisons  

Figure C-12 shows the locations of subsidized housing projects in the Guadalupe region in 2021. They do 

appear in all urbanized areas across the region and are more frequent in larger urban areas. The map 

reveals that subsidized housing units tended to be distributed through the respective cities in the region. 

 

Local Trends and Analysis 

Figure C-13 shows the locations of subsidized housing projects within the City of Guadalupe in 2021. The 

map reveals that subsidized housing units are distributed across the City instead of clustering into any 

particular enclave. This is  consistent with the integration objective of the housing choice voucher 

program. 

 



 

141 
 

Figure C-12: Locations of Subsidized Housing Projects in the Guadalupe Region, 2021 

 

Source: State HCD AFFH Data Viewer, 2022 

  



 

142 
 

Figure C-13: Locations of Subsidized Housing Projects within Guadalupe and Vicinity, 2021 

 

Source: State HCD AFFH Data Viewer, 2022  



 

143 
 

7.3.2.2 Racially or ethnically concentrated areas of poverty 

HUD has developed a definition of racially/ethnically-concentrated areas of poverty (R/ECAPs). The 

definition combines thresholds for racial/ethnic concentration and poverty. Census tracts with extreme 

poverty that satisfy the racial/ethnic concentration thresholds are deemed R/ECAPs as follows: 

• The threshold for racial/ethnic concentration flags R/ECAPs with concentrations of non-white 

populations: 

o In relatively large, urbanized areas for up to Core Based Statistical Areas (CBSAs), which 

are urban centers of at least 10,000 people plus adjacent counties that are tied to the 

urban centers socioeconomically by commuting, census blocks with 50 percent or more 

of non-white populations qualify as R/ECAPS.  

o In smaller areas outside of CBSAs and larger geographies which are unlikely to have 

racial or ethnic concentrations as high as 50 percent, the racial/ethnic concentration 

threshold is set at 20 percent. 

• The threshold for extreme poverty typically defines neighborhoods of extreme poverty as 

census tracts with 40 percent or more of individuals living at or below the poverty line. Because 

overall poverty levels are substantially lower in many parts of the country, HUD supplements 

the typical with an alternate criterion. Thus, a neighborhood meets the poverty qualification for 

R/ECAP based on the lower of two poverty thresholds: 

o If it has a poverty rate that exceeds 40 percent.   

o If it is three or more times the average tract poverty rate for its metropolitan or 

micropolitan area.  

Similarly, the California Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) and the California 

Tax Credit Allocation Committee (TCAC) convened a group of independent organizations and research 

centers in February 2017 that became the California Fair Housing Task Force. TCAC and HCD charged the 

Task Force with the creation of an opportunity map to identify areas in every region of the State where 

research supports the need for positive economic, educational, and health outcomes for low-income 

families and especially in the long-term outcomes for children. 

Regional Trends and Comparisons  

Figure C-14, Figure C-15, Figure C-16, and Figure C-17 depict trends in the incidence of race and ethnic 

concentrations of poverty within Guadalupe and its region in 2000, 2010, 2013, and 2020, respectively. 

The maps reveal that such concentrations were rare within the region. Such incidences appeared in 

Atascadero, (which is a city in San Luis Obispo County to the north of Guadalupe) by 2010 and remained 

thereafter. As of 2020, such incidences remained extremely low in Guadalupe and most of the region in 

comparison to the state average.   

 



 

144 
 

Figure C-14: Racially and Ethnically Concentrated Areas of Poverty in Guadalupe & Region, 2000  

 

Sources: State HCD AFFH Data Viewer, 2022. Decennial census (2000) 



 

145 
 

Figure C-15: Racially and Ethnically Concentrated Areas of Poverty in Guadalupe & Region, 2010  

 

Sources: State HCD AFFH Data Viewer, 2022. Decennial census (2010) 



 

146 
 

Figure C-16: Racially and Ethnically Concentrated Areas of Poverty in Guadalupe & Region, 2013  

 

Sources: State HCD AFFH Data Viewer, 2022. American Community Survey (ACS), 2009-2013 

  



 

147 
 

Figure C-17: Composite Opportunity Areas in Guadalupe & Region, 2020  

 

Sources: State HCD AFFH Data Viewer, 2022. Original data sourced from: 

https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/ctcac/opportunity/2020.asp  



 

148 
 

Local Trends and Analysis 

Available data did not show that Guadalupe’s neighborhoods had such areas of poverty from 2000 

through 2020. Given that most of the population in Guadalupe is Hispanic, neighborhoods of noticeably 

low income could become ethnically concentrated areas of poverty, but available data did not confirm 

that situation. Figures C-18 and C-19 reveal that concentrations of non-Hispanic whites was low within 

the census blocks that make up Guadalupe neighborhoods. The most noticeable concentrations were in 

the downtown neighborhood in 2010. Overall, the percentage decreased by census block from an 

average of 11 percent in 2010 to 8 percent in 2020. 

It is noteworthy that the City as a whole falls predominantly in the lower income categories. Prior to 

2020, comparative median income data confirmed the need for more affordable housing in Guadalupe 

than some other communities in the region.  Since Guadalupe depicted approximately 70 percent of the 

Area Median Income (AMI), it fell under the classification of a “disadvantaged community” according to 

the criteria of the State of California. 

By 2020 after the Pasadera housing development came online with residents largely in the moderate 

and above moderate income brackets, median income in Guadalupe increased although it remained one 

of the three lowest in Santa Barbara County. With a median income in 2020 of $68,000 (81% of AMI) 

Guadalupe barely exceeded the 80 percent threshold to be classified as disadvantaged. Indeed, many 

residents remained in the lower income categories. This provides further justification for relatively more 

affordable housing to adequately accommodate the many lower income residents of the City. 

Trends and Patterns 

Figures C-14 through C-17 show that trends of minimal incidence in concentrations of poverty persisted 

across the region from 2000 to 2010 and beyond. It is noteworthy, however, that minority populations 

were generally low in the region. Guadalupe, which had a  relatively higher incidence of minorities in the 

region, also had a dominant Hispanic population. This could create the potential for large enough 

concentrations of Hispanic populations who lived in poverty to meet the criteria. 

Other Relevant Factors 

The interplay of low incomes and higher housing costs in California than other parts of the nation mean 

high burdens of housing cost among households. Concentrations of poverty or not, the problem with 

affordability of housing is pervasive across the State. 

Conclusion  

Relatively low incomes vis-à-vis relatively large families and households with relatively high 

unemployment can lead to poverty. That is no longer the situation in Guadalupe. Household sizes are 

large but more families in the City are in higher income groups. The 2020 unemployment rate of 3.9 

percent compared favorably to the County rate of 5.7 percent. There remains, however, many family 

units in the City within those income categories in need of affordable housing. The relatively 

homogeneous ethnic composition in Guadalupe all but eliminates the issue of poverty concentrations by 

racial enclaves but the City’s Hispanic dominance can create ethnic concentrations of poverty.   



 

149 
 

Figure C-18: Concentrations of Non-Hispanic Whites in Guadalupe Neighborhoods, 2010  

 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2010 Decennial Census, Table P2  



 

150 
 

Figure C-19: Concentrations of Non-Hispanic Whites in Guadalupe Neighborhoods, 2020  

 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 Decennial Census, Table P2  



 

151 
 

7.3.2.3 Disparities in access to opportunity 

Research shows that places have independent and inter-related effects on such critical life outcomes as 

educational attainment, earnings from employment, and economic mobility. Different places present 

different levels of opportunity to achieve these critical life outcomes as well as housing choice.  Mapping 

is a way to measure and visualize place-based characteristics linked to opportunity.  Results of the 

analyses can inform how to target investments and policies to achieve beneficial economic, educational, 

health, and housing outcomes. It is noteworthy, however, that opportunity mapping has limitations 

since the accuracy of maps depends on the accuracy of the data which may derive from self-reported 

surveys of subsets of an area’s population, and sometimes may not be recorded or be reliable in some 

areas.  

The County of Santa Barbara has determined opportunity indices based on HUD criteria. The County 

notes that the federal government has repealed the Federal AFFH Rule, but the data and mapping tool 

to aid preparation of the AFFH remains useful in determining segregation and disparities in access to 

opportunity. (County of Santa Barbara, 2023 – 2031 Housing Element). The definitions of various 

opportunity indices are as follows: 

• School Proficiency: This index applies school-level data on the performance of 4th grade students 

on State exams to describe neighborhoods in the proximity of high-performing and low-performing 

elementary schools. The higher the value of the index, the higher is the quality of the school 

system serving the neighborhood. 

• Labor Market Engagement: This index summarizes the relative intensity of labor market 

engagement and human capital in a neighborhood based on the level of employment, labor force 

participation, and educational attainment within the applicable census tract. The higher the value 

of the index, the higher is the labor force participation and human capital in the neighborhood. 

• Transit Access: This index is based on estimates of transit trips taken by a single-parent family with 

three persons and income at 50 percent of the median income for renters in the region, which is 

defined as the Core-Based Statistical Area (CBSA). The higher the value of the index, the more likely 

it is that residents in that neighborhood would use public transit. 

• Transportation Cost: This index is based on estimates of transportation costs for a single-parent 

family with three persons and income at 50 percent of the median income for renters in the 

region, which is defined as the Core-Based Statistical Area (CBSA). The higher the value of the 

index, the lower the cost of transportation in that neighborhood. 

• Proximity to Jobs: This index estimates the accessibility of a residential neighborhood as an inverse 

function of its distances to all job locations within a region (CBSA) and a direct function of the sizes 

of the employment centers. The higher the value of the index, the better the access to 

employment opportunities for residents in the neighborhood. 



 

152 
 

• Environmental Health: This index summarizes potential exposure to harmful toxins at the 

neighborhood level. The higher the value of the index, the lower the exposure to toxins that are 

harmful to human health. Therefore, the higher the index value, the better the environmental 

quality of the neighborhood, which is defined as a census block-group. 

 

Regional Trends and Comparisons  

Figure C-20 depicts the levels of resource availability in Guadalupe and its region in 2020. Within the 

Guadalupe region, population centers in northern San Luis Obispo County to the north and southern 

Santa Barbara County to the south feature varying levels of opportunity measured in levels of resource 

availability which range from low to high. Guadalupe together with Santa Maria fall to the lower end of 

the range with the classification of low-resource.   

Figure C-20: Levels of Resource Availability in Guadalupe & Region, 2020  

 
Sources: State HCD AFFH Data Viewer, 2022. 

Educational attainment and level of training affect job opportunities a person qualifies to hold. And the 

number and type of new future jobs affect future housing needs. Table C-8 shows comparative 



 

153 
 

opportunity Indices in 2020 for School Proficiency in the four counties in the Guadalupe region (County 

of Santa Barbara, 2023 – 2031 Housing Element, Table D-17). Based on school-level data on the 

performance of 4th grade students on State exams,  the indices reflect proximity of neighborhoods to 

high-performing and low-performing elementary schools. The higher the index, the higher the quality of 

the school systems.  

With indices ranging from 57 to 78, San Luis Obispo County had the highest indices within the region 

across all races and ethnicity as well as for residents living below the poverty level with indices ranging 

from 60 to 80. Black and Asian or Pacific Islander residents had the highest indices while Hispanic 

residents had the lowest.  

Kern County had the lowest indices within the region ranging from 21 to 31. For residents living below 

the poverty level, the index range of 13 to 29 suggests even more difficult access to education. White 

residents had the highest indices while Black and Hispanic residents had the lowest. 

Indices for Santa Barbara County fell in the middle of the range from approximately 26 to 45 generally. 

For populations below the poverty level, the range was a tad lower ranging from 20 to 45. White 

residents had the highest indices while Black and Hispanic residents had the lowest. 

Table C-8: Comparative opportunity Indices for School Proficiency in the Guadalupe Region, 2020 

 
Sources: HUD, 2020; County of Santa Barbara, 2023 – 2031 Housing Element, Table D-17. 

Local Trends and Analysis 

Different types of employment opportunities determine household incomes which in turn determine 

the types and sizes of housing that households could afford.  Table C-9 shows indices on access to 

opportunity within Santa Barbara County. The indices confirm generally lower levels of opportunities for 

minority groups. The minority groups most noticeably disadvantaged in terms of access to opportunities 

are Blacks and Hispanics among the general population and among those below the poverty line. Indices 



 

154 
 

on transportation cost and environmental health are the two that appear most equitable in the 

Guadalupe area. 

Table C-9: HUD Opportunity Indicators in Santa Barbara County, 2010 

 
Sources: HUD, 2020; County of Santa Barbara, 2023 – 2031 Housing Element, Table D-16. 

Table C-10 is a summary from the American Community Survey. It shows that both Guadalupe and Santa 

Barbara County as a whole reflected relatively similar levels of employment with approximately 95 

percent of those residents in the labor force employed in 2020. Similarly, approximately 5 percent of 

those in the labor force were unemployed. Guadalupe, however, depicted a slight advantage in the 

unemployment rate. On the surface, employment status would suggest some modicum of fairness. 

Nevertheless, the types of jobs and remuneration can make major differences in equality of economic 

opportunity.  

Table C-10: Labor Force and Employment Rates - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020 

  
Guadalupe City Santa Barbara County 

Persons Percent Persons Percent 

EMPLOYMENT STATUS         

In Labor Force* 3,529 68% 227,159 64% 

Employed 3,393 96.1% 212,400 93.5% 

Unemployed 136 3.9% 12,848 5.7% 

Not in Labor Force 1,669 32% 129,540 36% 

All ages 16 and over 5,198   356,699   



 

155 
 

  
Guadalupe City Santa Barbara County 

Persons Percent Persons Percent 

EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT         

    Population 25 to 64 years 3,383              208,085    

        Less than high school graduate     1,367  40% 41,349  20% 

        High school graduate (includes 
equivalency) 616  18% 35,333 17% 

        Some college or associate degree      1,056  31%   62,513  30% 

        Bachelor's degree or higher  344  10%  68,890  33% 
*Ages 16 and over in labor force 
Source: U.S Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table S2301 

Table C-10 also shows comparative educational attainment between Guadalupe and Santa Barbara 

County. The differences are extreme at the lowest and highest levels of education. In 2020, a notable 40 

percent of Guadalupe’s population did not graduate high school compared to half as much (20 percent) 

in the County. At the opposite end of the spectrum, Guadalupe had a third as much share of those with 

a bachelor’s degree or higher compared to Santa Barbara County as a whole. This disparity in level of 

education has major implications for type of employment and earning potential.    

Table C-11 shows the distribution of employment by occupation in 2021 and median earnings in 2020. 

The largest employment sector for Guadalupe residents was agriculture with approximately two out of 

every five employed residents; this compares with 6 percent in the County. Agriculture together with 

the natural resource group of occupations constituted the largest sector at 28 percent (compared to 13 

percent in the County) followed by sales occupations at 25 percent in the City and 19 percent in the 

County. The third and fourth largest occupation groups in Guadalupe were service and production 

occupations, respectively. The four top occupation groups employed 88 percent of Guadalupe residents. 

What is most notable is that those occupation groups predominantly offered the lower earning potential 

except for those in sales.  Comparatively in the management occupations where Guadalupe had only 12 

percent of its employed, the County had 38 percent of employed residents at salaries that are two times 

as high as similar fields for Guadalupe residents and three times as much as agriculture. With median 

earning at $23,171, agriculture provided nearly $8,000 more in median annual earning than the service 

occupation group, but it provided $42,000 lower median earning than the highest-paying sector 

(Management).  Close examination of the distribution suggests that working residents of Guadalupe fall 

predominantly into occupations that pay low to mid-level salaries that are below $45,000 a year. 

Housing affordability would depend on the number of income earners in households and families. 

Education and job training are ways to evolve toward opportunities for higher earning ability. However, 

populations in Guadalupe, particularly, lagged behind in educational attainment. In 2021, for instance, 

36 percent of the population in California attained a bachelor’s degree or higher. Closely mirroring the 

State, 33 percent of residents in  Santa Barbara County attained a bachelor’s degree or higher. Notably 

in Guadalupe, 10 percent of its population attained that level of education. This realization suggests the 

need for a push to provide resources and educational classes for low-income families in Guadalupe. 



 

156 
 

Table C-11: Distribution of Employment by Occupation (2021) and Median Earning (2020)  

[Table C-11]                                      
Occupation 

Guadalupe City Santa Barbara County 

Persons Percent 
Median 
Earning 

Persons Percent 
Median 
Earning 

Civilian employed population 16 
years and over 3,400   $26,646 211,109   $35,775 

Management, business, science, 
and arts occupations: 407 12% $32,288 80,757 38% $65,131 

Management, business, and 
financial occupations: 229 7% $33,750 32,271 15% $74,050 

Management occupations 177 5% $32,014 23,397 11% $79,312 

Business and financial 
operations occupations 52 2% $45,795 8,874 4% $64,244 

Computer, engineering, and 
science occupations: 28 1% - 14,346 7% $77,442 

Computer and mathematical 
occupations 0 0% - 6,552 3% $86,731 

Architecture and engineering 
occupations 17 1% - 4,954 2% $81,447 

Life, physical, and social 
science occupations 11 0% - 2,840 1% $53,261 

Education, legal, community 
service, arts, and media 
occupations: 96 3% $31,389 24,162 11% $40,723 

Community and social 
service occupations 12 0% - 3,532 2% $44,326 

Legal occupations 0 0% - 1,945 1% $91,988 

Educational instruction, and 
library occupations 56 2% $30,278 14,175 7% $33,044 

Arts, design, entertainment, 
sports, and media occupations 28 1% $67,882 4,510 2% $40,709 

Healthcare practitioners and 
technical occupations: 54 2% $43,125 9,978 5% $74,182 

Health diagnosing and 
treating practitioners and other 
technical occupations 15 0% - 6,608 3% $87,490 

Health technologists and 
technicians 39 1% - 3,370 2% $41,632 

Service occupations: 602 18% $15,167 43,154 20% $21,769 

Healthcare support occupations 194 6% $18,450 8,352 4% $23,968 

Protective service occupations: 78 2% $43,333 3,772 2% $60,329 

Firefighting and prevention, 
and other protective service workers 
including supervisors 60 2% $29,167 2,261 1% $28,196 

Law enforcement workers 
including supervisors 18 1% - 1,511 1% $81,767 



 

157 
 

[Table C-11]                                      
Occupation 

Guadalupe City Santa Barbara County 

Persons Percent 
Median 
Earning 

Persons Percent 
Median 
Earning 

Food preparation and serving 
related occupations 55 2% $14,777 14,008 7% $17,195 

Building and grounds cleaning 
and maintenance occupations 234 7% $7,165 11,195 5% $24,857 

Personal care and service 
occupations 41 1% $15,709 5,827 3% $20,536 

Sales and office occupations: 859 25% $41,622 39,562 19% $32,802 

Sales and related occupations 387 11% $23,750 18,604 9% $27,267 

Office and administrative 
support occupations 472 14% $52,237 20,958 10% $35,508 

Natural resources, construction, 
and maintenance occupations: 938 28% $26,037 28,050 13% $29,396 

Farming, fishing, and forestry 
occupations 646 19% $23,171 13,101 6% $23,950 

Construction and extraction 
occupations 163 5% $32,027 10,511 5% $40,214 

Installation, maintenance, and 
repair occupations 129 4% $36,023 4,438 2% $41,277 

Production, transportation, and 
material moving occupations: 594 17% $26,743 19,586 9% $29,563 

Production occupations 152 4% $26,902 7,365 3% $35,135 

Transportation occupations 119 4% $30,865 5,870 3% $31,601 

Material moving occupations 323 10% $25,898 6,351 3% $23,797 
Note: empty cells [ - ] indicate unavailable data 
Sources: U.S Census Bureau, 2021 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table S2401 (Occupations); U.S 
Census Bureau, 2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B24011  

Trends and Patterns 

Guadalupe’s location within reach of labor markets to the north and south in addition to its agriculture 

and production opportunities have enable it to maintain the trend of relatively low unemployment over 

time. Lower than typical educational attainment, minimal opportunities to improve skills in the City 

through education and training, and the necessity to work long hours to make reasonable income spell 

confinement to lower income jobs for residents of Guadalupe. 

Other Relevant Factors 

The situation in Guadalupe would more often than not lead to lower ability to earn higher incomes and 

the perpetuation of the need for affordable housing for the lower-income groups.  

Conclusion  

Many households in the City within the lower income categories would continue to need affordable 

housing. The relatively homogeneous ethnic composition in Guadalupe all but eliminates the issue of 

disparities in opportunities by racial enclaves but can emphasize such a phenomenon in terms of 

ethnicity.   



 

158 
 

7.3.2.4 Disproportionate housing needs with displacement risk 

Residential displacement may be defined as “the process by which a household is forced to move from its 

residence or is prevented from moving into a neighborhood that was previously accessible to them 

because of conditions beyond their control” (UC Berkley Urban Displacement Project). Factors that can 

trigger residential displacement include redevelopment of previously affordable areas to higher cost 

units and general increase in housing costs.  

The Urban Displacement Project’s (UDP) Estimated Displacement Risk (EDR) model for California 

identifies varying levels of displacement risk for low-income renter households in all census tracts in the 

state from 2015 to 2019. The EDR uses machine learning and household level data to predict 

displacement. To create the EDR, UDP joined data from the following multiple sources: 

• Household-level data from Data Axle (formerly Infogroup);  

• Tract-level data from the 2014 and 2019 5-year American Community Survey;  

• Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing (AFFH) data from various sources compiled by the 

California Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD);  

• Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics (LEHD) Origin-Destination Employment Statistics 

(LODES) data; and  

• The Environmental Protection Agency’s Smart Location Database. 

UDP uses a machine learning model to determine the variables that most strongly relate to 

displacement at the household level. A machine learning model is a computer algorithm that is trained 

with a set of data to recognize certain types of patterns. Then the UDP uses model parameters to 

predict tract-level displacement risk statewide while controlling for the region. UDP models 

displacement risk as the net migration rate of three separate income categories of renter households:  

1. Extremely low-income (ELI), which are households with incomes from 0% to 30% of the Area 

Median Income (AMI);  

2. Very low-income (VLI), which are households with incomes from 30% to 50% of AMI; and  

3. Low-income (LI), which are households with incomes from 50% to 80% of AMI.  

The model classifies census tracts with predicted net losses within these groups as experiencing any of 

three levels of displacement labeled as elevated, high, or extreme. The output also includes a category, 

termed “At Risk of Displacement,” in tracts that might be experiencing displacement. 

Regional Trends and Comparisons  

Figure C-21 shows estimated levels of displacement risk in Guadalupe and its region. While the full range 

of displacement risks exist in the larger cities of San Luis Obispo to the north, Santa Maria to the east, 

and Lompoc to the south, there are noticeable pockets of areas across the region that have the 

classification, “at risk of displacement.” This means the model estimates potential displacement or risk 

of displacement of the given population in the tracts with this classification. 

Local Trends and Analysis 

According to Figure C-21, the City of Guadalupe notably has the classification of “1 income group 

displacement”. This means one of the income groups in the census tract is likely to experience 



 

159 
 

displacement risk. Consequently, some of the neighborhoods could have small pockets of displacement 

within their boundaries. 

Figure C-21: Levels of Displacement Risk in Guadalupe & Region, 2019  

 
Sources: State HCD AFFH Data Viewer, 2022. 



 

160 
 

 

There are no development proposals in the Guadalupe General Plan and its housing section that would 

cause disproportionate housing needs within the jurisdiction or create the risk of displacing segments of 

the population. On the contrary, development proposals promote a variety of type and cost of housing 

in the form of mixed-use, ADU, and medium-income housing. The exception to this observation is 

difficulty in producing sufficient variety of housing to meet the allocation within every affordability 

group. The RHNA process determines the allocation within affordability groups at the regional level 

while considering the needs of the City and the larger region within which Guadalupe resides. 

Trends and Patterns 

Figure C-22 compares trends over the previous decade in vacancy rates within Guadalupe and Santa 

Barbara County. Guadalupe has hovered close to and sometimes dipped below the 5 percent vacancy 

rate commonly adjudged healthy for communities. The County has also maintained relatively low 

vacancy rates consistently at 7 percent of the housing stock. The relatively tight housing market within 

and outside Guadalupe in terms of available units is a condition that can trigger competitive bidding and 

ultimately displacement risk especially for those in the lower income brackets.   

Review of the previous housing elements reveals that Guadalupe has a progressively good record of 

accomplishment in meeting its allocated housing needs and most consistently in taking care of the need 

in the lower income groups. The following paragraphs illustrate.  

The 2009-to-2014 RHNA cycle straddled a period of weak recovery from the economic recession period, 

which began in December 2007 as a result of a crisis that subprime mortgages and the resulting housing 

bubble in previous years induced. The housing market correction that followed busted the housing 

bubble and the United States entered a severe economic recession. Although a recovery began in 2009, 

it was weak resulting in an erratic, slow, and uneven growth in jobs and Gross Domestic Product (GDP) 

through 2015. As a result, construction of new housing units halted in the City of Guadalupe during that 

housing cycle. The City saw the production of 3 new housing units in the above moderate income 

category. 

During Guadalupe's 5th Cycle (2015 to 2023), the DJ Farms Specific Plan area broke ground in 2015, built 

and sold 130 new housing units by January 2019 and a total of 363 by the end of 2022. The units fell 

primarily in the moderate and above moderate-income categories. By the end of the cycle, the City 

fulfilled more than its share of RHNA allocations of 50 units for the planning period in all the income 

categories. Appendix A has additional details. 

 The City of Guadalupe adopted its 5th Cycle Housing Element on May 24, 2016 and submitted it to HCD 

for review on June 9, 2016. While HCD found the adopted housing element to be in full compliance with 

State housing element law (GC, Article 10.6), it was nevertheless late and triggered the requirement 

[Senate Bill 375, (Chapter 728, Statutes of 2008), amended GC Section 65588(e)(4)] to revise its element 

every four years until adopting at least two consecutive revisions by the applicable due dates. Therefore  

the due date for the City to revise its subsequent housing element was February 15, 2019. 



 

161 
 

 

Figure C-22: 2010 to 2021 Trends in Housing Vacancy in Guadalupe and Santa Barbara County  

 
Sources: U.S Census Bureau, 2010, 2015, 2019, 2021 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table B25002 

 



 

162 
 

During the period of the 2019 to 2027 Housing Element, Guadalupe recorded the construction of 270 additional 

units mainly in the moderate and above moderate income brackets. Table C-12 summarizes progress in achieving 

quantified objectives under the 5th Cycle. The City exceeded housing production in both the lower income and 

moderate income categories. It is most notable that the pressure on demand for housing in the region also 

enabled the production of twelve times as many above moderate units as allocated under the 5th Cycle. 

Table C-12. Progress in Achieving Quantified Objectives (All Incomes) in 2015-2023 Housing 

Element 

Income Category  

Quantified 
Objective 

Completed Progress  Future 

(Allocated 5th 
Cycle Dwelling 

Units)  

(Completed 
2015 to 2019) 

(Completed 
2019 to 2022) 

Total 
Completed in 

5th Cycle 

Percent of 5th 
Cycle RHNA 
Completed 

(Dwelling Units 
Pending 

Construction) 

  

RHNA 
Allocation 

New Construction 
  

Extremely low  5 2 4 6 120% 0 

Very Low 7 1 26 27 386% 0 

Low 8 1 7 8 100% 0 

Moderate  13 23 131 154 1185% 40 

Above Moderate  17 107 102 209 1229% 284 

    Total  50 134 270 404 808% 320 
00 – Accessory Dwelling Units 
00 – People’s Self-Help Housing Project 
00 – Pasadera Housing Development 

 

 
Sources: City of Guadalupe Planning Department; SBCAG, 2014-2022 RHNA Allocations. 

 

Other Relevant Factors 

Closely related to the risk of displacement are the price and availability of the housing stock. The 

housing vacancy rate depicts the availability, which reflects the relationship between housing supply and 

demand. For example, if the demand for housing is greater than the available supply, then the vacancy 

rate would be very low, and the price of housing would most likely increase. A low overall vacancy rate 

that indicates high demand and short supply of housing may result in overcrowding and ultimately 

unsafe, unsanitary, or otherwise unsuitable accommodations. When low vacancy results in high prices of 

homes and rentals, the effect is most severe on lower income households, people on fixed incomes, 

families with children, and other special-need groups. Housing discrimination could occur when the 

rental vacancy rate is low. And the risk of displacement could increase most notably to lower income 

households.  

The vacancy rate also indicates whether a community has an adequate housing supply to provide choice 

and mobility. The US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) indicates that a vacancy 

rate of 5 percent is enough to provide choice and mobility. The vacancy rate in Guadalupe over the 

previous decade ranged from 3 percent during an economic boom to 6 percent in 2010 in the aftermath 



 

163 
 

of the housing market crash of the mid-2000s. The data reveal that the City has been typically near the 

recommended vacancy rate of 5 percent, which would indicate that Guadalupe residents have 

somewhat of a limited housing choice and mobility and could be susceptible to displacement risks that 

low vacancy rates could trigger. Small numbers of homeless populations are known to exist in the City. 

Conclusion  

While there are no development proposals in the  General Plan and its housing section that would cause 

disproportionate housing needs within the jurisdiction or create the risk of displacing segments of the 

population, the City has been typically close to the recommended vacancy rate of 5 percent, which 

would indicate that Guadalupe residents have somewhat of a limited housing choice and mobility and 

could be susceptible to the displacement risks that low vacancy rates could trigger. While such risks may 

be greater for households in the lower-income segments from price competition, the City has 

steadfastly kept the production of lower-income housing at par with its allocations over the previous 

two cycles. And the incidence of homelessness is rare in the City. 

  

7.3.3 Sites Inventory 

Appendix B has details on residential land inventory. Preparation of the Guadalupe General Plan 

included a complete land use inventory in 2017, which identified specific sites that were suitable for 

residential development. The site inventory and analysis helped in determining whether program 

actions are necessary to designate sites with appropriate zoning, development standards, and 

infrastructure capacity to accommodate the RHNA-allocated units. Using the inventory of available land, 

the analysis proceeded to determine (a) the suitability of individual parcels and (b) the appropriate 

development densities. For the 2023 to 2031 planning horizon, the Santa Barbara County Association of 

Governments approved the Regional Housing Needs Allocations (RHNA) and assigned a total of 431 new 

housing units to Guadalupe. 

 

7.3.3.1 Location and Affordability of Sites  

The 6th-Cycle, 2023 to 2031 Housing Element, narrowed its focus on the location and affordability of 

new housing development onto the historically compact city limits as the most accessible and most 

location-efficient area for relatively short-term housing development. Table B-4 in Appendix B is an 

inventory showing vacant parcels with residential development opportunities in the downtown area. 

Parcels that are vacant and designated for housing development can accommodate housing units for 

households with incomes that are below moderate and moderate.  

For mixed-use development, the Housing Element designates mixed-use development at such strategic 

locations as the City’s historic downtown. This offers additional housing opportunities for a range of 

income groups, including those for lower income residents. The General Plan identified 2.7 acres of 

vacant land downtown to accommodate mixed-use (housing and commercial) development for low, 

very low, and moderate-income housing. Anticipated to be high density residential units, housing in the 

mixed use development can accommodate 35 additional housing units. Figure B-2 of Appendix B 



 

164 
 

identifies parcels designated for mixed-use development in the City’s historic downtown, replacing the 

previous General Commercial zoning designation. 

For accessory dwelling units, residential lots with potential to comfortably develop affordable accessory 

dwelling units (ADU) have the potential to generate 28 such units across 31 acres of single-family homes 

mostly east of Downtown and in the Gularte Tract. Table B-6 of Appendix B is an inventory of those lots 

while Figure B-2 of Appendix B identifies parcels with ADU potential. 

For moderate and above moderate housing the Pasadera development has the capacity to 

accommodate those types of units. Additionally, the General Plan has identified capacity across the City 

to accommodate a total of 639 dwelling units of various densities and price points. 

The analysis points to the conclusion that the number of units possible in the downtown area, the 

location of sites, and the affordability of units to build can accommodate lower, moderate, and above 

moderate income RHNA allocations and result in a favorable assessment of fair housing in Guadalupe. 

The sites would not raise issues with integration and segregation within the City nor would they foster 

racially and ethnically concentrated areas of poverty due to the City’s predominant Hispanic ethnicity. 

Rather than reduce areas of opportunity, the sites hold the promise of expanding convenience of access 

and filling gaps in any disproportionate housing needs of the past including the risk of displacements for 

lower income households. 

 

7.3.3.2 Improvement or Exacerbation of Conditions by Sites  

The concentration of new housing within the city limits of Guadalupe and the diversity of housing types 

proposed in the area are to assure location efficiency in terms of development cost since utilities are 

already present or within short extensions to the units to be developed. The cost of land would be 

minimal, if any, for mixed-use and ADUs which together with other location advantages can deliver 

affordable units of different sizes. Public transit already serves the City and is proposed under the 

Circulation Element of the General Plan to be routed through the City for increased accessibility to this 

transportation alternative. The increase in intensity of development together with the mixture of 

residential and commercial uses in the City would facilitate the use of non-motorized modes thereby 

reducing living costs for residents and indirectly expanding the abilities of those at the margins to afford 

housing in higher price ranges if they so choose. 

The analysis points to the conclusion that instead of exacerbating conditions for each of the fair housing 

areas, the concentration of housing under the 6th Cycle within City limits, can enhance the affordability 

of units to build, accommodate lower, moderate, and above moderate income RHNA allocations, and 

result in a favorable assessment of fair housing in Guadalupe. The compactness of the City would not 

raise issues with integration and segregation within the City nor would it foster racially and ethnically 

concentrated areas of poverty. Rather than reduce areas of opportunity, the compactness holds the 

promise of expanding convenience of access and filling gaps in any disproportionate housing needs of 

the past including the risk of displacements for lower income households. 



 

165 
 

 

7.3.4 Identification of Contributing Factors 

Among the factors that could contribute to high cost, environmental risk, and environmental justice 

concerns in relation to fair housing issues in a community are: (a) the presence of hazardous waste and 

(b) toxic release. For the City of Guadalupe, however, all indications are that these two factors are not 

major issues although much of the new housing is to go into a largely built-up area. There are, therefore, 

no other known contributing factors to fair housing in Guadalupe. 

According to data from the Cal Enviro Screen site, Guadalupe had little hazardous waste in its central 

city area.  Similarly, data from the Cal Enviro Screen site via the HCD AFFH Data Viewer indicate that the 

City had minimal toxic release in its City limits. Figure C-23 depicts the incidence of toxic release within 

Guadalupe. Compared to the State average, Guadalupe fell in the lowest category.  



 

166 
 

Figure C-23: 2022 Incidence of Toxic Release by Census Tract in Guadalupe  

 
Sources: State HCD AFFH Data Viewer, 2022   



 

167 
 

7.3.5 Goals and Actions 

Goal 6 of the 6th Cycle Housing Element and associated policies and programs consolidate actions 

toward affirmatively furthering Fair Housing. This section repeats the relevant policy statements.  

Goal 6: Equal access to sound, affordable housing for all persons regardless of race, creed, age or sex.  

Policies:  

Pol-6.1. Strive to achieve equal access to sound and affordable housing for all persons regardless of 

race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, national origin, ancestry, family status, 

source of income, or disability.  

Pol-6.2. Enforce the policies of the State Fair Employment and Housing Commission.  

Programs:  

Prg-6.1. Continue to provide information in English and Spanish from the Housing Authority and 

Department of Equal Housing and Employment about housing and tenant rights in City Hall.  

Responsibility: Planning Department 

Timeframe: Ongoing 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome: Readily available information about equal opportunity to housing 

Prg-6.2. Cooperate with neighboring jurisdictions and local organizations that sponsor workshops on fair 

housing laws and how those who are victims of discrimination can address their grievances including 

referrals of persons experiencing discrimination in housing for legal assistance. 

Responsibility: All City Departments 

Timeframe: Ongoing 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome. Minimization of housing discrimination 

Prg-6.3. Notify such stakeholders as Self-Help Enterprises, Housing Authority of the County of Santa 

Barbara, California Rural legal Assistance, and churches as well as post notices at public venues prior to 

public meetings for amendments or updates to the housing element. 

Responsibility: Planning Department 

Timeframe: Prior to public meetings and in conjunction with other planning efforts 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome. Awareness of Housing Element updates and increased participation 

Prg-6.4. Continue to permit up to 3-story structures in areas designated for multifamily housing. Notify 

and collaborate with such stakeholders as People's Self-Help Housing Corporation and the Santa Barbara 

County Housing Authority as well as post notices at public venues prior to public meetings about the 

amendments and create information material for dissemination to other developers. 

Responsibility: Planning Department 

Timeframe: Ongoing 



 

168 
 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome. Flexibility and attractiveness of multifamily housing sites for production of 

affordable units 

Prg-6.5. Evaluate the municipal code on the design review permit process and amend to include 

refinement of design guidelines that establish objective design standards and define required findings 

on terms like “compatibility” and “harmony” to reduce subjectivity and thereby address potential 

constraints or impacts on certainty about the City’s expectations on design. 

Responsibility: Planning Department 

Timeframe: within a year 

Funding: General Fund 

Expected Outcome. Lower subjectivity of officials and uncertainty to stakeholders about 

expectations of the City for design review 

 

  



 

169 
 

7.4 Appendix D: Development Fees 
This appendix presents a master list of fees, which combines common planning department fees with a 

master schedule of development fees in Guadalupe. City Council Resolution adopted the 2022-2023 

Master Fee Schedule. Requested services not covered by the Master Fee Schedule are to be charged 

actual costs at full cost recovery and might require a deposit. Where: 

Full cost recovery = actual cost + 35% Administrative Overhead    

Table D-1:  Consolidated List of Fees in Guadalupe 

 

[Table D-1]                                                                           Item Current Fee Proposed Fee  Increase 

Annexation Deposit $12,500 Deposit $12,500  $0 
Building Permit  Fee required by CBC  

  
Fee required by CBC  

  
  

Certificate of Compliance Deposit $750 Deposit $750  $0 

City Council Conceptual Review Fee $900 Fee $968  $68 

Coastal Development Permit Deposit $1,000 Deposit $1,000  $0 

CUP/DRP - major (by determination of Planner) Deposit $3,500  Deposit $3,500  $0 

CUP/DRP - minor                                                   Deposit $1,500  Deposit $1,500  $0 

CUP/DRP- home occupation permit Fee $298  Fee $320  $22 

EIR Addendum Deposit $7,500 Deposit $7,500  $0 

EIR or Supplemental EIR Deposit $25,000 Deposit $25,000  $0 
Environmental Clearance Review - Major (by determination of 
Planner) Deposit $1,000 Deposit $1,000  $0 

Environmental Clearance Review - Minor            Deposit $500 Deposit $500  $0 
Environmental: Negative Declaration - Complex (Mitigated 
Negative Declaration) Deposit $3,500 Deposit $3,500  $0 

Environmental: Negative Declaration - Simple Deposit $1,500 Deposit $1,500  $0 
General Plan Amendment - major (by determination of 
Planner) Deposit $8,000 Deposit $8,000  $0 

General Plan Amendment - minor                        Deposit $4,000  Deposit $4,000  $0 
General Plan Amendment & Zone Change - major (by 
determination of Planner) Deposit $15,000 Deposit 15,000 $0 

General Plan Amendment & Zone Change - minor      Deposit $10,000 Deposit 10,000 $0 
Grading Permit  Fee required by CBC  

  
Fee required by CBC  

  
  

Landscape Plan Check - major (by determination of Planner) Deposit $800 Deposit $800  $0 

Landscape Plan Check - minor             Deposit $400 Deposit $400  $0 

Lot Line Adjustment Deposit $1,500  Deposit $1,500  $0 

Lot Merger Deposit $750  Deposit $750  $0 

Map: Final Map Deposit $7,500 Deposit $7,500  $0 

Map: Preliminary Parcel Map Deposit $1,000 Deposit $1,000  $0 

Map: Preliminary Track Map Deposit $2,000 Deposit $2,000  $0 

Map: Tentative Parcel Map Deposit $3,000 Deposit $3,000  $0 

Map: Tentative Track Map Deposit $5,000 Deposit $5,000  $0 

Mitigation Monitoring Deposit $1,250 Deposit $1,250  $0 

Planned Development - minor                              Deposit $3,000  Deposit $3,000  $0 

Planned Development- major (by determination of Planner) Deposit $6,000  Deposit $6,000  $0 

Pre-Application Review - major (by determination of Planner) Deposit $2,500  Deposit $2,500  $0 

Pre-Application Review - minor                            Fee     $394  Fee     $424  $30 



 

170 
 

Public Facility and Traffic Impact Fees (per annexation lot) Fixed Fee $800 Fixed Fee $800 $22 
Public Facility and Traffic Impact Fees (per subdivision lot) Fixed Fee $300 Fixed Fee $300 $22 
Public Improvement Plan Checking (per single lot) Fixed Fee $290 Fixed Fee $290 $22 
Public Improvement Plan Checking (per subdivision) Fixed Fee $1,460 Fixed Fee $1,460 $22 
Sewer connection fee (per multi-family unit) Fixed Fee $2,361 Fixed Fee $2,361 

$22 
Sewer connection fee (per single family unit) Fixed Fee $3,542 Fixed Fee $3,542 $22 

Sign Permit - minor Fee $135 Fee $145  $10 

Sign Permit-major (requiring Council approval) Deposit $600 Deposit $600  $0 

Specific Plan - Development Agreement Deposit $10,000 Deposit 10,000 $0 

Specific Plan - New Deposit $8,000 Deposit $8,000  $0 

Specific Plan - Revision or Amendment Deposit $4,000 Deposit $4,000  $0 

Sphere of Influence Adjustment Deposit $5,000 Deposit $5,000  $0 

Temporary Use Permit Deposit $500  Deposit $500  $0 

Time Extension or Appeal Fee $687 Fee $739  $52 

Variance Deposit $1,500  Deposit $1,500  $0 
Water Connection Fee (based on the diameter of the service 
line) 

Fixed Fee 
  

Fixed Fee 
  $22 

Zoning Clearance - change in use only Fee $180 Fee $194  $14 

Zoning Clearance - home business application Fee $180 Fee $194  $14 
Zoning Clearance - new multi-family residential or 
commercial Fee $478 Fee $514  $36 

Zoning Clearance - new single family residential Fee $298 Fee $320  $22 

Zoning Code Change - major (by determination of Planner) Deposit $7,500  Deposit $7,500  $0 

Zoning Code Change - minor                   Deposit $5,000  Deposit $5,000  $0 

Zoning Code Text Amendment Deposit $2,500  Deposit $2,500  $0 

Zoning: Additional Reviews for All Zoning Clearances are 
billable at full cost recovery 

Full Cost Recovery 
  

Full Cost Recovery 

         

Any requested services not  covered by the Master Fee Schedule will be charged actual costs at full cost recovery. 

Full cost recovery= actual cost + 35% Administrative Overhead .  A deposit may be required. 

 

 

 



 

171 
 

Other Building Related Fees 

Water & Wastewater Connections* Current Fee Proposed Fee Increase 

 
Water Connections -- Res. & Non-Res. 

0.75" meter 

 
 

$2,905 

 
 

$3,138 

 

 
$233 

1.0" meter $3,269 $3,531 $262 

1.5" meter $4,359 $4,709 $349 

2.0" meter $8,717 $9,415 $699 

3.0" meter $11,623 $12,555 $932 

4.0" meter $16,226 $17,527 $1,301 

6.0" meter $28,332 $30,603 $2,271 

8.0" meter 
 
Wastewater Connections -- Residential 

$39,231 $42,376 $3,145 

Single Family (per unit) $4,359 $4,709 $350 

Multi-Family (per unit) $2,905 $3,138 $233 

Hotel    

Base plus $4,359 $4,709 $350 

Per Room $2,421 $2,615 $194 

Wastewater Connections -- Non-Residential   

0.75" water meter $4,359 $4,709 $349 

1.0" water meter $4,905 $5,298 $393 

1.5" water meter $6,537 $7,061 $524 

2.0" water meter $13,076 $14,124 $1,048 

3.0" water meter $17,273 $18,658 $1,385 

4.0" water meter $25,039 $27,046 $2,007 

6.0" water meter $42,497 $45,903 $3,407 

8.0" water meter $58,841 $63,558 $4,717 

* Water connection charges are set following the provisions of Municipal Code 13.04.020.C 
 Wastewater connection charges are set following the provisions of Municipal Code 13.12.250.B 

 

These code sections established charges in January, 1994 and allowed for annual 
increments based on the Engineering News Construction Cost Index. 

 

The New Fees above use the 2021 October Engineering Construction Cost Index 

Amounts shown represent the fee for connecting to City utilities, not the cost of 

installing the water or wastewater connection.



 

172 
 

 

Special Water Connection Fees* Current Fee Proposed Fee Increase 

 
Water Connections where no meter required -- 13.04.020.C 

Single family residence 

Duplex 
Three family dwelling or apartment 

Each apartment in excess of three, add 

Business establishment (5,000 sq. ft. or less) 

Business establishment (5,001 sq. ft. or more) 

Note: City's standard practice is to require a meter 

for all connections. 

 
Water Connections outside City limits -- 13.04.050 

Per lot 
 
 

 
Annexation required 

Developer pays cost of extension of water main 

 

 
$2,905 

 

 
$3,138 

 

 
$233 

$2,905 $3,138 $233 

$3,269 $3,531 $262 

$1,079 $1,165 $86 

$3,269 $3,531 $262 
Use meter size for Use meter size for  

comparable business comparable business  

 

Per Development 

 

Per Development 

 

Varies 

Agreement or Agreement or  

per City's regular per City's regular  

Connection Fee table Connection Fee table  

Yes Yes NA 

Yes Yes NA 

 

* Replaces by Resolution fees formerly set by Ordinance. 

 

 

 



 

173 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Per Development 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Specific fees in this table were in the Municipal Code. 
Same fee is now being established by Resolution. 

Further financial analysis must take place before City can increase these fees. 

Other Impact Fees Current Fee Proposed Fee Increase 

 
Park Development Fee (3.28.060) 
 

 
Each residential dwelling unit 

 
 
 

 
$150 

 

Per Development 

Agreement or 

 
$150 

 
 
 

 
$0 

(includes homes, apartments, & condos)    

Hotels & motels    

Per unit (including manager's quarters) $75 $75 $0 

Industrial buildings    

per square foot of floor area $0.10 $0.10 $0 
All other uses (includes retail, commercial, service)   

per square foot of floor area 
 

 
Public Facilities Fee (13.16.040) 
 

 
Annexation fee (per acre or portion thereof) 

Subdivision fee (per subdivided lot) 

Building fee (per square foot of floor area) 

$0.10 $0.10 $0 

 

 
$800 

 

$800 

 

 

$0 

$300 $300 $0 

$0.10 $0.10 $0 

 



 

174 
 

 

 

 

 

 

255.674 

Special Fees Related to Business Taxes, Licenses, and 
Regulations (Title 5 of Muni. Code)* 

Current Fee Proposed Fee Increase 

    

See Municipal Code 5.04 for Business License Fees    

 
Special Fees set elsewhere in the Municipal Code 

   

 
Astrology and Fortune Telling Permit -- 5.16.030 

Auctioneer's Permit -- 5.16.030 

 
$18 

 
$19 

 
$1 

$120 $129 $9 

Permit for Jewelry Sales at Public Auction -- 5.20.140 , 5.20.170, & 5.20.200   

Fee (first 30 days) $120 $129 $9 

Each additional 30 days $60 $65 $5 

Investigation of applicant Full Cost Recovery Full cost recovery  

Deposit $300 $323 $23 

Bingo Permits (non-profit organizations) -- 5.24.030 
One day 

 

$30 
 

$32 
 

$2 

Annual $300 $323 $23 

Annual renewal $300 $323 $23 

Cable Television Application Fee -- 5.28.030.A.6 
To cover cost of City staff review 

 

Full cost recovery 
 

Full cost recovery 
 

 (Deposit of $2,500) (Deposit of $2,500)  

Cardroom Work Permit (each person)-- 5.32.080.E 

Business permit = $500/business + $200/table (5.32.050) 

$241 $259 $18 

Coin-Operated Machine Permits -- 5.36.030 

Mechanical music machine (per quarter) 

 

$30 

 

$32 

 

$2 

Game machine (per quarter) $60 $65 $5 

Vending machine (per quarter) $12 $13 $1 

Public Dance Permit -- 5.40.060.A 
Per public dance 

 

$30 
 

$32 
 

$2 

Maximum fee per location per year $241 $259 $18 

Farmers Market Permit -- 5.51.090 $144 $155 $11 
 

 

 

 



 

175 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GMC section 9.22.370 Current Fee Proposed Fee Increase 

Cannabis Fee Schedule   

$3,013 

$19,904 

$1,600 

 

Community Benefit Agreement 

Annual Regulatory Fee 

Pre-License Site Inspection 

 

* Replaces by Resolution fees formerly set by Ordinance. 

 

Any requested service not covered by Master Fee Schedule will be charged actual cost at full cost recovery. 
Full cost recovery = direct cost (personnel time & materials) + 35% overhead 



 

176 
 

 

Code Compliance & Collections Current Fee 

 
Code Compliance Efforts -- Hourly personnel rate 

 
Full cost recovery* 

Full cost recovery* Collection Efforts -- Hourly personnel rate 

Stage 1 - Internal Compliance Proceeding 

Stage 2 - Hearing /Court Proceeding 

Full cost recovery* 

Full cost recovery* 

Late payment fee 10% of balance due 

($10 minimum) 

 
Citation & Fines may apply: 

 
Fines per Municipal Code 1.08.020 

1st violation: Up to $100 per offense per day 

2nd violation: Up to $200 per offense per day 

3rd violation: Up to $500 per offense per day 

 
*Full cost recovery = direct cost (personnel time & materials) + 35% overhead 

See Schedule of Hourly Personnel Rates for current personnel time costs 
Includes City employees & independent contractors 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

177 
 

 

Short Term Rentals Current Fee 

 
Initial Registration Fee 

 

$180 

Annual Renewal Fee $180 

Administrative Use Permit Application $394 

  

 

see Ordinance No. 2021-497 for Short Term Rentals, approved Aug. 12, 2022. 

  

 

 

 



 

178 
 

8.0 References 
California Department of Housing and Community Development. (2022). AFFH Data Viewer  

City of Guadalupe. (2019). 2019-2027 Housing Element 

City of Guadalupe. (2016). 2015-2027 Housing Element 

City of Guadalupe. (2023). Zoning Ordinance 

City of Guadalupe. (2023). Master Schedule of Fees 

City of Guadalupe. (2006). DJ Farms Revised Specific Plan EIR 

City of Guadalupe. (2014). Wastewater System and Treatment Master Plan 

City of Guadalupe. (2017). Background Report: Land Use Inventory 

City of Guadalupe. (2022). Guadalupe 2042 General Plan 

Pasadera Homes. (n.d.). DJ Farms Development web site: https://newpasaderahomes.com/pasadera-

site-map 

Santa Barbara County Association of Governments. (2023). Regional Housing needs Allocation for 2023-

2031 

Santa Barbara County Association of Governments. (2013). Regional Housing needs Allocation for 2014-

2022 

Santa Barbara County. (2023). 2023 – 2031 Housing Element, 

Santa Barbara County. (2016, 2017). Agricultural Production Report: 

https://countyofsb.org/uploadedFiles/agcomm/Content/Other/crops/2017.pdf 

State of California Employment Development Department. (2017). Protected Job Growth by Occupation 

from 2014 to 2024 in the Santa Barbara-Santa Maria-Goleta Metropolitan Statistical Area 

State of California, Governor’s Office of Planning Research (OPR). (2019, 2003). General Plan Guidelines. 

Sacramento, CA.  www.opr.ca.gov/ 

United States Census Bureau. (2015). On-The-Map Tool of the Longitudinal Employer Household 

Dynamics 

United States Census Bureau. (2006-2010, 2011-2015, 2016-2020). American Community Survey. 5-Year 

Estimates. Table 2301; Table B11016; Table B17013; Table B19013; Table B24011; Table B25007; Table 

B25009; Table B25014; Table B25020; Table B25031; Table B25056; Table B25058; Table B25074; Table 

B25095; Table B25109; Table DP03; Table DP03; Table DP04; Table DP-4; Table H1; Table H2; Table 

HCT012; Table S0101; Table S1810; Table S1901; Table S2401; Table S2501  

United States Census Bureau. (1990, 2000, 2020). Decennial Census. SF3 Table PF1  

United States Census of Agriculture. (2012). Census Volume 1 Chapter 2. County Level Data. Table 7 

Victoria Transport Policy Institute. (2008). Transportation Demand Management. 

http://www.vtpi.org!tdm!tdm4S.htm 



Page 1 of 4 

Agenda Item No. 10 

REPORT TO THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE 
Agenda of July 11, 2023 

  
________________________________     __________________________________ 
Prepared by:           Approved by: 
Tiffany Gonzales, Todd Bodem, City Administrator  
Community Development Director, LADG 

SUBJECT: Completion and Close-Out of CDBG FY 2017 Grant Project: Le Roy Park and 
Community Center and City of Guadalupe Community Resilience Plan. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

It is recommended that the City Council hold a public hearing seeking community input on the 
completion of the city’s Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) FY 2017 Grant Project: Le Roy Park 
and Community Center and City of Guadalupe Community Resilience Plan, adopt Resolution No. 2023-
62 for the approval and acceptance of the City of Guadalupe Community Resilience Plan, and adopt 
Resolution No. 2023-63 for the approval and acceptance of the completion and closeout report of the 
City of Guadalupe’s CDBG FY 2017 project/contract prior to the close-out of the grant as required by the 
Community Development Block Grant close-out process. 

BACKGROUND: 

In October 2017, the City of Guadalupe approved the submission of two grant applications to the State 
of California Department of Housing and Community Department (HCD) for the Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) program, approved a resolution in support of the grant applications, 
authorized the City Administrator to sign applications and supportive documents on behalf of the city, 
and hired Los Amigos de Guadalupe (LADG) which at the time was called Rural Community Development 
Corporation of California (RCDCC) for a fee of $1,000 to complete the grant applications on behalf the 
city. In November 2017, the city successfully submitted the two grant applications to the State’s CDBG 
program. In the original grant application, the city requested $4.4M for the rehabilitation of Leroy Park 
and the community center, and planning and technical assistance to develop a community resilience 
plan. Both projects were expected to benefit approximately 7,080 people. 

LADG (RCDCC at the time) , paid the $5,000 in required matching funds after the City Council approved 
the submission of the planning grant application with the grant application for the renovation of Le Roy 
Park.  LADG (RCDCC at the time) was awarded a contract with the City on October 9, 2018, to administer 
this grant which included a requirement for the preparation of the City of Guadalupe Community 
Resilience Plan.  

Tiffany Gonzales  



Page 2 of 4 
 

Leroy Park and Community Center: 

The design process started in November 2018 with a community-wide meeting to discuss what the 
community wanted to see at LeRoy Park and was followed by 13 community stakeholders’ meetings 
(known as Los Amigos del Le Roy Park) where the project design was refined, taking into consideration 
the suggestions collected throughout the stakeholders’ meetings and the budget of the project.  In April 
2020, the city received an email stating the Le Roy Park and Community Center project would be eligible 
for a 20% increase in funds, and in May 2020 the City Council approved Resolution No. 2020-32 to submit 
to the State of California CDBG program one or more application(s) for the purpose of supplementing 
the project. Due to time delays and increases in costs, project costs had increased from the original cost 
estimate that was completed in November 2017.  In July 2020 the construction contract was awarded to 
Quincon, Inc. for a total of $4,095,036 and groundbreaking commenced with a groundbreaking event 
held on July 24th, 2020. The project was awarded an additional $900,000 in October 2020 bringing the 
total amount in awarded funds to $5.4M.  
 
Twice the city applied for an extension to the State of California CDBG program to complete the projects. 
In September 2021 the current contract was approved for a new deadline of February 28, 2022, and then 
again in March 2022, with a final deadline of March 31, 2023. Due to several compelling issues, the 
project was slow to start, and due to significant cost increases since the application was submitted, the 
city had to phase in the work. During the design process, it should be noted that the project was 
determined to be significantly underfunded for all the features the community members had asked for 
in the initial application process. To move the project forward to the “construction phase,” the city and 
Amigos del Le Roy Park reduced the scope of work, with the understanding that the CDBG program 
would want at minimum the community center to be completed. Therefore, the city and the Amigos del 
Le Roy Park moved all park features to the unfunded Phase 2. This allowed the city to keep the project 
moving forward while adding park features as additional funding became available. The city, with the 
help of LADG (RCDCC at the time), successfully raised almost 80% of the needed funding to renovate the 
remaining park features via our Capital Campaign. 
 
City of Guadalupe Community Resilience Plan 

The work on Guadalupe’s Resiliency Plan began in early 2019, with an introductory presentation to the 
City Council on February 26th. Initial progress was strong, with leadership meetings in the spring of 2019 
and the first stakeholder meetings in September and November of the same year. With the onset of 
COVID-19 in March 2020, the formal Resilience-Guadalupe effort was put on hold as the community 
shifted its energy to an immediate response to the pandemic. 
 
The planning effort restarted with remote meetings via Zoom. Several remaining community groups 
were held along with 7 focus groups, all completed in 2021, which completed what was an extensive 
community participation. After the outreach effort was completed, the plan was placed on the back 
burner for quite some time due to Covid 19 and staffing changes/shortages within LADG. The draft was 
formalized and released for public comment on February 10, 2023. The draft plan was placed on the 
LADG webpage, an email was sent out to the LADG email list (400 strong), and a physical copy was placed 
at City Hall in the Administration Department and at the Guadalupe Library. No comments were received 
at the close of the comment period on March 10, 2023. The Final Copy and all the materials and data for 
a future initiative to implement the plan will remain available on the LADG website. A Final Copy of the 
plan will also remain available at City Hall in the Administration Department. 



Page 3 of 4 
 

 
On April 25, 2023, the City Council approved and adopted the City of Guadalupe Community Resilience 
Plan by resolution, as required by the State CDBG planning grant requirement, however, it is also 
required by the State CDBG that public notice be given about the recommendation of the City Council 
for its final approval and adoption of the plan. This was not done. 
 
DISCUSSION: 

The pandemic did slow down the Le Roy Park project and the City of Guadalupe Community Resilience 
Plan was stalled for nearly a year.  As noted earlier in the report, the plan was moved to a remote process, 
but the pivot from in-person to remote was slow. This was partially due to having to develop a remote 
process and because the next part of the planning effort was to develop a youth stakeholder meeting.  
The teachers and students were at home, sheltering in place, and many students had poor or little 
internet access. 
 
The sealed bid process for the Le Roy Park project had to be completed twice because, during the first 
sealed bid process, all bids came in higher than the cost estimates, and beyond the grant funds.  The 
solution to fully fund the community center was found when CDBG offered supplemental funding, but 
the City needed to re-bid the project. The City was finally able to execute a construction contract in 
August of 2020. 
 
Resolution No. 2023-30 was passed, approved, and adopted at a regular meeting on April 25th, 2023, 
unanimously, but because there was not a formal public notice provided to the residents about the 
recommendation to the City Council to approve and adopt the City of Guadalupe Community Resilience 
Plan as written, this action did not meet State CDBG process requirements. It is recommended by the 
city’s State HCD Representative to present before the City Council once more for the approval and 
adoption of the City of Guadalupe Community Resilience Plan following that the residents were provided 
with a formal public notice. 
 

ACCOMPLISHMENTS: 

Phase 1 of the Leroy Park and Community Center construction project was completed in May 2022 with 
a ribbon-cutting ceremony held in June 2022. This was a community event, sponsored in part by Central 
Coast Community Energy (3CE) and the Knights of Columbus. Live music and a free community BBQ 
helped residents celebrate the long-awaited milestone of the renovation of the city’s beloved Le Roy 
Park and Community Center.  
 
In May 2022, the City of Guadalupe was awarded an additional $1.7M from the United States 
Department of Agriculture Rural Development (USDA RD) under the Community Facilities program to 
complete Phase 2 of Le Roy Park and Community Center. 
 
Along with a list of Assets and Impediments and a comprehensive list of community data, the City of 
Guadalupe Community Resilience Plan has some recommendations directed at the community, not just 
City staff or the City Council. While some recommendations would require the city to implement, 
community-based organizations could pick up others. 
 



Page 4 of 4 
 

A total of 7,080 residents are benefiting from the completion of Phase 1 of the Le Roy Park and 
Community Center and the City of Guadalupe Community Resilience Plan. The Boys & Girls Club: Ron 
Estabillo Club House and Park are both back, up, and running, and serving the youth of Guadalupe.  
 
The project was funded for a total of $5.4M; $5,037,027 for the renovation of Le Roy Park and 
Community Center; $87,345 for the City of Guadalupe Community Resilience Plan, and $275,628 for the 
administration of the grant. 99.7% or $5,386,490 of the grant was expended, with $13,510 (.3%) to be 
disencumbered.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

Usage fees of the Le Roy Park and Community Center are expected to help generate some revenue for 
the City of Guadalupe. 
 
While this plan has no direct fiscal impact, the plan has the potential to generate funds with the data 
and findings being a valuable reference document for grant writing for both the City and community-
based organizations. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Resolution No. 2023-62 
2. Resolution No. 2023-63 



Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION NO.  2023-62 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE APPROVING AND ADOPTING THE 
CITY OF GUADALUPE COMMUNITY RESILIENCE PLAN 

WHEREAS, the City Council approved the submission of a State Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) program application for, among other activities, a Planning Grant on November 14, 2017; and 

WHEREAS, the City contracted with Los Amigos de Guadalupe (at the time was called Rural Community 
Development Corporation of California) to complete the Resilience-Guadalupe Plan on October 23, 2018; 
and 

WHEREAS, LADG completed extensive community outreach to ensure that all segments of the 
community were given the opportunity to participate in this planning effort; and 

WHEREAS, LADG used multiple methods to glean data/input from creating a Leadership Team, to 
developing a survey, to creating a Facebook page, to creating Zoom meetings during the Covid epidemic, 
to going into the Guadalupe Union School District schools to ensure youth involvement, to organizing 
Spanish only community meetings, to researching all public data showing important demographic data; 
and 

WHEREAS, LADG organized a final Leadership Team meeting, opened a public comment period for the 
final draft version of the Resilience-Guadalupe Plan, which closed on March 10, 2023, with no comment; 
and 

WHEREAS, as part of the State CDBG planning grant requirement, the program requires that the 
Resilience-Guadalupe Plan be approved by the City Council via a resolution; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council members received a hard copy of the “Final” Resilience-Guadalupe Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council members passed, approved, and adopted Resolution No. 2023-30 approving 
the City of Guadalupe Community Resilience Plan as written, and 

WHEREAS, because the City did not provide a formal public notice to the residents about the 
recommendation to the City Council to approve and adopt the City of Guadalupe Community Resilience 
Plan as written, this action did not meet State CDBG process requirements; and  

WHEREAS, it is recommended by the city’s State HCD Representative to present before the City Council 
once more for the approval and adoption of the City of Guadalupe Community Resilience Plan following 
that the residents were provided with a formal public notice; and 

WHEREAS, notice of the recommendation to the City Council to approve and adopt the City of Guadalupe 
Community Resilience Plan was given on June 30, 2023, by posting copies of the notice in three public 
places in the City and on the City’s website. 

ATTACHMENT 1



Page 2 of 2 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Guadalupe as follows: 

SECTION 1. The City of Guadalupe Resilience Plan as given to as “Final” for the purpose of “closing” the 
awarded activity from the State CDBG program after public notice has been given is hereby 
approved and adopted. 

SECTION 2. The City Clerk is hereby authorized to make minor changes herein to address clerical errors, 
so long as substantial conformance of the intent of this document is maintained. In doing 
so, the City Clerk shall consult with the City Administrator and City Attorney concerning any 
changes deemed necessary. 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting on the 11th day of July 2023 by the following 
vote:  

MOTION: 

AYES:  
NOES: 
ABSENT:     
ABSTAINED: 

I, Amelia M. Villegas, City Clerk of the City of Guadalupe DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing 
Resolution, being Resolution No. 2023-62, has been duly signed by the Mayor and attested by the City 
Clerk, all at a regular meeting of the City Council, held July 11, 2023, and that same was approved and 
adopted.   

ATTEST: 

______________________________  ____________________________________ 
Amelia M. Villegas, City Clerk  Ariston Julian, Mayor 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

______________________________  
Philip F. Sinco, City Attorney 



City of Guadalupe 
Community Resilience Plan

2023

City of Guadalupe 
Community Resilience Plan

2023

Completed by: Los Amigos de Guadalupe

Written by:  Sonia Rios-Ventura, Eric Larson, Tom BrandeberryPhoto Credit: Eric Larson, 2022



Contents 
Foreword ................................................................................................................................................................ 5 

Acknowledgements & Thanks .............................................................................................................................. 9 

About the City of Guadalupe ................................................................................................................................. 15 

Introduction .............................................................................................................................................. 15 

Geography and Climate ........................................................................................................................... 16 

History  ..................................................................................................................................................... 21 

Resiliency As Development ................................................................................................................................... 25 

Resilience Defined .................................................................................................................................... 25 

Resiliency is Not Just Disaster Preparedness, nor A Specific Response to 
Climate Change ........................................................................................................................................ 28 

Planning for Community Resilience......................................................................................................... 29 

A Portrait of Guadalupe -- by the Numbers .......................................................................................................... 33 

Holistic Approaches to Vulnerability:  Using Indices to Evaluate the Community ............................... 34 

Vulnerability as Impediment .................................................................................................................... 45 

The Core of Resiliency: Identifying Assets, Addressing Impediments ............................................................... 49 

Community Assets – A Community is More than Money ..................................................................... 49 

LeRoy Park and Community Center: A Case in Point ............................................................................. 51 

Connecting Assets and Impediments to Resiliency Strategies and Planning ...................................... 54 

Identifying Impediments .......................................................................................................................... 55 

Charting the Course Forward ................................................................................................................................ 65 

Guadalupe’s Dilemma: Developing Internal Resources to Increase Resilience 
Requires External Investment .................................................................................................................. 65 

One Possible Path Forward: Guadalupe as a Destination ..................................................................... 66 

Moving from Plan to Strategy: A Community-Owned Process ............................................................. 69 

Final Thoughts  ..................................................................................................................................................... 79 

End Notes  ..................................................................................................................................................... 82 

Appendix A – City of Guadalupe Resilience Plan Economic Development Opportunities/Constraints and 
Recommendations by Lisa Wise Consulting, Inc. ................................................................................................ 83 

Appendix B – US Census Data Summary ............................................................................................................. 103 





Page  |  1

Progress to Date 

Since this report is over 4 years in the making, it is important to acknowledge that 
some of the identified impediments from the early data collecting have begun to 
be addressed by the City, the School District and community nonprofits, like Los 
Amigos de Guadalupe. This is not a meant to be exhausted list and it doesn’t mean 
the work is done, but it’s important to acknowledge progress and the hard work done 
to date to support a more resilient Guadalupe. This is not a complete list but it is 
meant to be here to update the community on progress in resilience. 

City of Guadalupe

City staff work with developers and property owners to facilitate new business. 
Often, there’s more than one way to address an issue. Staff will evaluate multiple 
options, then provide the developer or property owner with acceptable options so 
that meeting standards can be met in the most cost-efficient manner.

• Guadalupe Business Association. The City, in partnership with Los Amigos 
de Guadalupe, worked with City staff and the Mayor, and local business leaders 
had a series of meeting with the goal of creating some sort of business group. 
These meetings directly resulting in the incorporation of the Guadalupe Business 
Association (GBA) as a 501 (C)(6) nonprofit. Additionally, the GBA and the City have 
worked closely on a number of subjects with the City for example, inviting the GBA 
to participate in review of proposed new ordinances. 

• Food Bank. With the Covid 19 pandemic, community members, led by the 
mayor and his wife, came together to address the urgent need for food security. 
This food bank service continues today and shows the degree of resilience the 
community already has. Additionally, the City used state funding to ensure those 
at high risk did not stand in line for food bank supplies but were delivered by Los 
Amigos de Guadalupe staff.

00



Page  |  2

• With support from Los Amigos de Guadalupe, the City determine that some 
of the City’s social infrastructure (City Facilities) needed to be improved based on 
early data from this plan. The City approved finding funding for the LeRoy Park 
(considered the community’s unofficial town square), Central Park (funds in place, 
plans being developed) and Royal Theatre (funds in place, plans completed, clearing 
conditions, and developing bid documents). 

• City staff have work with developers and property owners to facilitate new 
business. Often, there’s more than one way to address an issue. Staff have, for 
example, evaluated multiple options, then provide the developer or property owner 
with acceptable options so that meeting standards can be met in the most cost-
efficient manner. 

Guadalupe Unified School District (GUSD)

At the time this planning effort began, the GUSD had a new Superintendent 
(Dr. Emilio Handall). While, like the City, work is not finished, but a number of 
improvements/efforts should be acknowledged.

• The GUSD has expanded its Transitional Kindergarten Program to so that all 
four-year-old’s can now attend school full-day/expanded day prior to kindergarten at 
no cost. 

• Building of a new Kindergarten wing at Buren Elementary School. Eight brand 
new classrooms built specifically for our kindergarten students and staff. 

• Installation of broadband internet to the entire district. Enhancing internet 
access for all staff and students

• Awarded funding to serve up to 100 three-year-old’s for a full-day throughout 
the year. 

• Funding for a new junior high school (targeted to open in Fall of 2025), which 
will include a new gymnasium. The project will also include an adjacent new Early 
Learning Center with eight new classrooms to serve all four-year-old’s and State 
Preschool students, three-year-olds.

Los Amigos de Guadalupe

When this planning first started, a new statewide nonprofit called Rural Community 
Development Corporation of California (RCDCC) was hired by the City to support 
the renovation of LeRoy Park and complete this Resilience-Guadalupe plan. The 
Board, once the worked started determined that RCDCC would have greatly impact 
as a local, Guadalupe nonprofit by supporting the City and the Community build 
resilience and fill the gap in capacity. The statewide RCDCC Board became aa local 



Page  |  3

LADG Board of Directors, and that Board voted on a new name: Los Amigos de 
Guadalupe. With LADG gathering data for the Plan and working closely with the City, 
LADG staff began addressing community impediments. The following is a list of 
actions, started during this planning effort. Much of the above, as it relates to the 
City was supported, and in some cases, implemented by LADG. The core of this new 
to Guadalupe nonprofit is to increase social capital for the community and support 
improving and increase social infrastructure. 

 



Page  |  4

This Page Intentionally Left Blank



Foreword
Work on the Guadalupe Community-Resilience Plan started in early 2019, with an 
introductory presentation to the City Council on February 26th.  Initial progress 
was strong, with leadership meetings in spring of 2019 and the first stakeholder 
meetings in September and November of the same year.  It is notable that at least 
one key impediment – the lack of a business-focused organization in the city – 
was identified early in that process.  An initial meeting of business and community 
leaders was held in February 2020 and the seeds of the Guadalupe Business 
Association were planted.  With the onset of COVID-19 in March 2020, the formal 
Resilience-Guadalupe effort was put on hold as the community shifted energy to 
immediate response to the pandemic.

Far from killing the resilience plan, Guadalupe’s response to COVID-19 only served 
to demonstrate the community’s ability to act with common purpose and drive.  It 
was a real-world test of Guadalupe’s resiliency and it passed!  Business and city 
leaders continued to meet virtually to discuss how best to leverage government 
and private funding to maintain the city’s economic base and serve citizens hardest 
hit by the pandemic.  Several different solutions were born from these meetings.  
Cemented by the needs discussed in those conversations, the Guadalupe Business 
Association was formally incorporated on October 1st, 2020.  Civic leaders and 
community groups organized and operated (and continue to operate) food banks to 
sustain those residents most vulnerable to the virus and its effects.  In the midst of 
the third surge of cases in December 2020, the community came together to find a 
low-contact, open-air way to caravan Santa Claus, fire trucks, vintage cars, and civic 
leaders through every neighborhood in town.  Whether we call it resiliency or just 
“community”, Guadalupe has it.

Unfortunately, no community can rest for too long on just one success.  Resiliency 
is an ongoing effort, and our planet and the people who inhabit it will continue to 
throw challenges toward Guadalupe.  While the COVID-19 emergency highlighted 

11

Page  |  5



Page  |  6

many of Guadalupe’s intangible strengths and assets, it also exposed impediments.  
The next shock will not be the same as the pandemic, but it will stress many of the 
same foundations.  Too many citizens remain in jobs that keep them too close to the 
floor of poverty, homelessness, and poor health.  The education level and English 
skills of some residents are still a barrier to moving up the income ladder.  While 
agriculture remains the lifeblood of the Santa Maria Valley and Guadalupe, a year of 
drought or crop-killing blight keeps the entire region vulnerable to losses in a singular 
industry.  Over a year “on pandemic pause” in the improvement and development of 
Guadalupe’s historic downtown area has incrementally aged each building, giving 
risk-taking entrepreneurs yet another factor to consider.  The pandemic caused the 
closure of several once-promising businesses in the diverse cluster that must take 
root if the historic downtown is to succeed. 

Recovering the momentum of those pre-COVID days will be hard work and preparing 
for the next challenge remains an open and ongoing task. Community forums prior 
to COVID identified many impediments, but also a great number of assets.  Few of 
those underlying strengths and weaknesses shifted dramatically as the result of the 
pandemic, and really only magnified or clarified their effects and opportunities.  It 
is the hope of those involved in this revived Guadalupe Community-Resilience Plan 
effort that our work can now continue, comfortable that the lessons of the past 
20-plus months have revealed our path to be true and the community ready and 
well-tested for the change and challenge of the future.  We remain confident in the 
future of Guadalupe, and that this plan will serve as a reliable guide to a prosperous 
community.

Note on Data Sources:  At the original time of writing, data from the 2020 
Decennial Census had not been released.  As a result, this report relies most 
heavily on the 2019 U.S. Census American Community Survey, whose estimates 
are a combination of past Census data and statistical sampling and provides the 
best current demographics for most communities, including Guadalupe.

The 2020 Census, conducted during the COVID pandemic, is still being evaluated 
for accuracy and with greater care to anonymize data in small populations.  As 
the Census Bureau continues to evaluate 2020 data and conducts additional 
surveys (for example, the American Community Survey), Census data is likely to 
become more accurate and reliability will increase.

The authors remain confident in the broad trends portrayed in the previous 
year’s demographic data used to inform this plan, and urge caution using 2020 
Census data or assuming that data is more accurate or reliable, especially for 
smaller communities.  Although the Census Bureau has announced that the 
2020 data is broadly within predicted parameters at high levels (national, state, 



Page  |  7

and metropolitan areas), its accuracy becomes less reliable as the sample size 
decreases.  For example, the 2020 Census reliable describes the population 
of Guadalupe as 8,057 people, though it may be 7,999 or 8,115 (a margin of 
error less than one percent).  In broader terms, more appropriate for this plan, 
Guadalupe’s population has grown significantly from just over 7,000 in 2010.  
However, the count of seniors within the population likely contains a greater 
margin of error; while the 2020 Census states there are 721 people age 65 or 
older in Guadalupe, that number may be off by 125 people more or less.  Again, 
in terms applicable to this plan, the number of seniors grew from around 580 to 
around 720 between 2010 and 2020.

In all cases, the writers of this plan have striven to provide the most recent data 
available, in its most accessible form.  Across the complete document, some 
numbers may conflict slightly when put side-by-side with data from different 
sources, depending on surveying, analytic, and presentation methods used by 
that particular agency or source.  The reader is advised to check sourcing notes 
carefully when or if sources differ, and give more weight to broad trends in the 
data to make judgments or decisions, rather than specific numbers.



Page  |  8

This Page Intentionally Left Blank



Page  |  9

Resilience-Guadalupe 
Acknowledgements 
A lot of active and dedicated people, some who have championed Guadalupe, some 
who work in Guadalupe, and many who are community members, have contributed 
to this plan in some way, from completing the surveys, to attending the many 
meetings, both remote and in-person. They all gave their views of Guadalupe, assets 
and impediments, strengths of Guadalupe and weaknesses of Guadalupe. 

Well over 200 people were a part of this planning effort. In our local schools 
alone, we had participation from 7th and 8th graders to teachers and even the 
Superintendent. City staff, Council members, many service organizations, and 
community members were also involved in the process. 

While the coronavirus has drawn out, and even interrupted the process, it never 
completely stopped its progress, which says a lot about the community and the 
people who remain invested in its success. 

The State of California’s CDBG program has funded this planning grant, with 
the exception of $5,000, which was funded by Los Amigos de Guadalupe. The 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program is a program under the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) that funds many different 
community and economic development activities. Without the CDBG program, many 
rural communities, especially disadvantaged ones, throughout the country would be 
left without a critical source of funding. The City of Guadalupe has been successful 
in applying for these competitive funds and is grateful for its existence. 

From the LeRoy Park and Community Center renovation project to the 
Microenterprise Assistance program, to the food bank delivery program and the 

22



Page  |  10

Senior Meals program, CDBG is an important catalyst to support economic growth 
and helps the City leverage funds for community needs. Within this Plan, there are 
many initiatives both the City and the community will need to work on to ensure 
Guadalupe continues improving its community resilience. The CDBG program, while 
not a funding source for all the community’s needs, will continue to fund community 
programs both partially and in full.

Los Amigos de Guadalupe (LADG) is the lead organization for the development of 
this plan. LADG, formally known as RCDCC, and a 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization, 
wrote the application on behalf of the city to fund this planning effort. LADG funded 
the required $5,000 cash match, and led all efforts, events, data collecting, and the 
actual writing of this plan. LADG would like to acknowledge Sonia Rios-Ventura, who 
was the Community Development Manager, Eric Larson, who was the Vice President 
of the LADG Board, and Tom Brandeberry, who has held various roles within LADG, 
as the principal writers of this plan. LADG would also like to acknowledge Jack 
Boyce who worked for LADG, when it was RCDCC, as a CivicSpark Fellow. He was 
actively involved in the beginning of the planning process and instrumental in 
organizing the initial process. 

Resilience Leadership Team

This group was composed of City Staff and key community leaders who helped  
LADG in the planning and implementation of the stakeholder groups. The Leadership 
Team was used as a group to test out processes and ideas, prior to going out to the 
community at large. They made suggestions on outreach, reviewed the community 
survey, and gave important feedback on what assets and impediments were critical 
to the future of Guadalupe. This group was the first to review the draft plan, and 
the final draft that went to council. While much of their work was done at the early 
stages of the plan process, their work was essential to getting to this final plan.

• Ariston Julian, Mayor
• Joan Hartmann, District III County Supervisor
• Alma Hernandez, District III County Supervisor’s Office
• Dr. Emilio Handall, Guadalupe Union School District Superintendent
• Gina Rubalcaba, prior City Council Member
• Liliana Cardenas, prior City Council Member
• Todd Bodem, City Administrator
• Cruz Ramos, prior City Administrator
• Michael Cash, Chief of Police & Director of Public Safety
• Shannon Sweeney, Public Works Director
• Larry Appel, Contract City Planner
• Amy Blanchard, Business Owner
• Mai Betancourt, Business Owner



Page  |  11

• Sonia Rios-Ventura, LADG Community Development Manager
• Jack Boyce, prior CivicSpark Fellow
• Tom Brandeberry, LADG staff

Garret Matsuura with Arclight Media was hired to manage both the Resilience-
Guadalupe web page, and the presentation of this plan. His work has been greatly 
appreciated.

Other Planning Efforts

We would also like to acknowledge these planning efforts which were also in 
process alongside our planning efforts, and those doing them helped greatly in 
informing this plan. 

• Rachel Couch, Project Manager, State Coastal Conservancy, Trail to the Ocean
• Josh Meyer, LGC - Multimodal Transportation and Revitalization Plan
• Eileen Monahan, Early Childhood Education Consultant, Preschool Child Care

Stakeholders Meetings

The following stakeholder meetings were held to gain general input into the plan, 
with a focus on community assets and impediments. We wish to thank everyone 
that participated in the events and hope we have not missed anyone who was in 
attendance. For the youth classroom presentations, names of the youth have been 
excluded due to their age and school confidentiality concerns. 

09/29/2019: Stakeholders (open to all):

This group was advertised to the community as a whole.  Everyone was encouraged 
to participate and give their input on what they saw as Guadalupe’s assets and 
impediments. 

• Alma Hernandez, Ariston Julian, Bob Havlicek, Charlie Guzman, Eileen Monahan, 
Enrique Ortiz, Gina Rubalcava, Grace Ortiz, Joan Hartmann, Joanne Britton, Joe 
Talaugon, Joice Earleen Raguz, Joyce Ellen-Lippman, Kivin Sweeney, Larry Deese, 
Laurie Brummett, Penny Chamousis, Richard Segovia, Shannon Sweeney, Shirley 
Boydstun, Sonia Rios-Ventura, Suzanne Singh, Thomas Brandeberry, Victor 
Cobatuan

11/14/2019 - 11/15/2019: Youth Stakeholders (7 & 8th graders): 

Sonia Rios-Ventura did a presentation to the students on what Resilience is and 
engaged the youth to get their input on what they saw as Guadalupe’s assets and 



Page  |  12

impediments. The Guadalupe Unified School District, its schools’ principals and the 
teachers of these 7th and 8th grade students were very open to the idea of involving 
the youth in the planning effort. 

• Maria J., Adan G., Nataly C., Natanael R., Paola D., Hector L., Henny B., Emily P., 
Sugey R., Crystal V., Joe O., Dulce M., Luis P., Velen V., Noah T., Jaylen M., Camila 
M., Natalie C., Daniela E., Zulema M., Bryan H., Guadalupe R., Sergio S. Ismael 
C., Jheovanny O., Bryanna B., Margarita B., Reylina M., Nevqeh R.,Lexie G., Daniel 
A., Shania G., Gabriel M., Marlen D., Diego D., Guadalupe T., Cerina M., Kevin R., 
Joaquin R., Priscilda M., Tatiana C., Alfonso C., Mateo P., Carolina G., George Z., 
Adilene P., Kaley C., Adrian S., Azariah Y., Olga R., Alberto D., Hector R., Lauren 
C., Malina S., Naomi M., Jonathan P., Sophia R., Polo C., Stephanie O., Xavier G., 
Alexis A., James D., Frankie S., Eva A., Isaiah H., Elizabeth M., Elahny G., Jacob 
M., Dylan C., Emily G., Lesly C., Juan L., Gazelle M., Dulce S., Samuel C., Vicente 
R., Patricia R., Berenice P., Quetzalli A., Dayra A., Akari D., Yesenia G., Douglas 
M., Carlos T., Benny M., Daniel R., Giselle H., Joe., Carmin., Alejandro E., William 
N., Jim S., Alessandro G., Anthony C., Daniel M., Na’shay S., Karen G., Junali C., 
Angelina S., Emily M., Shanreign F., Mario F., Linda Z., Gianna E., Pablo T., Ana 
C., Vanessa L., Joe L., Joseph N., Julieta A., Aaliyan R., Abraham L., Joselyn B., 
Lesie L., Alondra G., Victoria C., Esmeralda R., Jessica R., Jennifer H., Maddison 
M., Alberto P., Leonardo F., Bryan E., Briana D., Mia O., Bryhanna A., Nahomi Cr., 
Abigail R., Edgar V., Rolando G., Elias I., Robert G., Maria N., Melina A., Yareli 
A., Alexis M., Natalie B., Jonathan T., Beatriz S., Omar Q., Roland R., Jennifer J., 
Ivan P., Dulce M., Anthony B., Noah V., Leandro H., Jorge B., Maria D., Veronica 
C.,Nathan T., Brando C., Fabio E., Juan Z., Andres C., Noah G., Edgar O., Gladys S., 
Andrew L., Vanessa A., Yoselin F., Brenda A., Johnny H., Ovidio R., Jose F., Gabriel 
M., Alberto B., Arreanrah L., Selena O., Kassandra C., Corah T., Yareli P., Kevin M., 
Araceli G., Bryan B., Yuritzia R., Anabel M., Adam C., Jessica S., Suse C., Bibian 
P., Yolanda M., Synthia A., Naomi D., Miranda J., Ezekiel R., Jovanni M., Sergio S., 
Alex U., Fabian S., Joci E., Donns G., Diana L., Emily Q., Yartiza P.

12/09/2019: Spanish-only Stakeholders: 

This group was advertised to the Spanish-speaking community and everyone was 
encouraged to participate and give their input on what they saw as Guadalupe’s 
assets and impediments. We would especially thank the Little House, and Samuel 
Duarte for their support of this stakeholder meeting. 

• Liliana Cardenas, Samuel Duarte, Mireya Pina, Reina Chavez, Luila Hernandez, 
Maribel Zamora

 



Page  |  13

02/22/2021: Youth Stakeholder Group (Leos):

The leadership group expressed the need for more youth involvement; therefore 
we reached out to the local Leos club as they are seen as the leaders of the 
intermediate school students. Just prior to the Covid 19 pandemic, a group of adults 
who work with the youth of Guadalupe, were organizing a large meeting. This remote 
meeting was developed to ensure we had some youth representation. 

• Lisbeth A., Yesenia G., Xitlali B., Camelia Q., DIana L., Nadya R., Bryanna A., 
Elizabeth M., Adilene P., Natalia V., Mia M., Margarita B., Jassmine M., Crystal C.

Focus Groups

The focus groups were all completed remotely due to Covid 19. Focus Groups were 
divided into subject matters.

Each focus group was conducted to breakdown and combine the assets and 
impediments pertaining to that category. Focus Groups allow the Planning process 
to look more closely at what data we had up to that point and then priorities what the 
community should focus on.

Business -  01/26/2021:

• Larry Appel, Bill Bartels, Tom Brandeberry, Sonia Rios-Ventura, Teresa M. Young, 
Eric Larson, Bob Havlicek

Children, Youth, Seniors, and Health & Wellbeing - 04/29/2021:

• AM: Alhan Diaz-Correa, Aeron Arlin Genet, Christina Hernandez, Emilio Handell, 
Jesse Ortiz, Garrett Wong, Shannon Sweeney, Eric Larson, Tom Brandeberry

• PM: Tom Brandeberry, Sonia Rios-Ventura, Teresa M. Young, Elieen Monoham, 
Unknown person,

Built Environment, Housing, Transportation - 05/06/2021:

• AM: Gregory Young, Garret Wong, Shannon Sweeney, Tom Brandeberry,  Maggie 
with PSSH, Zoey Carlson, Lisa (Guadalupe Resident), 2 Unknown

• PM: Tom Brandeberry, Sonia Rios-Ventura, Bob Havlicek, Christina Hernandez, 
Liliana Cardenas, 2 Unknown

 
 
 



Page  |  14

Safety and Governance 05/13/2021

• AM: Garret Wong, Belinda Popovich, Tom Brandeberry, 
• PM: Tom Brandeberry, Sonia Rios-Ventura, Christina Hernandez, Bob Havlicek,

Resilience Survey

The Resilience Survey was created in both English & Spanish to collect community 
input in regards to their thoughts about the community, health, family, and the local 
economy. 

February 6, 2020 - March 31, 2020:
 
(The email survey was sent the to stakeholder’s list, shared to Facebook pages, and 
the losamigosdeguadalupe.org website)

It is likely we have forgotten some individuals that contributed to this planning effort. 
Please accept our apology for the lapse in memory.
 



Page  |  15

About the City of 
Guadalupe
Introduction

Guadalupe is a growing city of 
about 8,000 people located in 
the northwest corner of Santa 
Barbara County.  The city straddles 
California Highway 1 – the 
Pacific Coast Highway – and the 
Union Pacific Railroad for north-
south transportation.  California 
Highway 166 leads east and inland 
toward Santa Maria. Guadalupe is 
physically bounded on the north by 
the San Luis Obispo County line and 
southern bank of the seasonally dry 
river bed of the Santa Maria River; 
the remaining borders of the city 
are unconstrained by geographic 
features, yet undeveloped because 
of political protections afforded the 
adjacent cultivated croplands.  

The Pacific Ocean and a wide, 
sandy, and wild beach are three-and-
a-half miles to the west of the city, separated by just over two miles of those virtually 

Figure 1: Guadalupe’s Location in California

33



Page  |  16

untouchable, cultivated croplands and a mile and a quarter of protected sand 
dunes.  Eight miles to Guadalupe’s east lies the commercial and population center 
of the Santa Maria Valley, the city of Santa Maria and its suburb of Orcutt.  They 
are bordered by Highway 101 and provide big box stores, distractions, attractions, 
and services for almost 165,000 residents of northern Santa Barbara County and 
southern San Luis Obispo County.

Geography and Climate

The city of Guadalupe lies just over three miles inland from the beaches of 
California’s Central Coast, in the lowest part of the Santa Maria River Valley where 
that river flows into the Pacific Ocean via a dune-lined estuary-lagoon (see Figures 2 
through 10 for a full depiction of Guadalupe’s location, immediate environs, and city 
overview, including historical growth of built-up areas).  

The Central Coast has a Mediterranean-type climate, with hot, dry summers and a 
monsoon-like pattern that typically brings Pacific Ocean moisture onto land during 
cooler -- but not cold -- November to March.  Owing both to year-round growing 
conditions and its position at the bottom (delta lands) of the Santa Maria River 
Valley, the farmland surrounding Guadalupe is some of the most valuable and 
productive cropland in the nation.  The Santa Maria Valley is protected in almost 
all directions by coastal and inland mountain ranges, which blunt daily and some 
seasonal coastal wind in- and out-flows.  This has a temperature-regulating effect 
within the valley which adds to the Valley’s agricultural productivity. 



Page  |  17



Page  |  18

Maps of Guadalupe and Surroundings

Figure 3: Guadalupe’s Location in Northern Santa Barbara County and the Santa Maria Valley

Figure 2: Guadalupe’s Location in Santa Barbara County



Page  |  19

Figure 5: Guadalupe and Environs - Satellite Imagery

Figure 4: Guadalupe and Environs – Conventional Map



Page  |  20

Figure 7: Guadalupe and Environs - City to Dunes, Beach and Ocean

Figure 6: Guadalupe and Environs - Satellite Imagery and Terrain Profile



Page  |  21

Figure 9: Guadalupe Overview - Satellite Imagery Dated September 1994 Depicting Built-up Areas

Figure 8: Guadalupe Overview - Conventional Road and Street Map



Page  |  22

History

Prior to the era of European expansion into North America, the Santa Maria River 
Valley was known to various Native American tribes, but it was the Chumash tribe 
that had settled in the area from San Luis Obispo to Malibu.  They were the first to 
meet Spanish expeditions traveling up 
the Pacific Coast beginning in the 16th 
century.  Later, Spanish missionaries 
spread north from Mexico into 
California, and in 1878, the newly 
founded La Purisima Mission’s land 
holdings included the Santa Maria 
Valley and land south to the Gaviota 
Pass on the coast.  

When Mexico gained independence 
from Spain in 1820, land in the now 
Mexican-governed California became 
available for additional settlers.  Other Europeans bought or were granted land in the 
valley and became the second round of permanent immigrant settlers.  A Mexican 
land grant in the area known as Rancho Guadalupe was recorded in 1840 and gives 

Figure 11: The Palace Hotel, later home to the Far 
Western Tavern (Photo Courtesy Doug Jenzen)

Figure 10: Guadalupe Overview - Satellite Imagery Dated February 2021 Depicting Comparative Built-
up Area growth after 25 years; most notably to the west and south.



Page  |  23

the present city its name. 
In addition to Mexican 
vaqueros (ranch hands) 
who remained after the 
Mexican-American War in 
1846, additional European 
settlers began to arrive in 
the newly created state of 
California (1860) and started 
farms and ranches in the 
fertile soil and year-round 
mild climate of the Santa 
Maria Valley in the 1870s.  A 
more organized settlement 
in the present location of 
Guadalupe began to take 
shape when the railroad link from San Francisco to Los Angeles was completed 
in 1901 and was further defined where a spur line of the Southern Pacific Railroad 
into the Santa Maria Valley was completed in 1912.  That line connected the 
valley’s crude oil and agricultural products to larger California ports and markets 
(Contreras, 2018).  By the time of official cityhood in 1946, the town at the junction 
of the railroad connection into the valley had become home to a multi-cultural 
mix of European, African-American, Jewish, Scottish, Irish, Japanese, Chinese, 
Filipino, Mexican, and other immigrants.  The names of these founding community 
members still adorn businesses, buildings and streets in the town.  Although it was 
primarily the European-origin settlers who built up the economic foundations of the 
settlement, Japanese residents notably raised the $2,800 needed to complete the 
school building in 1930 (Boydstun, 2021).  The close-knit community bonds of that 
era remain to this day.

Guadalupe’s early and continuing 
fortunes remain tied to agriculture 
and its location on road and rail 
networks.  The arrival of U.S. 
Highway 101 through Santa Maria 
in the late 1920s as a trucking 
route (versus a rail route) signaled 
the shift of the agriculture industry 
toward the growing city of Santa 
Maria (Cal Poly Graduate Planning 

Studio, 2009).  The short line Santa Maria Valley Railroad runs from Guadalupe to 
Santa Maria and still carries diverse cargo loads.  The railyard at Guadalupe remains 
vital for the onward movement of select heavy and bulk materials still produced in 

Figure 12: Looking north into Guadalupe, CA-1 and Union  
Pacific Rail lines run through the city (Photo Credit: Eric Larson)



Page  |  24

the valley.  Guadalupe also remains a stop for the Amtrak passenger trains that run 
between Northern and Southern California.  The scenic and historic Pacific Coast 
Highway (California Highway 1) carries international tourists and local commerce 
alike through town.  For most of its history, Guadalupe has been an agricultural 
outpost and transportation hub at the entrance of the Santa Maria River Valley; 
a mixing pot community where descriptions like “multi-ethnic”, “immigrant”, and 
“working-class” have been badges of honor.
 



Page  |  25

Resiliency As 
Development
The direct consequences of natural disasters are easy to understand.  Earthquakes, 
fires, floods, and drought produce physical forces that rip pipes from the ground, 
reduce buildings to ash, wash away bridges, and turn plants to dust.  Less certain 
and less tangible are the long-term economic and social impacts of recovery 
on a community.  Recovery from any shock generally requires applying massive 
resources – personal savings, private insurance, and government relief – to 
compensate for losses and then apply those resources to rebuilding.  In addition to 
the loss of business during a crisis, the resources committed to rebuilding become 
unavailable for future investments and uses.  In some cases, individuals, companies, 
or organizations may simply choose to reduce vulnerability by moving to other 
locations, taking critical services or assets out of the community.

This reallocation and loss of resources is particularly hard on communities that had 
limited resources prior to a disaster event.  In this case, resiliency efforts must be 
full-spectrum: increasing the assets available to the community through economic 
and community development, investing resources in mitigation efforts that reduce 
individual and community vulnerability to shocks, and organizing local government, 
business, and not-for-profit service providers to quickly restore critical community 
services.  Ultimately, the purpose of this Community-Resilience Plan is to increase 
community cohesion, prosperity and well-being long before a disaster strikes.

Resilience Defined

Resilience, applied to the community, is the capacity to recover from events or 
conditions that affect the community.  Resiliency can be considered the “toughness” 
of the community to absorb change, both gradual and sudden, as well as the 

44



Page  |  26

elasticity or flexibility of the community to return to its previous state.  Resilience 
is not simply the ability to resist a specific type of event -- for example, it is not only 
building a wall around the community to resist floods.  Rather, resilience builds 
across multiple fronts: reducing both vulnerability to predictable and unforeseen 
events of any type, increasing the capacity to reduce the effects of these events, 
and establishing and emplacing processes to return a community to its version of 
“normal”.  Community-Resilience planning addresses both stresses and shocks, 
as described below.  A resilient community is one in which the people living and 
working in a community – particularly the poor and vulnerable – survive and thrive 
no matter what stresses or shocks they encounter.

A word of caution: no community can be made completely invulnerable in the 
modern world without immense and unbearable cost.  Local economies depend 
on interaction with markets both across the street and around the world.  Buildings 
can be constructed to make them stronger against the harshest earthquakes, but 
only at great expense.  Residents cannot lock themselves inside their houses for 
days or weeks without contact, and neither can the community isolate itself from 
business, goods, or visitors for any length of time without significant consequences 
on economic well-being, as well as physical and mental health.  Shocks come from 
many directions and sources, not all of them predictable.  While vulnerabilities can 
be reduced with physical barriers, communities must also increase resilience – to 
again be strong, healthy, and successful after something bad happens.

Community Resilience, the ecosystem call a “community,” focuses on two elements 
needed for a resilience response to sudden disasters (like Guadalupe recent floods) 
or stresses (the longer term pandemic of Covid 19, or the economic downturn 
of 2008): Social capital and Social infrastructure. In many ways, addressing, or 
focusing on these two elements of a community will improve a community’s 
resilience regardless of the type of disaster or stress. 

Social capital refers to the networks of relationships and the resources that are 
embedded within them. It can refer to the value that is created by the connections 
between people and groups, and the ability to access these resources through these 
connections. These resources can be tangible, such as money or information, or 
intangible, such as trust or reputation. In general terms, social capital can be thought 
of as the “goodwill” that exists within a community or society, and that can be used 
to achieve certain goals or to create benefits for individuals or groups.

Social infrastructure refers to the institutions and systems that are in place in a 
society to support the well-being and quality of life of its members. These can 
include things like schools, hospitals, parks, public transportation, and community 
centers. These facilities and services provide the foundation for a healthy and 
functional society and are intended to meet the basic needs of the population and 



Page  |  27

promote social cohesion. They are often provided and maintained by the government 
but can also be provided by non-profit organizations or private companies. In general 
terms, social infrastructure can be thought of as the “building blocks” of a society, 
which help to support and enhance the lives of the people who live there.

Stresses are underlying or foundational conditions that negatively affect a 
community – they may be economic, social, or environmental.  In some ways, 
stresses are indirect threats to a community, in that they provide a poor foundation 
for the community’s response to specific events and long-term sustainability.  A 
financially poor community suffers a particular form of stress, though a rich 
community with poor social connections may also be stressed – a condition 
which is only aggravated when disaster strikes.  Unlike stresses which are often 
years in the making, shocks, in contrast, are discrete events that directly threaten 
a community.  Shocks, such as an earthquake or fire, may lead to direct physical 
damage of infrastructure, property, and people.  Other types of shocks, such as the 
loss of a large employer or industry, may have less physical effect, but still affect 
the financial prosperity of individuals and the community.  Shocks vary in scope and 
severity, and may arise from both natural or man-made events, including those that 
start elsewhere on the globe.

Vulnerability is a difficult concept to describe because it has different meanings 
depending on the audience; it is often synonymous with “weakness”, “fragility”, 
“deficiency”, or “exposure”.  It is better to think of vulnerability as susceptibility to 
harm, as well as the combination of wide environmental and social conditions that 
limit community response to the impacts of a hazard.  “Vulnerability is not simply 
about poverty, but extensive research over the past 30 years has revealed that it is 
generally the poor who tend to suffer worst from disasters” (United Nations Office 
for Disaster Risk Reduction, 2017).  Those that take steps to avoid driving a car are 
reducing their personal vulnerability by reducing their exposure to car accidents; 
drivers that can afford the latest safety improvements in automobiles are also 
reducing their vulnerability, but not their exposure to auto accidents.

Mitigation, or preemptive risk reduction, refers to actions which increase warning 
and/or lessen the consequences of an event on people and the built environment.  
Mitigation is a key contributor to a community’s overall resiliency, and can reduce 
recovery time by lessening physical and economic damage.  While Guadalupe’s 
residents may not be able to control the time and place of a major earthquake, 
there are some warning systems in place, buildings have been built or improved 
to be safer shelters, and Guadalupe’s fire department has practiced response to 
broken gas lines.  All of those steps decrease the consequences of predictable 
and unpredictable disasters – reducing or mitigating the overall risk.  Flood levees, 
redundant wastewater systems, planned emergency or contingency funds, and 
community shelters are all forms of mitigation.  When speaking of secondary effects 



Page  |  28

of a disaster, diversifying the economy of a community is also a form of mitigation. 
It reduces the vulnerability of the community to economic and non-economic 
disruption by having immediately accessible resources within the community, 
rather than waiting for outside assistance to organize and respond.  Simply stated: 
mitigation improves resiliency. The recent flood damage and resident displacement 
show the value of levees.

Mitigation takes place before a disaster strikes and can have massive benefits 
for a community.  In 2020, the Pew Charitable Trusts, using Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA) data, estimated every federal dollar spent on natural 
hazard mitigation saved an average of six dollars in post-disaster recovery costs 
(Stauffer, 2020).  Where hazards are generally well-known and predictable (for 
example, hurricanes on the Gulf Coast or wildfire in California), mitigation strategies 
to address those hazards are particularly effective.  Riverine and hurricane-driven 
flood mitigation saves post-disaster spending at a 1:7 investment to savings ratio, 
while wildfire and earthquake mitigation have a more modest 1:3 savings.  The 
bottom line on mitigation is that spending resources to reduce vulnerability prior to 
a disaster is a significantly more efficient investment of the community’s resources 
than money spent on unmitigated disaster recovery.  It should be noted here that 
small communities like Guadalupe are unlikely to receive mitigation investments 
from the state or the federal government since the cost, for example, of a levee is 
not economically justifiable for the size of the community.

Unlike some disaster mitigation investments that only show return value after a 
disaster, diversifying the economy of Guadalupe and investing in improvements 
to infrastructure now will begin to pay immediate dividends for the community.  
For example, the community has both groundwater and water piped in from other 
locations. Considering the potential loss of water supplies from other locations as 
both the direct consequence of a natural disaster, or a manmade event such as a 
budget shortfall, the community may want to plan for ground water being the sole 
source of the community water supply.  Contrarily, a community may decide to 
spend all of its resources on recovery alone, building a fleet of response vehicles, 
stockpiling medical supplies, and putting money into what may literally be a “rainy 
day fund”.  While data shows this approach is generally more costly in the long-term, 
it may be the most politically palatable solution for some communities – it is still 
better than being completely unprepared for an inevitable disaster.

Resiliency is Not Just Disaster Preparedness, nor A Specific 
Response to Climate Change

As often as this resiliency plan may reference specific shock events, it is not a direct 
response to specific disaster scenarios.  Many people choose to live in California, 



Page  |  29

where the land is fertile, the sun is plentiful, and the views of the ocean and 
mountains are amazing, but also where any number of natural disasters can strike at 
any time.  Hazards come in all forms, and all have consequences for the 
community.  Some are instantaneous – such as a fire – while others can be seen 

coming from miles or years away – such as a drought.  Still others are well-known 
and well-planned for – Guadalupe is just 19 miles from the nuclear power generating 
station and spent nuclear materials storage at Diablo Canyon and local emergency 
responders are well-trained to respond to an emergency, thanks in large part to 
funding by the plant’s owner, Pacific Gas and Electric.  

This plan does not directly address the processes of specific disaster preparation 
or immediate response to the spectrum of natural and human-made hazards which 
may affect the community.  Those steps are covered by the City of Guadalupe 
Emergency Response Plan (ERP), which outlines the actions the City and its 
departments would take for protection of people, property, and infrastructure 
immediately prior (where there is adequate warning), during, and after a crisis 
event.  Rather, this Community-Resilience Plan seeks to work far in advance of any 
traumatic event, but with community stresses in mind, by building social cohesion 
and improving the community’s social infrastructures using identified community 
assets (strengthen) and impediments (improve) as a focal point.

Additionally, climate change has increased the severity of certain types of natural 
hazards in our lifetimes, specifically those involving weather.  High temperatures 
are higher, seasonal rains have shifted in both location and timing, and predictable 
snow and rainfall that once sustained California have become very unpredictable.  
While this plan does not specifically address climate change as a direct threat 
to Guadalupe, it acknowledges the severity of weather events – including those 
far from Guadalupe – does directly increase the impact on people, property, and 
infrastructure, and makes long-term recovery from all types of disaster more 
expensive. 

Planning for Community Resilience

While recovery cannot begin until after a traumatic event, resilience can be 
planned and enhanced long before a shock event takes place, and as part of the 
effort in responding to historic stresses.  In fact, a community’s resilience can be 
improved through the improvement of the social networks and increased social 
infrastructure development and use.  This plan adopts this more holistic view 
of resilience by recognizing that the ability to recover after a shock is the direct 
outcome of preparing not just buildings and infrastructure for the most likely shocks, 
but recognizing the stresses which impede community response to shocks, and 



Page  |  30

improving the capacity of the people within the community to react following an 
event that threatens it.  

A concept fundamental to resiliency is understanding risk and prioritizing resources 
to the effort based on risk.  Addressing and implementing mitigation strategies for 
every possible shock would be both expensive and foolhardy.  However, investing 
in common tools that address multiple needs across the risk spectrum is both 
possible and advisable – for example, water infrastructure for a community must be 
as resilient in a flood as during an earthquake, and a reliable water supply is always 
good for businesses and residents.

Resiliency planning also addresses the capacity of the community to prepare, 
respond, and recover from shocks, by building, reinforcing, and channeling common 
interests – through community development.  Complimentary to economic 
development, which seeks to increase the financial resources available to individuals 
and the community, community development increases the social cohesion of the 
community.  A cohesive community believes in itself and its future, applies itself 

Figure 13: Model of Community Resiliency



Page  |  31

to common objectives decided by the community, and includes all members of the 
community in both planning and action.  A community must believe it has value 
recovering after a disaster if it is to successfully survive a shock or to overcome 
stresses.

This plan recognizes executing a recovery effort after a shock is directly linked to 
the social and economic well-being of the community.  To reiterate a key concept: 
an impoverished community with bad relationships within the community is far less 
likely to recover from a major trauma, while a community with neighbors dedicated 
to helping other neighbors may be enough to overcome both the shock event and 
the many obstacles inherent to recovery.  Community development is primarily 
concerned with reducing stresses in the community, where possible, which reduces 
the obstacles to recovery from a shock.  As with mitigation, community development 
is best practiced prior to the shock and has direct benefits for the community 
whether the shock happens or not.

Finally, this plan primarily considers resilient actions that affect the whole 
community, but acknowledges that specific individuals and groups may find 
themselves at higher risk for the consequences of a specific type of shock or 
discrete event.  For example, COVID-19 has been a shock to the entire community, 
though individuals with certain health conditions are at higher risk for infection, 
hospitalization, or even death.  Individuals in certain jobs are more susceptible to 
layoffs and economic shifts.  This plan proposes actions for and by the community 
in order to affect the greatest positive outcome for the greatest number of 
community members, as well as enabling individuals with tools that contribute 
directly to their personal success and then indirectly to the community’s well-being.



Page  |  32

This Page Intentionally Left Blank



Page  |  33

A Portrait of Guadalupe: 
by the Numbers
No single piece of demographic or economic data can adequately describe a 
community.  There is no one variable that illustrates the stresses or strengths, nor 
a vulnerability to a specific type of shock.  However, by drawing on multiple factors 
and analyzing their interaction, as well as using information from several indices, a 
community can begin to recognize potential items or patterns that affect resilience.  
The community can then identify particular -- and actionable -- stresses that put 
the population at risk from any disaster, and may hinder recovery from a shock or 
shocks.

The indices used below are derived from publicly available data collected by the 
Census Bureau and other state or federal government sources, and the internal 
workings of each index are well-described in publicly available academic literature.  
The data in these indices tends to lag by as much as two to three years, and typically 
comes from surveys that use statistical sampling to generate estimates, as opposed 
to going house-to-house like the official 10-year Census. Despite these cautions, 
when placed in context, they are highly reliable measures.

To that point, the score or scores generated by the indices are not particularly useful 
in isolation; they tend to reveal more about a community when compared with 
scores of nearby and/or similar communities, or in the context of regional, state, or 
national average scores, and may be used to determine progress (or decline) over 
time for a single location.  In practice, this means the data most accurately portrays 
past trends, not future destiny.  It is also stereotypical – meaning it portrays the 
situation of the average citizen, not any singular individual. This Data is also not 
useful for day-to-day decision-making in the community.  The data does not tell 
anyone what is happening right now, only what has been happening.

55



Page  |  34

Finally, these scores neither show the intangible heart or soul of a community, 
nor the degree to which the community members identify with or are proud of the 
community they live in.  The perception of those outside a community may be 
that the numbers show it is an awful place to live, but the reality is quite different 
for those who experience that community daily.  Despite these flaws, the indices 
below give us a common, evidence-based starting point for discussing Guadalupe’s 
baseline, and where its vulnerabilities are.

Holistic Approaches to Vulnerability:  Using Indices to Evaluate the 
Community

The indices described here are useful tools that aggregate demographic, 
geographical, environmental, health, and other data sources to create a single score 
or combination of scores that describe the stresses within a community -- described 
in terms of vulnerability, deprivation, or distress.  The Center for Disease Control 
Social Vulnerability Index (SVI) combines 15 indicators, while the Health Resources 
and Services Administration uses the Area Deprivation Index’s (ADI) 17 indicators to 
assess conditions at the Census Tract level of detail.  Economic Innovation Group’s 
Distressed Communities Index (DCI) uses just seven indicators, but focuses more on 
specific indicators of poverty down to the zip code level of analysis (see Figure 14 
for a map depicting Guadalupe’s single Census Tract overlaid on Guadalupe’s single 
zip code—for the purposes of this report, the two geographies produce equivalent 
results and analysis).  A final index to draw from is the California Hard-to-Count 
(CA-HTC) Index, which is not specifically health or resiliency-focused, but still serves 
the purpose of aggregating data to portray a community’s vulnerability.  In the case 
of CA-HTC, the vulnerability was undercount on the 2020 U.S. Census, which can 
affect the community’s ability to access resources from county, state, and federal 
government programs.
 
Guadalupe (Santa Barbara County Census Tract 25.02) has an SVI score of 
.8304 (on a scale from 0 to 1, where 1 is the highest vulnerability), putting it at 
a “high” vulnerability rating.  Within the SVI are four themes with sub-scores: 
Socioeconomic Status, Household Composition and Disability, and Housing Type 
and Transportation.  Guadalupe is particularly vulnerable (a score of .9794) in the 
final theme of “Minority Status and Language”, reflecting the high concentration of 
minority population and those that speak English “less than well.”  For comparison, 
Santa Barbara County has an overall SVI of .7111, and SVI scores in nearby Santa 
Maria and Orcutt range from .1697 (Census Tract 20.13, Orcutt west of Orcutt 
Expressway) to .9869 (Census Tract 22.06, bounded by Main Street, Broadway, Alvin 
Avenue, and US-101 in Santa Maria).  



Page  |  35

The Area Deprivation Index (ADI) score for Guadalupe is 127.7 on a 160-point 
scale, indicating a score higher for deprivation than both the California and national 
average; it is in the 91st percentile of scores, placing Guadalupe in the top 10% of 
U.S. communities for deprivation and susceptibility to a number of poverty-linked 
risks, including preventable diseases and natural disasters.  Within the ADI’s 17 
indicators, Guadalupe scores lowest in the following categories:

 - Under 9 years of education
 - High School Graduation
 - White collar employment
 - Single parents with children
 - Homes with crowding

Figure 14: Map Depicting Geographies of Guadalupe’s Zip Code versus U.S. Census Tract



Page  |  36



Page  |  37

3 Original source material available at: https://graphicacy-dci-pdf-images.s3.amazonaws.com/DCI_CA_Zip_
code_93434.pdf or https://eig.org/dci/interactive-map?path=zip/93434 
4 Original source material available at: https://census.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/4/2021/05/cahtci_all.
pdf (Warning: this document is over 1,000 pages long and over 50MB.)



Page  |  38

The Distressed Community Index (DCI) for Guadalupe paints a more positive picture 
of the community, and may be interpreted as a sign of hope and forward progress.  
Currently, Guadalupe scores a 46.8 on a 100-point scale, and is firmly in the “mid-
tier” of all California zip codes.  States do not receive scores, though California itself 
fares well in the DCI, with just 8% of the population living in distressed communities; 
Santa Barbara County scores a 27.3, falling in the “comfortable” category.  When 
compared to its 2000 score of 86.7, Guadalupe has made significant gains in the 
seven indicators used in the DCI.  Lack of high school diploma (42.9% of population) 
is clearly a major factor that brings down the overall score, and is directly related to 
lower scores in Median Household Income and Poverty Rate.  

Unlike some of the worst-hit communities in Appalachia, the rural Deep South and 
Midwest, and parts of California with concentrated logging, mining, or agriculture 
sectors, which lost jobs even during the economic recovery of 2014-2018, Guadalupe 
has defied those trends by growing out of its 2000 “Distressed” score.  According 
to EIG’s 2020 DCI report, “two-thirds of zip codes that were distressed (in 2000), 
remained so” (Economic Innovation Group, 2020).  It would appear at first glance 

Area Deprivation Index for the Census Block Groups in our 1-city area (Broadstreet 2021).  Made at 
broadstreet.io



Page  |  39

that Guadalupe has risen above the “point of no return” that infects and then dooms 
many distressed communities – where industries, talent, and wealth have been lost 
or departed for better opportunities, and communities are “left behind” to wither 
and die.  While much work remains, it should be comforting to know that Guadalupe 
no longer has to fight only for survival, it can begin to envision a more prosperous 
future.



Page  |  40

A final index comes from the State of California, and was prepared in 2020 (using 
2019 American Community Survey data) as the 2020 Census was nearing, the 
California Hard-to-Count Index (CA-HTC).  With billions of dollars each year 
allocated to state and local jurisdictions based solely on Census data, the state 



Page  |  41

was legitimately concerned 
about an accurate count 
– and so, identified areas 
where an undercount 
was most likely, based 
on a town or county’s 
historical correlations with 
low response rates to the 
Census.  Guadalupe’s rating 
was 56 on a scale of 0-134, 
above the statewide median.  
The lowest score was found 
in Imperial County (with a 
county-wide score of 73); 
Guadalupe was on-par 
with nearby Kern County 
(at a county-wide score of 
55).  Across California, those households most likely to be undercounted had the 
following characteristics:

• Live in large multi-unit housing
• Live in rented housing
• Do not have broadband internet
• Do not have family living with them
• Are foreign-born
• Have income below 150% of poverty level

Guadalupe’s highest-correlation factors were related to education and language and 
housing.  



Page  |  42



Page  |  43



Page  |  44

A summary of all index findings discussed above is presented in Figure 15.  These 
indices are good snapshots of how a community compares to others and over 
time.  With a long time horizon (5-10 years), community and economic development 
plans can be evaluated using data from the indices.  As discussed, Guadalupe 
made significant progress (whether by design or good luck) since 2000 in the CDI 
score.  When this Resiliency Plan is implemented, a good measure of success will 
be improvements in scores across these indices over time, as well as in relation to 
other communities in the area, or with similar demographic profiles.  

Figure 15:  Index Finding Summary



Page  |  45

A complete demographic profile of Guadalupe is also made available as an 
appendix to this document.  Those profiles are pulled directly from U.S. Census 
Bureau sources, and come primarily from the U.S. Census Bureau’s 2019 American 
Community Survey data.  Guadalupe is presented in parallel with Santa Barbara 
County, California, and United States for easy comparison and to place Guadalupe’s 
data in a broader context.

Vulnerability as Impediment

In all four aforementioned indices, education is clearly a measurable impediment 
to Guadalupe’s future growth.  Whether described as the predominance of English 
as a second language, High School Diploma/Graduation, or Years of Education, the 
story is the same: lower education levels correlate directly to lower earning potential, 
which correlates directly to lower community wealth, consequently resulting in 
higher levels of vulnerability for the community.   Education is not fixed overnight – 
it is a generational change that may take a decade or more to overcome.  Similarly, 
community wealth will not dramatically increase in just a year or two.  Investment in 
the human capital – the earning potential – of Guadalupe is a long-term investment.  
This is a high-priority investment, but one that is unlikely to bear significant fruit 
before the next natural or man-made shock strikes.

Simple poverty is also not necessarily an impediment to Guadalupe’s future.  
Guadalupe’s poverty rate of 16.6% is only slightly higher than the national average of 
13.9% and Santa Barbara County’s at 14.8%.  High poverty rates generally have two 
long-term implications for a community: first, dwindling employment opportunities 
reduce household resources that contribute to the community’s economy and 
tax base; second, a diversion of remaining resources from future investments to 
alleviate current and pressing homelessness, food insecurity, and health issues.  
These problems are often exacerbated when a community is isolated geographically 
and economically, with no neighboring communities (and their diversified resources) 
to turn to.  

That is not the case for Guadalupe.  The surrounding counties of Santa Barbara 
and San Luis Obispo are relatively wealthy, with an abundance of economic capital 
available to address short-term poverty.  Guadalupe is only eight minutes from Santa 
Maria, 40 from San Luis Obispo, and 75 from Santa Barbara, so it remains physically 
accessible and connected to the surrounding region.  Guadalupe is a desirable 
place to live with a housing vacancy rate of just 1.8%, pointing to a combination of 
affordability and buyer attraction to the opportunities and amenities of Guadalupe, 
the Santa Maria Valley, and Central Coast.  



Page  |  46

Jobs are available in the area, and Guadalupe’s residents are actively engaged in 
them.  According to Census and Labor data, many of those jobs are simply in lesser-
paying industries such as agriculture and personal/household services.  While 
Guadalupe’s unemployment rate is slightly higher than the national and state rates, 
rural areas and those with high agricultural employment tend to have wild swings in 
the employment market, reflecting the seasonal and even intra-seasonal needs for 
that type of labor.  This means Guadalupe is essentially “normal” for a community 
in an agricultural area, but those seasonal swings in employment -- and household 
income -- make it difficult to confidently invest in the future.  Again, this highlights a 
dilemma for Guadalupe: residents have jobs, are generally earning enough to make 
ends meet, and aren’t expending additional resources to simply survive, but there is 
very little excess wealth available in the community to invest beyond today’s needs.

It is clear, then, that Guadalupe will remain vulnerable to stresses as long as the city 
and residents are confined to their current earning potential and lack confidence 
required to invest for the future.  This lack of economic capital to further resiliency 
objectives remains a major impediment for the foreseeable future, complicated by 
the long lead time to improve human capital through education.  If Guadalupe is to 
grow in the near-term, economic capital will likely have to come from outside the 
community, and invested in non-economic assets in which Guadalupe is rich.

Analysis and solutions behind the categories “Children” and “Housing” require a 
more nuanced understanding of relationships between and within these areas.  In 
general, households with children depend on one or more supporting elements: first, 
two parents are fully employed and expend resources to purchase child care, one 
parent is not fully employed in order to care for children full time or outside of school 
hours, or extended family or a community network provides child care while the 
parents work.  In the ADI data, single parents are identified as a variable of concern; 
a single parent cannot depend on a second income to offset childcare costs but may 
have an older parent or other family present in the home to provide some child care.  
Although single parents are typically more vulnerable to shocks that may come with 
the loss of or change in employment, any family that must provide childcare faces 
difficult decisions between full employment and childcare.  

Housing also has wide and varying impact on household vulnerability, as housing 
is amongst the largest expenses for most Americans.  Housing affordability in 
California is broadly recognized as a problem, and while the Central Coast is more 
affordable than some locations in the state, it remains a major source of stress 
on poor households especially, who are typically renters and more susceptible to 
annual and even monthly inflation in housing costs.  In markets like Guadalupe, low 
vacancy rates cause housing prices to go up as renters and buyers alike compete for 
available openings.  



Page  |  47

Finally, within the ADI data – which focuses on community health – the combination 
of single parent families and homes with crowding leads to situations where children 
may interact with family members across three age groups: children, parents, 
and grandparents.  Children who attend school act as vectors for viruses such as 
influenza, which can then quickly spread to more vulnerable elderly members of 
the family.  Crowded households are particularly susceptible to airborne diseases 
because their ability to isolate vulnerable family members from known contagions is 
limited.  From a single-parent perspective, any illness for the primary money-earner 
could spell disaster for the household.  Even a day or two away from a minimum-
wage job can cost the household enough to lose housing, go hungry, or skip a 
dose of medicine.  Time and time again, it becomes apparent that these single 
indicators found within a community quickly compound in their effects on individual 
households, and then into the rest of the community.



Page  |  48

This Page Intentionally Left Blank



Page  |  49

The Core of Resiliency: 
Identifying Assets, 
Addressing Impediments
Community Assets – A Community is More than Money
 
Communities contain a variety of assets that go well beyond what is in its collective 
bank account.  The Community Capitals Framework, first outlined in 2004 by rural 
community development researcher-practitioners, catalogs seven types of assets 
(also referred to as “capitals”) that can be found within a community: 

• Natural: the natural environment of a community, and the value derived from 
it through interaction with the community.  The value of cultivated land (active 
engagement) and the value of protected natural spaces (passive engagement) 
are equally considered. 

• Human: the intellectual talents and physical labor of a community, typically 
turned into paid work, but may also be dedicated to volunteer and other service 
activities. 

• Cultural: often equated with artistic attractions, cultural capital is also the history 
and heritage of a community, as well as morals, ethics, and values passed 
between generations, i.e. a town’s cultural identity.

66



Page  |  50

• Social:  the organization and cohesion of a community; how a community 
communicates, coordinates, and cooperates to achieve common purpose. 

• Political:  the organization and operationalization of choices about resources 
in the community; who controls and how a community collects and distributes 
resources to address its current needs and future goals. 

• Built:  physical assets within the community; permanent buildings, homes, parks, 
infrastructure and other items that support the daily productive activities of the 
community. 

• Financial:  any resource that can be leveraged to produce additional resources; 
not restricted to money in the bank, financial capital may also be how other 
capitals are monetized or produce monetary value.

Figure 16: LeRoy Park under reconstruction in May 2021 (Photo Credit: Eric Larson)



Page  |  51

LeRoy Park and Community Center: A Case in Point 

LeRoy Park, first dedicated to the town in 1871, has long been a central part of 
the community and its culture. In the shared space of LeRoy Park, community 
and family BBQs, quinceañeras, and other family-focused events often brought 
together groups that didn’t normally interact with each other.  Wealthy families, 
looking for space to host an event, used the park alongside poor families normally 
crammed into small apartments, but seeking a chance to create a special 
family memory. These small interactions created opportunity for improving 
social cohesion. With the Boys and Girls Club using the community center, there 
were additional opportunities for other social groups to build connections and 
cohesion.

Unfortunately, the 1990s and early 2000s witnessed a slow deterioration of 
the quality of the park and community center, with the community center 
officially closed due to mold in August of 2018. Just prior to its closure, the only 
organization that used the building was the Boys and Girls club from 2-6 PM, 
Monday through Friday -- simply stated, for most of the past 20 years, the building 
was seriously underutilized. The Park was also seldom used as facilities fell into 
disrepair. 

In a city often described as close-knit, this major community gathering place 
(falling into the above categories of social, built, and cultural asset) had been 
lost.  In other words, the deterioration of the park and community center has, over 
time, eroded community cohesion by eliminating a place where the “common” in 
community was being reinforced. 



Page  |  52



Page  |  53

Community assets are not exclusive, and a single one – such as a protected beach 
– may have value as natural, cultural, and financial capital.  Birdwatchers may be 
attracted to a morning surrounded by the natural environment of the beach, then 
spend lunchtime at a favorite Main Street café catching up with fellow birders.  In 
this example, one asset has become a source for multiple capitals.  Similarly, a 
few talented artists (human capital) in a town may transform into a large, visible, 
and well-known mural (cultural capital) or an art shop (arguably, both cultural and 
financial capital).  With the exception of financial capital, other capitals are not 
generally assigned a monetary value; rather, they are the raw materials that combine 
to create value for the community.  A protected beach has natural value – hard to 
quantify as a dollar amount – but if it gains a reputation for attracting out-of-town 
tourists who spend money at local restaurants and shops, it creates financial capital 
out of the human (business owners and employees) and built capital (buildings, 
clean water, electric lines) of the community.

In the case of Guadalupe, the community is well-endowed with a variety of non-
financial assets (the full set of which will be discussed with more depth later in 
this document).  The community’s natural capital, set amongst fertile fields and 
adjacent to the Guadalupe-Nipomo Dunes complex, is foremost among a long list of 
assets that don’t have clear financial value, yet have outsize influence in Guadalupe’s 
future fortunes.  Guadalupe’s social and political capitals are solid; there is little 



Page  |  54

visible confrontation over social and political issues in the city, and the community 
generally agrees on a common direction for itself.  Culturally, Guadalupe’s Hispanic 
and multicultural identity are well-known and well-respected; the community is 
proud of its people, history and place in the Santa Maria Valley.  The community 
has a reputation as being hard-working and close-knit.  Guadalupe’s list of assets 
is at least equivalent to its list of impediments, and none of the impediments are 
fundamentally insurmountable.

Connecting Assets and Impediments to Resiliency Strategies 
and Planning

Communities are an interactive and interconnected human ecosystem, and can 
be just as complex as their natural counterparts.  In a community, as in nature, a 
problem at the lowest level can bubble up to cause major issues elsewhere in the 
system – the loss of a key food source, a severed migration route, or removal of 
a major rodent predator can all throw off the balance of the natural environment.  
This is no less true for the human elements that make up a community.  Although 
communities tend to focus on the scariest shocks at the apex of the community’s 
ecosystem – the loss of a major employer, a natural disaster, or local political 
scandal – smaller stressors can still have profound effects because the health 
of  one component within the community affects many others.  The complex 
interaction of residents, government, customers, businesses, and outside forces is 
difficult to describe and, therefore, hard to consistently achieve positive change with 
a set formula, because each community is a different combination of the interacting 
elements.

Enhancing resilience in a community begins with first-hand knowledge of the 
community and an individual desire to contribute to positive change, usually on 
an issue or topic about which the individual is passionate.  While we look at a 
community’s resilience as a holistic effort, we must also recognize the role that 
individuals or groups organized for a single purpose can play within that effort.  
Those individuals or groups can pick an impediment and devote significant effort to 
it -- effort which is truly vital to the community’s success.  

When this is done others in the community can then take a broader view as they 
consider alternative and supporting elements that can be effectively and efficiently 
addressed without unknowingly or radically changing the most desirable and 
valuable characteristics of the community.  Simply put in the language of resiliency: 
addressing an impediment in the community should not come at the price of 
diminishing the value of a corresponding asset or assets.  

This requires understanding how the building blocks and connective mortar within 
the community will fit around the passions of individuals or groups, to create 



Page  |  55

structures rather than separate piles of raw materials.  It may require first addressing 
smaller issues under or around a single strong concern of residents; or making sure 
each part of the structure is set before moving on to the next.    

Guadalupe clearly has impediments to further development as a resilient 
community.  As described above, it is not simply one or two demographic 
statistics that place Guadalupe at a disadvantage – it is the combination of several 
complicating factors that appear to work against the community.  Many of these 
factors are no surprise to residents, and it can be observed in interactions with 
Guadalupe residents by visitors or new residents that Guadalupe is very self-aware 
of its limitations.  This was further confirmed as Guadalupe’s residents reflected on 
the assets and impediments in community engagement panel discussions.

While residents identified many specific items that reflect their personal experience 
and interests, such as not having a community swimming pool, there was also broad 
recognition that a swimming pool pointed to a larger issue concerning the lack 
of recreation facilities and opportunities and was – above all – a lack of financial 
capital within the community.  Respondents were also keenly aware that the physical 
appearance of the community was related to attracting tourists and that tourists 
could contribute significant amounts of revenue so the city could afford to build new 
recreation facilities.  In other words, Guadalupe’s residents accept the complexity 
of the ecosystem, and understand there is no single, cheap, or instantaneous action 
that will make Guadalupe a rich and resilient resort town -- but that with each small 
action toward a common goal, the community can get there.

Identifying Impediments

Across the series of focus groups, community members identified four major 
groupings of impediments, and an additional set of three more specific impediments 
that must be addressed.  The four major groups were:

Starting from a position of disadvantage or “it takes money to make money”: 
Guadalupe is an economically disadvantaged community, with a low tax base and 
few additional sources of revenue.  In the words of focus group members, there are 
run-down buildings and vacant storefronts in the downtown that reflect poorly on the 
community.  Without continued investment, visibly run-down buildings are unlikely to 
attract either new businesses or new customers to the downtown area.  Community 
conversations revolve around this chicken-or-egg problem -- money is needed to 
improve decaying facades and the appearance of the city, but new businesses won’t 
move in to generate money until the appearance of the downtown area is improved.  
Property owners with undeveloped sites are reluctant to build with little interest 
from businesses.  Landlords also face higher costs to renovate and prepare for new 
businesses, while new businesses to occupy those storefronts face their own high 



Page  |  56

startup costs and risk.  Despite a resurgence in nationwide business starts during 
the pandemic, many of those were sole proprietorships and online, not the types of 
businesses that need physical locations.

Education and Language as barriers to advancement: the low average education 
level and prevalence of non-English speakers limits the job opportunities for local 
residents and reinforces stagnation in wages and income.  Long viewed as a 
community of low-skill, low-paid workers, Guadalupe tends to attract businesses in 
search of those workers, and this is a hard stereotype to break.  While absolutely 
vital to the success of the predominantly agricultural economy of the Santa Maria 
Valley, low-wage workers are unlikely to add significant new resources to the 
tax base.  Limited incomes are spent on necessities like food and housing, not 
at restaurants and antique stores as disposble income. While the new Pasadera 
development has provided new housing opportunites and hundreds of new 
community members over the past five years, it is still a relatively small percentage 
of the population total and the lack of many new businesses that cater to a retiree 
or higher disposible income demographic has had a marginal effect on changing the 
aforementioned stereotype. Change may be happening but it is a slow process.

Transportation and Service Access: it is ironic that in the midst of fields that grow 
produce for the world, Guadalupe’s residents identify access to food as a major 
impediment.  To reinforce this local view, the U.S. Department of Agriculture 
identifies Guadalupe as a “low-income, low-access” food desert because of a high 
number of households that lack transportation to get to a supermarket.  Similarly, 
access to any number of vital services, including healthcare and workforce 
development programs, as well as routine transport to and from jobs around the 
Santa Maria Valley is too often restricted to those able to afford a car.  Although the 
city has made important strides to improve bus transportation within Guadalupe 
and to Santa Maria, the necessity for private cars will continue to be a drain on the 
limited resources of households in Guadalupe, and draw city resources away from 
economic development to the more basic requirements of community sustainability.

Current and future relationships between citizens and city: Focus groups noted 
a lack of recreation facilities and after-school activities for children.  Recreation 
facilities are a unique interaction between the city and citizens – beyond providing 
a well-maintained, safe open space of a park, specific facilities (like a pool) require 
a continuing relationship between the city and users.  If the pool isn’t used, it won’t 
be maintained.  If it isn’t maintained, it can’t be used.  To have these amenities, the 
community must use them and be willing to calculate convenience and proximity 
into their price.  Recreation facilities and activities are also an analog for both 
the perception of the community about its appearance and concerns about their 
children’s future in the city.  Nearby Santa Maria has pools and soccer clubs, so why 
would Guadalupe’s kids remain engaged with their own town?  The focus groups 



Page  |  57

also mentioned the lack of diverse service businesses, especially grocery stores and 
child care, which also reflect citizen doubts about their relationship with the town, 
and the town’s ability to sustain their loyalty in the long-term.

Linked with the above concern about recreation facilities, and equally concerning 
as an issue of language and communication, Quality of Community Engagement 
was also identified as a specific impediment within at least one focus group.  One 
possible interpretation of this impediment is related to the “Bedroom Community 
Problem,” in which community members who live in Guadalupe, but work elsewhere 
in the Santa Maria Valley or Central Coast, feel disengaged from the community 
for a variety of reasons.  The lack of a local newspaper dedicated to Guadalupe -- 
along with Spanish-language news about current events in the city – also presents a 
challenge to broader community engagement by community leaders in government, 
development, and other citizen services.  

Finally, the focus groups identified two additional specific impediments.  The first 
of these is the so-called “missing middle” for Affordable Housing as a basis for 
future growth.  Affordable housing is a major concern for the city, as it is across the 
Santa Maria Valley, Central Coast and the rest of California.  Guadalupe’s General 
Plan Housing Element is expected to address that issue and extends  beyond 
the reach of this Resiliency Plan at this time.  Housing, of course, has an intricate 
relationship with economic development, both as a potential burden on households 
(keeping them from spending on other goods and services), and also as a source of 
capital for entrepreneurs and investors (against which they borrow to finance new 
or expanded businesses).  The affordable rental units for low-income community 
members are being addressed by People Self Help Housing (PSHH) and the County’s 
Housing Authority; entry level for-sale housing (e.g.: manufactured housing, often 
referred to as mobile home parks, or condominiums) are not available. In the past, 
PSHH built several self-help houses. These homes, many still owned by the families 
that built them, have gained value and will allow their children to inherit wealth the 
previous generation never had. These homes are an example of how today’s low-
income families could also get on the housing ladder. But to do this, there needs to 
be available and attainable low-cost housing opportunities. 

The second was Air Quality, which is a major contributor to health problems in 
Guadalupe, and represents yet another drain on the resources of individuals and 
the community, both to address mitigation (sealing windows, purchase of air 
conditioning and purification systems) and to address the results (healthcare).  Air 
quality in Guadalupe is affected by proximity to agricultural chemicals, as well as 
airborne particles such as sand and salt blown into the valley by ocean winds, as 
well as the number of diesel trucks that pass through Guadalupe on an hourly basis.  
While the impact of airborne particulates from the Dunes is unavoidable and must be 
addressed by sealing homes and businesses with improved materials, agricultural 



Page  |  58

chemicals can be controlled and some vehicle-borne and -created pollution can be 
avoided.  Air quality is a known impediment for Guadalupe, but is similarly beyond 
the scope of this Resiliency Plan -- it requires broader partnerships with the Air 
Pollution Control District, Coastal Commission, and local agricultural firms.

Addressing Impediments

A community’s impediments are not inherent or immutable.  Impediments are 
identified in the community development process so the community can decide how 
to prioritize and then devote resources to address and reshape them.  Addressing 
impediments is community development – as a minimum, knowing the impediments 
and marshaling the resources to fix them is building resilience in the community 
because it acknowledges real and potential stressors within the community.  At 
best, addressing impediments leads to new or improved assets.  The impediments 
identified above by residents could be addressed directly with a massive infusion 
of capital - by simply buying solutions - but this approach is both bad practice and 
wishful thinking.  

Instead, this plan recommends an approach that simultaneously strengthens 
the underlying foundations of the community and begins to chip away at those 
impediments which are directly within the control of the community and can be 
tackled with assets already within the community.  The recommended approach 
addresses four community development areas, described in detail below with 
possible actions for the community, which seek to shore up and build the 
foundations for the future.

1. Improving Social Capital with Community Engagement 
(Non-Physical)

A unified community - one with a common vision, priorities, and perception of itself 
- embodies resiliency.  When residents engage with each other, and have invested 
relationships with local businesses, the city government, school district, public 
benefit nonprofits, and other stakeholders in the community, they build social capital 
which can be harnessed and transformed into other forms of community capital.  
Social capital is the inherent value attributed to the interpersonal relationships 
developed through community communication.  

Social capital is built through social, relational and cognitive pathways where 
civic engagement is paired with social cohesion emphasizing norms and values, 
ultimately building strong social networks anchored in trust. The goal for Guadalupe 
is to be a community that is actively and visibly united in purpose because it is far 
more likely to be awarded resources by external sources or to find solutions formerly 



Page  |  59

hidden within the community itself.  

Actions:

Get the Word Out/Correr la Voz: Increase public awareness of events and 
endeavors in the community through bilingual paper and electronic newsletters with 
content provided by local civic groups and nonprofits; increased awareness and 
subscriptions to community-focused social media, and procurement of electronic 
bulletin boards announcing community news and events at all major city entrances. 
Live and portray an active, united, and engaged community to both residents and 
visitors.

Show Off Progress and Possibilities: Community events hosted by local 
civic groups at both renovated and older community gathering places (parks, 
restaurants, museums, other public spaces), highlighting both the progress to 
make the community more attractive, and the work that is still needed.  Generate 
the maximum exposure of community members to fellow residents with shared 
interests, the groups already engaged in community-building, and the physical 
assets of the community.

City Government Outreach: Increase transparency and interest in the activities 



Page  |  60

of Guadalupe city government through bilingual newsletters, increased support, 
participation and visibility at local events, and increased engagement with civic 
groups as an additional conduit to the community.  Increase engagement with 
Guadalupe high school students through “Youth City Council” and “Ambassador/
Embajador(a) de Guadalupe” programs, using their networks and language skills to 
reach non-native English households with city messages.

School District Outreach: The school district should partner with local businesses 
and civic groups to reach parents regarding issues, programs, and projects within 
the school system that directly impact the quality of education it is able to deliver to 
district students.  Engage Guadalupe high school students (who attend high school 
outside of Guadalupe) as “Youth School Board” and ambassadors for the Guadalupe 
school district (their elementary and middle school) to reach English as Second 
Language households.  

2. Enhancing Social Infrastructure with Community 
Development (Physical)

The community needs physical spaces where they can engage with each other, both 
by design and by coincidence.  In Guadalupe, parks, schools, churches, restaurants, 
and stores are the most important locations where residents interact with each other 
as equals, as will be future facilities such as the Royal Theater or a newer and larger 
library.  Parks don’t discriminate because of race, riches, or religion – they welcome 
all families and individuals, where a wealthy family celebrates a quinceañera 
right next to the poor family playing soccer.  Parks are also multi-generational, 
attracting kids to playgrounds, parents for a walk, and grandparents for a place to 
enjoy a sunny afternoon with friends.  Schools can be a great mixing space for the 
community, especially when parents and guardians are fully invested in the quality 
of education their children are receiving.  Businesses around town, especially those 
related to food, also draw in residents of all types.  Good food, good service, and 
good quality draw loyal local customers from broad backgrounds.

Actions:

Parks are Community Centers: Integrate public spaces into all city planning for 
future development, including any future housing areas and areas where infill is 
likely.  Discourage private parks and open spaces isolated within future housing 
developments.  Continue to improve parks within the city and promote circulation 
of residents to all parks and neighborhoods by creating and maintaining unique 
facilities at each park, rather than build all-purpose parks.  Ensure parks are 
connected by walkable or bikeable routes, as well as maintaining accessibility from 
adjacent neighborhoods.



Page  |  61

Schools are Community Centers, Too: The school district should arrange 
opportunities for the community and parents to see the facilities in which their 
children are learning, whether by holding some adult education in the elementary 
and junior high buildings, or regular “Take your Parents to School” events.  Local 
organizations can sponsor and support events outside of normal school hours.  The 
City Council may hold either formal or informal meetings using school facilities, and 
may also consider holding joint events with the school board.

Downtown Investment / The Center of the Community: Encourage restaurants 
and entertainment in a concentrated area (i.e., downtown) and improve the 
attractiveness of that area through creation of a formal Business Improvement 
District (BID) or a public-private foundation or fund for the same purpose.  Since the 
downtown area is controlled in many ways by CalTrans, the City should work closely 
with Caltrans on improving the look and feel of the downtown portion of Highway 1.

3.  Economic Development and Capital Generation

At some point, Guadalupe must begin to generate economic growth and its own 
sources of capital if any resilience effort is to be sustainable.  The people who live in 
Guadalupe are the best source of local business intelligence, gained by listening to a 
few neighbors say “I wish there was a…in Guadalupe” and passing that information 
to the business association or seeking out advice from the local Small Business 
Development Center. To be clear, economic development is a long process and the 
goal is to increase wealth in the community, using local ideas and resources.  It is 
best for the community to grow capital from within, which keeps that wealth in local 
circulation; however, making the community an attractive and welcoming place for 
outside investment has its place.  

While some companies are purely attracted to the spending power of a community, 
an increasing number of small businesses are looking for places where employees 
will find quality-of-life opportunities that supplement and enrich their lives outside 
of work.  Providing necessary services, as well as unique, high-quality, and authentic 
experiences to local customers, newcomers, and tourists will depend on locals 
identifying those opportunities, seeking both advice and funding to build successful 
businesses, and reinvesting in the community.

Actions:

Get to “Yes” for Business: The county and city should continue to examine building 
and business permitting processes and fees, educating business owners on 
common pitfalls, and continuing to facilitate the rapid movement of permits and 
other bureaucratic filings through their respective organizations.  While the city 



Page  |  62

has shown its ability to expedite the processing and approval of projects, being 
able to vocally espouse that “pro-business” approach becomes more important.  If 
businesses are able to launch under conditions where minor deviations in process 
or code are waived for a specified period of time, allowing the business to begin 
generating capital to pay for expensive corrections or tap a funding source that 
doesn’t endanger conventional bank funding, then the cooperative nature of the city 
becomes part of the draw as a “business-friendly” location.  Wherever possible, the 
city and county should continue to default to “yes” on new businesses or expansion 
of existing businesses, unless it means a true and expansive threat to the public 
welfare.

Build Business Infrastructure, Networks and Knowledge: Existing public benefit 
service providers (community development nonprofits) and mutual benefit 
organizations (business associations), with support from government entities, must 
continue to support local entrepreneurs and existing businesses through a variety 
of small business education and assistance, microenterprise loans and technical 
assistance, and business outreach programs.  A full support network within the 
community is more likely to produce long-term success for new and expanded 
businesses, and will tend to produce more complementary than competitive 
outcomes.  It should be noted that the microenterprise program has been 
incorporated into the final revisions of the recently adopted 2042 General Plan.

Be a Good Place to Do Business: Guadalupe’s businesses and governments must 
continue to cooperate in advertising the the town’s unique advantages for business, 
which may include less expensive rent, less regulation, and more loyal customers.  
Publicizing Guadalupe as “business friendly”, can be a huge draw, especially to those 
businesses that may face higher costs or may be unwelcome in other locations.  
Of course, this must be done in cooperation with citizens and residents to ensure 
new businesses remain consistent with the character of the community.  The local 
business community can play an important role in this endeavor through outreach 
within the community and in marketing Guadalupe, both informally through personal 
and business contacts and a formal advertising campaign - either through traditional 
marketing methods or through digital means and social media.

Guadalupe as a Destination: Develop and deploy a strategic tourism marketing 
campaign (typically called “placemaking”) that highlights Guadalupe’s existing 
assets (natural environment, museums, restaurants) and begins to rebuild the 
quality behind Guadalupe’s motto of “Gateway to the Dunes.”  As the Royal Theater 
renovation continues, begin to incorporate and build a reputation behind the 
theme of a “City of the Arts” with art events, performances, classes, and contests.  
Cooperate with the Santa Maria Valley Chamber of Commerce to link Guadalupe 
more strongly with other attractions in the Valley, and ensure Guadalupe’s truly 
unique assets are highlighted and promoted.



Page  |  63

4.  Workforce Development and Employment Diversification

Census data from 2019 assesses over 30% of Guadalupe’s working population is 
employed in the agriculture sector and 33% of residents over the age of 25 have 
less than a 9th grade education.  There is no denying the importance of agriculture 
to the community and it is impossible to untangle the links between low-skill 
labor and the American food supply.  To be blunt, Guadalupe will need and have 
significant financial improvement; however, changes to the workforce are painfully 
slow, and depend on the evolution of both employers and employees in the area.  
Despite these daunting realities, Guadalupe has some advantages that should give 
it hope.  Economically, the larger Santa Maria Valley is relatively diverse, with light 
manufacturing, aerospace, energy, tourism, and healthcare industries augmenting 
agriculture.  In other words, both today’s workers and their children can actually see 
alternatives to their current employment without leaving the Valley.  Even within 
agriculture, there is growing recognition that English and math skills enhance the 
productivity of field workers, and that continuing technological evolution within the 
agriculture industry will require more than just nimble fingers and strong arms.  

The scope of workforce development for Guadalupe must be realistically prioritized 
to raise the skill level of workers within key local industries, with English language 
training, adult education in math literacy, and technical training in areas identified by 
local firms.  Increased skills translate to increased wages within the same industry, 
and the possibility of exporting a common skill to a new industry.  To be clear, it will 
not be up to Guadalupe alone to evolve its workforce; partnerships will be the only 
way to significantly build resiliency through diversification and upskilling within the 
workforce.

Actions:

Workforce Advocacy and Coordination: Establish a Guadalupe workforce advocacy 
organization comprising local businesses (large and small) and workforce-focused 
nonprofits to establish prioritized workforce needs and resources specific to 
Guadalupe, and advocate in local adult education/workforce development groups 
for Guadalupe’s interests. Emphasize English literacy and basic math, with follow-on 
options for more advanced technical, scientific, and managerial skills roughly parallel 
to those found in high schools, agriculture clubs (4H, Future Farmers of America 
[FFA]), or industry-specific training.  Identify and eliminate redundancies between 
organizations’ education programs and build a continuum of education that can take 
place entirely within Guadalupe.

Build Local Workforce Education Infrastructure: Survey local nonprofits and schools 
to Identify facilities with room capacity for adult education classes, as well as after-



Page  |  64

hours child care space.  Keep classes short (no more than one hour) and offered 
more often to reduce strain on students, kids, and volunteers.  Use distance-learning 
/ remote teaching as necessary to provide students and instructors as many options 
as possible to attend classes.  Partner with churches and civic organizations to staff 
after-hours child care and train volunteer child care providers.

Children Challenging Parents: Work with both Guadalupe Union and Santa Maria 
Joint Union School Districts to use Guadalupe’s elementary, junior high, and high 
school students as vectors for publicizing education and development opportunities 
for their parents, and ensure all materials are in Spanish.  Use messages and 
programs that challenge parents to learn and develop alongside their children, 
emphasizing the long-term value of education and continued skills development for 
household prosperity.



Page  |  65

Charting the Course 
Forward
Guadalupe’s Dilemma: Developing Internal Resources to 
Increase Resilience Requires External Investment

Guadalupe has limited monetary resources to increase community resilience 
through large, flashy projects.  Often, when the stresses on a community turn into 
cracks, it means a community has fallen below a certain level of vulnerability.  This 
typically happens when and where monetary resources become limited – personal 
savings and public tax revenue dry up, and investments in future capacity are 
quickly forgotten in order to meet the urgent needs of the present.  The good news 
is Guadalupe is not yet a city overwhelmed by this scenario.  Guadalupe’s attractive 
assets are many, and capitalizing on them to grow and diversify the community’s 
economy and well-being is still a choice available to the city.  The limited resources 
within the community will drive future growth toward reliance on investments, 
grants, and consumer/visitor spending from external sources, while harnessing and 
focusing the existing non-monetary assets of the community toward a common goal 
or goals.
 
In the simplest terms, Guadalupe’s most successful version of the future is one 
where the city, its assets, attractions, businesses, and residents are initially 
recognized as a good investment by outsiders.  Assets are improved, new assets 
are created from existing community energy, talent, and ideas, and the community’s 

77



Page  |  66

reputation grows as a unique and attractive destination for both visitors and capital.  
Over time, Guadalupe’s tangible assets grow in value and can be leveraged to drive 
self-investment from inside the community and reduce reliance on outside money.  
To be clear, Guadalupe should remain very interested and welcoming of outside 
resources to the community – however, a more balanced mix of local and outside 
investment is better for long-term self-governance and either building or returning 
some assets that focus on residents rather than visitors.

This is not an easy path.  It requires hard decisions to make the community more 
reliant on outsiders, to take risks on new businesses, to embrace a different type of 
uncertainty -- people need agriculture because they must eat, but they do not need to 
be tourists in Guadalupe. It requires hard work and monetary sacrifice to start new 
businesses, to improve buildings, to organize and put on new community events, to 
advertise attractions and restaurants, and create an environment and community 
that is uniquely Guadalupe.

One Possible Path Forward: Guadalupe as a Destination

Grounded in realistic expectations of what it is and what it can be, Guadalupe can 
begin diversifying and growing the local economy, including eco- and agritourism 
associated with the natural beauty of the Guadalupe-Nipomo Dunes complex 
and proximity to the freshest ingredients from local fields and farms.  In addition, 
Guadalupe can grow as a community of art and culture, building on “Instagram-
worthy” murals and renovation of the historic Royal Theatre.  The core of those 
efforts will be a resurgent historic downtown area, once again bustling with 
restaurants, shops, small offices, a classic small-town theater, and purposeful 
spaces where “grab your coffee, let’s walk in the park” is the norm.  Renovating, 
rebuilding, and refilling storefronts will be the attractive force drawing additional 
entrepreneurs and small enterprises from multiple industries and professions, 
mixing new talent and ideas with old town charm, creating additional reasons for 
both tourists and locals to stop, stay, and enjoy.  Buoyed by new blood, energy, and 
resources – and given new reasons and confidence that it can do better than just 
survive events -- Guadalupe will build both community and physical resiliency.

Guadalupe’s proximity to Santa Maria is both curse and blessing.  There is a 
significant outflow of financial capital from Guadalupe to Santa Maria, primarily 
in the loss of commercial and consumer retail spending to the larger businesses 
and stores of the larger community.  This is a common trend in the relationship 
between large cities and surrounding towns, and a curse that is unlikely to change 
significantly in Guadalupe’s favor.  In order to recapture the loss of revenue to Santa 
Maria and other larger cities, Guadalupe must leverage its other capitals to attract 
visitors seeking unique cultural and natural experiences the cities cannot provide.  
It must find and fill gaps in the convenience, quality, and shopping experience for 



Page  |  67

items and services offered elsewhere in the Santa Maria Valley; put in business 
terms, it must find its comparative advantages in areas outside of pure cost.  It must 
demonstrate that both the built and human resources of Guadalupe are uniquely 
positioned to provide higher nonmonetary value (for example, a feeling to the 
experience) that cannot be found in other locations.  Guadalupe’s future is not being 
more like Santa Maria -- it is being less like Santa Maria.  

Proximity to Santa Maria also means the unique assets, amenities, and attractions of 
Guadalupe are just eight miles from a major urban center supporting almost 175,000 
people (read: customers from southern San Luis Obispo County and northern Santa 
Barbara County).  Fostering the development of Guadalupe as a destination location 
is not just a matter of more loudly and insistently shouting the existing “Gateway to 
the Dunes” marketing slogan.  Instead, Guadalupe must truly become the gateway, 
a mandatory stop for those exploring the Dunes – to grab lunch after a long walk, 
to relive the memory of the experience with a painting or postcard, and to catch a 
Saturday evening screening of Ten Commandments.  

Four connected lines of effort are necessary to create Guadalupe as a destination 
for both visitors and resources:

Create and Foster Guadalupe as “A Community of Art” 

• Preserve murals and create spaces / opportunities for additional public art 

• Renovate and revive Royal Theater as the center for art and artists in the 
community, and position it as a unique destination and talent incubator/host for 
both upcoming and established artists in the broader Latinx community 

• Encourage local and visiting artists and creators – especially Guadalupe’s kids –
to highlight Guadalupe’s natural environment and cultural heritage as well as the 
artists’ connections to the city with contests and exhibitions 

Compliment the “Community of Art” with activities and amenities that extend the 
“loiter time” (the time visitors spend in Guadalupe) and increase the “revisit rate” (the 
number of times visitors return to Guadalupe) for visitors 

• Diversify and expand the restaurant experience in downtown Guadalupe 

• Improve the appearance of the downtown area by balancing a unified theme for 
the entire area, while still maintaining the uniqueness of each establishment 

• Foster the development of overnight accommodation in Guadalupe 



Page  |  68

• Enable additional businesses that cater to visitors (cannabis, antiques & 
restorations, bike/motorcycle/auto services for CA-1 travelers, additional art and 
creative businesses) 

• Coordinate with Dunes Center, Cultural Arts Center, Historical Society, and other 
cultural attractions to host and promote Regular, Special, and Rotating Events/
Exhibits by the community and cultural / arts organizations to promote recurring 
visits (“been there, done that” becomes “excited to visit again”) 

Harmonize Guadalupe’s internal business and political practices with external 
marketing messages 

• Balance Guadalupe business community’s creation of a destination location 
while preserving services and quality of life for residents (downtown and 
“approaches” renovations, business practices and hours to support tourism) 

• Create and implement a marketing plan to reach near- (San Luis Obispo and 
Santa Barbara) and medium-distance (Ventura/Oxnard, North Los Angeles, 
Bakersfield, Fresno, San Jose/Southern San Francisco Bay Area) audiences 

• Ensure City of Guadalupe, County of Santa Barbara, and State policies create 
conditions for successful destination location build-out 

Internal Marketing – ensure Guadalupe residents know the attractions/ amenities/
opportunities in their community 

• Market local restaurants for locals, especially those community members in 
new neighborhoods who may have more expendable income and less local 
knowledge as new transplants to the area, to keep money in Guadalupe rather 
than dinner in Santa Maria or Pismo Beach 

• Revive local interest in local restaurants through marketing and specials for 
locals, reminding them the brand is about local flavor and retaining their access 
to restaurants as well

Two additional lines of effort are necessary to enhance the human capital of 
Guadalupe:

Broadband connections can expand high-speed Internet access through an internal 
or hybrid build of a community-owned network and attract of providers 

• Broadband connections will be Guadalupe’s method to “broadcast” its presence  
 



Page  |  69

to the world, streaming live shows, conferences, and art classroom events from 
the Royal Theater 

• Advertise broadband to attract additional businesses and services
• Use broadband to expand educational opportunities 
• Focus on broadband-enabled and broadband-enabling skills for workers
• Leverage the County-wide commitment to Digital Equity for resources to improve 

access and availability 

Create upskilling opportunities and additional jobs through workforce development 
and entrepreneurial skills training and small business support 

• Concentrate on business for tourism, creation of cultural attractions, and small 
business-enabling jobs (accounting, facilities services, information technology 
services, and human resources management) 

• Train agricultural workforce into higher-skill areas within agriculture, where they 
enjoy more stable employment, and provide counseling on skills that are most 
transferable to other industries in the local economy

Moving from Plan to Strategy: A Community-Owned Process

Up to this point, this document has presented the concepts behind resiliency, as 
well as a broad spectrum of possible resiliency-building activities that could be 
applied to Guadalupe.  Both the concepts and activities are broadly consistent with 
the recommendations that are found in other documents and presentations either 
created by local stakeholders to inform citizens and city leadership or commissioned 
directly by the city.  The following documents were referenced, in their most current 
version, which may be a draft or final:

• Guadalupe 2021 General Plan (Public Review Draft, July 30, 2021) – available 
on the city’s website 

• City of Guadalupe 2019-2027 Housing Element (Draft Update, May 2, 2019) – 
available on the city’s website 

• City of Guadalupe Resilience Plan Economic Development Opportunities/
Constraints and Recommendations (July 13, 2021) – available as an appendix to this 
document

The next steps of this resiliency effort are best placed into the hands of the 
community.  To be most successful, the community will need to convene residents, 
leaders, and other stakeholders to build the implementation plan.  The creation of 



Page  |  70

an implementation plan for resiliency must pass through the process of strategy-
building.  Strategy, in its purest form, is a five-part activity of setting goals, describing 
activities, assigning resources, implementing the plan, and adjusting the plan (See 
Figure 17).  Good strategy-building also requires continuous improvement, and the 
team must be willing and empowered to review and improve previous steps, not 
simply plow ahead despite known or potential mistakes earlier in the process.  

The strategy process begins with Goal-Setting, or deciding what goals the 
community wants for itself.  Any goal or goals should be able to affirmatively answer 
the 3 As: 

• Acceptable – does the community want this and support the goal? 

• Actionable – is there a specific action, set of actions, or activity that will 
contribute to the goal? 

• Achievable – are there sufficient resources in the community to do this or a 
clear path to gain the necessary resources from other sources? 

The greatest danger in Goal-Setting is setting too many goals because the 
community and leaders cannot clearly articulate or agree on a vision for the 

Figure 17: The Strategy-Building Process



Page  |  71

community.  Too many goals, without a unified purpose, dilutes the energy and 
resources of the community.   Each goal should have actions that can be assigned 
to individuals or groups, and an understanding of the resources that activity will 
require.  Finally, goals must be malleable through the strategy-building process; 
as activities are crafted and resources assigned, a goal may end up requiring too 
many resources to accomplish without hurting other activities (and their respective 
goals).  The process is one of continual refinement, and should never shy away from 
returning to previous steps to ensure goals remain true to the 3 As – at least while 
the strategy is still being formed. 

Once goals are crafted, the group must Describe the Activities that contribute to 
achieving them.  Activities should be evaluated against 4 Cs: 

• Clear – does everyone involved understand the activity and its connection to a 
goal? 

• Connect – does this action connect with others, creating either dependency or 
synergy? 

• Combine – can this activity be combined with any others to save resources?  

• Completion – does the activity have a way to call it complete or finished, so the 
resources can be moved to the next or a new activity? 

It should go without saying that each activity must be clearly described, and linked 
to a goal, but it cannot be emphasized enough, especially in large and long-term 
endeavors like community development that involve many components.  Clarity 
also comes from connecting each activity to others.  Activities may need to be 
sequenced in time because one activity requires the other to be completed before 
it can start.  For example, a church would first need to train volunteers to provide 
childcare for workforce education students before classes can begin at the 
Senior Center.  While sequencing in time creates one form of dependency, other 
dependencies are based on available resources.  The time of City Councilmembers, 
a large meeting room, or a critical advisor on external financing can also create the 
need to prioritize one activity before another.  Some activities may need to take place 
at the same time to create synergistic effects.  A project to engage Guadalupe youth 
in city government can be combined with a project to introduce new community 
message boards, asking young ambassadors to connect an important local issue 
with creative and bilingual messages to better reach the community.

Other activities may need to be combined to avoid duplicated efforts toward the 
same goal, blend two or more activities that would require too many resources to 
accomplish separately, or reach across several activities or goals with a similar 



Page  |  72

resource.  Advertising and media relations are typically activities that can be 
combined across multiple activities to avoid each activity having to use separate 
resources to do the same thing.  Another example may also be a compromise 
between lights for a baseball field and a soccer pitch – could the two projects buy 
from the same company at a discount, or spend extra money to buy one set of lights 
between the fields that could be turned to cover one or the other (rather than both)?
Finally, an activity should have a defined criteria for completion.  Being able to say an 
activity is finished has multiple purposes, both practical and psychological.  

In practical terms, the completion of an activity means the resources it has been 
using can be officially released to the next activity or project.  It also means 
the activity can be evaluated for its effective use of those resources.  Did the 
project cost too much or was there money left over?  Did it take much longer 
than anticipated or was it quickly finished?  As the resiliency effort continues, 
understanding both time and money required helps everyone understand the pace 
of progress.  In a long-term effort such as resiliency, there is also a psychological 
satisfaction to saying “we’re making progress – we’ve completed 10 of 30 activities.”  
A goal without completed activities begins to feel like a never-ending quest, without 
the opportunity to celebrate smaller victories along the way.

Assigning Resources to each activity is typically the most laborious (and 
contentious) part of strategy-building, but getting it right saves effort and frustration 
during implementation.  Once each activity has been described with enough detail, 
the assignment of resources should be relatively easy.  The first resource to be 
assigned is the people – this can refer to just one individual working alone on a 
small project or an organization working on a larger project.  Either way, the “people 
resource” has one of three roles in an activity: 

• Leader: the group or individual responsible for implementing the activity; co-leads 
are possible, but avoid diluting the actual responsibility and accountability of 
leaders 

• Contributor: a group or individuals who will provide additional resources to the 
activity, guided by the leader 

• Coordinator: an individual whose job is to ensure related activities are 
synchronized or shared resources are used appropriately and in a timely fashion; 
it is best if this is not also a leader of the activity to avoid an appearance of 
favoritism

 
Clearly defining these roles early gives ownership of the activity to just one party.  
(This avoids the common error of diluting responsibility, as the cliché says, “when 
everyone is in charge, no one is in charge.”)  Contributors may play a dual role as a 



Page  |  73

resource.  First, they are providing their time, talents, and assets as workers (labor) 
in the activity.  While this is an important role, for this part of the discussion, though, 
they play a more vital role by assisting the leader with their own ideas, expertise, and 
attention.  A contributor must take responsibility for their role in the activity and add 
value for the leader, by tracking resources expended, understanding the connection 
between project components, and even being prepared to step in for the leader.  This 
level of responsibility is what distinguishes a person from being a contributor (a 
“people resource”) from a worker (a “labor resource”).

The assets assigned to activities vary widely, and can range from workers to money 
to shovels.  Like those “people resources”, assets can also be divided into primary 
and contributing categories, where a primary asset is typically the main subject of 
the activity.  The primary asset can be a physical building, the time of a nonprofit, 
or a community message board.  If an activity is working on a primary asset, it 
will generally be unavailable to other activities, or it requires coordination between 
activities until that activity is completed (here, a reminder that activities should 
have a way to define when they are “complete” so the assets can be freed up).  A 
contributing asset may be used by several activities at the same time, but must be 
carefully managed to ensure it is not spread too thin or is correctly sequenced and 
prioritized.  Resources don’t need to be planned to the last detail or dollar, but should 
be planned to the level that helps show where conflicts between primary assets and 
shortages of contributing assets need to be addressed.

Time is a remarkably valuable asset for the community.  The time of city staff, 
volunteers, the vulnerable, and everyone else in the community should be respected, 
whether by using that time efficiently and effectively, or by exercising patience as 
others accomplish their own share of the work.  Much of the resiliency work in 
Guadalupe will be done by those who aren’t being paid – that is the very hard and 
time-consuming work of writing a business plan for a new antique store, preparing 
legal paperwork for a community arts center, and organizing a tree-planting by 
Boy Scouts on a Saturday afternoon.  Again, if Guadalupe could pay for all of 
these improvements outright, this report would be a much shorter document and 
the community’s patience could be limited to whatever time limit was written in 
a construction contract.  However, since that isn’t the case, it is best to realistic 
(overestimate) the time each activity will take, and be thankful when an activity 
finishes ahead of schedule.

Finally, when resources run low, priorities truly matter.  At this point in the strategy-
building process, it is always advisable to “review and improve” previous steps to 
ensure the highest priority goals are still the first to receive the resources they will 
require.  Some activities may require different sequencing or be combined to share 
those resources.  Priorities, like any part of the plan, may shift over time, but they 
should remain relatively constant so they can be used to objectively adjudicate 



Page  |  74

between competing needs at critical moments.  With community consensus, it 
should not be a difficult or contentious decision to prioritize a specific resource 
required for the final completion of a community park improvement higher than the 
same resource for a third coordination meeting on the design for new lettering on 
the water tower.

After all of that, it is finally time to Implement Activities!  Although this is the most 
rewarding part of community development, it doesn’t happen without significant 
work.  Making an activity a success requires good planning, efficient logistics, 
controlled operations, and thoughtful evaluation.  Every activity starts with a good 
understanding of the scope of work.  What is the activity trying to accomplish, what 
resources are available, how will they be used, and what criteria determine when 
the activity is considered completed?  Who will lead the activity, and who needs 
to be coordinated with?  A great temptation in community development is to try to 
do more than originally planned.  This is called “mission creep” and it can lead to 
using up resources that were tasked for other projects, or to not recognizing when 
an activity has actually completed the original task.  The former endangers other 
projects; the latter can deny participants the moment of triumph when they see, feel, 
and understand what they’ve actually accomplished.

While the team or individual assigned to the activity may include people of all types 
and expertise, or be a small and highly skilled group, every activity should be able to 
“tell its story.”  Some projects can use data (“a $45,000 playground installed in two 
days with 25 volunteers”), while others are more photogenic (a picture is worth a 
thousand words, especially when it comes to kids and pets).  Either way, completed 
activities in community development are worthy of public celebration.  Activity 
leaders should encourage anyone engaged in the project to take photos, write about 
their work, and gather data that can be fused into good news to be published on 
social media, newspapers, and other local media outlets.  Especially in Guadalupe, 
all good news should be translated and disseminated in English and Spanish; 
having volunteers or participants in the project share their story on social media is 
especially impactful in a close-knit, well-connected community like Guadalupe.

In the midst of an activity, leaders need to remember that other projects may be 
dependent on theirs, so coordination and cooperation across projects is very 
important.  Leaders across all projects should regularly meet to discuss progress, 
address concerns, and assess resources.  Whether weekly, monthly, or quarterly, 
these progress meetings should become a matter of routine for the community.  
Like all good meetings, they should have a time limit, a known agenda, and good 
record-keeping.  They should happen often enough to be sure to catch up on all 
known projects, but not so often they interfere with actually getting the project 
done.  The idea of a meeting is not as important as regularly checking in across all 
activities to record progress, hold each activity accountable, and evaluate resources; 



Page  |  75

there are a variety of ways to accomplish this, from actual meetings to virtual 
dashboards, which should be decided by the community and activity leaders.
As activities are completed, Evaluating Progress is the final step.  As discussed 
earlier, each activity should have a well-defined endpoint.  That endpoint allows 
the activity leader to look back at the project, add up the cost (not just money, 
time must also be captured), gather lessons, and celebrate a victory.  The activity 
leader also uses the regular progress meetings mentioned above to pass on those 
lessons, release resources for other purposes, and answer questions from the 
group.  Although all activities may be accomplishing different objectives, reporting 
progress should have some standard measures: money, personnel, and time spent 
are all possible metrics to use, but the team should exercise some creativity to 
show the impact on the community.  As always, the lessons of Evaluating Progress 
should feed back into the strategy-building cycle to update, revise, or simply 
confirm the original plans.  If the next activity in the sequence can gain efficiency or 
effectiveness, it will be worth everyone’s time to conduct a review and pass those 
lessons to the group – in other words, embrace feedback.

As mentioned in the introduction to strategy-building and several times above, 
good strategy and the plans that come out of that process should be continuously 
reviewed and improved where required.  For example, when assigning resources 
to an activity, the team realizes there is not enough money for a certain project, so 
they may have to return to the previous step describing activities to modify, shrink 
the scope, or cancel that activity.  The process of reviewing and improving may 
even require going back to goal-setting to ensure the goal is still sound.  A word of 
warning: reviewing previous steps does not mean the decisions and products made 
during strategy-building are “made of Jello” – they still must have structure and 
direction based on support of the community and the strategy-building team.  The 
ability to review and improve based on new information provides confidence the 
plan is based on the best available ideas and information and that the plan itself is 
flexible and able to adjust to new conditions.



Page  |  76

Recommendations

In addition to the action suggested within this report,  the following is a list of 
recommendations that are meant to pull out some important recommendations for 
the community to be aware of.  

1. Study the value of applying for the Guadalupe downtown to be federally 
recognized as a Historic District. Additionally, an exploration of the Mills Act (a 
state program that compliments the Historic District) at the same time would be 
valuable. Both would support the City’s goal of making Guadalupe a destination 
location. There are tangible and intangible benefits to the community and 
property owners to going through this process. However, the process should be 
thoroughly discussed in open community meetings. 

2. Increase, where possible, the number of advisory groups, or official Committees, 
to the City Council. This will help inform the Council of community needs, 
provide an additional pathway for citizen engagement with the City, and support 
increased community involvement.  All of these build the social capital that 
underlies community resilience. Some examples may be: 

 a) Senior Center Advisory Committee (perhaps even a Senior Advisory  
  Committee, not limited to just the Senior Center).
 b) Public Safety Committee
 c) Youth Advisory Group 
 d) Resilience-Guadalupe Advisory Group 

3. The following planning efforts, funded by a combination of City and grant 
sources and with significant participation by community residents and 
community organizations, should be considered as stand-alone plans:

 a) Climate Adaptation 
 b) Public Facilities Assessment 
 c) Hazard Mitigation-Guadalupe 

4. Workforce Development. It would be valuable for community resilience for the 
City to work with other entities to develop a workforce development strategy. 
This goal would be twofold: increase employment income and diversify career 
opportunities for residents of Guadalupe, especially youth. Hancock College, 
the Guadalupe Unified School District, the Housing Authority of Santa Barbara 
County, the Guadalupe Business Association, the County of Santa Barbara, and 
other local nonprofits could form a strong core for the task force. 

5. Continue the City’s multiprong efforts toward an improved economic outlook 
for Guadalupe. While the formation of the Guadalupe Business Association, the 



Page  |  77

Royal Theatre renovation project, the Microenterprise program, and the Rural 
Recreational Economy planning effort are all great steps forward, it is not time 
to stop. The need for small business support is fundamental to the growth of 
the community, both is creating a welcoming and supportive environment for 
Guadalupe businesses and for the City  to continue providing technical and 
financial assistance. The fundamental goal for the city’s economic growth will 
always be keeping more earned dollars in Guadalupe and bringing more dollars 
into Guadalupe via local and distant tourists, all without losing the unique 
character of the community. See Appendix A – City of Guadalupe Resilience Plan 
Economic Development Opportunities/Constraints and  Recommendations, for 
more information. 

6. Allan Hancock College should be encouraged to have a greater presence in 
Guadalupe. From workforce development to English as a second language 
classes to adult education classes, their active presence in Guadalupe would  
support addressing a number of identified impediments. 

7. Rural disadvantage communities will always have a capacity issue: not enough 
revenue coming into the City to support growth. It is typical for disadvantaged 
communities to say that they do not have the time or resources to look for 
grants/funding, write the application needed to apply for these funds, and 
commit staff needed to implement.  The irony is these same disadvantaged 
communities are the communities at whom grants/funding are targeted, are 
often the most eligible, and critical to improving the resilience of the community.  
Solutions exist, such as hiring temporary staff specific to the grant-funded 
program, working with nonprofits and volunteers for grant-writing, and/or city 
leadership emphasizing the important role of grants to staff and the community.



Page  |  78

This Page Intentionally Left Blank



Page  |  79

88
Final Thoughts
This report has repeatedly emphasized that building resiliency is community 
development.  When a community is internally engaged – when citizens talk to 
each other and their representatives, when residents act to improve conditions for 
themselves and others in the community – they create an environment that is better 
prepared to respond to shocks.  When the community talks to themselves, they 
identify stressors they believe must be addressed and opportunities that no one 
outside of that community may notice.  When community members invest both their 
sweat equity and money from their bank accounts to build up assets and address 
impediments, they become loyal to that community and to each other.  Their sense 
of ownership, common causes, and pride becomes an asset unto itself, one that can 
overcome or bridge gaps in other resources.

This writing team has been engaged with community members in Guadalupe for 
over three years on this particular project, though we’ve been engaged in other 
projects with and in Guadalupe for longer.  The most common theme we encounter 
in residents and former residents is overwhelming pride when they say “I grew up 
in Guadalupe.”  That statement reveals the “good bones” that have kept Guadalupe 
a vibrant place to live and work.  The next stage in Guadalupe’s development is to 
extend that sense of pride to the entire community, to those who moved here later in 



Page  |  80

life for more affordable housing, a variety of work opportunities, or just to get away 
from the big city.  Those community members need to know that Guadalupe isn’t 
just where they sleep – they need to see and feel that “here” is more valuable, more 
unique, and more attractive than “there.”

Resilience means that everyone in the community believes it is worthy of saving 
when faced with challenges, whether that is continuing stresses on the community 
or a violent shock.   Residents gain ownership of the community by actively using 
and interacting with its assets and resources, not just when they are told there will 
be some street repairs the followingTuesday.  When Guadalupe residents identify 
impediments and seek to address them using the resources of the community (time, 
talent, and money), they are creating a feedback loop that leads to more interest and 
investment in the community.  They turn an asset – Guadalupe’s own sense of value 
– into tangible physical things like parks, businesses, and tax revenue.

No one individual, group, or agency will turn Guadalupe into a thriving community 
overnight.  There is no lottery for cities that will deliver the amount of monetary 
capital required to start new restaurants downtown, build a hotel with a view out 
to the Dunes, and restore the old Far Western Tavern building to new glory as the 
home of the Dunes Center.  It will only be through a concerted effort of individuals, 
businesses, and government that Guadalupe will be strengthened.  Individuals must 
invest their ideas and money to start new businesses, businesses will provide the tax 
revenue to the city, and the city will invest in the infrastructure, services, and (where 
possible) facilities to make Guadalupe an even better place to live, work, and play.  

Despite the challenges, new business formation in Guadalupe should be 
overwhelmingly the responsibility of “locals,” who are in the best position to 
understand the gaps and needs of the local market.  Small businesses fill needs 
unmet by larger firms (culturally or religiously-specific foods or a more convenient 
location, for example).  Local small businesses are also more responsive to 
customer feedback because those customers may also be their neighbors or 
have kids in the same class at school.  For example, when a restaurant hears from 
customers they would like the place to be open just one hour later, that there is 
nowhere else that serves lengua like they had as a kid, or that they’re willing to pay 
one dollar more for a really great pizza, that restaurant owner can adjust much 
faster than a chain restaurant could.  To succeed, however; businesses must also 
be backed by programs that give entrepreneurs the technical skills to get started, 
enhance their access to capital, build up local customer loyalty, and provide workers 
that are “right-skilled” for the jobs.  None of that happens by accident.

Resiliency is ultimately focused on responding to local needs, using community 
assets to build physical and monetary resources as well as improving the 
community’s cohesion.  This plan has both provided the framework for action and 



Page  |  81

suggested actions that Guadalupe may choose to implement.  There is a lot of 
work to do, and the task may appear daunting, but the authors of this report are 
confident in Guadalupe’s residents, leaders, and supporters’ ability to build their own 
successes in the city.



Page  |  82

Endnotes
1 Contreras, Shirley. 2018. “Timeline.” Santa Maria Valley Historical Society Museum. https://
santamariahistory.com/timeline.html.

2 Boydstun, Shirley, e-mail exchange with Eric Larson. 2021. E-mail Correspondence

3 Cal Poly Graduate Planning Studio. 2009. City of Guadalupe Volume 1: Background Report. San Luis 
Obispo, CA: California Polytechnic University, 7. https://digitalcommons.calpoly.edu/cgi/viewcontent.
cgi?&article=1051&context=crp_fa c.

4 United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction. 2017. “Vulnerability.” PreventionWeb.net. https://
www.preventionweb.net/disaster-risk/risk/vulnerability/. 

5 Stauffer, Anne. 2020. “How states can manage the challenges of paying for natural disasters.” 
PreventionWeb.net. September 16. https://www.preventionweb.net/news/view/73660.

6 Cornelia Butler, Flora, Mary Emery, Susan Fey, and Corry Bergendahl. 2014. “Community Capitals: 
A Tool for Evaluating Strategic Interventions and Projects.” North Central Regional Center for Rural 
Development (Iowa State University). August. https://aae.wisc.edu/ced/wp-content/uploads/
sites/8/2014/01/204.2-Handout-Community-Capitals.pdf.

7 SVI source material available at: https://svi.cdc.gov/index.html for addition information about 
SVI or https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/placeandhealth/svi/data_documentation_download.html for data 
download

8 ADI source material available at: https://www.neighborhoodatlas.medicine.wisc.edu/ for additional 
information about ADI or https://www.neighborhoodatlas.medicine.wisc.edu/download for data 
download (requires registration)

9 DCI source material available at: https://graphicacy-dci-pdf-images.s3.amazonaws.com/DCI_CA_
Zip_code_93434.pdf or https://eig.org/dci/interactive-map?path=zip/93434

10 Economic Innovation Group. 2020. “The Spaces Between Us: The Evolution of American 
Communities in the New Century, 4th Edition.” eig.org. October. https://eig.org/wp-content/
uploads/2020/10/EIG-2020-DCI-Report.pdf.

11 CA-HTC source material available at: https://census.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/4/2021/05/
cahtci_all.pdf (Warning: this document is over 1,000 pages long and over 50MB.)



Page  |  83

Appendix A

The City of Guadalupe
Resilience Plan Economic Development 
Opportunities/Constraints and Recommendations
by Lisa Wise Consulting, Inc.



Page  |  84

 

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 2 

State’s re-opening framework, pursuing strategies towards economic revitalization in light of COVID-19 
impacts is now more important than ever.  

Recent Initiatives 
The following recent planning initiatives in Guadalupe complement this assessment:  

• Guadalupe Mobility Revitalization Plan: The goal of this plan is to enhance connectivity and 
mobility options within and between neighborhoods, and to improve mobility between the 
neighborhoods and the historic town center. The plan also addresses regional connectivity between 
the city and regional destinations, taking into account the specific setting of Guadalupe in relation 
to the ocean and dunes to the west and the City of Santa Maria to the east. The community 
feedback and findings from this plan resulted in an award of $1.9 million from the California 
Transportation Committee’s State Highway Operations and Protection Program (SHOPP). These 
funds will address some of the priorities outlined in the plan, such as increasing connectivity to the 
Amtrak station and improving sidewalk landscaping. Investing in connectivity and streetscapes will 
also address some constraints to economic development outlined below.  
 

• LeRoy Park Rehabilitation: The City was awarded $4.1 million in CDBG funds to renovate LeRoy 
Park and Community Center, located near the Downtown study area, and make the open space 
more inviting while providing additional recreation and community-serving facilities for Guadalupe. 
However, construction costs increased in the three-year period between grant submission and 
construction, threatening the timeline and scope of the project. Additional funds have been granted 
($900,000 in CDBG and $177,000 on Prop 68) and the Capital Campaign has reach 70% of the 
remaining funds needed as of March 2021. With the present construction schedule showing 
completion in November 2021, the space that has in the past been the City’s unofficial town square 
will be up and operating.   

Current Snapshot of the Economy 
The City of Guadalupe generates lower retail sales per capita than many neighboring jurisdictions, such as 
Goleta, Lompoc, Buellton, Carpinteria, and Solvang. This disparity is in part due to lower median household 
incomes, which depresses the spending and investment potential of many Guadalupe residents. However, 
in the past 10 years, the City’s income distribution has shifted. Fewer households are earning under 
$75,000 and households earning $100,000 to $149,999 have increased more than sixfold, from 2.8% of all 
households in 2010 to 18.2% in 2019. This shift suggests the changing demographics of the city and 
growing near-term spending potential. 

Additionally, retail sales for residents are disproportionately captured outside of the city where there are 
more options such as big box stores and full-service grocery stores. Due to the current size of the city and 
proximity to Santa Maria, its larger next-door neighbor, Guadalupe will have difficulty attracting more 
sizeable retail chains. For site selection, larger retail tenants typically seek regional visibility and 
accessibility, considering factors such as: 

• Proximate location to major transportation corridors (e.g., Highway 101) 
• Intersection locations (i.e., where two streets converge there is double the traffic – whether vehicles 

or pedestrians – compared to a mid-block location) 
• Access in and out of the property using both right and left turns 
• Ability to place signage that is clearly visible 
• Parking (unless a very high level of pedestrian activity exists) 

However, an advantage for Guadalupe is its lower retail rents, which make it more attractive to businesses 
with low margins, such as restaurants. This could support a concentration of locally operated low-margin 
businesses in the city.  



Page  |  85

 

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 3 

The City could take advantage of existing assets and momentum to absorb more revenue from residents 
with higher discretionary spending capacity and visitors who are drawn to Guadalupe for various reasons 
but are not yet incentivized to spend more time (and money) in Guadalupe.  

City of Guadalupe Local Assets* 

 
* Guadalupe is also home to a variety of murals that showcase Guadalupe’s heritage and culture. These 
murals are painted throughout the Downtown area.  

  



Page  |  86

 

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 4 

Opportunities and Constraints  
The following two tables identify economic development opportunities (Table 1) and constraints (Table 2) 
in Guadalupe. The tables are organized by priority (i.e., high, medium, and low), which is defined by the 
ability to effectively provide a relative level of economic value: 

• High: Higher level of economic value  
• Medium: Moderate level of economic value 
• Low: Lower level of economic value 

The topic areas are also coded by color to enable ease of review.  

• Access and Connectivity 
• Tourism 
• Retail/Local Businesses 
• Community Identity 

Table 1: Prioritized Opportunities 

Priority Topic Area Opportunities 

High Access and 
Connectivity 

Guadalupe is a regional destination location with many local assets 
in proximity to one another. The City is home to the world-famous 
Guadalupe-Nipomo Dunes, is close to the beach, has a walkable 
Downtown studded with murals and historical buildings, and connected 
to the larger region (and state) by Amtrak train service. Guadalupe is 
unique in terms of its diversity of urban and recreational offerings that 
provides something for everyone to enjoy.  

High Access and 
Connectivity 

Streetscape improvements along commercial corridors can 
increase business visibility and activity. Promoting bicycle- and 
electric vehicle-friendly infrastructure along the Downtown corridor can 
take advantage of the City’s location along Highway 1 by encouraging 
cyclists and electric vehicle car owners to rest, eat, and/or shop.  

High Access and 
Connectivity 

The Amtrak station provides an opportunity for train passengers to 
stop in Guadalupe. Trains on the Pacific Surfliner route, running from 
San Diego to San Luis Obispo, can pick up and drop off passengers in 
walking distance from the Downtown core. Some of these passengers, 
driven by train-centric enthusiasm and tourism, are also particularly 
attracted to the station. The City can capitalize on adventurers seeking 
to explore more natural parts of the California through the convenience 
of train travel.  

High Tourism Guadalupe's downtown provides a historic urban experience that 
is unique in the area. Tourists tend to seek places that provide a unique 
experience and highlight the qualities that make an area special. While 
Santa Maria offers more shopping and dining options, it lacks a fully 
developed pedestrian-friendly area for shopping, dining, and community 
events that reflects the history of the area. With improvements to the 
public realm and unique local programming, Guadalupe Street could 
offer this experience for locals and tourists alike attracted to the Dunes. 
Signage along W. Main Street and a coordinated wayfinding and 
branding strategy along Guadalupe Street could help raise awareness 



Page  |  87

 

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 5 

Priority Topic Area Opportunities 
of the businesses located there, providing a draw for tourists visiting the 
Dunes. 

High Tourism The planned redevelopment of the Royal Theater will serve as a 
catalyst for Downtown revitalization. An RFP to renovate the Royal 
Theater building and its adjacent land was released in March 2020, the 
timing of which coincided with the COVID-19 global economic shutdown. 
Future redevelopment is expected to contain a community arts facility 
and other commercial uses that take advantage of the Theater’s central 
location and historic characteristics.   

High Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Guadalupe Street is home to unique small businesses and 
independent shops. Locating more businesses within proximity to 
existing businesses creates a convenient "one-stop" shopping 
environment that attracts more customers making daily and convenience 
purchases. An improved public realm that is inviting and comfortable for 
pedestrians is critical to support momentum among local businesses. To 
that end, vacant and underutilized parcels along Guadalupe Street can 
be targeted for infill development. Pleasant landscaping and clear, 
appropriately scaled signage can also enhance public commercial 
space. 

Medium Tourism Unique programming can attract locals and tourists alike. 
Guadalupe’s Downtown core is well-positioned to provide a space for 
outdoor events in underutilized parking lots, vacant lots, or the street 
(with Caltrans approval). Regular programming, such as live music, 
farmers markets, art and performance gatherings, and local food 
festivals can reinforce the Downtown’s identity while incentivizing visitors 
to patronize nearby businesses. These events also provide a space for 
communal gatherings, which are especially important after the COVID-
19 lockdowns. 

Medium Tourism Regional and state tourism platforms can be further leveraged to 
promote Guadalupe’s assets. Existing tourism entities, such as the 
Santa Maria Valley Chamber or VisitCalifornia.com, market on behalf of 
and drive visitors to attractions around the region or state. Guadalupe 
could leverage existing platforms to develop greater visibility as a tourist 
destination.  

Medium Retail/Local 
Businesses 

A Business/Merchant’s Association can align local businesses on 
priorities and projects. The recently formed Guadalupe Business 
Association (GBA) can more easily address the needs of the greater 
business community, such as maintaining landscaping to create a 
welcoming environment for customers, coordinating on parking, and 
improving business representation at City Hall. The GBA could 
eventually evolve into a more formal Business Improvement District 
(BID).  

Medium Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Providing more resources for small businesses can spur 
businesses incubation. The City can promote existing resources for 



Page  |  88

 

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 6 

Priority Topic Area Opportunities 
small businesses, such as the County’s Small Business Development 
Center, and consider a façade improvement revolving loan program or 
other programs that could assist or incubate local businesses. Local 
business support in terms of online presence would be beneficial 
considering opportunities related to visitor attraction.  

Low Community 
Identity 

Guadalupe has authentic character, a wealth of community culture, 
interesting history, and a strong branding strategy as "Gateway to 
the Dunes". Guadalupe's community identity is informed by a variety of 
inputs, including the community's agricultural economy, Chumash Native 
American culture, the nearby Guadalupe-Nipomo Dunes, a history of 
Spanish colonial activity, and the diverse cultural groups that settled in 
Guadalupe. Several key intersections offer gateway opportunities that 
could reinforce Guadalupe's identity through branding and signage. 

Low Community 
Identity 

Guadalupe is currently host to many murals showcasing the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. Further investment in public art can enhance 
Guadalupe’s brand as well as help to draw and capture tourists. Eye-
catching, large-scale murals not only support local artists, but also can 
promote awareness of the City through Instagram and other social media 
news feeds.  

Low Retail/Local 
Businesses 

The Pasadera community is partially completed and includes 802 
homes, a school, and small commercial center. This new housing is 
expected to boost the city’s population to around 11,000. In addition to 
an expected increase in property taxes, these new families will inject the 
city with more discretionary income to support existing and new 
businesses in Guadalupe. However, Pasadera residents would have to 
walk approximately one mile or more to get to Downtown Guadalupe, 
including crossing the railroad tracks and W. Main Street. 

Low Access and 
Connectivity 

Improving the safety and operational efficiency of existing 
crossings could help improve connectivity within Guadalupe. The 
U.S. Department of Transportation provides guidance for pedestrian 
crossing features that could improve the safety of railroad crossings in 
Guadalupe, including fencing, gates, special paving, and pedestrian-
scale lighting and signage. These features could be especially helpful on 
routes with heavy or increasing automobile and truck traffic such as W. 
Main Street and 11th Street. In addition, if passenger rail activity 
continues to rise, active transportation and connectivity between the 
Amtrak station and Pasadera, such as a walking/biking path, could be 
considered. A recent $1.9 million SHOPP grant will also be leveraged to 
repair existing Complete Streets facilities and address crossing issues.  

 
Table 2: Prioritized Constraints 



Page  |  89

 

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 7 

Priority Topic Area Constraints 

High Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Unused/vacant storefronts can depress Downtown activity. 
Especially in light of COVID-19 impacts on small businesses, more 
stores have shut down and have created greater hurdles to revitalization.  

High Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Guadalupe's retail and services are limited, and don't meet 
shopping and dining needs of residents. Guadalupe is home to a 
variety of restaurants, stores, and service-oriented businesses. While 
these satisfy many of the shopping and dining needs of Guadalupe 
residents and workers, it is necessary to travel to Santa Maria or other 
nearby cities to shop at a full-service grocery store or dine at a restaurant 
with late-night operating hours. Additionally, high turnover of businesses 
in Guadalupe reflects the challenging operating environment for small 
businesses.  

High Tourism The Guadalupe-Nipomo Dunes and Oso Flaco Lake attract tourists 
from around the world and across the region, but few visit 
Guadalupe on their way to or from these destinations. Tourism is a 
large and growing economic sector nationally and within California. While 
shops, restaurants, and historic attractions in Guadalupe could attract 
more tourism spending to the town, a lack of awareness has kept 
Guadalupe off most tourists' itineraries. As such, Guadalupe has no 
lodging to offer visitors that might consider an overnight stay. The 
elevated tank in Central Park advertises the community as the "Gateway 
to the Dunes." Additional branding and marketing efforts could do more 
to attract tourists to the community, or encourage visitors driving from 
one destination to the next to make a stop in Guadalupe.  

Medium Retail/Local 
Businesses 

The City’s regulatory environment could inhibit the growth of small 
businesses. The City may benefit from a regulatory environment that is 
more predictable and business friendly. The City should reevaluate its 
fee schedule, ensure appropriate zoning and reasonable flexibility 
(especially in the Guadalupe Street corridor), and ensure its permitting 
procedures are easy-to-follow for new businesses.  

Medium Access and 
Connectivity 

Current parking regulations impede direct customer access to 
businesses. Because the City parking lot has a 2-hour limit, parking 
spaces along the street can be used all day by employees, which 
decreases parking supply for customers.   

Low Access and 
Connectivity 

The Union Pacific railroad bisects Guadalupe in the north-south 
direction and acts as a barrier between the east and west sides of 
the community. Between W. Main Street and 9th Street — a distance 
over three-quarters of a mile — there are no formalized crossings over 
the Union Pacific tracks. The Guadalupe Amtrak train station is located 
in between W. Main Street and 9th Street on the west side of the tracks, 
making access to the train station and businesses along Guadalupe 
Street inconvenient for residents living east of the tracks. 



Page  |  90

 

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 8 

Priority Topic Area Constraints 

Low Community 
Identity 

At entrances to Guadalupe and throughout the city, branding and 
signage is limited and lacks a consistent aesthetic expression. The 
built environment does not adequately reflect the history or identity of 
Guadalupe. The southern entrance on Guadalupe Street from W. Main 
Street is not cohesive, and the Amtrak station does not lead directly to a 
convenient or attractive entrance to the rest of town. While the downtown 
core includes a public plaza on Guadalupe Street, this public space could 
be enhanced as a center of activity and identity through the addition of 
public art, programming, and celebration of Guadalupe's history. 

 

Recommendations  
Based on the opportunities and constraints identified above, recommendations for economic development 
were prepared. These recommendations were also informed by case study research of cities similar to the 
size and position of Guadalupe. The following table provides a menu of actionable recommendations to 
support economic development in Downtown Guadalupe. The recommendations are organized by time 
horizon (short-, medium-, or long-term) for completion, as well as action topic area. The recommendations 
consist of four topic areas as mentioned above:  

• Access and Connectivity: The Amtrak station and proximity to Highway 1 are crucial assets that 
connect Guadalupe with the rest of the region. The City should build upon these resources to 
improve the traveling experience and enhance mobility, both intra-city and inter-city, for residents 
and visitors alike. 

• Tourism: Guadalupe is a destination city with many attractions, such as the Guadalupe-Nipomo 
Dunes, Oso Flaco Lake, and the historic Downtown. The City can support its tourism activities 
through unique programming and greater marketing efforts. 

• Retail/Local Business: Providing additional retail options should be a top priority for the City. In 
addition to retail diversity, the City can incentivize new business development and help to 
strengthen the existing business community. 

• Community Identity: Guadalupe has a wealth of local culture, interesting history, and community 
pride. The City should amplify its brand and identity at major entrances and throughout the 
Downtown. 

  



Page  |  91

 

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 9 

Recommendations by Time Horizon 
Recommendations are presented in the following tables by time horizon for completion: 

• Short-Term (less than 2 years) 
• Medium-Term (2-5 years) 
• Long-Term (5 or more years) 

 

Table 3: Implementation Recommendations: Short-Term 

Action Topic Area Description 

Bike and EV Access and 
Connectivity 

Install a fast-charging electric vehicle station near Downtown and 
bike lanes along the 1, partnering with companies like EVGo (PPP) 
to provide fast-charging stations with no upfront capital costs or 
maintenance expenses. Promoting bicycle- and electric vehicle-
friendly infrastructure along the Downtown corridor can take 
advantage of the City’s location along Highway 1 by encouraging 
cyclists and electric vehicle car owners to rest, eat, and/or shop.  

Case Study Example: The State of Colorado is 
planning on installing fast-charging EV stations 

along popular driving routes to support its 
climate action goals.  

Link: https://energyoffice.colorado.gov/zero-emission-
vehicles/electric-vehicle-fast-charging-corridors 

Maintenance 
District 

Access and 
Connectivity 

Explore the creation of a landscape, lighting, maintenance district to 
identify opportunities for and fund streetscape improvements, like 
street furniture, unique lighting, trees, and landscaping, etc. Such 
districts can provide economics of scale for property owners who 
can spread the cost of maintenance across many individuals.  

 
Link to CA State Code regarding Maintenance Districts; Link to City 
of Santa Clarita Landscape Maintenance District information page 

Multi-Use 
Zoning 

Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Ensure Zoning Code is flexible enough to allow for multiple uses 
that can provide for the daily needs and services of residents. City 
can review the Mixed-Use District zoning and consider requiring at 
least 20% ground floor retail. This action addresses a regulatory 
barrier and supports meeting the needs of Guadalupe residents by 
providing goods, services, and dining within a short pedestrian 
shed. 

Link to Sustainable Development Code Mixed-Use Zoning 
description 

GBA 
Coordination 

Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Regularly coordinate with the Business Association to solicit input 
on the needs of the business community. The Association could 
form a Business Improvement District (BID) when economic activity 
increases. 

Case Study Example: The City of Fortuna’s 
BID is made up of 500+ members. They 

recently received a marketing grant to assist 



Page  |  92

 

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 10 

Action Topic Area Description 
with tourism, business recruitment, and 

retention.  

Link to Fortuna BID; Link to Description of Mammoth Lakes 
Tourism BID 

 
Small Biz 
Guide 

Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Develop a handbook to starting a small business in Guadalupe that 
links to information and resources available on City/County 
webpage.  

Case Study Example: The City of Bishop 
posted the County’s “Guide to Starting a 
Business in Inyo County” on Economic 

Development webpage.  

Link to City of Bishop “How to Get Started” Information Page 
 

Chamber 
Marketing 

Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Develop marketing materials aimed at the tenant and Santa Maria 
Valley Chamber community to promote Guadalupe as business-
friendly. GBA is the business lead (not the creation of a new 
chamber of commerce).  

Fees and 
Permits 

Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Evaluate fee schedule and permitting procedures to ensure ease-
of-use for small businesses. 

Low-Cost 
Lease 

Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Provide low-cost leases on publicly owned buildings (in 
coordination with the reuse of the Royal Theater building) to retain 
small businesses and encourage desired uses. 

Parking Regs Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Revise parking regulations to remove the 2-hour limit off street. 
This update would incentivize employee parking in City lots, 
increasing parking supply for visiting customers.  

Vacant 
Storefront Art 

Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Work with property owners to encourage the installation of 
attractive window displays, including art, in vacant storefronts. 
Consider developing artist-in-residence programs for display of 
work by juried artists. Provide short-term workspace in available 
vacant spaces. 

Vacancy Pop-
Up Biz 

Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Market vacant spaces to pop-up businesses (retailers, test kitchens 
with a food service component, etc.) and other potential niche users 
as interim tenants, particularly in visible vacant spaces on the 
ground floor. 

 
Table 4: Implementation Recommendations: Medium-Term 

Action Topic Area Description 

Local Asset 
Survey 

Access and 
Connectivity 

Inventory, document condition of, and periodically review 
Guadalupe's local assets, such as historic buildings and murals. 
This inventory can form the basis of a historic resources survey in 
the future. This exercise could utilize University student support.  

Grant Opps Access and 
Connectivity 

Identify and apply for federal infrastructure grant opportunities. 
The new Administration has identified Amtrak as a priority for 
federal infrastructure spending. 



Page  |  93

 

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 11 

Action Topic Area Description 
Mobility Plan Access and 

Connectivity 
Continue the implementation of the Mobility Revitalization Plan to 
connect the east vs. west sides of the city and improve safety of 
crossings.  

Case Study Example: The City of Woodlake 
completed its multi-phase Downtown 

Enhancement Project and fulfilled its goal of 
providing pedestrian, bicycle, and transit 

connectivity to shopping, office, and 
recreational destinations in the Downtown, as 
well as improving the aesthetic appearance 

and usefulness of the area. 

Link to article on Woodlake’s transportation investment program.  

Wayfinding Community 
Identity 

Improve branding, wayfinding, and signage at entrances to 
Guadalupe to enhance local identity and public realm aesthetic, 
and along Guadalupe St. to showcase businesses in the area and 
draw tourists who are visiting the Dunes or passing through the 
city on CA-1.  

Retail Brokers Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Work with the Guadalupe Business Association to attract and 
retain businesses with the efforts of retail brokers who work with a 
pool of potential commercial tenants.   

Website Update Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Create webpages for Community and Economic Development 
and Social Services on City's website that consolidates all local 
and regional resources and links. 

Case Study Example: The City of Bishop has 
an Economic Development webpage with 

information from both the City and County on 
resources and requirements for starting a 

small business.  

Link to City of Bishop’s Economic Development webpage. 

Festivals Tourism Host unique festivals that celebrate local heritage/cuisine and 
market Guadalupe to a larger audience. Example: cauliflower, 
which is rapidly becoming one of the most widely-eaten 
vegetables in the country.  

Regular 
Programming 

Tourism Provide regular programming, such as live music, farmers 
markets, arts and performance gatherings, as well as annual 
festivities, to promote community-building and showcase local 
retailers and artists. Example: Autumn Pumpkin Patch photo 
opportunity.  

Case Study Example: The City of 
Apalachicola hosts an annual community-wide 

Easter Egg hunt in partnership with State 
Parks.  



Page  |  94

 

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 12 

Action Topic Area Description 
RV 
Campgrounds 

Tourism Revise Zoning Code to allow for RVs campgrounds, which can 
provide a destination for visitors interested in overnight stays. 
These campgrounds can also accommodate overflow from 
nearby beach cities and provide an opportunity for the City to 
collect TOT revenue. 
 
A smaller version of the Flying Flags RV Resort and Campground 
in nearby Solvang could be used as an example of the 
accommodations and amenities expected of RV camping in the 
area.   

Link to Flying Flags website. 
Short-Term 
Rental 

Tourism Revise Zoning Code to allow for short-term rentals. Guadalupe 
does not currently have a hotel, so short-term rental options like 
Airbnb can increase the number of options visitors have to remain 
in Guadalupe for longer periods of time.  

Community 
Space 

Tourism Continue to support a public place to gather, such as the 
Guadalupe Arts and Education Center and/or Leroy Park 
Community Center, to facilitate a sense of community and 
enhance the public realm.  

 
Table 5: Implementation Recommendations: Long-Term 

Action Topic Area Description 

Amtrak 
Longevity 

Access and 
Connectivity 

Secure the Guadalupe Amtrak stop to ensure longevity of the rail 
station connection through continued investment in and around the 
physical station, the promotion of Guadalupe as a regional transit 
destination, and increased City representation in relevant Amtrak 
discussions and meetings.  

Holistic 
Branding 

Community 
Identity 

Explore a more updated and holistic branding identity and logo that 
is reflective of Guadalupe's history and culture. This identity should 
not be exclusively staked to the Dunes and should appeal to 
residents and tourists alike.  

Murals Community 
Identity 

Continue to invest in Instagram-worthy public art in appropriate 
locations. Consider art that reflects, celebrates, and is 
complementary to Guadalupe’s history and supports the 
community's identity, while also encourages people to engage with 
the physical space.  

Art 
Competition 

Community 
Identity 

Host an art & design competition to create eye-catching branding 
while promoting regional artists.  

Vacant Land 
Fee 

Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Levy a fee on vacant or dilapidated land to incentivize usage and 
maintenance. Additionally, coordinate with the County Assessor’s 
Office to ensure proper valuation with each transfer.   

Case Study Example: A voter-approved 
measure in the City of Oakland establishes an 

annual tax of $3,000 to $6,000 on vacant 
properties (allowable exemptions apply).  



Page  |  95

 

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 13 

Action Topic Area Description 
Link to City of Oakland’s vacant property tax information. 

Revolving Loan Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Provide a revolving façade improvement loan program.  

Fee Deferral Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Create an impact fee deferral program. 

Case Study Example: The City of Gonzales’ 
Economic Development Incentives Program 

offers a variety of benefits, such as impact fee 
deferrals, impact fee financing, fee rebates, and 

small business loans.  

Link to the City of Gonzales’ Incentives Programs. 

Fee Financing Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Create an impact fee financing program, in partnership with the 
Statewide Community Infrastructure Program (SCIP). 

Fee Reductions 
& Rebates 

Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Provide other incentives, such as: 
• Fee reductions 
• Property/sales/TOT tax rebate 

Small Biz Loan Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Create a small business loan program capitalized by CDBG.  

Agritourism  Retail/Local 
Businesses 

Promote the diversification of farm-related activities through 
adoption of an agritourism ordinance, a Zoning Code update to 
include agritourism as a use, streamlined permitting for commercial 
uses on working farms, and the development of a handbook to 
provide additional information and links to permitting processes and 
insurance. 

Case Study Example: The City of Gonzales’ 
agritourism industry is comprised of 46 vineyard 
properties that offer tasting rooms, picnic areas, 

and wine country charm.  

Link to City of Gonzales Agritourism webpage. 
 

Royal Theater 
Reuse 

Tourism Support the redevelopment of the Royal Theater building into a 
vibrant, community-focused commercial space to promote the 
capitalization of the Downtown area.  

Tourism 
Marketing 

Tourism Create a strategy to increase Guadalupe's visibility on regional 
(Santa Barbara) and statewide tourism platforms and websites. 

 

Prioritization Maps 
Prioritization maps reflect the recommendations in a visual manner. The recommendations are generally 
organized by three metrics: impact, cost, and City staff resources. These maps are also grouped by short-, 
medium-, and long-term action items, as well as by topic area.  

• Impact: This metric estimates the level of economic impact or benefit of each action. This metric 
is measured across the x-axis of each map.  

• Cost: This metric estimates the dollar cost of each action. This metric is measured across the y-
axis of each map.  



Page  |  96

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 14 

• City Staff Resources: This metric estimates the level of City staff resources required to execute
each action. This metric is demonstrated by the size of each bubble. The larger the bubble, the
greater the amount of City staff time is expected for each action.

These maps are intended to be illustrative and provide a conceptual approach to understanding the variety 
of potential actions that could be taken.  

Prioritization Maps by Phase 
Implementation Recommendations by Phase: Short-Term 



Page  |  97

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 15 

Implementation Recommendations by Phase: Medium-Term 



Page  |  98

 

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 16 

Implementation Recommendations by Phase: Long-Term 

 
 

 
  



Page  |  99

 

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 17 

Prioritization Maps by Topic Area 
 
Implementation Recommendations by Type: Access and Connectivity 

 
  



Page  |  100

 

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 18 

Implementation Recommendations by Type: Tourism 

 
  



Page  |  101

 

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 19 

Implementation Recommendations by Type: Retail/Local Businesses 

 
 
  



Page  |  102

 

983 Osos Street, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 | (805) 595 1345 | lisawiseconsulting.com | 20 

Implementation Recommendations by Type: Community Identity 

 
 
 



Page  |  103

Appendix B
The following pages are screenshots from the U.S. Census Bureau 2021 data for 
Guadalupe from www.census.gov



Page  |  104



Page  |  105



Page  |  106



RESOLUTION NO.  2023-63 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE FOR THE APPROVAL AND 
ACCEPTANCE OF THE COMPLETION AND CLOSEOUT REPORT OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE’S 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG) FY 2017 PROJECT/CONTRACT PRIOR TO 
THE CLOSEOUT OF THE GRANT AS REQUIRED BY THE CDBG PROGRAM CLOSEOUT PROCESS 

WHEREAS, in October 2017, The City of Guadalupe approved the submission of two grant 
applications to the State of California Department of Housing and Community Department (HCD) 
for the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program, approved a resolution in support 
of the grant applications,  authorized the City Administrator to sign applications and supportive 
documents on behalf of the city, and hired Los Amigos de Guadalupe (LADG) which at the time 
was called Rural Community Development Corporation of California (RCDCC) for a fee of $1,000 
to complete the grant applications on behalf the city; and 

WHEREAS, in November 2017, the city successfully submitted the two grant applications to the 
State’s CDBG program. In the original grant application, the city requested $4.4M for the 
rehabilitation of Leroy Park and the community center, and planning and technical assistance to 
develop a community resilience plan; and 

WHEREAS, Los Amigos de Guadalupe (LADG) which at the time was called Rural Community 
Development Corporation of California (RCDCC), paid the $5,000 in required matching funds after 
the City Council approved the submission of the planning grant application with the grant 
application for the renovation of Le Roy Park.  LADG (RCDCC at the time) was awarded a contract 
with the City on October 9, 2018, to administer this grant which included a requirement for the 
preparation of the City of Guadalupe Community Resilience Plan; and 

WHEREAS, in May 2020 the City Council approved Resolution No. 2020-32 to submit to the State 
of California CDBG program one or more application(s) for the purpose of supplementing the Le 
Roy Park project due to time delays and increases in costs, project costs had increased from the 
original cost estimate that was completed in November 2017; and 

WHEREAS, the Le Roy Park project was awarded an additional $900,000 in October 2020 bringing 
the total amount in awarded funds to $5.4M; and 

WHEREAS, twice the city applied for an extension to the State of California CDBG program to 
complete the projects, In September 2021 and then again in March 2022, with a final deadline of 
March 31, 2023, due to several compelling issues, including, but not limited to the slow start of 
the project, and significant cost increases from the time the application was submitted to the 
time of the sealed bid process; and 

WHEREAS, as a result, the city had to phase in the work to move the project forward with the 
understanding that the CDBG program would want at minimum the community center to be 
completed. All park features were moved to Phase 2 of the Le Roy Park Project; and 

ATTACHMENT 2



WHEREAS, the city, with the help of LADG (formally RCDCC at the time), successfully raised 
almost 80% of the needed funding to renovate the remaining park features via our Capital 
Campaign; and 

WHEREAS, on April 25, 2023, the City Council approved and adopted the City of Guadalupe 
Community Resilience Plan by resolution, as required by the State CDBG planning grant 
requirement, however, a formal public notice was not provided about the recommendation of 
the City Council for its final approval and adoption of the plan; and 

WHEREAS, a formal public notice was given on the June 30,2023, by posting the notice in three 
public places in the City and on the City’s website. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Guadalupe as follows: 

SECTION 1. The completion and closeout report of the city of Guadalupe’s Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) FY 2017 project/contract prior to the closeout of 
the grant as required by the State of California CDBG program closeout process is 
hereby approved and adopted. 

SECTION 2. The City Clerk is hereby authorized to make minor changes herein to address clerical 
errors, so long as substantial conformance of the intent of this document is 
maintained. In doing so, the City Clerk shall consult with the City Administrator and 
City Attorney concerning any changes deemed necessary. 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting on the 11th day of July 2023 by the 
following vote:  

MOTION: 

AYES:  
NOES: 
ABSENT:     
ABSTAINED: 

I, Amelia M. Villegas, City Clerk of the City of Guadalupe DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing 
Resolution, being Resolution No. 2023-63, has been duly signed by the Mayor and attested by 
the City Clerk, all at a regular meeting of the City Council, held July 11, 2023, and that same was 
approved and adopted.   

ATTEST: 

______________________________  ____________________________________ 
Amelia M. Villegas, City Clerk  Ariston Julian, Mayor 



APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

______________________________  
Philip F. Sinco, City Attorney 



Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Item No. 11 

REPORT TO THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE 
Agenda of July 11, 2023 

_______________________________ _________________________________ 
Prepared by:   Approved by:  
Janice Davis, Finance Director Todd Bodem, City Administrator 

SUBJECT: Fiscal Year 2021-22 Audited Financial Statements, Single Audit Report, and GANN 2022 
Agreed-Upon Procedures.  

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the City Council receive and accept the City of Guadalupe Financial Statements for the Year 
ended June 30, 2022 along with the Independent Auditor’s Report, as well as accept the Single Audit 
Report for 2022 and the GANN 2022 Agreed-Upon Procedures. 

DISCUSSION: 

Presentation provided by Mitesh Desai with Badawi & Associates Certified Public Accounts on the 
Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Audited Financial Statements, Single Audit Report and GANN 2022 Agreed-Upon 
Procedures.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Presentation by Mitesh Desai, Badawi & Associates
2. Basic Financial Statements for year ending June 30,2022 (Includes Independent Auditor’s

Report)
3. Single Audit Reports for year ending June 30,2022
4. Independent Auditor’s Report on Agreed-Upon Procedures Applied to Appropriations Limit

Schedule for year ending June 30,2022

Janice Davis 



City of Guadalupe
Presentation to the  City Council

Presented by:  Mitesh Desai, CPA
Principal

ATTACHMENT 1



Badawi & Associates

Audit of the 

City of Guadalupe

1



Agenda
Engagement Team 

Deliverables and Scope of the Audit

Areas of Primary Emphasis

Auditors Report and Financial Statements

Required Communications

New Accounting Standards

Conclusion & Discussion/Questions

2



Engagement Team

Engagement 
Partner

Mitesh Desai,
CPA

Senior
Samo Michel

3

StaffStaff StaffStaff

Quality Control Reviewer
Ahmed Badawi,

CPA



Deliverables and Scope of the Audit

Report of Independent Auditors on City of Guadalupe Basic Financial 
Statements (BFS)

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters

Report on Compliance and on Internal Control Over Compliance with 
Major Federal Award Programs 

Agreed-Upon Procedures Report on Appropriation Limit Schedule

Communications With Those Charged With Governance.

Letter used to summarize communication of various significant 
matters to those charged with governance.

4



Areas of Primary Audit Emphasis
Revenues & Receivables (Tax, Grants, Notes and Others): Improper revenue
recognitions

Governmental Funds:

Confirm/validate property taxes, sales taxes, gas taxes & other significant
revenues/receivables.

Proprietary Funds:

Perform ratio analysis of receivable and revenue accounts

Review allowance for uncollectible accounts

Pension and OPEB:

Reviewed management’s journal entries for pension and OPEB.

Agreed amounts recorded to reports provided by CalPERS and City’s Actuary

Tested the census data used by CalPERS and City’s Actuary

Obtained reports from CalPERS auditors plan information for pension

Management override of controls:

Review of accounting estimates for bias

Examination of manual journal entries

Evaluation of business rationale for unusual transactions

5



Auditors Report

Audit performed in accordance with Generally 
Accepted Auditing Standards, Government Auditing 
Standards and Uniform Guidance

Unmodified opinion

Financial statements are fairly presented in all material 
respects

Significant accounting policies have been consistently 
applied

Estimates are reasonable

Disclosures are properly reflected in the financial 
statements

6



Government-Wide Financial Statements

Cash &
 Investments

Accounts, Taxes,
Grant, Notes

and
 Interest

 Receivable

Other Assets
Capital
Assets

Deferred
Outflow of
Resources

2020 $8,293,348 $1,694,099 $791,542 $16,388,669 $1,150,322

2021 $9,083,730 $2,806,343 $1,259,897 $19,155,554 $1,288,460

2022 $10,155,066 $2,791,824 $1,117,315 $22,550,631 $1,264,935

 $-

 $5,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $15,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $25,000,000

Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources (Page 9)

7



Government-Wide Financial Statements

Accounts
Payable and

Accrued
Expenses

Deposits
Payable

Other current
liabilities

Long-Term
Debt

Total OPEB
Liability

Net Pension
Liability

Deferred
Inflow of

Resources

2020 $575,217 $114,112 $205,715 $2,287,979 $470,748 $3,387,991 $286,444

2021 $985,584 $128,181 $488,465 $2,153,503 $494,819 $3,782,088 $299,792

2022 $1,250,470 $129,579 $616,887 $2,105,895 $403,579 $1,935,887 $2,671,412

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

 $3,000,000

 $3,500,000

 $4,000,000

Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources (Page 9)

8



Government-Wide Financial Statements

2020 2021 2022

Net Cost of Service $2,957,194 $1,330,646 $2,532,504

Tax Revenue $3,133,584 $3,576,504 $4,335,104

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

 $3,000,000

 $3,500,000

 $4,000,000

 $4,500,000

 $5,000,000

Net Cost of Service to Tax Revenue Governmental Activities 
(Page 11)

9



General Fund
Expenditure Coverage (Pages 14 and 18)

10

2020 2021 2022

Unrestricted Fund Balance 485,622$         370,356$         331,404$        

Total Expenditures 4,719,679$      5,449,800$      6,350,537$     

Unrestricted Fund Balance as 

    a % of Total Expenditures 10.29% 6.80% 5.22%

Number of months 1.23 0.82 0.63

GFOA recommendation 2 - 4

Measure of City's ability to operate with no revenues using available fund balance.



Pension Plan 
City’s Annual Pension Contribution

11

2020 2021 2022

City Contribution $457,869 $560,980 $614,582

 $-

 $100,000

 $200,000

 $300,000

 $400,000

 $500,000

 $600,000

 $700,000



Pension Plan

12

Total

6.15% $4,244,232

7.15% $1,935,887

8.15% $33,268

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

 $3,000,000

 $3,500,000

 $4,000,000

 $4,500,000

City’s Pension Plan Sensitivity to Discount Rate 
(2021 Measurement Date)



Other Postemployment Benefits

13

2.69% 3.69% 4.69%

Total OPEB Liability $484,189 $403,579 $340,244

 $-

 $100,000

 $200,000

 $300,000

 $400,000

 $500,000

 $600,000

City’s OPEB Plan Sensitivity to Discount Rate 
(2022 Measurement Date)



Other Postemployment Benefits

14

Current Trend -1% Current Trend Current Trend +1%

Total OPEB Liability $326,381 $403,579 $505,742

 $-

 $100,000

 $200,000

 $300,000

 $400,000

 $500,000

 $600,000

City’s OPEB Plan Sensitivity to Healthcare Trend Rate
(2022 Measurement Date)



Required Communications
Our Responsibility Under 
U.S GAAS

• Opinion on whether financial 
statements are fairly stated in 
accordance with U.S GAAP

• Evaluate internal control over 
financial reporting including tone 
at the top

• Evaluate compliance with laws, 
contract and grants

• Ensure financial statements are 
clear and transparent

• Communicate with the governing 
body

15

Management Responsibility

• Management is responsible for the 
financial statements

• Establish and maintain internal control 
over financial reporting

• Making financial records available to us
• Establish internal control to prevent 

and detect fraud
• Inform us of all known and suspected 

fraud
• Comply with laws and regulations
• Take corrective action on audit findings



Required Communications
Independence

Timing of the Audit

• It is our responsibility to maintain 
independence

• We will maintain our 
independence by strict adherence 
to the AICPA and the Board of 
Accountancy rules and regulations

• No other services performed that 
could affect our independence

• Audit was delayed in part due to 
turnover in City staff in positions 
relating to financial reporting and 
federal grants.

16



Required Communications
Significant Accounting Policies 
and Unusual Transactions

Management Judgment and 
Accounting Estimates

The City adopted the following new 
pronouncements during the year:
• GASB Statement No. 87 – Leases
• GASB Statement No. 89 – Construction 

Period Interest
• GASB Statement No. 92 – Omnibus 2020
• GASB Statement No. 93 – Interbank 

Offered Rates
• GASB Statement No. 99 – Omnibus 2022

Significant management estimates impacting 
the financial statements include the 
following:
• Useful lives of Capital Assets
• Allowance for uncollectible accounts
• Pension Plans
• OPEB Liability
• Accrued Compensation

17



Required Communications
Sensitive Disclosures

Difficulties Encountered in 
Performing the Audit

The most sensitive disclosures affecting 
the City’s financial statements are as 
follow:
• Cash and Investments
• Capital Assets
• Employee Retirement Plans
• Other Post Employment Benefits
• Going Concern
• Successor Agency Private Purpose 

Trust For Assets of Former 
Redevelopment Agency

No difficulties were encountered 
during our audits

18



Required Communications
Significant Audit 
Adjustments and 
Unadjusted Differences 
Considered by 
Management to be 
Immaterial

Potential Effect on the 
Financial Statements of 
Any Significant Risks 
and Exposures

Significant adjustments were 
proposed to correct revenue 
recognition and interfund 
transactions. Management 
has posted the proposed 
audit adjustments

No significant risks or 
exposures were identified.  
Legal matters and potential 
liabilities are disclosed in the 
financial statements

19



Required Communications
Disagreement with 
Management

Deficiencies in Internal 
Control over Financial 
Reporting

We are pleased to report that 
there were no disagreements 
with management

Material Weakness
-Going Concern

Significant Deficiencies
-Journal Entries 
-Deposits Payable 
-Closing Procedures
-Written Policies and 
Procedures - Grants

20



Required Communications
Representations 
Requested of 
Management

Management 
Consultation with Other 
Accountants

We have requested certain 
representations from 
management that are included 
in the management 
representation letters

We are not aware of any 
significant accounting or 
auditing matters for which 
management consulted with 
other accountants

21



Required Communications
Other Material Written 
Communications

Material Uncertainties 
Related to Events and 
Conditions

Fraud and Illegal Acts

Other than the engagement 
letters and management 
representation letters, there 
have been no other 
significant communications

Refer to Note 15 to the Basic 
Financial Statements relating 
to the going concern matter 
relating to the General Fund.

We have not become aware 
of any instances of fraud or 
illegal acts.

22



23

New Accounting Standards
• GASB Statement No. 91 – Conduit debt

• GASB Statement No. 94 – Public-private partnerships

• GASB Statement No. 96 - Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements

2024

2023

• GASB Statement No. 100 – Accounting Changes and Error Corrections

2025
• GASB Statement No. 101 – Compensated Absences



Questions

Mitesh Desai
mdesai@b-acpa.com

24



Thank You
For Allowing Us to Provide Audit Services 

to the City of Guadalupe

25



Attachment 2 

City of Guadalupe 

Basic Financial Statements
Fiscal Year July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2022



City of Guadalupe 
Guadalupe, California

Basic Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022 



CITY OF GUADALUPE 
GUADALUPE, CALIFORNIA

BASIC FINANICAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED June 30, 2022 

Prepared by: 

FINANCE DEPARTMENT 



City of Guadalupe 
Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

Table of Contents

Page

FINANCIAL SECTION 

Independent Auditors’ Report  .............................................................................................................................  1 

Basic Financial Statements: 

 Government-Wide Financial Statements: 
  Statement of Net Position  .................................................................................................................................  9 
  Statement of Activities .....................................................................................................................................  10 

 Fund Financial Statements: 
  Governmental Fund Financial Statements: 
   Balance Sheet .................................................................................................................................................  14 
   Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet 
    to the Government-Wide Statement of Net Position  ...........................................................................  16 
   Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance  .................................................  18 
   Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, 
    Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances to the Government-Wide 
    Statement of Activities ............................................................................................................................... 20 

  Proprietary Fund Financial Statements: 
   Statement of Net Position  ...........................................................................................................................  21 
   Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position .................................................  23 
   Statement of Cash Flows ..............................................................................................................................  24 

  Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements: 
   Statement of Fiduciary Net Position...........................................................................................................  26 
   Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position ......................................................................................  27 

 Notes to Basic Financial Statements ...............................................................................................................  31 

Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited): 
 Budgets and Budgetary Accounting .................................................................................................................  73 
 Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual: 
  Budgetary Comparison Schedule - General Fund  ......................................................................................  74 
  Budgetary Comparison Schedule – Community Development  ...............................................................  75 
  Budgetary Comparison Schedule – ARPA .................................................................................................... 76 

 Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability ....................................................  78 
 Schedule of Plan Contributions .........................................................................................................................  78 
 Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios ...............................................................  81 



City of Guadalupe 
Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022

Table of Contents, Continued

Page

Supplementary Information: 

 Non-Major Governmental Funds: 
  Combining Balance Sheet ................................................................................................................................  84 
  Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and  
   Changes in Fund Balances ...........................................................................................................................  86 



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
of the City of Guadalupe 

Guadalupe, California 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Guadalupe, 
California (City) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City as of June 30, 2022, and the respective 
changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the City and to meet our other 
ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions. 

Substantial Doubt About the Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the City will continue as a 
going concern. As discussed in Note 15 to the financial statements, the City continues to have 
expenditures higher than revenues in the General Fund. In addition, the General Fund has a large 
interfund loans payable balance. There are doubts about the General Fund’s ability to repay the 
interfund loans payable without having a significant impact on the City’s operations. These conditions 
raise doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans regarding those 
matters are also described in Note 15. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that 
might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this 
matter. 



To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
of the City of Guadalupe 

Guadalupe, California 
Page 2 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

The City’s Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as 
a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence 
the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.  

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:  

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–
related matters that we identified during the audit.  

2



To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
of the City of Guadalupe 

Guadalupe, California 
Page 3 

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the budgetary 
comparison information, schedule of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability, schedule 
of plan contributions, and schedule of changes in total other post-employment benefits on pages 73-81, 
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing 
the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have 
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us 
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.  

Management has omitted the management’s discussion and analysis that accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements. Such missing information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is 
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of 
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or 
historical context. Our opinions on the basic financial statements are not affected by this missing 
information. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual nonmajor 
fund financial statements on pages 84-87 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a 
required part of the basic financial statements.  

The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements are the responsibility of 
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, 
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, 
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements are 
fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

3



To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
of the City of Guadalupe 

Guadalupe, California 
Page 4 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 22, 2023, 
on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance. 

Badawi & Associates, CPAs  
Berkeley, California 
June 22, 2023

4



5



This page intentionally left blank

6



7



This page intentionally left blank

8



City of Guadalupe
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2022

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and investments 5,195,003$               4,960,063$               10,155,066$             
Accounts receivable 1,199,985 790,090 1,990,075
Prepaid expenses 451,499 665,816 1,117,315
Leases receivable - 232,260 232,260
Loans receivable 32,884 - 32,884
Internal balances 207 (207) -

Total current assets 6,879,578 6,648,022 13,527,600
Noncurrent assets:

Leases - 536,605 536,605
Capital assets:

Non-depreciable 674,008 3,279,312 3,953,320
Depreciable, net 12,947,700 5,649,611 18,597,311

Total capital assets 13,621,708 8,928,923 22,550,631
Total noncurrent assets 13,621,708 8,928,923 22,550,631
Total assets 20,501,286 16,113,550 36,614,836

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related amounts 971,934 146,551 1,118,485
OPEB related amounts 146,450 - 146,450

Total deferred outflows of resources 1,118,384 146,551 1,264,935

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 796,821 172,705 969,526
Accrued salaries and wages payable 246,043 34,901 280,944
Interest payable - 31,670 31,670
Deposits payable 80,928 48,651 129,579
Unearned revenue 585,217 - 585,217
Long-term debt - due within one year - 74,136 74,136

Total current liabilities 1,709,009 362,063 2,071,072
Noncurrent liabilities:

Net pension liability 1,682,235 253,652 1,935,887
Total OPEB liability 403,579 - 403,579
Long-term debt - due in more than one year 404,092 1,627,667 2,031,759

Total noncurrent liabilities 2,489,906 1,881,319 4,371,225
Total liabilities 4,198,915 2,243,382 6,442,297

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows - leases - 768,865 768,865
Pension related amounts 1,459,058 220,003 1,679,061
OPEB related amounts 223,486 - 223,486

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,682,544 988,868 2,671,412

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 13,621,708 7,227,120 20,848,828
Restricted for:

Street maintenance 1,487,476 - 1,487,476
Other capital projects 618,982 - 618,982
Other purposes 2,147,581 147,033 2,294,614

Total restricted 4,274,859 147,033 4,421,892
Unrestricted (2,158,356) 5,653,698 3,495,342

15,738,211$             13,027,851$             28,766,062$             

Primary Government

Total net position
See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements. 9



City of Guadalupe
Statement of Activities
For the year ended June 30, 2022

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions

Primary Government:
Governmental activities:

General Government 1,616,981$         500,325$            554,161$            -$                        
Public Safety 3,789,931           610,879              237,375              -
Transportation 1,441,750           -                          1,153,440           108,678
Leisure, cultural and social services 615,885              32,944                322,349              2,053,082
Community development 1,005,502           276,094              35,342                54,886
Interest on long-term debt 2,010                  -                          -                          -

Total governmental activities 8,472,059           1,420,242           2,302,667           2,216,646

  Business-type activities:
Water 1,816,922           2,642,700           30,683                -
Wastewater Treatment 1,500,816           2,646,368           13,827                -
Solid Waste -                          -                          -                          -
Transit 626,912              45,180                690,640              -

Total business-type activities 3,944,650           5,334,248           735,150              -
Total primary government 12,416,709$      6,754,490$        3,037,817$        2,216,646$        

General Revenues and Transfers:
Taxes:

Property taxes
Sales taxes
Utilities Uses Tax
Other taxes

Total taxes

Investment earnings
Other
Transfers

Total general revenues and transfers

Change in net position

Net position - beginning of year

Net position - end of year

Program Revenues

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements. 10



Governmental Business-Type
Total Activities Activities Total

1,054,486$         (562,495)$           -$                        (562,495)$           
848,254              (2,941,677)          -                          (2,941,677)

1,262,118           (179,632)             -                          (179,632)
2,408,375           1,792,490           -                          1,792,490

366,322              (639,180)             -                          (639,180)
-                          (2,010)                 -                          (2,010)

5,939,555           (2,532,504)          -                          (2,532,504)

2,673,383           -                          856,461              856,461
2,660,195           -                          1,159,379           1,159,379

-                          -                          -                          -
735,820              -                          108,908              108,908

6,069,398           -                          2,124,748           2,124,748
12,008,953$      (2,532,504) 2,124,748 (407,756)

1,954,091           -                          1,954,091
1,330,009           -                          1,330,009

503,050              -                          503,050
547,954              -                          547,954

4,335,104           -                          4,335,104

18,824                (40,571)               (21,747)
163,177              (363,844)             (200,667)
623,471              (623,471)             -

5,140,576 (1,027,886) 4,112,690

2,608,072 1,096,862 3,704,934

13,130,139 11,930,989 25,061,128

15,738,211$      13,027,851$      28,766,062$      
13,027,851$       

Net (Expense) Revenue
and Changes in Net Position

11



This page intentionally left blank

12



Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Proprietary Fund Financial Statements

Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements

13



City of Guadalupe
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
June 30, 2022

Capital
Community Improvement

General Development ARPA Program
ASSETS

Cash and investments 736,391$        490,635$        589,603$        8$                   
Accounts receivable 465,908 559,580 - -
Prepaid expenses 429,013 - - -
Interfund loans receivable 78,098 - - 628,676
Loans receivable - 32,884 - -

Total assets 1,709,410$     1,083,099$     589,603$        628,684$        

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCE
Liabilities:

Accounts payable 104,918$        33,378$          -$                   628,676$        
Accrued salaries and wages payable 236,315 - - -
Deposits payable 80,928 - - -
Unearned revenue 7,214 - 578,003 -
Interfund loans payable 497,777 1,098,995 11,600 -

Total liabilities 927,152 1,132,373 589,603 628,676

Deferred inflows of resources:
Unavailable revenue 1,021 509,571 - -

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,021 509,571 - -

Fund Balances: 
Nonspendable:

Prepaid expenses 429,013 - - -
Restricted for:

Street maintenance - - - -
Other capital projects - - - -
Community development 20,820 - - -
Public safety - - - -
Utility infrastructure - - - -
Debt service - - - -
Lighting and landscape - - - -

Committed to:
Capital projects - - - 8
General Reserve 165,702 - - -
Emergency Reserve 165,702 - - -

Unassigned - (558,845) - -

Total fund balances 781,237 (558,845) - 8

Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources, and fund balances 1,709,410$     1,083,099$     589,603$        628,684$        

Major Funds

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements. 14



Other Total 
Governmental Governmental

Funds Funds

3,378,366$        5,195,003$        
174,497 1,199,985

22,486 451,499
1,005,569 1,712,343

- 32,884

4,580,918$        8,591,714$        

29,849$             796,821$           
9,728 246,043

- 80,928
- 585,217

103,764 1,712,136

143,341 3,421,145

74,780 585,372
74,780 585,372

22,486 451,499

1,487,476 1,487,476
618,982 618,982

- 20,820
170,262 170,262
814,204 814,204

31,777 31,777
1,131,338 1,131,338

120,473 120,481
- 165,702
- 165,702

(34,201) (593,046)

4,362,797 4,585,197

4,580,918$        8,591,714$        

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements. 15



Total Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds 4,585,197$     

Capital assets used in governmental activities were not current financial resources.    
Therefore, they were not reported in the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet.  The capital 
assets were adjusted as follows:

Non-depreciable 674,008
Depreciable, net       12,947,700 

Total capital assets 13,621,708

Unavailable revenue recorded in the fund financial statements resulting from activities in
which revenues were earned but funds were not available are reclassified as revenues in the
Government-Wide Financial Statements. 585,372

Employer contributions for pension were recorded as expenditures in the governmental
funds. However, in the Government-Wide Financial Statement these contributions are
deferred. 534,053

In the Government-Wide Financial Statement certain OPEB amounts are deferred and
amortized over a period of time, however, in the governmental funds no transactions are
recorded. (77,036)

In the Government-Wide Financial Statement certain pension amounts are deferred and
amortized over a period of time, however, in the governmental funds no transactions are
recorded. (1,021,177)

Long-term liabilities were not due and payable in the current period. Therefore, they were
not reported in the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet.

Net pension liability (1,682,235)
Net OPEB liability (403,579)
Long term liabilities  - due within one year -
Long term liabilities - due in more than one year (404,092)

Total long-term liabilities (2,489,906)

Net Position of Governmental Activities 15,738,211$  

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position were different
because:

City of Guadalupe
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet
to the Government-Wide Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2022

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements. 16



This page intentionally left blank

17



Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the year ended June 30, 2022

Capital
Community Improvement

General Development ARPA Program

REVENUES:

Taxes 3,789,586$      -$                    -$                    -$                    
Licenses and permits 875,813           -                      -                      -
Fines and penalties 6,375               -                      -                      -
Revenues from other agencies 688,953           2,567,029        352,927           -
Charges for current services 449,303           -                      -                      -
Interest 48,964             (3,086)             -                      -
Other revenues 141,561           276,449           -                      -

Total revenues 6,000,555 2,840,392 352,927 -

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
General government 1,390,226        -                      -                      -
Public safety 4,090,986        -                      -                      -
Transportation -                      -                      -                      -
Leisure, cultural and social services 369,691           191,360           -                      -
Community development 497,624           -                      -                      -

Capital outlay -                      -                      -                      3,873,508
Debt service:

Interest and fiscal charges 2,010               -                      -                      -

Total expenditures 6,350,537 191,360 - 3,873,508

REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES (349,982)         2,649,032        352,927           (3,873,508)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in 973,105           53,117             -                      3,873,508
Transfers out (212,242)         (2,420,091)      (352,927)         -

Total other financing sources (uses) 760,863           (2,366,974)      (352,927)         3,873,508

Net change in fund balances 410,881           282,058           -                      -

FUND BALANCES:

Beginning of year, as restated 370,356           (840,903)         -                      8

End of year 781,237$        (558,845)$      -$                   8$                   

City of Guadalupe

Governmental Funds

Major Funds

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements. 18



Other Total 
Governmental Governmental

Funds Funds

1,148,077$         4,937,663$         
44,477                920,290

-                         6,375
365,663              3,974,572

28,645                477,948
(27,054)              18,824
50,000                468,010

1,609,808 10,803,682

-                         1,390,226
54,830                4,145,816

327,001              327,001
20,030                581,081
88,205                585,829

116,354              3,989,862

-                         2,010

606,420 11,021,825

1,003,388           (218,143)

53,449                4,953,179
(1,344,448)         (4,329,708)

(1,290,999)         623,471

(287,611)            405,328

4,650,408           4,179,869

4,362,797$        4,585,197$        

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements. 19



Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds 405,328$            

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities were different because:

Governmental funds reported capital outlay as expenditures. However, in the Government-
Wide Statement of Activities, the cost of those assets was allocated over their estimated
useful lives as depreciation expense. This was the amount of capital assets recorded in the
current period. 2,953,472

Depreciation expense on capital assets was reported in the Government-Wide Statement of
Activities, but they did not require the use of current financial resources. Therefore,
depreciation expense was not reported as expenditures in the governmental funds. (570,429)

Accrued compensated leave payable is not recorded in the governmental funds, but the
accrued payable increased in the Government-Wide Statement of Net Position causing an
expense on the Statement of Activities. (31,512)

OPEB expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. (64,234)

Repayment of debt principal was an expenditure in governmental funds, but the repayment
reduced long-term liabilities in the Government-Wide Statement of Net Position.

Long-term debt repayments 3,704

Revenues that are not considered to be available are reported as unavailable revenues in the
governmental funds, however, these amounts are recognized in the Government-Wide
Statement of Activities. This amount represents the change in unavailable revenues. (414,465)

Current year employer pension contributions are recorded as expenditures in the
governmental funds, however, these amounts are reported as a deferred outflow of
resources in the Government-Wide Statement of Net Position. 534,053

Pension expense is recorded as incurred in the Government-Wide Statement of Activities,
however, pension expense is not recognized in the governmental funds. (207,845)

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities 2,608,072$        

City of Guadalupe
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes

in Fund Balances to the Government-Wide Statement of Activities
For the year ended June 30, 2022

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements. 20



City of Guadalupe
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2022

Wastewater (Nonmajor)
Water Treatment Transit Solid Waste Total

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and investments 2,048,401$ 2,208,416$ 703,246$    -$               4,960,063
Accounts receivable, net of allowance 306,865 429,796 53,429 - 790,090
Prepaid expenses 595,327 70,489 - - 665,816
Interfund loan receivable, current portion 78,166 - - - 78,166
Leases receivable, current portion - 232,260 - - 232,260

Total current assets 3,028,759 2,940,961 756,675 - 6,726,395

Noncurrent assets:
Interfund loan receivable, net of 
current portion 219,330       -                  -                  -                  219,330
Leases receivable, net of current portion - 536,605 - - 536,605
Capital assets:

Land 29,464 218,961 - - 248,425
Work in progress 623,345 2,407,542 - - 3,030,887
Buldings, infrastructure and improvements 5,133,448 12,052,727 84,787 - 17,270,962
Vehicles 68,251 113,286 1,647,520 - 1,829,057
Equipment 392,348 162,411 10,610 - 565,369
Less accumulated depreciation (3,613,236) (9,231,904) (1,170,637) - (14,015,777)

Total capital assets 2,633,620 5,723,023 572,280 - 8,928,923

Total noncurrent assets 2,852,950 6,259,628 572,280 - 9,684,858

Total assets 5,881,709 9,200,589 1,328,955 - 16,411,253

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension related amounts 63,106 83,445 - - 146,551

Total deferred outflows of resources 63,106 83,445 - - 146,551

Enterprise Funds

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements. 21



City of Guadalupe
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2022

Wastewater (Nonmajor)
Water Treatment Transit Solid Waste Total

LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 21,714 89,423 61,568 - 172,705
Due to other funds 194,768 97,498 5,437 - 297,703
Deposits payable 48,651 - - - 48,651
Accrued wages and benefits 16,570 18,331 - - 34,901
Interest payable 17,611 14,059 - - 31,670
Current portion of certificates of participation 47,616 26,520 - - 74,136

Total current liabilities 346,930 245,831 67,005 - 659,766

Noncurrent liabilities:
Certificates of participation, net of
current portion 905,200       722,467       -                  -                  1,627,667
Net pension liability 109,226 144,426 - - 253,652

Total noncurrent liabilities 1,014,426 866,893 - - 1,881,319

Total liabilities 1,361,356 1,112,724 67,005 - 2,541,085

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred inflows - leases - 768,865 - - 768,865
Pension related amounts 94,735 125,268 - - 220,003

Total deferred inflows of resources 94,735 894,133 - - 988,868

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 1,680,804 4,974,036 572,280 - 7,227,120
Restricted for debt service 88,455 58,578 - - 147,033
Unrestricted 2,719,465 2,244,563 689,670 - 5,653,698

Total net position 4,488,724$ 7,277,177$ 1,261,950$ -$               13,027,851$ 

Enterprise Funds

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements. 22



City of Guadalupe
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2022

Wastewater (Nonmajor)
Water Treatment Transit Solid Waste Total

OPERATING REVENUES:

Water sales 2,409,700$ -$               -$               -$               2,409,700$   
Standby charges 27,189 - - - 27,189
Connection fees 115,237 285,344 - - 400,581
Sewer service charges - 1,838,549 - - 1,838,549
Refuse service charges - - - - -
Other revenues 90,574 281,250 45,180 - 417,004

Total operating revenues 2,642,700 2,405,143 45,180 - 5,093,023

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Personnel services 327,434 278,944 - - 606,378
Maintenance and operations 1,320,121 752,696 530,394 - 2,603,211
Depreciation 128,926 434,578 96,518 - 660,022

Total operating expenses 1,776,481 1,466,218 626,912 - 3,869,611

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 866,219 938,925 (581,732) - 1,223,412

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):

Revenues from other agencies 30,683 13,827 690,640 - 735,150
Interest income (16,761) (18,836) (4,974) - (40,571)
Interest expense (40,441)       (34,598)       -                  -                  (75,039)
Other income (loss) (363,844)     241,225       -                  -                  (122,619)

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (390,363) 201,618 685,666 - 496,921

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE CONTRIBUTIONS 
AND TRANSFERS 475,856 1,140,543 103,934 - 1,720,333

Contributed capital - - - - -
Transfers in 33,692 442 2,453 - 36,587
Transfers out (324,723) (299,200) (35,000) (1,135) (660,058)

Total contributions and transfers (291,031) (298,758) (32,547) (1,135) (623,471)

Change in net position 184,825 841,785 71,387 (1,135) 1,096,862

NET POSITION

Beginning of year 4,303,899 6,435,392 1,190,563 1,135 11,930,989

End of year 4,488,724$ 7,277,177$ 1,261,950$ -$               13,027,851$ 

Enterprise Funds

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements. 23



City of Guadalupe
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2022

Wastewater
Water Treatment

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Cash received from customers 2,532,432$         2,033,857$         
Cash received from connection fees 115,237              285,344
Cash received from standby charges and other agencies 27,189                -
Cash paid to suppliers for goods and services (1,081,433)          (810,675)
Cash paid to employees and related benefits (346,345)             (302,811)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 1,247,080           1,205,715

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Operating grants received 30,683                13,827
Internal activity - cash paid to (received from) other funds for interfund loan payments 245,270              78,899
Net transfers (291,031)             (298,758)

Net cash provided by (used in) noncapital financing activities (15,078) (206,032)

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Net changes in capital lease obligations -                          (4,870)
Principal payments on certificates of participation (45,586)               (24,960)
Interest payments on certificates of participation (41,226)               (35,078)
Sale (Acquisition) of capital assets (255,898)             (1,693,258)

Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related financing activities (342,710)             (1,758,166)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Interest on investments (16,761)               (18,836)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (16,761)               (18,836)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 872,531 (777,319)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of year 1,175,870 2,985,735

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - End of year 2,048,401$        2,208,416$        

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating income (loss) 866,219$            938,925$            
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)
  to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation 128,926              434,578
Changes in assets, deferred outflows and inflows of resources, and liabilities

Accounts receivable 40,372                (71,942)
Prepaid expenses 264,884              (30,873)
Deferred outflows pensions (75)                      (100)
Accounts payable (26,196)               (27,106)
Deposits payable (8,214)                 -
Accrued wages and benefits 2,269                  4,140
Net pension liability (104,165)             (137,736)
Deferred inflows pensions 83,060                109,829

Total adjustments 380,861              266,790

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 1,247,080$         1,205,715$         

Enterprise Funds

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements. 24



(nonmajor)
Transit Solid Waste Total

286,232$            -$                        4,852,521$    
-                          -                          400,581
-                          -                          27,189

(513,533)             -                          (2,405,641)
-                          -                          (649,156)

(227,301)             -                          2,225,494

690,640              -                          735,150
5,437                  -                          329,606

(32,547)               (1,135)                 (623,471)
663,530 (1,135) 441,285

-                          -                          (4,870)
-                          -                          (70,546)
-                          -                          (76,304)

(67,443)               -                          (2,016,599)

(67,443)               -                          (2,168,319)

(4,974)                 -                          (40,571)

(4,974)                 -                          (40,571)

363,812 (1,135) 457,889
339,434 1,135 4,502,174
703,246$           -$                       4,960,063$   

(581,732)$           -$                        1,223,412$    

96,518                -                          660,022

241,052              -                          209,482
-                          -                          234,011
-                          -                          (175)

16,861                -                          (36,441)
-                          -                          (8,214)
-                          -                          6,409
-                          -                          (241,901)
-                          -                          192,889

354,431              -                          1,002,082

(227,301)$           -$                        2,225,494$    

Enterprise Funds

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements. 25



City of Guadalupe
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Fund
June 30, 2022

Private-Purpose
Trust Fund

ASSETS

Cash and investments 784,416$            
Cash with fiscal agent 309,008
Accounts receivable 89,170
Property held for resale 222,482
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 119,639

Total  assets 1,524,715

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred loss on refunding 71,030

Total deferred outflows of resources 71,030

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 27,735
Interest payable 53,779
Unearned revenue 503,493
Long-term liabilities:

Due within one year 230,000
Due after one year 3,673,028

Total liabilities 4,488,035

NET POSITION

Held in trust for other governments (2,892,290)$       

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements. 26



City of Guadalupe
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Fund
For the year ended June 30, 2022

RDA Successor Agency Successor Agency

Retirement to RDA Merged to RDA Private-Purpose
Obligation Area Housing Trust Fund

ADDITIONS:

Property taxes 518,363$            
Revenue from other agencies 56,405
Other revenues (4,944)

Total additions 569,824

DEDUCTIONS:

Program expenses 447,012
Administration expenses 140,557
Interest on long-term liabilities 140,449
Depreciation 9,900

Total Deductions 737,918

Change in net position (168,094)

NET POSITION:

Beginning of year (2,724,196)

End of year (2,892,290)$        

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements. 27



This page intentionally left blank

28



NOTES TO BASIC  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

29



30



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The basic financial statements of the City of Guadalupe, California (City) have been prepared in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental agencies.  The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting body for establishing 
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.  The more significant of the City’s accounting 
policies are described below. 

A. Reporting Entity 

The City of Guadalupe (the City) was incorporated on August 3, 1946. The City is a general law city 
under the laws of the State of California and operates under a Council Administrator form of 
government.  The City provides the following services: public safety (police and fire), construction and 
maintenance of highways and streets, sanitation, culture and recreation, public improvements, 
planning, zoning and general administration. Enterprise funds, operated in a manner similar to a 
private business, include water, wastewater, and transit. 

The City has defined its reporting entity in accordance with the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) Statement No. 14, amended by GASB Statements No. 39 and 61. These statements 
provide guidance for determining which organizations, functions and activities of a government should 
be included in the general purpose financial statements. 

The criteria for inclusion in the basic financial statements are generally based upon the ability of the 
City to exercise oversight responsibility over such organizations, functions and activities. Oversight 
responsibility is generally defined as the existence of financial interdependency and/or the ability to 
appoint governing boards, to designate management, to significantly influence operations, to approve 
operating budgets or to control day to day activities. 

The accompanying financial statements include all activities and reporting entities over which the City 
exercises oversight responsibility. Effective January 31, 2012, the Community Redevelopment Agency of 
the City of Guadalupe (the Agency) was dissolved through the Supreme Court decision on Assembly 
Bill 1X26. This action impacted the reporting entity of the City that previously had reported the Agency 
as a blended component unit. See Note 13 for additional information on the dissolution and reporting of 
the Agency as a Private Purpose Trust Fund. 

In determining the financial reporting entity for the City of Guadalupe, the following governmental unit 
has met the criteria for inclusion in the City's financial statements. 

Guadalupe Public Financing Authority 

The Guadalupe Public Financing Authority (Authority) was established in 2000, and is a separate 
government entity under the laws of the State of California. The purpose of the Authority is to provide 
financing for the construction and acquisition of selected City facilities. The City Council of the City of 
Guadalupe and the Board of Directors of the Authority are legally separate boards; however, they share 
a common membership. Activities of the Authority are accounted for in the applicable City 
governmental or enterprise funds.  Separate financial statements are not prepared for the Authority, as 
it is included in the accompanying financial statements as a blended component unit. 

31



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

A. Reporting Entity, Continued 

Other Governmental Agencies 

Other governmental agencies provide various levels of services to residents of the City, either entirely 
or partially. The entities include, but are not limited to, the State of California, the County of Santa 
Barbara, as well as several school districts. Each of these agencies has an independently elected 
governing board or is dependent on an independently elected governing board other than the City 
Council of the City of Guadalupe. 

The City has no ability to appoint or control the management of any of these entities and is not 
responsible for any operating losses or debts incurred. As a result of the above analysis, financial 
information for these agencies is not included within the scope of this report. 

B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus 

The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered a separate 
accounting entity with its own self-balancing set of accounts that comprise its assets, deferred outflows 
of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, fund equity, revenues, and expenditures or 
expenses.  These funds are established for the purpose of carrying out specific activities or certain 
objectives in accordance with specific regulations, restrictions or limitations.  Governmental resources 
are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be 
spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled. 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 

The government wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of 
activities) report information on the primary government and its blended component units. The effect of 
interfund activity has been removed from these statements. Governmental activities, which normally 
are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business type 
activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or 
segment are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific function or segment. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who 
purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or 
segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among 
program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 

These financial statements are presented on an “economic resources” measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting.  Accordingly, all of the City’s assets, deferred inflows/outflows of 
resources, and liabilities, including capital assets, as well as infrastructure assets, and long-term 
liabilities, are included in the accompanying Statement of Net Position.  The Statement of Activities 
presents changes in net position.  Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the 
period in which they are earned while expenses are recognized in the period in which the liabilities are 
incurred.   

32



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus, Continued 

Government-Wide Financial Statements, Continued 

Certain types of transactions reported as program revenues for the City are reported in three categories:  

Charges for services 
Operating grants and contributions 
Capital grants and contributions 

Certain eliminations have been made in regards to interfund activities, payables, and receivables.  All 
internal balances in the Statement of Net Position have been eliminated except those representing 
balances between the governmental activities and the business-type activities, which are presented as 
internal balances and eliminated in the total primary government column.  In the Statement of 
Activities, internal fund transactions have been eliminated; however, those transactions between 
governmental and business-type activities have not been eliminated.  The following interfund activities 
have been eliminated: 

Due to/from other funds 
Transfers in/out 

The City applies all applicable GASB pronouncements including all NCGA Statements and 
Interpretations currently in effect. 

Fund Financial Statements  

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds. Major 
individual governmental funds and major individual proprietary funds are reported as separate 
columns in the fund financial statements. 

Governmental Fund Financial Statements 

Governmental fund financial statements include a Balance Sheet and a Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances for all major governmental funds and non-major funds 
aggregated.  An accompanying schedule is presented to reconcile and explain the differences in net 
position as presented in these statements to the net position presented in the government-wide financial 
statements.  The City has presented all major funds that meet specific qualifications.   

Governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the 
modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recognized when measurable 
and available. The City considers all revenues reported in the governmental funds to be available if the 
revenues are collected within sixty days after fiscal year end. Expenditures are recorded when the 
related fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on long term debt, claims and 
judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the extent that they 
have matured. Capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds.  Proceeds 
of long term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other financing sources. 

33



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus, Continued 

Governmental Fund Financial Statements, Continued 

Non exchange transactions, in which the City gives or receives value without directly receiving or 
giving equal value in exchange, include property taxes, grants, entitlements, and donations. On an 
accrual basis, revenues from property taxes are recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are 
levied. Revenue from grants, entitlements, and donations are recognized in the fiscal year in which all 
eligibility requirements have been satisfied. 

Other revenues susceptible to accrual include other taxes, intergovernmental revenues, interest, and 
charges for services. 

Grant revenues are recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements are met. Under the 
terms of grant agreements, the City may fund certain programs with a combination of cost
reimbursement grants, categorical block grants, and general revenues. Thus, both restricted and 
unrestricted net position may be available to finance program expenditures/expenses. The City’s policy 
is to first apply restricted grant resources to such programs, followed by general revenues if necessary. 

The City reports the following funds as major governmental funds of the City.  

General Fund accounts for resources traditionally associated with governmental activities that are not 
required legally or by sound financial management to be accounted for in another fund. 

Community Development fund accounts for monies spent and activities performed under the 
Community Development Block Grant 

Capital Improvement Program fund is used to account for projects approved by Council from various 
funding sources. 

ARPA fund is used to account for the federal Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 
approved through the American Rescue Plan Act.  

The Reconciliations of the Fund Financial Statements to the Government-Wide Financial Statements are 
provided. 

Proprietary Fund Financial Statements 

Proprietary fund financial statements include a Statement of Net Position, a Statement of Revenues, 
Expenses and Change in Net Position, and a Statement of Cash Flows for all proprietary funds. 

Proprietary funds are accounted for using the “economic resources” measurement focus and the accrual 
basis of accounting.  Accordingly, all assets and liabilities (whether current or noncurrent) are included 
on the Statement of Net Position.  The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 
present increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) in total net position.  Under the accrual basis of 
accounting, revenues are recognized in the period in which they are earned while expenses are 
recognized in the period in which a liability is incurred. 

34



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus, Continued 

Proprietary Fund Financial Statements, Continued 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues of 
the enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and services, administrative expenses, and 
depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as 
nonoperating revenues and expenses. 

For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, the City considers all highly liquid investments with a 
maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. The proprietary funds’ 
“deposits” in the City-wide cash management pool are, in substance, demand deposits and are, 
therefore, considered cash equivalents for purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows. 

The City reports the Water, Wastewater, and Transit funds as major proprietary funds of the City. 

Water Fund: This enterprise fund accounts for the operation of the City’s water utility, a self supporting 
activity, which renders a service on a user charge basis to residents and businesses. 

Wastewater Treatment Fund: This enterprise fund accounts for the operations of the City’s wastewater 
treatment plant. The fund accounts for the operation of the City’s sewer utility, a self supporting 
activity, which renders a service on a user charge basis to residents and businesses. 

Transit Fund:  This enterprise fund accounts for the operations of the City’s transit service within the 
City and surrounding areas. 

The City reports on non-major proprietary fund: 

Solid Waste Fund: This enterprise fund accounts for the discontinued operations of the City’s solid waste 
collection and disposal services, which rendered service on a user charge basis to residents and 
businesses. This fund was closed in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. 

Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements  

Fiduciary fund financial statements consist of a Statement of Fiduciary Net Position and a Statement of 
Changes in Fiduciary Net Position.  Fiduciary fund statements consist of a private purpose trust fund 
which accounts for the assets and liabilities of the former Redevelopment Agency. 

C. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments 

The City pools cash resources from all funds in order to facilitate the management of cash.  The balance 
in the pooled cash account is available to meet current operating requirements.  Cash in excess of 
current requirements is invested in various interest-bearing accounts and other investments for varying 
terms. 

35



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

C. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments, Continued 

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 40, Deposit and Investment Disclosures (Amendment of GASB No. 
3), certain disclosure requirements for Deposits and Investment Risks were made in the following areas: 

• Interest Rate Risk 
• Credit Risk 

o Overall 
o Custodial Credit Risk 
o Concentrations of Credit Risk 

In addition, other disclosures are specified including use of certain methods to present deposits and 
investments, highly sensitive investments, credit quality at year-end, and other disclosures. 

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and 
for External Investment Pools, highly liquid market investments with maturities of one year or less at time 
of purchase are stated at amortized cost.  All other investments are stated at fair value.  The City 
categorizes the fair value measurements of its investments based on the hierarchy established by 
generally accepted accounting principles. The fair value hierarchy, which has three levels, is based on 
the valuation inputs used to measure an asset’s fair value: Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are 
significant unobservable inputs. The City does not have any investments that are measured using Level 
3 inputs. 

The City participates in an investment pool managed by the State of California entitled Local Agency 
Investment Fund (LAIF) which has invested a portion of the pooled funds in Structured Notes and 
Asset-Backed Securities. LAIF’s investments are subject to credit risk with the full faith and credit of the 
State of California collateralizing these investments. In addition, these Structured Notes and Asset-
Backed Securities are subject to market risk as to the change in interest rates. 

Cash equivalents are considered amounts in demand deposits and short-term investments with a 
maturity date within three months of the date acquired by the City and are presented as “Cash and 
Investments” in the accompanying Basic Financial Statements. 

The City considers all pooled cash and investments (consisting of cash and investments and restricted 
cash and investments) held by the City as cash and cash equivalents because the pool is used essentially 
as a demand deposit account from the standpoint of the funds.  The City also considers all non-pooled 
cash and investments (consisting of cash with fiscal agent and restricted cash and investments held by 
fiscal agent) as cash and cash equivalents because investments meet the criteria for cash equivalents 
defined above. 

D. Restricted Cash and Investments 

Certain restricted cash and investments are held by fiscal agents for the redemption of bonded debt, for 
acquisition and construction of capital projects, and to meet bond indenture debt reserve requirements.  

36



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

E. Capital Assets 

All capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not 
available. Contributed capital assets are valued at their estimated fair value on the date contributed. The 
City’s policy is to capitalize all capital assets with costs exceeding $5,000 and with useful lives exceeding 
one year. 

With the implementation of GASB Statement No. 34, the City has recorded all its public domain 
(infrastructure) capital assets, which include roads, bridges, curbs and gutters, streets and sidewalks, 
drainage systems, and lighting systems. 

The purpose of depreciation is to spread the cost of capital assets equitably among all users over the life 
of these assets. The amount charged to depreciation expense each fiscal year represents that fiscal year’s 
pro rata share of the cost of capital assets. GASB Statement No. 34 requires that all capital assets with 
limited useful lives be depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation is provided using the 
straight line method which means the cost of the asset is divided by its expected useful life in years and 
the result is charged to expense each fiscal year until the asset is fully depreciated.  

The City has assigned the useful lives listed below to capital assets. 

Vehicles   5 – 10 years 
Buildings and Improvements 20 – 35 years 
Equipment   5 – 15 years 
Infrastructure 10 – 50 years 

F. Interest Payable 

In the Government-Wide Financial Statements, interest payable on long-term debt is recognized as the 
liability is incurred for governmental fund types and proprietary fund types. 

In the Fund Financial Statements, proprietary and fiduciary fund types recognize the interest payable 
when the liability is incurred, but governmental fund types do not recognize an interest payable. 
Instead interest expense is recorded when the payment is made. 

G. Long-Term Debt 

Government-Wide Financial Statements  

Long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the appropriate activities. 

Bond premiums and discounts are amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line method.  
Bonds payable is reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount.  Bond issuance costs, except 
any portion related to prepaid insurance costs, are recognized as an expense in the period incurred. 

Fund Financial Statements  

The governmental fund financial statements do not present long-term debt. As such, long-term debt is 
shown in the Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the Government-Wide 
Statement of Net Position. 

37



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

G. Long-Term Debt, Continued 

Fund Financial Statements, Continued 

Bond premiums and discounts are recognized during the current period as other financing sources or 
uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as 
debt service expenditures. Bond proceeds are reported as other financing sources.  

Proprietary Fund and Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements use the same principles as those used in the 
Government-Wide Financial Statements. 

H. Property Taxes 

California Constitution Article XIII A limits the combined property tax rate to one percent of a 
property’s assessed valuation. Additional taxes may be imposed with voter approval. Assessed value is 
calculated at one hundred percent of a property’s fair value, as defined by Article XIII A, and may be 
increased no more than two percent per year unless a change in ownership occurs. The state legislature 
has determined the method of distributing the one percent tax levy among the various taxing 
jurisdictions. 

Property tax revenues are recognized in the fiscal year for which taxes have been levied, and collected 
within sixty days of fiscal year end. Property tax assessment and collection is administered by the 
County of Santa Barbara. 

Property taxes are billed and collected as follows: 

Valuation/Lien Date(s) 
Secured 
January 1 

Unsecured 
January 1 

Levy Date(s) September 1 January 1 
Due Date(s) November 1 (50%) 

February 1 (50%) 
Upon Billing

Delinquency Date(s) December 10 (Nov.) 
April 10 (Feb.) 

August 31 

I. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

In addition to assets, the statement of net position (balance sheet) will sometimes report a separate 
section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows 
of resources, represents a consumption of net assets that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be 
recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.  

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position (balance sheet) will sometimes report a separate 
section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of 
resources, represents an acquisition of net assets that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be 
recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  

38



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

J. Net Position 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 

In the Government-Wide Financial Statements, net position are classified in the following categories: 

Net Investment in Capital Assets – This amount consists of capital assets net of accumulated 
depreciation and reduced by outstanding debt that is attributed to the acquisition, construction, or 
improvement of the assets. 

Restricted – This amount is restricted by external creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations 
of governments. 

Unrestricted – This amount is all net position that does not meet the definition of “net investment in 
capital assets” or “restricted net position” as defined above. 

When an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position is 
available, the City’s policy is to apply restricted net position first. 

K. Fund Balances 

Fund Financial Statements 

In February 2009, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued Statement 54, Fund 
Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions (GASB 54).  The classifications of fund 
balances are as follows: 

Non-spendable Fund Balances  

This component consists of amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) not in spendable 
form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 

Restricted Fund Balances  

This component consists of amounts that have constraints placed on them either externally by third
parties (creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments) or by law 
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Enabling legislation authorizes the City to 
assess, levy, charge or otherwise mandate payment of resources (from external resource providers) and 
includes legally enforceable requirement (compelled by external parties) that those resources be used 
only for the specific purposes stipulated in the legislation. 

Committed Fund Balances  

This component consists of amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints 
imposed by formal action of the City’s highest level of decision making authority which includes the 
City Municipal Code, Ordinances and Resolutions. Those committed amounts cannot be used for any 
other purpose unless the City removes or changes the specified use by taking the same type of action 
(City Municipal Code, Ordinance and Resolution) it employed previously to commit those amounts. 

39



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

K. Fund Balances, Continued 

Assigned Fund Balances  

This component consists of amounts that are constrained by the City’s intent to be used for specific 
purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed. Such intent should be expressed by the City Council 
or its designated officials to assign amounts to be used. Constraints imposed on the use of assigned 
amounts can be removed with no formal Council actions. 

Unassigned Fund Balance  

This component consists of amounts that have not been restricted, committed or assigned to specific 
purposes. 

Hierarchy of Expenditures to Classify Fund Balance Amounts 

The City has formally adopted a spending policy regarding the order in which restricted, committed, 
assigned, and unassigned fund balances are spent when more than one amount is available for a specific 
purpose. When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City’s policy to 
use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources (committed, assigned and unassigned) as they 
are needed. When unrestricted resources (committed, assigned and unassigned) are available for use it 
is the City’s policy to use committed resources first, then assigned, and then unassigned as they are 
needed. 

L. Compensated Leave Payable 

In compliance with GASB Statement No. 16, the City has established a liability for accrued sick leave 
and vacation in relevant funds. For governmental funds, the current liability appears in the respective 
funds. All vacation paid is accrued when incurred in the government wide and proprietary funds 
financial statements. This liability is set up for current employees at their current rates of pay. If sick 
leave and vacation are not used by the employee during the term of employment, compensation is 
payable to the employee at the time of retirement. Such compensation is calculated at the employee’s 
prevailing rate at the time of retirement or termination. Each fiscal year, an adjustment to the liability is 
made based on pay rate changes and adjustments for the current portion. The General Fund is primarily 
responsible for the repayment of the governmental portion of compensated absences.

M. Pension 

The City recognizes a net pension liability, which represents the City’s proportionate share of net 
pension liability reflected in the actuarial reports provided by the California Public Employees’ 
Retirement System (CalPERS) plan (Plan). The net pension liability is measured as of the City’s prior 
fiscal year‐end.  Changes in the net pension liability are recorded, in the period incurred, as pension 
expense or as deferred inflows of resources or deferred outflows of resources depending on the nature 
of the change. The changes in the net pension liability that are recorded as deferred inflows of resources 
or deferred outflows of resources (that arise from changes in actuarial assumptions or other inputs and 
differences between expected or actual experience) are amortized over the weighted average remaining 
service life of all participants in the respective pension plan and are recorded as a component of pension 
expense beginning with the period in which they are incurred. 

40



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

M. Pension, Continued 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and deferred outflows/inflows of resources related 
to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the City’s CalPERS 
Plan and additions to/deductions from the Plan’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the 
same basis as they are reported by CalPERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of 
employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. 
Investments are reported at fair value. Projected earnings on pension investments are recognized as a 
component of pension expense.

N. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) 

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the 
City’s plan (OPEB Plan) and additions to/deductions from the OPEB Plan’s fiduciary net position have 
been determined on the same basis. For this purpose, benefit payments are recognized when currently 
due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. Generally 
accepted accounting principles require that the reported results must pertain to liability and asset 
information within certain defined timeframes. For this report, the following timeframes are used: 

Valuation Date - July 1, 2020 
Measurement Date - June 30, 2022 
Measurement Period - July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022 

O. Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America, as prescribed by the GASB and the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures/expenses during the 
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

P.  New Pronouncements 

The City adopted new accounting standards in order to conform to the following Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board Statements: 

GASB Statement No. 87, Leases – The objective of this statement is to better meet the information 
needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial reporting for leases by 
governments. The City added one lessor lease to the Proprietary Funds Financial Statements and 
updated the note disclosures as a result of implementing this statement. 

41



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

P. New Pronouncements, Continued 

GASB Statement No. 89, Construction-period interest – The objectives of this Statement are (1) to 
enhance the relevance and comparability of information about capital assets and the cost of 
borrowing for a reporting period and (2) to simplify accounting for interest cost incurred before 
the end of a construction period. The requirements of this statement did not apply to the City for 
the current fiscal year. 

GASB Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020 – The objectives of this Statement are to enhance 
comparability in accounting and financial reporting and to improve the consistency of 
authoritative literature by addressing practice issues that have been identified during 
implementation and application of certain GASB Statements. The requirements of this statement 
did not apply to the City for the current fiscal year. 

GASB Statement No. 93, Interbank offered rates (LIBOR removal and lease modifications) – The 
objective of this Statement is to address those and other accounting and financial reporting 
implications that result from the replacement of an interbank offered rate. The requirements of 
this statement did not apply to the City for the current fiscal year. 

GASB Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022 – The objectives of this Statement are to enhance 
comparability in accounting and financial reporting and to improve the consistency of 
authoritative literature by addressing (1) practice issues that have been identified during 
implementation and application of certain GASB Statements and (2) accounting and financial 
reporting for financial guarantees. The requirements of this statement did not apply to the City 
for the current fiscal year. 

2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS 

The City maintains a cash and investment pool for all funds. Certain restricted funds that are held and 
invested by independent outside custodians through contractual agreements are not pooled.  These 
restricted funds include cash and investment held by trustees. 

The following is a summary of cash and investments at June 30, 2022: 

42



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued 

A. Summary of Cash and Investments 

Cash and investments as of June 30, 2022 consist of the following: 

B. Deposits 

The carrying amount of the City’s cash deposits was $2,038,279 at June 30, 2022.  Bank balances before 
reconciling items were $1,930,722 at June 30, 2022. The City’s cash deposit was fully insured up to 
$250,000 by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The remaining amount was collateralized with 
securities held by the pledging financial institutions in the City’s name. 

The California Government Code (Code) Section 53652 requires California banks and savings and loan 
associations to secure the City’s cash deposits by pledging securities as collateral.  The Code states that 
collateral pledged in this manner shall have the effect of perfecting a security interest in such collateral 
superior to those of a general creditor.  Thus, collateral for cash deposits is considered to be held in the 
City's name.  

The market value of pledged securities must equal at least 110% of the City’s cash deposits.  California 
law also allows institutions to secure City deposits by pledging first trust deed mortgage notes having a 
value of 150% of the City’s total cash deposits.   

The City follows the practice of pooling cash and investments of all funds, except for funds required to 
be held by fiscal agents under the provisions of bond indentures.  Interest income earned on pooled 
cash and investments is allocated to the various funds based on the period-end cash and investment 
balances.  Interest income from cash and investments with fiscal agents is credited directly to the related 
fund. 

43



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued 

C. Investments 

Under the provisions of the City’s investment policy, and in accordance with the Code, the following 
investments are authorized: 

Investments are stated at fair value using the aggregate method in all funds, resulting in the following 
investment income in all funds: 

The City’s portfolio value fluctuates in an inverse relationship to any change in interest rate.  
Accordingly, if interest rates rise, the portfolio value will decline.  If interest rates fall, the portfolio 
value will rise.  The portfolio for year-end reporting purposes is treated as if it were all sold.  Therefore, 
fund balance must reflect the portfolio’s change in value.  These portfolio value changes are unrealized 
unless sold.  Generally the City’s practice is to buy and hold investments until maturity dates. 
Consequently, the City’s investments are carried at fair value. 

The City is a voluntary participant in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) that is regulated by 
Code Section 16429 under the oversight of the Treasurer of the State of California.  The City’s 
investments with LAIF include a portion of the pool funds invested in Structured Notes and Asset-
Backed Securities.  These investments include the following: 

Structured Notes – are debt securities (other than asset-backed securities) whose cash flow 
characteristics (coupon rate, redemption amount, or stated maturity) depend upon one or more 
indices and/or have embedded forwards or options. 

44



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued 

C. Investments, Continued 

Asset-Backed Securities – the bulk of which are mortgage-backed securities, entitle their purchasers 
to receive a share of the cash flows from a pool of assets such as principal and interest repayments 
from a pool of mortgages (such as Collateralized Mortgage Obligations) or credit card receivables. 

As of June 30, 2022, the City had $8,849,656 invested in LAIF, which had invested 1.88% of the pool 
investment funds in Structured Notes and Asset-Backed Securities as compared to 2.31% in the previous 
year. The LAIF fair value factor of 0.987125414 was used to calculate the fair value of the investments in 
LAIF. 

D. Risk Disclosures 

Interest Risk:  Interest rate risk is the market value fluctuation due to overall changes in the interest rates.  
It is mitigated by limiting the average maturity of the City’s portfolio not to exceed three years. 
Investments held in the City Treasury grouped by maturity date at June 30, 2022, are shown below: 

Credit Risk: Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation 
to the holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally 
recognized statistical rating organization. Presented below is the minimum rating required by (where 
applicable) the California Government Code, the City’s investment policy, or debt agreements, and the 
actual rating as of fiscal year end for each investment type. 

At June 30, 2022, the City’s deposits and investments were rated as follows: 

Custodial Credit Risk: For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of 
the counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities 
that are in the possession of an outside party. None of the City’s investments were subject to custodial 
credit risk. 

45



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued 

E. Investment Valuation 

Investments (except money market accounts that are included as part of restricted cash and 
investments) are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Recurring fair value measurements, are 
those that Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statements require or permit in the 
statement of net position at the end of each reporting period. Fair value measurements are categorized 
based on the valuation inputs used to measure an asset’s fair value: Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs 
are significant unobservable inputs.  

Investments’ fair value measurements at June 30, 2022 are described below: 

3. INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS 

A. Interfund Loans Receivable 

At June 30, 2022, the City had the following interfund loans: 

46



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

3. INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS, Continued 

A. Interfund Loans Receivable, Continued 

Interfund loans occur when one fund loans another fund amounts for a specific purpose. The City 
intends to pay amounts back to the appropriate loaning fund in a manner similar to how an external 
loan would be paid, with a set payment schedule and interest based on the LAIF interest rate. The 
purpose of the interfund loans to the General Fund was to reduce a historical negative cash balance and 
support continued operations. The purpose of the Library Fund interfund loan was to pay the library 
lease payments, which will be supported through development fees in future years. In the fiscal year 
ending June 30, 2020, the Park Development Fund loaned proceeds from the sale of property to the 
Community Development Fund to aid in liquidity for community projects.  

The remaining loans are short term balances. The General Fund loaned the Community Development 
Fund $78,098 to cover negative cash. The entire balance due from other funds to the Capital 
Improvement Program is for services rendered before June 30, 2022 but were paid after that date. They 
will be paid back in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023. 

Other than the short-term amount of $7,782 owed to the Capital Improvement Program that was paid 
off immediately, future minimum payments on the General Fund long-term loans as of June 30, 2022 
were as follows: 

The Community Development Fund is intended to settle the loan from the Park Development Fund of 
$744,736 in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023. The Library Fund interfund loan does not have a set 
payment schedule. All other loans will be paid in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023. 

B. Transfers 

Interfund transfers are used to move revenues from the fund with collection authorization to the debt 
service fund as debt service principal and interest payments become due and to move unrestricted fund 
revenues to finance various programs that the government must account for in other funds in 
accordance with budgetary authorizations, including amounts provided as matching funds for various 
grant programs. Interfund transfers to the General Fund are for the variable cost allocation plan for 
services provided to other funds of the City. 

47



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

3. INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS, Continued 

B. Transfers, Continued 

At June 30, 2022 the City had the following transfers in/out which arose in the normal course of 
operations: 

The transfers to the General Fund were to pay for overhead and operations. The transfers to the Capital 
Improvement Program Fund were to pay for various capital projects. The transfers out from the ARPA 
Fund were to pay for COVID-19 pandemic relief.  

4. LEASES RECEIVABLE 

In implementing GASB Statement 87 in the fiscal year 2022, the City recognized a lease receivable and 
deferred inflows of resources for the leasing of various City-owned land. In 2020, the City’s Wastewater 
Enterprise Fund entered into a lease with Clay’s Septic & Jetting, Inc. (Lessee) for the use of City land 
for the storage of Lessee’s equipment in exchange for monthly payments of $20,000. The lease term runs 
through August 2025 and has a discount rate of 0.865% In June 30, 2022, the Wastewater Fund 
recognized revenues and interest of $240,000. Receivables on the lease as of June 30, 2022 were $768,865. 

5. LOANS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE 

The City has made various loans under Community Development Block Grants to qualified 
homeowners and businesses. Under the terms of the business loans, repayments are due in monthly 
installments through 2023. Under the terms of the homeowner agreements, repayments of the loans are 
only required upon the sale of the home. The outstanding balance of the total loans receivable was 
$32,884 at June 30, 2022 and the business loans receivable portion was $5,066. 

48



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

5. LOANS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE, CONTINUED 

At June 30, 2022, the aggregate maturities of the City’s business loans and notes receivable were as 
follows: 

The homeowner loans receivable amount of $6,318 does not have a fixed repayment schedule. 

6. CAPITAL ASSETS 

A. Government-Wide Financial Statements 

The following is a summary of changes in the capital assets for the governmental activities during the 
fiscal year: 

49



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

6. CAPITAL ASSETS, Continued 

A. Government-Wide Financial Statements, Continued 

Depreciation expense by program for capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2022 was as follows: 

The following is a summary of changes in the capital assets for business-type activities during the fiscal 
year: 

Balance
June 30, 2021 Additions Transfer

Balance
June 30, 2022

Non-depreciable assets:
Land 248,425$        -$                  -$                  248,425$        
Construction in progress 911,889          2,118,998   -                    3,030,887

Total non-depreciable assets 1,160,314       2,118,998   -                    3,279,312

Depreciable assets:
Buildings and improvements 10,322,380     118,615      (459,592)     9,981,403
Vehicles 1,829,057       -                    -                    1,829,057
Equipment 545,158          20,211         -                    565,369
Infrastructure 7,289,559       -                    -                    7,289,559

Total depreciable assets 19,986,154     138,826      (459,592)     19,665,388

Less accumulated Depreciation:
Buildings and improvements, and
   infrastructure (7,711,649)      (180,669)     95,748         (7,796,570)
Vehicles (1,207,338)      (110,093)     -                    (1,317,431)
Equipment (534,344)         (4,782)          -                    (539,126)
Infrastructure (3,998,172)      (364,478)     -                    (4,362,650)

Total accumulated depreciation (13,451,503)   (660,022)     95,748         (14,015,777)

Total depreciable assets, net 6,534,651       (521,196)     (363,844)     5,649,611

Total capital assets 7,694,965$     1,597,802$ (363,844)$   8,928,923$     

50



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

6. CAPITAL ASSETS, Continued 

A. Government-Wide Financial Statements, Continued 

Depreciation expense for the year ended June 30, 2022 was as follows: 

B. Governmental Fund Financial Statements 

The governmental fund financial statements do not present general government capital assets but are 
shown in the Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the Government-Wide 
Statement of Net Position. 

7. LONG-TERM DEBT 

A. Governmental Activities 

For the year ended June 30, 2022, governmental activities long-term liabilities activity was as follows: 

Capital Lease Obligations 

The City leased vehicles and equipment under capital leases with terms that expired in December 2021. 
Amortization on the assets leased is included in depreciation expense.  

Compensated Absences 

Compensated absences in the governmental funds are generally liquidated by the General Fund on a 
pay-as-you-go basis. 

51



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

7. LONG-TERM DEBT, Continued 

B. Business-Type Activities 

For the year ended June 30, 2022, business-type activities long-term liabilities activity was as follows: 

Certificates of Participation 2000 – Original Issue $1,429,800 

On December 21, 2000, the City issued certificates of participation through the Guadalupe Financing 
Authority which were purchased by the US Department of Agriculture (USDA) Rural Utilities Service 
(RUS), amounting to $1,429,800, in an agreement which included a grant of $875,200 for water and 
sewer line replacement. Under the terms of the agreement, the City has pledged net water revenues and 
net wastewater revenues for the payment of debt service. For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022, the 
net water and wastewater revenues were $995,145 and $1,373,503 respectively. The principal and 
interest payments for the debt during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022 totaled $76,932. The certificates 
of participation bear interest at 4.5% per annum, with principal and interest payments due semiannually 
through August 1, 2040. At June 30, 2022, the principal balance outstanding was $960,240. 

The annual debt service requirements on the Certificates of Participation 2000 are as follows: 

52



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

7. LONG-TERM DEBT, Continued 

B. Business-Type Activities 

Certificates of Participation 2005 – Original Issue $1,203,900 

On July 27, 2005, the City issued certificates of participation which were purchased by the US 
Department of Agriculture (USDA) Rural Utilities Service (RUS), amounting to $1,203,900, in an 
agreement which included a grant for water tank construction and upgrades. Under the terms of the 
agreement, the City has pledged tax increment revenues for the payment of debt service. Where tax 
increment revenues are no longer available for the payment of debt service, the City has pledged net 
water revenues for the payment of debt service. For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022, the net water 
revenues were $995,145 and the principal and interest payments for the debt during the fiscal year were 
$69,887. The certificates of participation bear interest at 4.125% per annum, with principal and interest 
payments due semiannually through July 28, 2035. At June 30, 2022, the principal balance outstanding 
was $741,563.  

The annual debt service requirements on the Certificates of Participation-2005 are as follows: 

Capital Lease Obligations 

The City leased vehicles and equipment under capital leases that have terms that expired in December 
2021. Amortization on the assets leased is included in depreciation expense. 

8. FUND BALANCE 

The City Council approved through resolution the creation of two reserve accounts within the General 
Fund: General Reserve, and Emergency Reserve. 

General Reserve 

The General Reserve’s purpose is to provide funding to meet operational appropriation requirements in 
the event that the City experiences shortfalls in the collection of General Fund revenues or major 
unanticipated increases in expenditures. At a minimum, the balance is to be set at 10% of the City’s 
annual operating budget. Use of funds from the General Reserve may only be made after City Council 
approval. 

53



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

8. FUND BALANCE 

Emergency Reserve 

The General Reserve’s purpose is to provide emergency funding as a result of a declared emergency or 
to fund an unanticipated urgent event affecting or threatening the public health, safety, and welfare of 
the City. At a minimum, the balance is to be set at 5% of the City’s annual operating budget. Use of 
funds from the General Reserve may only be made after City Council approval. 

9. JOINT EXERCISE OF POWERS AGREEMENT 

The City of Guadalupe participates in two joint ventures under joint powers agreements. 

A. Central Coast Water Authority 

The Central Coast Water Authority (CCWA) is a joint powers authority organized in 1991 for the 
purpose of providing the financing, construction, operation and maintenance of certain local (non state 
owned) facilities required to deliver water from the State Water Project to certain water purveyors and 
users in Santa Barbara County. CCWA is composed of eight members, all of which are public agencies. 
The Board of Directors is made up of one representative from each participating entity. Votes on the 
Board are apportioned between the entities based upon each entity’s pro rata share of the water 
provided by the project. 

Each participant is required to pay to CCWA an amount equal to its share of the total cost of “fixed 
project costs” and certain other costs in the proportion established in the Water Supply Agreement. This 
includes the participant’s share of payments to the State Department of Water Resources (DWR) under 
the State Water Supply Contract (including capital, operation, maintenance, power and replacement 
costs of the DWR facilities), debt service on CCWA bonds and all CCWA operating and administrative 
costs. Each participant is required to make payments under its Water Supply Agreement solely from the 
revenues of its water system.  The City’s share of State water payments was $513,045 for the year ended 
June 30, 2022. The City’s allocations of CCWA’s operating expenses and debt service payments for the 
year ended June 30, 2022 were $150,072 and $146,624, respectively. 

Additional information and complete financial statements for the CCWA may be obtained by contacting 
The Central Coast Water Authority at 255 Industrial Way, Buellton, CA 93427. 

B. California Joint Powers Insurance Authority 

The City is a member of the California Joint Powers Insurance Authority (CJPIA). CJPIA is composed of 
118 California public entities and is organized under a joint powers agreement pursuant to California 
Government Code §6500 et seq. The purpose of CJPIA is to arrange and administer programs for the 
pooling of self insured losses, to purchase excess insurance or reinsurance, and to arrange for group 
purchased insurance for property and other coverages. The CJPIA’s pool began covering claims of its 
members in 1978. Each member government has an elected official as its representative on the Board of 
Directors. The Board operates through a nine member Executive Committee. 

54



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

9. JOINT EXERCISE OF POWERS AGREEMENT, Continued 

B. California Joint Powers Insurance Authority, Continued 

Self Insurance Program of CJPIA:  

Each member pays an annual contribution at the beginning of the coverage period. A retrospective 
adjustment is then conducted annually thereafter, for coverage years 2012-13 and prior.  Coverage years 
2013-14 and forward are not subject to routine annual retrospective adjustment.  The total funding 
requirement for primary self-insurance programs is based on an actuarial analysis.  Costs are allocated 
to individual agencies based on payroll and claims history, relative to other members of the risk-sharing 
pool. 

Primary Liability Program:  

Claims are pooled separately between police and general government exposures.  (1) The payroll of 
each member is evaluated relative to the payroll of other members.  A variable credibility factor is 
determined for each member, which establishes the weight applied to payroll and the weight applied to 
losses within the formula.  (2) The first layer of losses includes incurred costs up to $30,000 for each 
occurrence and is evaluated as a percentage of the pool’s total incurred costs within the first layer.  (3) 
The second layer of losses includes incurred costs from $30,000 to $750,000 for each occurrence and is 
evaluated as a percentage of the pool’s total incurred costs within the second layer.  (4) Incurred costs 
from $750,000 to $50 million, are distributed based on the outcome of cost allocation within the first and 
second loss layers. 

The overall coverage limit for each member, including all layers of coverage, is $50 million per 
occurrence.  Subsidence losses have a sub-limit of $40 million per occurrence.  The coverage structure 
includes retained risk that is pooled among members, reinsurance, and excess insurance.  More detailed 
information about the various layers of coverage is available on the following website: 
https://cjpia.org/coverage/risk-sharing-pools/. 

Primary Workers’ Compensation Program:  

Claims are pooled separately between public safety (police and fire) and general government exposures.  
(1) The payroll of each member is evaluated relative to the payroll of other members.  A variable 
credibility factor is determined for each member, which establishes the weight applied to payroll and 
the weight applied to losses within the formula.  (2) The first layer of losses includes incurred costs up 
to $50,000 for each occurrence and is evaluated as a percentage of the pool’s total incurred costs within 
the first layer.  (3) The second layer of losses includes incurred costs from $50,000 to $100,000 for each 
occurrence and is evaluated as a percentage of the pool’s total incurred costs within the second layer.  
(4) Incurred costs from $100,000 to statutory limits are distributed based on the outcome of cost 
allocation within the first and second loss layers. 

For fiscal year 2021-22, CJPIA’s pooled retention is $1 million per occurrence, with reinsurance to 
statutory limits under California Workers’ Compensation Law.  Employer’s Liability losses are pooled 
among members to $1 million.  Coverage from $1 million to $5 million is purchased through 
reinsurance policies, and Employer’s Liability losses from $5 million to $10 million are pooled among 
members. 

55



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

9. JOINT EXERCISE OF POWERS AGREEMENT, Continued 

B. California Joint Powers Insurance Authority, Continued 

Employer’s Liability losses are pooled among members to $2 million. Coverage from $2 million to $5 
million is purchased as part of a reinsurance policy, and Employer’s Liability losses from $5 million to 
$10 million are pooled among members. 

Purchased Insurance under CJPIA: 

Property Insurance: The City participates in the all risk property protection program of CJPIA. This 
insurance protection is underwritten by several insurance companies. City property is currently insured 
according to a schedule of covered property submitted by the City to CJPIA.  There is a $10,000 
deductible per occurrence except for non emergency vehicle insurance which has a $2,500 deductible. 

Adequacy of Protection under CJPIA: 

During the past three fiscal years, none of the above programs of protection experienced settlements or 
judgments that exceeded pooled or insured coverage.  There were also no significant reductions in 
pooled or insured liability coverage in 2021-22. 

Additional information and complete financial statements for the CJPIA may be obtained by contacting 
the California Joint Powers Insurance Authority at 8081 Moody Street, La Palma, CA 90623 

10. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS 

A. Plan Descriptions 

All qualified permanent and probationary employees are eligible to participate in the Public Agency 
Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan (Plan) administered by the California 
Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS). The Plan consists of individual rate plans (benefit 
tiers) within a safety risk pool (police and fire) and a miscellaneous risk pool (all other). Plan assets may 
be used to pay benefits for any employer rate plan of the safety and miscellaneous risk pools. 
Accordingly, rate plans within the safety or miscellaneous pools are not separate plans under GASB 
Statement No. 68. Individual employers may sponsor more than one rate plan in the miscellaneous or 
safety risk pools. The City sponsors four rate plans (two miscellaneous and two safety). Benefit 
provisions under the Plan are established by State statute and City resolution. CalPERS issues publicly 
available reports that include a full description of the pension plan regarding benefit provisions, 
assumptions, and membership information that can be found on the CalPERS website. 

B. Benefits Provided 

CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustments and 
death benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and beneficiaries.  Benefits are based 
on years of credited service, equal to one year of full-time employment.  Members with five years of 
total service are eligible to retire at age 50 with statutorily reduced benefits.  All members are eligible 
for non-duty disability benefits after 10 years of service.  The death benefit is one of the following: 
the Basic Death Benefit, Safety Special Death Benefit, or the Optional Settlement 2W Death Benefit.  
The cost-of-living adjustments for each plan are applied as specified by the Public Employees’ 
Retirement Law. 

56



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

10. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS, Continued 

The Plans’ provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2022, are summarized as follows: 

C. Contributions  

Section 20814(C) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law requires that the employer 
contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis by the actuary and shall be 
effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate. Funding contributions for both Plans are 
determined annually on an actuarial basis as of June 30 by CalPERS. The actuarially determined rate is 
the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, 
with additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The City is required to contribute the 
difference between the actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of employees. 

The City’s contributions to the Plan for the measurement period ended June 30, 2021 were $560,980. 

D. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions 

As of June 30, 2022, the City reported a net pension liability for its proportionate share of the net 
pension liability of the Plan of $1,935,887. 

The City’s net pension liability for the Plan is measured as the proportionate share of the total net 
pension liability of the Plan. The net pension liability of the Plan is measured as of June 30, 2021, and the 
total pension liability for the Plan used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by actuarial 
valuations as of June 30, 2020 rolled forward to June 30, 2021 using standard update procedures. The 
City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability was based on the City’s plan liability and asset-
related information where available, and proportional allocations of individual plan amounts as of the 
valuation date where not available.  

Miscellaneous Safety
PEPRA 

Miscellaneous
PEPRA 
Safety

Hire date
Prior to 

Jan 1, 2013
Prior to 

Jan 1, 2013
On or after 
Jan 1, 2013

On or after
Jan 1, 2013

Benefit formula 2.0% @55 2.0% @55 2.0% @62 2.0% @57
Benefit vesting schedule 5 years service 5 years service 5 years service 5 years service
Benefit payments Monthly for life Monthly for life Monthly for life Monthly for life
Retirement age 55 55 62 57
Monthly benefits, as a % of eligible 
compensation 2% 2% 2% 2%
Required employee contribution rates 7.00% 7.00% 6.75% 10.00%
Required employer contribution rates 10.88% 14.81% 7.59% 11.13%
Unfunded liability payment 170,674$                115,117$                2,012$                    4,529$                    

57



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

10. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS, Continued 

D. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions, Continued 

The City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Plan as of June 30, 2021 and 2020 were 
as follows:

For the year ended June 30, 2022, the City recognized pension expense of $239,184.  

At June 30, 2022, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 

$614,582 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ending June 
30, 2023. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions will be recognized as pension expense (income) as follows: 

Deferred Outflows 
of Resources

Deferred Inflows 
of Resources

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date  $                 614,582  $                            - 
Changes in assumptions                                   -                                - 
Differences between expected and actual experience                      260,788                                - 
Changes in employer's proportion                      243,115                                - 
Differences between the employer's contribution and the 
employer's proportionate share of contributions                                   -                  195,874 
Net differences between projected and actual earnings on 
plan investments                                   -               1,483,187 

Total 1,118,485$              1,679,061$           

58



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

10. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS, Continued 

E. Actuarial Assumptions 

The total pension liabilities in the June 30, 2020 actuarial valuations were determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions: 

(1) The mortality table used was developed based on CalPERS-specific data The table includes 15 years 
of mortality improvements using Society of Actuaries Scale 90% of scale MP 2016. For more details on 
this table, please refer to the December 2017 experience study report (based on CalPERS demographic 
data from 1997 to 2015) that can be found on the CalPERS website. 

F. Discount Rate  

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for the Plan was 7.15%. The projection of 
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be 
made at the current member contribution rates and that contributions from employers will be made at 
statutorily required rates, actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the Plan’s fiduciary net 
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan 
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on plan investments was applied to all 
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. A detailed report testing 
these projections can be obtained from the CalPERS website. 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-
block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net 
of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. 

In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short-term and 
long-term market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows. Using historical 
and forecasted information for all the funds’ asset classes, expected compound (geometric) returns were 
calculated over the short-term (first 10 years) and the long-term (11+ years) using a building-block 
approach. Using the expected nominal returns for both short-term and long-term, the present value of 
benefits was calculated for each fund. The expected rate of return was set by calculating the rounded 
single equivalent expected return that arrived at the same present value of benefits for cash flows as the 
one calculated using both short-term and long-term returns. The expected rate of return was then set 
equal to the single equivalent rate calculated above and adjusted to account for assumed administrative 
expenses.

59



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

10. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS, Continued 

F. Discount Rate, Continued 

The table below reflects the long-term expected real rate of return by asset class. The rate of return was 
calculated using the capital market assumptions applied to determine the discount rate and asset 
allocation. These rates of return are net of administrative expenses. 

G. Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate – 
The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Plan, calculated 
using the discount rate for the Plan, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower or 1-
percentage point higher than the current rate:

H. Payable to the Pension Plan 

At June 30, 2022 the City reported a payable of $0 for outstanding amount of contributions to the 
pension plan required for the year ended June 30, 2022. 

Assumed
asset Real return Real return

Asset Class(1) allocation years 1 - 10(2) years 11+(3)

Global equity 50.00% 4.80% 5.98%
Fixed income 28.00% 1.00% 2.62%
Inflation assets ― 0.77% 1.81%
Private equity 8.00% 6.30% 7.23%
Real assets 13.00% 3.75% 4.93%
Liquidity 1.00% ― -0.92%

Total 100.00%

(1) In the Sytem's CAFR, Fixed income is included in Global debt securities;
Liquidity is included in Short-term investments; 
Inflaction assets are included in both Global equity securities and Global debt securities

(2) An expected inflation of 2.00% used for this period.
(3) An expected inflation of 2.92% used for this period.

60



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

10. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS, Continued 

I. Deferred Compensation Plan 

In addition to the CalPERS pension plan, the City also offers a deferred compensation 457 plan (457 
Plan). Per GASB Statement 97, the 457 Plan is a defined contribution pension plan. It is held in trust at 
Empower Retirement or CalPERS which administer the 457 Plan. Participation in the plan is open to all 
employees and employees can chose between the two trust administrators. The City contributes a 
maximum amount, as shown in the table below, that depends on health insurance costs on an 
individual employee basis. The difference between the maximum and the actual health insurance costs 
for an employee is contributed to the 457 Plan. Employees who have health insurance coverage external 
to the City’s policies have the maximum amount contributed to the 457 Plan. The maximums for each 
bargaining unit are as follows: 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the City contributed $44,599 to the 457 Plan and had payables to 
the 457 Plan of $9,835 as of June 30, 2022 of which $2,629 were City contributions, and $7,206 were 
employee contributions. 

11. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

A. Plan Description 

The City’s other post-employment benefits (OPEB) plan, an agent multiple-employer defined benefit 
plan, is for retiree health benefits and is administrated by the California Public Employees Retirement 
System (PERS) Health Benefit Program. The City entered the PERS medical insurance program in 1990 
under the Public Employees Medical and Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA). The required employer 
contribution was $143-149 per month for each retiree, spouse or surviving spouse, and dependent 
during the fiscal year. The City provides post-employment health care insurance to all employees who 
retire from the City on or after attaining age 50 with at least 5 years of PERS credited service. For 
employees first covered under PERS on or after January 1, 2013, the eligibility requirements are 
attaining age 52 and 5 years of PERS credited service. Benefits are paid for the lifetime of the retiree, 
spouse or surviving spouse, and dependents up to the age of 65. The City's OPEB Plan does not issue a 
publicly available financial report. 

B. Employees Covered 

The following current and former employees were covered by the benefit terms under the OPEB plan as 
of the July 1, 2020 actuarial valuation: 

Bargining Unit June 30, 2022
Service Employee's International Union 700$                         
Police Officer's Assoc. 975
International Assoc. of Fire Fighters 500

Fiscal year ended

61



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

11. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS, Continued 

C. Contributions 

The City currently finances benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis and sets its maximum monthly 
contribution rates for health insurance on behalf of active employees according to the PEMHCA 
statutory minimum. The minimum was $143 per month for calendar year 2021 and $149 per month for 
calendar year 2022. This amount is indexed to the rate of medical inflation and increased each year 
accordingly. The City also pays 0.32% of premiums as an administrative fee on behalf of employees and 
retirees. For the measurement period June 30, 2021 to June 30, 2022, the City contributed $6,561 in 
benefit payments for retirees. 

D. Total OPEB Liability 

The City’s total OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2022 and was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of July 1, 2020. Standard actuarial update procedures were used to project/discount from 
the valuation to measurement dates. The total OPEB liability was determined using the following 
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified: 

The discount rate used the measure the total OPEB liability was 3.69%, which reflects the municipal 
bond 20-year high grade index rate, and assumes the net fiduciary position of the plan remains at $0. 

62



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

11. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS, Continued 

E. Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 

F. Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s net OPEB liability 
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (2.69 percent) or 1-
percentage point higher (4.69 percent) than the current discount rate: 

G. Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rate 

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability 
would be if it were calculated using a healthcare cost trend rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-
percentage point higher than the current healthcare cost trend rate: 

Total OPEB
Liability

Balance at June 30, 2021
(Measurement date 06/30/2021)
Changes in the year:
Service cost                   62,656 
Interest                   10,641 
Changes of benefit terms                              - 
Difference between expected and actual experience                              - 
Changes of assumptions               (157,976)
Benefit payments                   (6,561)
Net changes                 (91,240)

Balance at June 30, 2022
(Measurement date 06/30/2022)

Increase 
(Decrease)

 $            494,819 

 $            403,579 

63



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

11. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS, Continued 

H. OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources 

At June 30, 2022, the City’s deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources to OPEB 
from the following sources were as follows:  

Amounts reported as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources will be recognized in OPEB 
expense (income) as follows: 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the City recognized OPEB expense of $70,795. 

12. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 

A. Litigation 

The City is presently involved in certain matters of litigation that have arisen in the normal course of 
conducting City business. City management believes, based upon consultation with the City Attorney, 
that these cases, in the aggregate, are not expected to result in a material adverse financial impact on the 
City. Additionally, City management believes that the City’s insurance programs are sufficient to cover 
any potential losses should an unfavorable outcome materialize. 

B. Grant Commitments 

The City had received state and federal funds for specific purposes that are subject to review and audit 
by the grantor agencies. Although such audits could generate expenditure disallowances under terms of 
the grants, it is believed that any required reimbursements will not be material. 

13. SUCCESSOR AGENCY TRUST FOR ASSETS OF THE FORMER REDVELOPMENT AGENCY 

On December 29, 2011, the California Supreme Court upheld Assembly Bill 1X 26 (the “Bill”) that 
provides for the dissolution of all redevelopment agencies in the State of California. This action 
impacted the reporting entity of the City of Guadalupe that previously had reported the City’s 
Redevelopment Agency within the reporting entity as a blended component unit.  

64



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

13. SUCCESSOR AGENCY TRUST FOR ASSETS OF THE FORMER REDVELOPMENT AGENCY, 
Continued 

The Bill provided that upon dissolution of a redevelopment agency, either the City or another unit of 
local government will agree to serve as the “successor agency” to hold the assets until they are 
distributed to other units of state and local government. On January 9, 2012, the City Council elected to 
become the Successor Agency for the former Redevelopment agency in accordance with the Bill as part 
of City Resolution No. 2 (2012).   

After enactment of the law, which occurred on June 28, 2011, redevelopment agencies in the State of 
California were prohibited from entering into new projects, obligations or commitments. Subject to the 
control of a newly established oversight board, remaining assets could only be used to pay enforceable 
obligations in existence at the date of dissolution (including the completion of any unfinished projects 
that were subject to legally enforceable contractual commitments). 

In future fiscal years, successor agencies will only be allocated revenue in the amount that is necessary 
to pay the estimated annual installment payments on enforceable obligations of the former 
redevelopment agency until all enforceable obligations of the prior redevelopment agency have been 
paid in full and all assets have been liquidated. 

The Bill directs the State Controller of the State of California to review the propriety of any transfers of 
assets between redevelopment agencies and other public bodies that occurred after January 1, 2011. If 
the public body that received such transfers is not contractually committed to a third party for the 
expenditure of encumbrance of those assets, the State Controller is required to order the available assets 
to be transferred to the public body designated as the successor agency of the Bill. 

Management believes, in consultation with legal counsel, that the obligations of the former 
redevelopment agency due to the City are valid enforceable obligations payable by the successor agency 
trust under the requirements of the Bill. The City’s position on this issue is not a position of settled law 
and there is a considerable legal uncertainty regarding this issue. It is reasonably possible that a legal 
determination may be made at a later date by an appropriate judicial authority that would resolve this 
issue unfavorably to the City. 

In accordance with the timeline set forth in the Bill (as modified by the California Supreme Court on 
December 29, 2011) all redevelopment agencies in the State of California were dissolved and ceased to 
operate as a legal entity as of February 1, 2012. After the date of dissolution, the assets and activities of 
the dissolved redevelopment agency were transferred to and are reported in a fiduciary fund (private‐
purpose trust fund, the Trust Fund) in the financial statements of the City. 

A. Cash and Investments 

The City maintained investments with the State of California Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) for 
all City activities, including the Trust Fund. The Trust had $784,416 in cash and investments as of June 
30, 2022, that was held in LAIF. The City manages the Trust Fund’s cash and investments in a consistent 
manner with the rest of its cash and investment pool. Refer to Note 2 for additional information 
regarding LAIF. 

65



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

13. SUCCESSOR AGENCY TRUST FOR ASSETS OF THE FORMER REDVELOPMENT AGENCY, 
Continued 

B. Cash with Fiscal Agent 

The Trust Fund had $309,008 in cash and investments as of June 30, 2022, held by fiscal agents pledged 
for the payment or security of certain bonds. The California Government code provides that these 
monies, in the absence of specific statutory provisions governing the issuance of bonds, certificates, or 
leases, may be invested in accordance with the ordinance, resolutions, or indentures specifying the 
types of investments its fiscal agents may make. These ordinances, resolutions, and indentures are 
generally more restrictive than the Trust’s general investment policy. In no instance have additional 
types of investments, not permitted by the Trust’s general investment policy, been authorized. 

C. Property Held for Resale 

At June 30, 2022, the carrying value of property held for resale was as follows: 

D. Capital Assets 

For the year ended June 30, 2022, capital assets activity was as follows: 

E. Long-Term Liabilities 

For the year ended June 30, 2022, long term liabilities activity was as follows: 

66



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

13. SUCCESSOR AGENCY TRUST FOR ASSETS OF THE FORMER REDVELOPMENT AGENCY, 
Continued 

E. Long-Term Liabilities, Continued 

Tax Allocation Bonds 

On April 3, 2003, the former redevelopment agency issued $6,455,000 of tax allocation bonds for a 
refunding of Series 1997 Tax Allocation Bonds. The bonds were scheduled to mature through August 1, 
2035, with interest rates from 2.0 to 5.125%. 

On November 1, 2017, the Successor Agency to the Guadalupe Community Redevelopment Agency 
issued $4,900,000 of tax allocation bonds (Bonds) to refund the 2003 series bonds. The refunding was 
undertaken to reduce total future debt service payments. The refunding resulted in $1,326,400 gross 
debt service (principal and interest) savings over 18 years, an economic gain of $147,832, and an 
accounting deferred loss on refunding of $92,886.  

The scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds when due is guaranteed under an 
insurance policy issued concurrently with the Bonds. The Bonds mature through August 1, 2035, with 
interest rates from 1.5% to 3.5%. Principal on the bonds is due annually on August 1 of each year, and 
interest on the Bonds is due semiannually on February 1 and August 1 of each year. At June 30, 2022, 
the total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds was $4,996,423. The outstanding 
principal balance net of bond discounts was $3,903,028. 

For the year ended June 30, 2022, the aggregate maturities of the tax allocation bonds were as follows: 

14. DEFICIT FUND BALANCES/NET POSITION 

Major Funds 

As of June 30, 2022, a deficit fund balance of $558,845 exists for the Community Development Fund. 
This was a result of timing differences between invoices paid by the Community Development Fund 
and the related grant reimbursements received from the State, in addition to continuing the LeRoy Park 
project without additional funding. 

67



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

14. DEFICIT FUND BALANCES/NET POSITION, CONTINUED  

Non-major Funds 

The Central Park Fund and Library Fund had deficit fund balances of $5,030 and $29,171, respectively, 
as of June 30, 2022. 

15. GOING CONCERN 

The City continues to have more expenditures than revenues in its General Fund. In order to continue 
operations, in prior years the General Fund borrowed from other funds. These borrowings still need to 
be repaid. There are doubts about the General Fund’s ability to continue to repay these interfund loans 
in their entirety if economic activity declines. Below is how management intends to address those 
issues:  

The City is experiencing an increase in development related to the Pasadera residential development 
and other developments that currently have commenced including the Escalante Meadows housing 
project.  There is also an increase in Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU’s). These new developments will 
bring in higher property tax and increased building development revenue for the City.  In addition, the 
new Measure N that gained voter approval in November 2020 has brought additional sales tax revenue 
for the City in perpetuity that started in fiscal year 2022-2023 and is expected to increase tax revenue as 
the city expands its commerce base. The new Cannabis Program that included an adopted ordinance, 
‘spring boarded’ the cannabis development entitlement process to build out two (2) cannabis retail 
storefronts and one (1) manufacturing processing cannabis operation that will bring in much needed 
community benefit fee revenue on an annual basis and create an estimate 100 new jobs, several of 
which, are high paying. Operations are expected to open its doors towards the end of 2023 and the 
beginning of 2024.  Also, fortunately, the City received the American Rescue Plan funds that offset 
revenue losses related to the Pandemic in fiscal years and will be utilized through June 2024.  The 
General Fund’s priority is to eliminate future borrowing from other funds, payoff current interfund 
loans and be economically self-sufficient by applying cost-cutting measures to continue to build 
reserves (from 7% to 15%). Interfund loan payment schedules will be reviewed annually, and, if 
possible, revised to decrease balances at a faster rate. 

During the fiscal year 2022-2023 budget and goal setting sessions, the City Council set the following 
eight (8) goals to help bolster community and economic development that will help create and increase 
a long-term sustainable revenue stream now and into the future. The City anticipates another goal 
setting session in a year or so. 

1. Develop and maintain a balanced budget for FY 22-23 Budget providing priority municipal services 
and securing the City’s financial future with adequate reserve funds. 

-  Identify and allocate funds to be used to meet the General Fund Reserve Goal of 15% 
-  Implement a monitoring program to ensure contracted cannabis Commitments are met. 
-  Review revenue generation options for General Fund including possible Transient Occupancy Tax 
increase. 
-  Provide staffing and complete implementation of new finance software program. 
-  Develop and provide for Council review a quarterly report on City finances and goal progress. 

68



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

15.  GOING CONCERN, CONTINUED 

1a.  Continue to develop and grow the Recreation Department by providing sustainable programs and 
facilities for the Community. 

- Adequately fund and allocate staff for Recreation and Parks Department including a permanent 
recreation manager and maintenance positions 

- Develop a facilities master plan for current park improvement and maintenance of existing parks 
and those in the pipeline 

- Increase recreational programming for use of facilities utilizing community priorities and 
coordinating with recreation/sports entities 

-
1b.  Ensure Public Safety staffing and facilities are sufficient to maintain the delivery of quality public 
safety services to the community. 

- Complete the implementation of a staffing plan for both Fire and Police including the addition of a 
Battalion Chief in the Fire Department as budget permits across the board 

-  Continue to update facilities and equipment as budget permits 

1c.  Ensure that Public Facilities and Infrastructure (streets, water, wastewater) are capable of Meeting 
current and future needs of the City 

- Continue to maintain and update facility master plans including streets wastewater, water, and 
Capital Improvement Plan. 

-  Prioritize City facilities in urgent need of City repair and identify costs and timing for all municipal 
facilities including the library 
-  Seek grant funding to assist with the above 
-  Develop and implement an adequate staffing plan for the Department of Public Works 

1d.  Ensure that American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) funds are maximized to ensure that 
initially funded staffing and services are met and where feasible converted to Genera Support 

- Revisit ARRA line items to ensure that the allocation of funds to needed positions and services is 
justifiable and achieves goals set by City Council. 

-  On a quarterly basis, revisit the items supported by ARRA in comparison to quarterly expenses and 
revenues for the entire city budget. 
- Require justification of the remaining ARRA budget items requested to ensure allocation amount 
and intent are realized 

2.  Create and implement economic development strategies for the city of Guadalupe that will promote 
the development and maintenance of a strong business sector including business retention, attraction, 
tourism marketing, and revenue generation  

- Work cooperatively with the Guadalupe Business Association to identify a strategy for business 
retention and attraction. 
- Identify and apply for grant funding for the creation and 
-  Staffing of a business support program 

69



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

15. GOING CONCERN, CONTINUED 

3. Support the efforts to attract businesses to Pasadera Commercial Area to help, create employment 
opportunities, provide local services identified by Residents and generate tax revenue.          

- Develop a team comprised of a council member, planning staff, City Administrator, and consultants 
to support project proponents in their efforts to attract potential businesses to the commercial Area. 
-  Advocate for the completion of the necessary infrastructure to support the development of the 
commercial area using communication between CalTrans, Santa Barbara County Association of 
Governments (SBCAG), the City’s Development Team, and DJ Farms. 

4.  Coordinate with Santa Barbara County Parks Master Plan to acquire property adjacent or near 
Guadalupe for Camping and recreational facilities.                         

- Establish a core team to include city council representation, city staff, and existing business groups, 
who will collaborate with Santa Barbara County Parks Department in developing the Santa Barbara 
County Park Master plan. 
- City representatives will include the City Administrator, Public Works Department, Recreation 
Department, city council representative, and a representative of the business community. 

5. Develop and implement a communication strategy focused on improving flow of information 
between constituents, city staff and Council members.            

- Cultivate a relationship with community-based organizations to disseminate information 
- Develop and implement social media policies for the City 
-  Increase the usage of Zoom to broadcast City Council meetings 

70



REQUIRED 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

71



72



City of Guadalupe 
Required Supplementary Information 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

1. BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING

A. Budgetary Control and Budgetary Accounting

Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America for all governmental funds. After adoption of the final budget, transfers of
appropriations within a General Fund department, or within other funds, can be made by the City
Administrator. Budget modifications between funds and increases or decreases to a fund’s overall
budget, must be approved by the City Council.

Budgetary control is enhanced by integrating the budget into the general ledger accounts. Encumbrance
accounting is employed (e.g., purchase orders) to avoid expenditures over budget. Encumbrances
outstanding at fiscal year end are automatically re budgeted in the following fiscal year.

The following are the budget comparison schedules for all major Special Revenue Governmental Funds
and the General Fund.

73



Budgetary Comparison Schedule - General Fund

Variance with
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Taxes 3,596,345$     3,596,345$     3,789,586$     193,241$        
Licenses and permits 838,670 915,842 875,813 (40,029)
Fines and penalties 5,300 5,300 6,375 1,075
Revenues from other agencies 509,358 658,458 688,953 30,495
Charges for current services 191,394 623,058 449,303 (173,755)
Interest 94,600 94,600 48,964 (45,636)
Other revenues 121,500 121,500 141,561 20,061

Total revenues 5,357,167 6,015,103 6,000,555 (14,548)

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
General Government 1,330,625        1,401,714        1,390,226        11,488
Public Safety 3,583,000        4,082,346        4,090,986        (8,640)
Leisure, cultural and social services 212,530   383,686   369,691   13,995
Community development 423,570   609,783   497,624   112,159

Debt service:
Principal 119,000 119,000 - 119,000
Interest and fiscal charges 18,818 2,010 2,010 -

Total expenditures 5,687,543 6,598,539 6,350,537 248,002

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES (330,376)  (583,436)  (349,982)  233,454

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in 685,400 1,051,106 973,105 (78,001)
Transfers out (51,200) (315,938) (212,242) 103,696

Total other financing sources (uses) 634,200 735,168 760,863 25,695

Net change in fund balances 303,824 151,732 410,881 259,149

FUND BALANCES:

Beginning of year 370,356 370,356 370,356 -

End of year 674,180$        522,088$        781,237$        259,149$        

City of Guadalupe

For the year ended June 30, 2022

Budgeted Amounts

74



Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Community Development

Variance with
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Revenues from other agencies 2,687,952$      2,687,952$      2,567,029$      (120,923)$        
Interest 3,500 3,500 (3,086) (6,586)
Other revenues - - 276,449 276,449

Total revenues 2,691,452 2,691,452 2,840,392 148,940

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Leisure, cultural and social services 260,000    280,000    191,360    88,640

Total expenditures 260,000 280,000 191,360 88,640

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 2,431,452 2,411,452 2,649,032 237,580

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in - 20,000 53,117 33,117
Transfers out (2,000,000) (2,000,000) (2,420,091) (420,091)

Total other financing sources (uses) (2,000,000) (1,980,000) (2,366,974) (386,974)

Net change in fund balances 431,452 431,452 282,058 (149,394)

FUND BALANCES:

Beginning of year (840,903) (840,903) (840,903) -

End of year (409,451)$        (409,451)$        (558,845)$        (149,394)$        

City of Guadalupe

For the year ended June 30, 2022

Budgeted Amounts

75



Budgetary Comparison Schedule - ARPA

Variance with
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:

Revenues from other agencies -$          -$ 352,927$         352,927$         

Total revenues - - 352,927 352,927

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES - - 352,927 352,927

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers out - - (352,927) (352,927)

Total other financing sources (uses) - - (352,927) (352,927)

Net change in fund balances - - - -

FUND BALANCES:

Beginning of year - - - -

End of year -$          -$ -$ -$            

City of Guadalupe

For the year ended June 30, 2022

Budgeted Amounts

76



This page intentionally left blank

77



City of Guadalupe 
Required Supplementary Information 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

2. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS

A. Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability – Last 10 Years*

B. Schedule of Plan Contributions – Last 10 Years*

Fiscal year 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Measurement date 6/30/2021 6/30/2020 6/30/2019 6/30/2018 6/30/2017

Proportion of the net pension liability 0.03579% 0.03476% 0.03306% 0.03166% 0.03091%

Proportionate share of the net 
pension liability 1,935,887$ 3,782,088$ 3,387,991$ 3,050,995$ 3,065,323$ 

Covered payroll 2,926,608$  2,450,043$  2,025,580$  2,153,332$  1,925,534$  

Proportionate Share of the net pension 
liability as percentage of covered payroll 66.15% 154.37% 167.26% 141.69% 159.19%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage
of the total pension liability 88.29% 75.10% 75.26% 75.26% 73.31%

(continued on next page)

Notes to Schedule
*Fiscal year 2015 was the 1st year of implementation, therefore only eight years are shown.
The CalPERS discount rate was increased from 7.5% to 7.65% in fiscal year 2016, and then decreased from 7.65% to 7.15% in fiscal year 2018.
The CalPERS mortality assumptions were adjusted in fiscal year 2019.

78



City of Guadalupe 
Required Supplementary Information 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

2. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS, CONTINUED

A. Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability – Last 10 Years, continued*

B. Schedule of Plan Contributions – Last 10 Years, Continued*

2017 2016 2015

6/30/2016 6/30/2015 6/30/2014

0.02989% 0.02666% 0.0312%

2,586,229$ 1,830,129$ 1,939,137$ 

1,572,208$  1,479,094$  1,548,925$  

164.50% 123.73% 125.19%

74.06% 78.40% 79.82%

2017 2016 2015

305,064$    251,172$    211,025$     

(305,064)  (251,172)   (211,025)

-$  -$  -$   

1,925,534$ 1,572,208$ 1,479,094$ 

15.84% 15.98% 14.27%

79



City of Guadalupe 
Required Supplementary Information 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

2. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS, CONTINUED

C. Actuarial Methods and Assumptions used for Pension Actuarially Determined Contributions

Fiscal Year 2022 2021 2020

6/30/2019 6/30/2018 6/30/2017

Actuarial cost method: Entry Age Entry Age Entry Age

Amortization method: (1) (1) (1)
Assets valuation method: Market Value Market Value Market Value

Inflation: 2.50% 2.50% 2.63%

Salary increases: (2) (2) (2)

Investment rate of return: 7.00% 7.00% 7.25%

Retirement age: (3) (3) (3)

Mortality: (4) (4) (4)

Fiscal Year 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

6/30/2016 6/30/2015 6/30/2014 6/30/2013 6/30/2012

Actuarial cost method: Entry Age Entry Age Entry Age Entry Age Entry Age

Amortization method: (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)
Assets valuation method: Market Value Market Value Market Value Market Value 15 Year 

Smoothed 
Market 
Method

Inflation: 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75%

Salary increases: (2) (2) (2) (2) (2)

Investment rate of return: 7.375% 7.50% 7.50% 7.50% 7.50%

Retirement age: (3) (3) (3) (3) (3)

Mortality: (4) (4) (4) (4) (4)

(1) Level percentage of payroll, closed
(2) Depending on age, service, and type of employment
(3) 50 for all plans, with the exception of 52 for Miscellaneous PEPRA 2%@62
(4)

Valuation date (for contractually 
required contribution):

Mortality assumptions are based on mortality rates resulting from the most 
recent CalPERS Experience Study adopted by the CalPERS Board.

Valuation date (for contractually 
required contribution):

80



City of Guadalupe 
Required Supplementary Information 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

3. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB)

A. Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

81



This page intentionally left blank

82



83



City of Guadalupe
Combining Balance Sheet
Other Governmental Funds
June 30, 2022

Guadalupe
Local Public Park Lighting and Public

Transportation Library Facilities Development Assessment Safety
ASSETS

Cash and investments 400,675$        39,089$       28,535$       40,840$        947,216$      175,111$     
Accounts receivable 16,233    73        33        60         1,517    6,903
Prepaid items -              -           -           -            1,916    -
Interfund loans receivable -              -           -           744,736        192,500        -

Total assets 416,908$        39,162$       28,568$       785,636$      1,143,149$   182,014$     
LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS

OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:

Accounts payable -              -           -           -            9,895    7,876
Accrued wages and benefits -              -           -           -            -            -
Interfund loans payable 2,919      68,333         -           -            -            -

Total liabilities 2,919      68,333         -           -            9,895    7,876
Deferred inflows of resources:

Unavailable revenue -              -           -           -            - 3,876

Total deferred inflows of 
resources -              -           -           -            - 3,876

Fund Balances:
Nonspendable:

Prepaid items -          -       -       -        1,916        -
Restricted for:

Street maintenance 413,989       -       -       -        -        -
Other capital projects -          -       -       -        -        -
Public safety -          -       -       -        - 170,262
Utility infrastructure -          -       28,568     785,636    -        -
Debt service -          -       -       -        -        -
Lighting and landscape -          -       -       -        1,131,338 -

Committed to:
Capital projects -          -       -       -        -        -

Unassigned - (29,171) -       -        -        -
Total fund balances 413,989  (29,171)        28,568         785,636        1,133,254     170,262

Total liabilities
and fund balances 416,908$        39,162$       28,568$       785,636$      1,143,149$   182,014$     

Special Revenue

84



Total Other
Central Capital Traffic Sewer Bond Governmental

Park Measure A Gas Tax Facilities City Hall Mitigation Debt Service Funds

-$           691,165$     346,014$     521,244$     35,234$       121,518$     31,725$       3,378,366
5,030   126,794       16,660         884      57        201      52        174,497

- 20,570 -           -           -           -           - 22,486
- - -           68,333         -           -           -           1,005,569

5,030$         838,529$     362,674$     590,461$     35,291$       121,719$     31,777$       4,580,918$      

- 5,308 - 6,770 -           -           -           29,849
- 9,728 - - -           -           - 9,728

5,030   13,863 12,373         -           -           1,246   - 103,764
5,030   28,899         12,373         6,770   - 1,246 - 143,341

5,030   65,874         -           -           -           -           - 74,780

5,030   65,874         -           -           -           -           - 74,780

- 20,570 -       -       -       -       - 22,486

- 723,186 350,301   -       -       -       -       1,487,476
- - -       583,691   35,291     -       -       618,982
- - -       -       -       -       -       170,262
- - -       -       -       -       -       814,204
- - -       -       -       -       31,777     31,777
- - -       -       -       -       -       1,131,338

-       -       -       -       - 120,473 - 120,473
(5,030)      -       -       -       -       -       -       (34,201)
(5,030)  743,756       350,301       583,691       35,291         120,473       31,777         4,362,797

5,030$         838,529$     362,674$     590,461$     35,291$       121,719$     31,777$       4,580,918$      

Capital ProjectsSpecial Revenue

85



City of Guadalupe
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Other Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2022

Guadalupe
Local Public Park Lighting and Public

Transportation Library Facilities Development Assessment Safety

REVENUES:

Taxes -$          -$ -$ -$ 285,559$     -$       
Licenses and permits - 15,000 - - - -
Revenues from other agencies 176,383 - - - - 41,909
Charges for current services - - 12,911 15,734 - -
Interest (2,798) (307) (132) (363) (8,112) (1,434)
Other revenues - - - 50,000 - -

Total revenues 173,585 14,693 12,779 65,371 277,447 40,475

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

Public Safety -              -           -           -            - 54,830
Transportation -              -           -           -            - -
Leisure, cultural and social 
services - 15,000 -           -            -            -
Community development - - -           -            88,205  -

Capital outlay - - - - - 882

Total expenditures - 15,000 - - 88,205 55,712

REVENUES OVER 
(UNDER) EXPENDITURES 173,585 (307) 12,779 65,371 189,242 (15,237)

OTHER FINANCING 
SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in - 5,000 - 25,000 2,787 -
Transfers out (108,580) - - (75,000) (11,274) -

Total other financing 
sources (uses) (108,580)         5,000   - (50,000) (8,487)   -

Net change in fund 
balances 65,005    4,693   12,779         15,371  180,755        (15,237)

FUND BALANCES:

Beginning of year 348,984 (33,864) 15,789 770,265 952,499 185,499

End of year 413,989$       (29,171)$     28,568$      785,636$     1,133,254$  170,262$    

Special Revenue

86



Total Other
Central Capital Traffic Sewer Bond Governmental

Park Measure A Gas Tax Facilities City Hall Mitigation Debt Service Funds

-$          663,917$     198,592$     -$ -$ -$ 9$       1,148,077$     
- - - - 6,000 23,477 - 44,477
- 38,693 108,678 - - - - 365,663
- - - - - - - 28,645
- (5,223) (2,989) (4,282) (243) (936) (235) (27,054)
- - - - - - - 50,000

- 697,387 304,281 (4,282) 5,757 22,541 (226) 1,609,808

-            -            -            -            -            -            -            54,830
- 323,924 3,077    -            -            -            -            327,001

5,030    -            -            -            -            -            -            20,030
-            -            -            -            -            -            -            88,205
- - - 115,472 - - - 116,354

5,030 323,924 3,077 115,472 - - - 606,420

(5,030) 373,463 301,204 (119,754) 5,757 22,541 (226) 1,003,388

- 442 - 20,220 - - - 53,449
- (631,906) (439,565) (34,189) - (43,934) - (1,344,448)

- (631,464) (439,565)       (13,969)         - (43,934) - (1,290,999)

(5,030)   (258,001)       (138,361)       (133,723)       5,757    (21,393)         (226) (287,611)

- 1,001,757 488,662 717,414 29,534 141,866 32,003 4,650,408

(5,030)$        743,756$     350,301$     583,691$     35,291$       120,473$     31,777$       4,362,797$     

Capital ProjectsSpecial Revenue

87



Attachment 3 

City of Guadalupe 

Single Audit Reports
Fiscal Year July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2022



Guadalupe, California 

Single Audit Reports 

For the year ended June 30, 2022



City of Guadalupe 
Single Audit Reports 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

Table of Contents 

Page 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements  
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards ........................................................... 1 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and on Internal 
Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance and on the Schedule of 
Expenditures of Federal Awards ................................................................................................................... 3 

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ..................................................................................................... 6 

Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ............................................................................... 7 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs ....................................................................................................... 8 



REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE 
AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
of the City of Guadalupe 

Guadalupe, California 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information 
of the City of Guadalupe, California (City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements and 
have issued our report thereon dated June 22, 2023. 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in 
the preceding paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might 
be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. However, as described in the accompanying 
schedule of findings and responses, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we 
consider to be material weaknesses and significant deficiencies.  

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis. We consider the deficiency described in the accompanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs as item 2022-001 to be a material weakness. 

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. We consider the deficiencies described in the accompanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs as items 2022-002, 2022-003, 2022-004, and 2022-005, to be significant deficiencies.  



To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
of the City of Guadalupe 

Guadalupe, California 
Page 2 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests 
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards. 

City of Guadalupe’s Response to Findings 

City’s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying schedule of findings 
and questioned costs. The City’s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit 
of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this 
communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Badawi & Associates, CPAs 
Berkeley, California 
June 22, 2023 

2



REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND REPORT ON 
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

AND ON THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
of the City of Guadalupe 

Guadalupe, California 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited the City of Guadalupe, California (City)’s compliance with the types of compliance 
requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on 
each of the City’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2022. The City’s major federal 
programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of 
findings and questioned costs. 

In our opinion, the City, complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the 
year ended June 30, 2022. 

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. 
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the 
Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
section of our report. 

We are required to be independent of the City and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major 
federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City’s compliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above. 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of 
laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the City’s 
federal programs.. 

3



To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
of the City of Guadalupe 

Guadalupe, California 
Page 2 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion 
on the City’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not 
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect 
material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from 
fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or 
in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance 
about the City’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing 
Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the City’s compliance with the compliance
requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances.

• Obtain an understanding of the City’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility 
that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be 
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type 
of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal 
control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

4



To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
of the City of Guadalupe 

Guadalupe, California 
Page 3 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify 
all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies. Given these limitations, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that have not been 
identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City, as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
City’s basic financial statements. We issued our report thereon dated June 22, 2023, which contained 
unmodified opinions on those financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of 
forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the basic financial statements. 
The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional 
analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a required part of the basic financial 
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. 
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements 
or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial 
statements as a whole. 

Badawi & Associates, CPAs 
Berkeley, California 
June 22, 2023 

5



City of Guadalupe
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
For the year ended June 30, 2022

Assistance
Listing Pass-through Program Subrecipient

Grantor Agency and Grant Title Number Number Expenditures Payment

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development:
Passed through State of California

Community Development Block Grants/State's program 
and Non-Entitlement Grants in Hawaii 14.228 17CDBG12099 1,921,427$      12,686$           

Community Development Block Grants/State's program 
and Non-Entitlement Grants in Hawaii 14.228 20-CDBG-12089 11,262             11,262

COVID19 - Community Development Block Grants/State's 
program and Non-Entitlement Grants in Hawaii 14.228 20CDBGCV100085 45,878             37,038

COVID19 - Community Development Block Grants/State's 
program and Non-Entitlement Grants in Hawaii 14.228 20-CDBG-CV2-3-00015 70,978             38,833

Subtotal Community Development Block Grants 2,049,545        99,819

Total U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 2,049,545        99,819

U.S. Department of Transportation:
Formula Grants for Rural Areas and Tribal Transit Program
Passed through State of California 20.509 64B021‐01692 69,557             -

Total U.S. Department of Transportation 69,557             -

U.S. Department of the Treasury:
Direct

COVID19 - State and Local Fiscal Recovery Fund 21.027 n/a 341,327           -

Total U.S. Department of the Treasury 341,327           -

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards 2,460,429$     99,819$          

See accompanying Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards. 6



City of Guadalupe
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

A. Reporting Entity

The financial reporting entity consists of (a) the primary government, City of Guadalupe, California
(City), (b) organizations for which the primary government is financially accountable, and (c) other
organizations for which the primary government is not accountable, but for which the nature and
significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that exclusion would cause the
reporting entity's financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. The component unit discussed
below is included in the reporting entity because of its operational or financial relationships with the
City.

Guadalupe Public Financing Authority 

Component units are legally separate organizations for which the elected officials of the primary 
government are financially accountable.  In addition, component units can be other organizations for 
which the primary government’s exclusion would cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to be 
misleading or incomplete. 

Separate financial statements for the Guadalupe Financing Authority are not prepared. There are 
currently no reportable financial transactions of the Authority. 

B. Basis of Accounting

Funds received under the various grant programs have been recorded within the general, special
revenue, and capital projects funds of the City.  The City utilizes the modified accrual basis of
accounting for the general, special revenue, and capital projects funds.  Expenditures of federal awards
reported on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (Schedule) are recognized when incurred.

C. Relationship of Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards to Financial Statements

The accompanying Schedule presents the activity of all federal financial assistance programs of the City.
Federal financial assistance received directly from federal agencies as well as federal financial assistance
passed through the State of California is included in the Schedule.

The Schedule was prepared only from the accounts of various grant programs and, therefore, does not
present the financial position or results of operations of the City.

D. Pass-Through Entities’ Identifying Number

When federal awards were received from a pass-through entity, the Schedule shows, if available, the
identifying number assigned by the pass-through entity. When no identifying number is shown, the
City determined that no identifying number is assigned for the program or the City was unable to
obtain an identifying number from the pass-through entity.

E. Indirect Costs

The City did not elect to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate.

7



City of Guadalupe 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results 

Financial Statements 

Types of auditors’ report issued on whether financial statements  
audited were prepared in accordance with GAAP:  Unmodified 

Internal control over financial reporting: 

Material weakness(es) identified?  Yes 

Significant deficiency(ies) identified?  Yes 

Any noncompliance material to the financial statements noted No 

Federal Awards 

Internal control over major programs: 

Material weakness(es) identified?  No 

Significant deficiency(ies) identified?  None noted 

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major programs Unmodified 

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in 
accordance with section 200.516(a)  No 

Identification of major programs: 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B program $750,000 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee under  
section 200.520? No 

8



City of Guadalupe 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, Continued 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

Section II – Current Year Findings 

A. Financial Statement Audit

2022-001 – Insufficient Fund Balance in the General Fund and the Ability of the City to Continue as 
a Going Concern (Material Weakness) 

Criteria: 
General-purpose local governments, regardless of size, at a minimum should maintain an unrestricted 
budgetary fund balance in the general fund no less than 2 months of regular general fund operating 
revenues or regular general fund operating expenditures. 

Condition: 
The General Fund did not maintain a sufficient or adequate fund balance level to ensure continuity of 
operations as of June 30, 2022. The General Fund finished the year with a fund balance of $781,237 
compared to a fund balance of $370,356 in the prior fiscal year. This balance represents 48 days of 
operating revenues and 45 days of operating expenditures. The fund balance in spendable form is 
$352,224. As of June 30, 2022 the General Fund owed internally to the Lighting and Assessment Fund 
and the Water Fund the amounts of $192,500 and $297,496, respectively. These interfund loans were 
made so that the General Fund could sustain its basic operations. 

The aforementioned conditions have raised doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, as described further in Note 15 of the Basic Financial Statements. 

Cause: 
The City has either overspent its budget in the past or the budget was not balanced which led to 
overspending and the insufficient fund balance situation. 

Effect: 
Insufficient fund balances and decrease in revenues in the past have created a budget shortfall that 
requires continued cost cutting measures to reach a budget that will increase the fund balance to an 
acceptable level as well as provide the necessary revenues and financing for continued operations of 
the City. In addition, an insufficient General Fund balance puts the City in a vulnerable position in 
times of economic stress. 

Recommendation: 
We recommend the City continue to analyze all potential cost cutting measures and revenue sources, 
and review options to adhere to a budget plan for the General Fund and other funds to increase the 
fund balance, as well as provide continued financing for City operations. 

Management Response: 
In Fiscal year 2021-22 the General Fund balance increased by 278,727.81 from the prior year. The 
primary goal is to preserve reserves and accumulate reserves. The City’s revenue continues to increase 
as the Pasadera Development adds additional homes this fiscal year. The Escalante Meadows 
Development is also expected to increase Building Permit and related building construction fee 
revenues by fiscal year 2023. And the increase in Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU’s) will continue to 
bring in much need housing availability and property tax increase. Other revenues showing steady 
increases are Sales Tax with the new Measure N that was passed with the November 2020 election,  

9



City of Guadalupe 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, Continued 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

Section II – Current Year Findings, continued 

A. Financial Statement Audit, continued

2022-001 – Insufficient Fund Balance in the General Fund and the Ability of the City to Continue as 
a Going Concern (Material Weakness), Continued 

Management Response (continued): 
Property Tax with new development, Business License, Utility Users Tax and Franchise Fees. In 
addition, City Council is currently working on a Cannabis Program (2 retail stores and 1 processing 
and manufacturing) to the City soon all of which are in the entitlement phase. The City has received 
$1.8M from the American Rescue Plan Act in fiscal year 2021 and 2022 respectfully much of which is 
unspent but is budgeted for various projects and initiatives. Amid the pandemic, the City still needs to 
look at finding alternatives to sustain recurring revenue streams for the future to build strong reserves 
and to continue to provide residents with current services. 

Moreover, in summary, over the years the City has made significant improvements to its financial 
condition. The fact that the City had reserves sufficient to cover the costs of storm impacts is a 
testament to these improvements. Looking at the General Fund it has been subsidized during the last 
two years with ARPA funding at about $600,00 per year. These funds will no longer be available after 
FY 24. The Public services, provided by the General Fund that seem to be most critical to the public are 
Public Safety Services and Parks and Recreation Facilities and Programing. These combined services 
account for 67% of the General Fund Budget. Cutting the costs of other Departments to ensure the 
maintenance of Public Safety/ Parks and Recreation programs is not viable. 

The City Administrator is in the process of recommending an idea to look at augmenting the General 
Fund with either a parcel tax or the implementation of a Mello Roos Community Service Facilities 
District with proceeds from these sources used to augment the General Fund specifically for the 
delivery of Public Safety/ Parks and Recreation services. This recommendation deserves a detailed 
review. It would be a heavy lift. Both alternatives would require a 2/3 majority at the poll. Keep in 
mind the recent ballot measure to raise the Transient Occupancy Tax failed but by only 4 votes. The 
success of such a ballot measure would be dependent on the level of public education regarding the 
necessity of augmenting existing funding sources. In the event one of these revenue raising options is 
successful it would sole source the funding for critical services leaving the remainder of General Fund 
revenues to fund other core services. 

2022-002 – Control Over Journal Entries and Financial Reporting (Significant Deficiency) 

Criteria: 
A good internal control system over financial reporting requires that certain tasks such as creating 
journal entries and reviewing journal entries be segregated and not performed by the same individual. 

Condition: 
During our audit we noted that there was mainly one person who was responsible for creating journal 
entries with no direct or independent review of those entries by another person. We also noted journal 
entry errors during the audit. 

10



City of Guadalupe 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, Continued  
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

Section II – Current Year Findings, continued 

A. Financial Statement Audit, continued 

2022-002 – Control Over Journal Entries and Financial Reporting (Significant Deficiency), 
Continued 

Cause: 
Duties in the financial reporting system are not adequately segregated due to staffing limitations. 

Effect: 
Journal entries amounts may be misstated due to errors, and unauthorized entries may be posted and 
not detected timely. 

Recommendation: 
We recommend that the City update its procedures to ensure that journal entries are properly reviewed 
and reconciled independently and that there is adequate segregation of duties in place. 

Management Response: 
The city currently is working to implement policies and procedures to develop “best practice” 
measures. This process will be added into the Finance Policies and Procedures Manual currently in 
progress, expected completion by end of FY2023-24. 

2022-003 –Deposits Payable (Significant Deficiency) 

Criteria: 
The City should have policies and procedures over accounting for deposits received by the City from 
third parties for and related disbursements. 

Condition: 
During performance of the audit, we were not able to obtain listings of balances by depositor for all 
deposit accounts held by the City as of the end of the fiscal year. 

Cause: 
The City does not currently have formal policies and procedures to account and reconcile all deposits 
held by the City. 

Effect: 
Liabilities reported for deposits held by the City may be misstated, and amounts returned to depositors 
may be inaccurately calculated. 

Recommendation: 
We recommend that the City develop policies and procedures over deposits held by the City, such as 
implementation review and reconciliation of the general ledger to information maintained by 
responsible departments. 

11



City of Guadalupe 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, Continued 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

Section II – Current Year Findings, continued 

A. Financial Statement Audit, continued

2022-003 –Deposits Payable (Significant Deficiency), Continued 

Management Response: 
The tracking and reconciliation of building and planning deposits are in process of reconciliation and 
will be tracked and reconciled on a monthly basis to ensure accurate account of liability. This finding 
will be resolved before the end of our next FY audit. 

2022-004 – Closing Policies and Procedures (Significant Deficiency) 

Criteria:  
The City is responsible for fair presentation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, an effective internal control 
system over financial closing and reporting provides reasonable assurance for the safeguarding of 
assets, the reliability of financial information, and compliance with laws and regulations. 

The City’s financial closing process should include preparation of reconciliations for all significant 
accounts to be reported on the City’s financial statements. 

Condition: 
During the performance of the audit, we noted that there were accounts that needed to be updated for 
which reconciliations were not prepared, and as a result closing entries were recorded subsequent to 
the start of the audit. 

Cause: 
The City’s trial balance provided for the audit did not include all necessary adjustments needed to 
prepare the financial statements. 

Effect: 
Lack of checklists can result in the City making the same accounting mistake year over year. Lack of 
documentation also prevents an easier transition when there isn’t overlap between management 
employees.

Recommendation: 
We recommend that the City update its closing procedures and closing checklist to encompass review 
and analysis of all balance sheet accounts and preparation of schedules to support the changes that 
occurred during the year and the balances reported at the end of the year in these accounts. 

Management Response: 
The City accepts the recommendation provided and will produce an adequate closing checklist and 
process in detail. This process will be added into the Finance Policies and Procedures Manual currently 
in progress, expected completion by end of FY2023-24. 

12



City of Guadalupe 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, Continued 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

Section II – Current Year Findings, continued 

A. Financial Statement Audit, continued

2022-005– Written Policies and Procedures over Grants (Significant Deficiency) 

Criteria:  
The City is responsible for fair presentation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, the City is responsible for 
compliance with terms and conditions for related grants received and expended by the City. 

Condition: 
During performance of the audit, there were difficulties encountered by City staff in obtaining 
information for federal grants, such as status of billings, amounts expended during the year, and who 
in the City was assigned responsibility for various grants. 

Cause: 
The City does not have formal written policies and procedures for grants. 

Effect: 
Lack of written policies and procedures in combination with turnover in personnel may result in 
noncompliance with grant terms and conditions, and hence increases the risk of related noncompliance 
financial contingencies.   

Recommendation: 
We recommend the City update policies and procedures over grants to improve internal controls over 
grant reporting and compliance. Such policies may include maintenance of a central inventory 
documenting all grants received by the City, responsible staff or consultant, and developing 
procedures for grant application, billing, reconciliation and closing. 

Management Response: 
The City currently is working to implement policies and procedures to develop “best practice” 
measures. This will help reconcile and track grants in coordination with capital improvement projects 
by using the talents of existing city staff to help augment grant monies set aside for administration and 
project management. City staff has set up a committee consisting of the Public Works Director, City 
Administrator, Finance Director, LADG, Royal Theater project manager and the Administrative 
Assistant in order to improve oversite of the grants and associated projects. This process will be added 
into the Finance Policies and Procedures Manual currently in progress, expected completion by end of 
FY2023-24. 

B. Federal Award Program Audit

No current year federal award program audit findings.

13



City of Guadalupe 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, Continued  
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

Section III- Prior Year Findings 

A. Financial Statement Audit 

2021-001 – Insufficient Fund Balance in the General Fund and the Ability of the City to Continue as 
a Going Concern (Material Weakness) 

Criteria: 
General-purpose local governments, regardless of size, at a minimum should maintain an unrestricted 
budgetary fund balance in the general fund no less than 2 months of regular general fund operating 
revenues or regular general fund operating expenditures. 

Condition: 
The General Fund did not maintain a sufficient or adequate fund balance level to ensure continuity of 
operations as of June 30, 2021. The General Fund finished the year with a fund balance of $370,356 
compared to a fund balance of $485,622 in the prior fiscal year. This balance represents 28 days of 
operating revenues and 25 days of operating expenditures. The fund balance in spendable form is 
$27,757. As of June 30, 2021 the General Fund owed internally to the Lighting and Assessment Fund 
and the Water Fund the amounts of $240,000 and $368,996, respectively. These interfund loans were 
made so that the General Fund could sustain its basic operations. 

The aforementioned conditions have raised doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, as described further in Note 15 of the Basic Financial Statements. 

Cause: 
The City has either overspent its budget in the past or the budget was not balanced which led to 
overspending and the insufficient fund balance situation. 

Effect: 
Insufficient fund balances and decrease in revenues in the past have created a budget shortfall that 
requires continued cost cutting measures to reach a budget that will increase the fund balance to an 
acceptable level as well as provide the necessary revenues and financing for continued operations of 
the City. In addition, an insufficient General Fund balance puts the City in a vulnerable position in 
times of economic stress. 

Recommendation: 
We recommend the City continue to analyze all potential cost cutting measures and revenue sources, 
and review options to adhere to a budget plan for the General Fund and other funds to increase the 
fund balance, as well as provide continued financing for City operations. 

Management Response: 
In fiscal year 2019-20, the General fund increased from prior year’s negative fund balance, ending the 
year at $485,622, from a negative $15,325. In fiscal year 2020-21, the fund balance decreased about 
$115,000. The primary goal is to preserve reserves and accumulate reserves. The City’s revenue 
continues to increase as the Pasadera Development adds additional homes this fiscal year. The 
Escalante Meadows Development is also expected to increase Building Permit and related construction 
fee revenues by fiscal year 2022. Other revenues showing steady increases are Sales Tax with the new 
Measure N that was passed with the November 2020 election, Property Tax with new development,  

14



City of Guadalupe 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, Continued  
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

Section III – Prior Year Findings, continued 

A. Financial Statement Audit, continued 

2021-001 – Insufficient Fund Balance in the General Fund and the Ability of the City to Continue as 
a Going Concern (Material Weakness), Continued 

Management Response (continued): 
Business License, Utility Users Tax and Franchise Fees. In addition, City Council is currently working 
on bringing Cannabis to the City in the near future. The City has received $99,777 from the CARES Act 
in fiscal year 2021 and will receive American Rescue Plan funds in fiscal year 2022. Amid the pandemic, 
the City still needs to look at finding alternatives to sustain recurring revenue streams for the future in 
order to build strong reserves and to continue to provide residents with current services. 

2021-002 – Control Over Journal Entries and Financial Reporting (Significant Deficiency) 

Criteria: 
A good internal control system over financial reporting requires that certain tasks such as creating 
journal entries and reviewing journal entries be segregated and not performed by the same individual. 

Condition: 
During our audit we noted that there was mainly one person who was responsible for creating journal 
entries with no independent review of those entries by an independent person. We also noted multiple 
journal entry errors that were both corrected and uncorrected. 

Cause: 
Duties in the financial reporting system are not properly segregated to ensure good checks and 
balances are in place. 

Effect: 
Journal entries amounts may be misstated due to errors not detected during the self-review process. In 
addition, unauthorized entries may be posted and not detected timely. 

Recommendation: 
We recommend that the City improve and strengthen its procedures for review and reconciliation to 
ensure that journal entries are properly reviewed and reconciled by an independent person and there is 
adequate segregation of duties in place. 

Management Response: 
Finance Director proposes journal entries and Business Manager reviews and enters the journal entries. 
The City will review and set up controls to ensure approval controls of journal entries takes place for 
all changes to the accounting records. City Staff is hopeful that the new accounting software will 
accommodate workflow and authorization parameters to improve our controls and segregation of 
duties. In addition, the finance department will propose that the City Administrator review journal 
entries prior to posting. 

15



City of Guadalupe 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, Continued 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

Section III – Prior Year Findings, continued 

B. Federal Award Program Audit

No prior year federal award program audit findings.

16





Attachment 4 

City of Guadalupe 

Independent Auditor's Report
on

Agreed-Upon Procedures 
Applied to Appropriations Limit Schedule

    Fiscal Year July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2022



Guadalupe, California 

Independent Accountants’ Report on 
Agreed-Upon Procedures Applied to 
Appropriations Limit Schedule 

For the year ended June 30, 2022 



INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT 

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council 
of the City of Guadalupe 
Guadalupe, California 

We have performed the procedures enumerated below on the accompanying Appropriations Limit Schedule 
of the City of Guadalupe (City) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. The City’s management is responsible 
for the accompanying Appropriations Limit Schedule. 

The City has agreed to and acknowledged that the procedures performed are appropriate to meet the intended 
purpose of the requirements of Section 1.5 of Article XIII-B of the California Constitution. Additionally, the 
League of California Cities (as presented in the publication entitled Agreed-upon Procedures Applied to the 
Appropriations Limitation Prescribed by Article XIII-B of the California Constitution) has agreed to and 
acknowledged that the procedures performed are appropriate for their purposes. This report may not be 
suitable for any other purpose. The procedures performed may not address all the items of interest to a user of 
this report and may not meet the needs of all users of this report and, as such, users are responsible for 
determining whether the procedures performed are appropriate for their purposes. 

The procedures performed and our findings are described below: 

1. We obtained the completed worksheets used by the City to calculate its appropriations limit for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, and determined that the limit and annual calculation factors were
adopted by resolution of City Council.  We also determined that the population and inflation options
were selected by a recorded vote of City Council.

Finding:  No exceptions were noted as a result of our procedures.

2. For the accompanying Appropriations Limit Schedule, we added the prior year’s limit to the total
adjustments, and agreed the resulting amount to the current year’s limit.

Finding:  No exceptions were noted as a result of our procedures.

3. We agreed the current year information presented in the accompanying Appropriations Limit Schedule
to corresponding information in worksheets used by the City.

Finding:  No exceptions were noted as a result of our procedures.

4. We agreed the prior year appropriations limit presented in the accompanying Appropriations Limit
Schedule to the prior year appropriations limit adopted by the City Council during the prior year.

Finding:  No exceptions were noted as a result of our procedures.



To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council 
of the City of Guadalupe 

Guadalupe, California 

We were engaged by the City to perform this agreed-upon procedures engagement and conducted our 
engagement in accordance with attestation standards established by the AICPA. We were not engaged to and 
did not conduct an examination or review, the objective of which would be the expression of an opinion or 
conclusion, respectively, on the accompanying Appropriation Limit Schedule. Accordingly, we do not express 
such an opinion or conclusion. Had we performed additional procedures, other matters might have come to 
our attention that would have been reported to you. 

We are required to be independent of the City and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 
with the relevant ethical requirements related to our agreed-upon procedures engagement. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the City Council and management of the City and 
is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. However, this report 
is a matter of public record, and its distribution is not limited. 

Badawi & Associates, CPAs 
Berkeley, California 
June 20, 2023 

2



City of Guadalupe
Appropriations Limit Schedule
For the year ended June 30, 2022

Amount Source

A. Appropriations limit for the year ended June 30, 2021 3,065,272$         Prior year schedule

B. Calculation factors:
  1. Population increase ratio 1.0503 State Department of Finance
  2. Inflation increase ratio 1.0573 State Department of Finance
  3. Total adjustment factor ratio 1.1105 B1 * B2

C. Annual adjustment increase 338,657               [(B3-1)*A)]

D. Other adjustments:
  Loss responsibility (-) -                           N/A
  Transfers to private (-) -                           N/A
  Transfers to fees (-) -                           N/A
  Assumed responsibility (+) -                           N/A

E. Total adjustments 338,657               (C+D)

F. Appropriations limit for the year ended June 30, 2022 3,403,929$         (A+E)

3



City of Guadalupe 
Notes to Appropriations Limit Schedule 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 

1. PURPOSE OF LIMITED PROCEDURES REVIEW

Under Article XIIIB of the California Constitution (the Gann Spending Limitation Initiative), California
governmental agencies are restricted as to the amount of annual appropriations from proceeds of taxes.
Effective for years beginning on or after July 1, 1990, under Section 1.5 of Article XIIIB, the annual
calculation of the appropriations limit is subject to this agreed upon procedures engagement.

2. METHOD OF CALCULATION

Under Section 10.5 of Article XIIIB, for fiscal years beginning on or after July 1990, the appropriations limit
is required to be calculated based on the limit for the fiscal year 1986-1987, adjusted for the inflation and
population factors discussed in Notes 3 and 4 below.

3. INFLATION FACTORS

A California governmental agency may use as its inflation factor either the annual percentage change in
the 4th quarter per capita personal income (which percentage is supplied by the State Department of
Finance), or the percentage change in the local assessment roll from the preceding year due to the change
of local nonresidential construction.  The factor adopted by the City of Guadalupe for the fiscal year 2021-
2022 represents the percentage growth in the State of California per capita personal income.

4. POPULATION FACTORS

A California governmental agency may use as its population factor either the annual percentage change of
the jurisdiction’s own population, or the annual percentage change in population in the County where the
jurisdiction is located.  The factor adopted by the City of Guadalupe for fiscal year 2021-2022 represents
the population change for the City during calendar year 2020.

5. OTHER ADJUSTMENTS

A California government agency may be required to adjust its appropriations limit when certain events
occur, such as the transfer of responsibility for municipal services to, or from, another government agency
or private entity.  There were no adjustments made for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022.

4



Agenda Item No. 12 

  REPORT TO THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE 
 Agenda of July 11, 2023 

 
___________________________________ _________________________________ 
 Prepared by:              Approved by: 
 Tegnear Butler, Human Resources Manager       Todd Bodem, City Administrator 

SUBJECT:  New Job Description and Classification of Finance Clerk, regular, part-time 
(non-benefit) position in the Finance Department         

RECOMMENDATION:  

That the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2023-64 approving the classification and job 
description for the regular, part-time Finance Clerk position in the Finance Department and 
authorizing staff to initiate recruitment. 

BACKGROUND:  

The operations-side of the Finance Department has been staffed with three (3) Clerks since the 
beginning of 2023.  Prior to that, there were only two (2) full-time Account Clerks.  A part-time 
(benefits eligible) Finance Clerk position was added in early 2023.  The primary responsibilities 
for all three (3) Clerks are to handle utility billings and receive payments, accounts receivables; 
to include processing payments for building permits, franchise fees, and utility user tax; issuing 
and processing payments for business licenses; accounts payables; and other miscellaneous 
payments.  In addition, there is the handling of monthly billing by manually billing for hydrant 
meter usage; mailing code enforcement letters and monitoring for 30-day payment; preparing 
notification and pre-collection letters, as required; and preparing miscellaneous quarterly and 
annual reporting as required by State and County agencies.   

Guadalupe’s population has increased over these past 10 years resulting in an increase in 
residents requiring services with more and convenient hours provided by the Finance 
Department, as well as other departments.  A number of city projects have occurred increasing 
the number of consultants, vendors, etc. the Accounts Payables function administers.  It is 
estimated that the City’s utility customer base has increased by about 450 in 2022, with a 
continuing need for increased customer service even after hiring the third Finance Clerk earlier 
this year. 

Tegnear Butler  



DISCUSSION:  

Utility billings go out around the first of each month.  There are approximately 20 days for a 
resident to pay before being delinquent. While the City has implemented other ways for residents 
to pay besides coming to the Finance Department “counter,” about 55% come in and pay in cash, 
with 40% paying online and 5% paying via call-in.  From the time of the billing to about two (2) 
weeks or so after, there is a flow of traffic with residents coming in to pay at the “counter.”  But 
the heavy traffic flow is around the 19th and 20th of each month for residents making payments 
on time.   

Having this new part-time Finance Clerk’s primary responsibility handling utility billing payments 
at the “counter” frees up the other three Clerks to handle other matters, such as call-ins for 
payments, preparing monthly billings, responding to concerns on billings, etc.  It would also 
permit the Finance Window to be open and operated for at least 8 hours each business workday 
(9:30am – 5:30pm). 

Many residents view the Finance Department’s “counter” as City Hall.  When people ask if City 
Hall will be open on a certain day, they’re asking if the “counter” will be open.  Focused attention 
on more and improved customer service has long been needed.  The additional regular, part-
time Finance Clerk (benefits ineligible) position will allow for the department to provide efficient, 
effective, and timely customer service to the City’s 9,000+ residents and will help to increase the 
“counter” hours of availability. In addition, implementation of the new accounting software will 
bring upon much change for employees and residents the extra help needed.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The proposed salary range for the new part-time Finance Clerk (benefits ineligible) position is 
SEIU salary grade 153, with a minimum of $19.578 to a maximum of $26.238.  For a 20-hour (max) 
week schedule, the annual cost for this non-benefit position would be approximately $20,361 
from the Enterprise Fund – 10 Water.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Resolution No. 2023-64
2. Part-Time Finance Clerk (benefits ineligible) Job Description



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-64 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GUADALUPE APPROVING THE 
CLASSIFICATION AND JOB DESCRIPTION FOR THE REGULAR, PART-TIME FINANCE CLERK (NOT 
BENEFIT ELIGIBLE) AND AUTHORIZING STAFF TO INITIATE RECRUITMENT FOR THIS POSITON 

WHEREAS, over the past ten years, the City’s population has increased with a resulting increase 
in the number of households to be provided utilities; and 

WHEREAS, the operations staff in the Finance Department providing services to Guadalupe 
residents did not increase from two Account Clerk positions until the beginning of 2023 when a 
third (part-time, benefits eligible) Finance Clerk position was added; and 

WHEREAS, with the increasing focus and ongoing attention for the Finance Department to 
service the increased number of households in the city, the current operations staff of three (3) 
Clerk positions is still insufficient for the Finance Department to meet its customers’ needs; and 

WHEREAS, this new regular, part-time Finance Clerk (not benefit eligible) position will primarily 
handle utility billings and cashiering responsibilities, whereas focused customer service is still 
needed after the hiring of a third part-time Finance Clerk (benefits eligible); and 

WHEREAS, the Accounting Supervisor will oversee this position and will report to the Finance 
Director; and 

WHEREAS, SEIU Salary Range 153 has been established for this new/same position; and 

WHEREAS, upon adoption, this new position will allow for the continuing attention and focus for 
the Finance Department to service the residents and customers in an efficient, effective, and 
timely manner. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Guadalupe as follows: 

SECTION 1:  The City Council approves the classification and job description for the regular, part-
time Finance Clerk position (benefits ineligible), attached to the staff report for this 
item. 

SECTION 2:  The City Council authorizes staff to initiate recruitment for this position. 

SECTION 3:  The City Clerk is hereby authorized to make minor changes herein to address clerical 
errors, so long as substantial conformance of the intent of this document is 
maintained.  In doing so, the City Clerk shall consult with the City Administrator and 
City Attorney concerning any changes deemed necessary. 

ATTACHMENT 1



PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED at the regular meeting on the 11th day of July 2023 by the 
following vote: 

MOTION: 

AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT: 
ABSTAINED: 

I, Amelia M. Villegas, City Clerk of the City of Guadalupe, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing 
Resolution, being Resolution No. 2023-64, has been duly signed by the Mayor and attested by 
the City Clerk, all at a regular meeting of the City Council, held July 11, 2023, and that same was 
approved and adopted. 

ATTEST: 

___________________________________ __________________________________ 
Amelia M. Villegas, City Clerk  Ariston Julian, Mayor 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

_______________________________ 
Philip F. Sinco, City Attorney 



 CITY OF GUADALUPE 
      FINANCE CLERK 

  Part-Time (Less Than 20 Hours / Week) 

June 2023 

DEFINITION: 

Under the direction of the Accounting Supervisor, or designee, this position performs a variety of clerical 
tasks, including, but not limited to primarily cashiering duties, filing, updating records and tracking 
transactions. The hours are scheduled based on the needs of the department.  

ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS: 

• Customer service and cashiering duties relating to utility billing
• Enters data for utility billing and other transactions
• Transfers other financial data into Excel software
• Updates and maintains filing systems for utility billings
• Reports errors, discrepancies and customer complaints to supervisor
• Acts as back-up to staff for utility payments, accounts payables and other cash handling

transactions
• May assist Business Manager on specific reports
• Other duties as may be assigned, related to other finance functions

KNOWLEDGE/SKILLS: 

• Verbal bilingual, Spanish, required; written, preferred
• Basic data entry experience
• General mathematical skills related to cash handling
• Good understanding of filing systems
• Excellent interpersonal and communications skills
• Ability to provide excellent customer service
• Flexibility to work independently or on a team

EDUCATION & EXPERIENCE: 

• High School diploma, or GED, required
• Minimum of 9 to 12 months of cashiering and customer service

ATTACHMENT 2



Finance Clerk 
Job Description 
June 2023 
Page 2 of 2 

PHYSICAL REQUIREMENTS: 

The physical demands described here are representative of those that must be met by an employee to 
successfully perform the essential functions of this job.  Reasonable accommodations maybe made to 
enable individuals with disabilities to perform the essential functions. 

• Frequently sits for extended periods of time.  Occasionally stands for short durations of time and
walks short distances.

• Occasionally reaches above, at, and below shoulder level.
• Occasionally lifts, carries, pushes and pulls and materials and objects up to 10-15 pounds.
• Frequently uses a computer and telecommunications equipment.
• Visual acuity which could be corrected sufficiently to perform the essential functions of this

position; average depth perception needed.
• Occasionally bends, stoops, kneels, handles, grips, grasps, extends neck upward, downward, or

side-to-side.
• Ability to communicate to exchange information effectively verbally and to effectively hear and

comprehend oral instructions and communications in an office environment.

WORK ENVIRONMENT: 

The work environment characteristics described here are representative of those an employee 
encounters while performing the essential functions of this job.  Reasonable accommodations may be 
made to enable individuals with disabilities to perform the essential functions. 

• Primarily works indoors with no exposures to inclement weather, conditions, or hazards.
• The noise level in the work environment is usually quiet in the office.

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

    GENERAL INFORMATION  

SALARY RANGE:  $19.578 to $26.238 per hour 

BENEFITS:  sick leave 

HOW TO APPLY:  Go to the City’s website at: www.ci.guadalupe.ca.us and download our 
application.  Send to:  City of Guadalupe, Attn: HR, P.O. Box 908, Guadalupe, CA 93434  OR 
Email to: tbutler@ci.guadalupe.ca.us  

DEADLINE DATE:  Open Until Filled 

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER 

http://www.ci.guadalupe.ca.us/
mailto:tbutler@ci.guadalupe.ca.us

	CC Agenda 7-11-2023
	6B. Warrants 7-11-2023
	6B. July 11, 2023 Warrants
	6B. June 19, 2023 Warrants
	Blank Page

	6C. CC Minutes  6-27-2023
	6D. Agreement with Chisam Utility Management LLC  - Interim Public Works Director-City Engineer
	Staff Report re agreement for PW Director and City Engineering  7 11 2023 (City Atty rev)
	Agenda of July 11, 2023

	Resolution No  2023-56 Guadalupe Contract Chisam Utility Managemente LLC 7-10-23 (City Atty Rev)
	Dwayne Chisam - General Manager Resume
	Chisam Utility Agreement 7 11 2023

	6E. Designating Dwayne Chisam as the authorized signer for Guadalupe Transit
	Staff Report - Authorizing Dwayne Chisam as signatory signer for Transit 7-11-2023 (City Atty rev)
	Agenda of July 11, 2023

	Resolution No. 2023-57 authorized Dwayne Chisam as signatory for Transit 7-11-2023 (City Atty rev)

	6F. Appropriations Limit for FY 2022-2023
	Staff Report GANN Limit FY23 7-11-2023
	Agenda of July 11, 2023

	Resolution No. 2023-58 re GANN Limit FY2022-23 7-11-2023
	22-23 Appropriation Limit Calc Exhibit 1-Revised
	DOF Price and Population Letter 2022 Attachment 2

	6G. Accepting donation to the Guadalupe Police Dept. from the One805 Foundation
	Staff Report - Donation from One805 Foundation for Generator - 2023 (City Atty rev) 7-11-2023
	Agenda of July 11, 2023
	FISCAL IMPACT:

	Resolution No. 2023-59 donation - One805 Foundation for a generator (City Atty rev)

	6H. Authorizing the Purchase and Installation of a Generator for Police Dept.
	Staff Report - Authorization to purchase and install a generator for the Guadalupe Police Department building - 2023 (City Atty rev)
	Agenda of July 11, 2023
	FISCAL IMPACT:

	Police Building Generator Contract and Quote - 2023
	Resolution No. 2023-60 Authorization to purchase and install a generator for the Guadalupe Police Department building - 2023 (City ATty rev) 7-11-2023

	6I 1. Planning Department report for June 2023
	7-2023 Planning Report
	7-2023 Ministerial Report
	7-1-23 Monthly Tracking Log

	6I 2. Building Department report for June 2023
	SKM_C360i23063006590
	Building Dept Report June 2023

	6I 3. Rec and Parks reports for April & May 2023
	7. City Administrator's Report 7-11-2023
	City Projects Updates 7-11-2023
	Guadalupe Town Hall Invite

	9. Draft Housing Element Approval
	Staff Report Draft Housing Element 7-11-23
	Agenda of July 11, 2023

	Resolution No. 2023-61 Draft Housing Element 7-11-23
	MOTION:

	2023-2031_Guadalupe_Draft-Housing-Element
	Acknowledgments
	City Council
	Staff

	List of Tables
	List of Figures
	City Council Resolution
	Housing Element Update Guidance
	Attachment 2: Completeness Checklist

	HOUSING ELEMENT COMPLETENESS CHECKLIST
	Updated 1/2021

	Public Participation
	Checklist

	Identification and Analysis of the Housing Needs for Special Needs Populations
	Government Code section 65583, subdivision (a)(7)

	Affirmatively Further Fair Housing - An Assessment of Fair Housing – Required for Housing Element due after 1/1/2021.
	Government Code section 65583, subdivision (c)(10)(A) Part 1 Outreach
	Part 3 Sites Inventory
	Part 4 Identification of Contributing Factors

	Affordable Housing Units At-Risk of Conversion to Market Rate
	Government Code section 65583, subdivision (a)(9)
	Comments:

	Zoning for a Variety of Housing Types
	Government Code section, 65583, subdivisions (a)(4), (c)(1), and subdivision 65583.2 subdivision (c)
	Comments:
	Site Inventory
	Site Inventory Analysis and Methodology
	Comments:

	Schedule of Actions/Programs
	Government Code, section 65583, subdivisions (c)(1 – 7), and (10)
	Comments:

	Quantified Objectives
	Government Code, section 65583, subdivisions (b)
	Comments:

	1.0 Introduction
	1.1 Community Context
	1.2 Public Participation
	1.2.1 Consolidated Outreach Activities
	1.2.2 Special 6th Cycle Outreach Findings
	1.2.3 Inclusion of Outreach Findings in Housing Element

	1.3 Consistency with Other Elements of the General Plan
	1.4 Organization of the Element

	2.0 Housing Needs Assessment
	2.1. Population Characteristics
	2.1.1 Population Growth Trends
	Table 2-1: Population Growth Trends. Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2000 – 2020

	2.1.2 Age
	Table 2-2: Age Distribution - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020

	2.1.3 Race and Ethnicity
	Table 2-3: Population by Race/Ethnicity - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020

	2.1.4 Conclusion

	2.2 Employment Trends
	2.2.1 Current Employment
	Table 2-4: Labor Force and Employment Rates - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020
	Table 2-5: Distribution of Employment by Occupation and Median Earning – Guadalupe City, 2020

	2.2.2 Projected Job Growth
	Table 2-6: Protected Job Growth by Occupation from 2018 to 2028 – Santa Maria & Santa Barbara Metropolitan Statistical Area

	2.2.3 Jobs-Housing Balance
	Table 2-7: Jobs to Housing Ratio - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020

	2.2.4 Conclusion

	2.3 Household Characteristics
	2.3.1 Growth in Households
	Table 2-8: Household Growth Trends - Guadalupe City, 2000 to 2020

	2.3.2 Household Composition and Size
	Table 2-9: Household Composition - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020
	Table 2-10: Distribution of Household Sizes - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020

	2.3.3 Household Income
	Table 2-11: Household Income - Guadalupe City, 2020
	Table 2-12: Comparative Median Household Incomes - Santa Barbara County and Cities, 2020
	Table 2-13: Median Income Distribution of Household Income Groups - Guadalupe City, 2020

	2.3.4 Conclusion

	2.4 Characteristics of the Housing Stock
	2.4.1 Housing Types and Growth
	Table 2-14: Housing Unit Type- Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020
	Table 2-15: Age Distribution and Growth of Housing Stock - Guadalupe City, 2020

	2.4.2 Housing Age and Conditions
	Figure 2-1: Age Distribution of Housing Stock - Guadalupe City, 2020
	Table 2-16: Trends in Housing Conditions - Guadalupe 2008 to 2017

	2.4.3 Housing Tenure
	Table 2-17: Trends in Housing Tenure of Occupied Units - Guadalupe, 2000 to 2020

	2.4.4 Vacancy
	2.4.5 Housing Cost
	Figure 2-2: Median Household Income vs. Median Home Value – Guadalupe City, 2000-2020
	Table 2-18: Comparative Median Home Values - Santa Barbara County and Cities, 2000 to 2020
	Table 2-19: Distribution of Contract Rent Payments - Guadalupe City, 2020

	2.4.6 Affordability and Overpayment
	Table 2-20: Percent of Household Income Spent on Housing – Guadalupe City, 2020

	2.4.7 Overcrowding
	Table 2-21: Overcrowding - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020

	2.4.8 Conclusion

	2.5 Special Housing Needs
	2.5.1 Elderly
	Table 2-22: Households by Age of Householder - Guadalupe City, 2000 to 2020
	Table 2-23: Householder by Tenure and Age - Guadalupe City, 2020

	2.5.2 Large Households
	Table 2-24: Number of Rooms per Occupied Housing Unit by Tenure – Guadalupe City, 2020
	Table 2-25: Number of Persons per Occupied Housing Unit by Tenure - Guadalupe City, 2020

	2.5.3 Female Headed Households
	Table 2-26: Occupied Housing Units by Household Type by Tenure - Guadalupe City, 2020
	Table 2-27: Comparative Characteristics of Householders - Guadalupe City, 2020

	2.5.4 Persons with Disabilities
	Table 2-28: Population with Disability - Guadalupe City, 2020

	2.5.5 Farmworkers
	Table 2-29: Top 10 Agriculture Products by Rank - Santa Barbara County, 2018 and 2020
	Table 2-30: Estimates of Farmworker Population - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020

	2.5.6 Unhoused
	2.5.7 Extremely Low-Income Households
	2.5.8 Persons with Developmental Disabilities
	Table 2-31: Distribution of Persons with Developmental Disabilities - Guadalupe City, 2021


	2.6 Assisted Housing At-Risk of Conversion
	2.6.1 Inventory of Potential At-Risk Units
	Table 2-32: Inventory of Assisted Affordable Housing Developments - Guadalupe City, 2020

	2.6.2 Risk of Conversion

	2.7 Future Growth Needs
	2.7.1 Overview of the Regional Housing Needs Allocation
	Table 2-33: Shares of Households vs. RHNA Allocations by Income Groups - Guadalupe City, 2020



	3.0 Resources for Residential Development
	3.1 Land Availability
	3.1.1 Vacant Residential Parcels
	Table 3-1: Capacity of Vacant Residential Land Exclusive of DJ Farms Specific Plan Area

	3.1.2 Mixed Use Development
	3.1.3 DJ Farms Specific Plan Area
	Table 3-2: Housing Capacity of DJ Farms Specific Plan Area


	3.2 Financial Resources
	3.2.1 Federal and State Resources
	Table 3-3: Additional Federal, State, and Private Financial Resources

	3.2.2 Local Resources


	4.0 Constraints
	4.1 Governmental Constraints
	4.1.1 Land Use Controls
	Table 4-1: Guadalupe General Plan Residential Land Use Designations
	Table 4-2: Residential & Commercial Zoning in Guadalupe
	Table 4-3: Development Standards in Guadalupe Zoning Ordinance
	Table 4-4: Allowed Residential Development by Zone
	Table 4-5: Parking Space & Street Width Standards

	4.1.2 Residential Development Processing Procedures
	Table 4-6: Typical Permit Processing Time Requirements

	4.1.3 Development Fees
	Table 4-7: Fees that Affect Housing Production

	4.1.4 Regional Constraints
	4.1.5 Accessory Dwelling Units

	4.2 Non-Governmental Constraints
	4.2.1 Fiscal Constraints
	4.2.2 Citizen Behavior
	4.2.3 Environmental Constraints
	Figure 4-1: Environmental Constraints Map–Prime Agricultural Lands under Williamson Act Contract
	Figure 4-2: Environmental Constraints Map–Floodable Areas
	Figure 4-3: Environmental Constraints Map–Wetlands and Habitat Areas

	4.2.4 Infrastructure and Public Facilities
	Table 4-8: Sewer Capacity and Projected Sewer Demand



	5.0 Energy Conservation Opportunities
	5.1 Planning and land Use
	5.2 Energy Efficient Practices and Technologies

	6.0 Housing Action Plan
	6.1 Affordable Housing Supply
	6.2 Conservation and Rehabilitation
	6.3 At-Risk Units
	6.4 Special Needs
	6.5 Energy Conservation
	6.6 Equal Opportunity Housing
	6.7 Quantified Objectives
	Table 6-1: Comparison of RHNA Allocations Met and Unmet by Income Groups in Guadalupe


	7.0 Appendices
	7.1 Appendix A: Evaluation of 5th Cycle Housing Element
	7.1.1 Program Evaluation
	7.1.2 Appropriateness of Goals and Policies
	7.1.3. Progress in Meeting Quantified Objectives
	7.1.4. Progress toward Special Needs Populations
	7.1.5. Shortfall of Sites from the 5th Cycle Planning Period
	Table A-1: Evaluation of Programs in 5th Cycle (2015 & 2019) Housing Element - City of Guadalupe
	Table A-2: Appropriateness of 2015 Guadalupe Housing Element Goals and Policies
	Table A-3a. Progress in Achieving Quantified Objectives (All Incomes)
	Table A-3b. Progress in Achieving Quantified Objectives (Lower Incomes) – Completed Apartments
	Table A-3c. Progress in Achieving Quantified Objectives (Lower Incomes) – Completed ADUs
	Table A-4a: Residential Permit Activities - City of Guadalupe, 2015 through 2021
	Table A-4b: Recent Residential Permit Activities by Income - City of Guadalupe, 2019-2021
	Table A-5: Affordability of Residential Construction - City of Guadalupe, Late 2015 to Early 2019
	Figure A-1 DJ Farms Site Map
	Figure A-2: Peoples’ Self-Help Housing Breaks Ground on New Affordable Housing in Guadalupe, CA
	Figure A-3: Guadalupe Ranch Acres becomes Escalante Meadows Affordable Housing in Guadalupe, CA



	7.2 Appendix B: Residential Land Inventory
	Table B-1: Summary of 2014-2022 RHNA Allocations to Guadalupe
	7.2.1 Vacant Land
	Table B-2: Inventory of Vacant Residential Infill Sites in Guadalupe from Land Use Inventory
	Figure B-1: Opportunities for Housing at Vacant Infill, Mix-Use, and DJ Farms Sites

	Table B-3: Other Vacant Residential Land within Built-Up Area

	7.2.2 Mixed-Use Development
	Table B-4. Mixed-Use Development Potential
	Table B-5: Other Lots with Mixed-Use Potential

	7.2.3 DJ Farms Specific Plan
	Table B-6: Housing Capacity at DJ Farms Specific Plan Area

	7.2.4 People’s Self-Help Housing Project
	7.2.5 Santa Barbara County Housing Authority
	7.2.6 Conclusions on Inventory of Residential Opportunities

	7.3 Appendix C: Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing
	7.3.0 Legislative Basis for Fair Housing
	7.3.1 Fair Housing Outreach & Enforcement
	7.3.1.1 Fair Housing Outreach
	7.3.1.2 Fair Housing Enforcement
	Regional Trends and Comparisons of Fair Housing Enforcement
	Table C-1: Number of Fair Housing Enforcement Cases in Counties near Guadalupe, 2010 and 2020
	Local Trends and Analysis
	Figure C-1: Distribution of Fair Housing Enforcement Cases in Guadalupe & Region, 2010
	Figure C-2: Distribution of Fair Housing Enforcement Cases in Guadalupe & Region, 2020



	7.3.2 Assessment of Fair Housing
	7.3.2.1 Integration and segregation patterns and trends
	7.3.2.1-a Race and ethnic composition
	Regional Trends and Comparisons
	Table C-2: Population by Race/Ethnicity - Guadalupe City & Region, 2021
	Table C-3: Population by Race/Ethnicity - Guadalupe City & Region, 2010
	Local Trends and Analysis
	Figure C-3: 2020 Neighborhood Designations within the City of Guadalupe

	Trends and Patterns
	Other Relevant Factors
	Conclusion
	Figure C-4: 2010 Concentrations of Hispanic Population by Census Block in Guadalupe Neighborhoods
	Figure C-5: 2020 Concentrations of Hispanic Population by Census Block in Guadalupe and its Region


	7.3.2.1-b Populations with disabilities
	Regional Trends and Comparisons
	Local Trends and Analysis
	Table C-4: Incidence of Disability in the Guadalupe Region, 2019
	Figure C-6: 2014 Concentrations of Disability Populations in Guadalupe and its Region
	Figure C-7: 2019 Concentrations of Disability Populations in Guadalupe and its Region


	7.3.2.1-c Household type or family status
	Regional Trends and Comparisons
	Local Trends and Analysis
	Table C-5: Distribution of Household/Family Types in the Guadalupe Region, 2010
	Table C-6: Distribution of Household/Family Types in the Guadalupe Region, 2019

	7.3.2.1-d Income groups
	Regional Trends and Comparisons
	Table C-7: 2010 and 2020 Median Incomes and Poverty Levels in the Guadalupe Region
	Local Trends and Analysis
	Figure C-8: Percent of Home Owners Paying >30% of Incomes on Housing, Guadalupe Region, 2014
	Figure C-9: Percent of Home Owners Paying >30% of Incomes on Housing, Guadalupe Region, 2019
	Figure C-10: Percent of Renters Paying >30% of Incomes on Housing, Guadalupe Region, 2014
	Figure C-11: Percent of Renters Paying >30% of Incomes on Housing, Guadalupe Region, 2019


	7.3.2.1-e Trends in housing choice vouchers
	Regional Trends and Comparisons
	Local Trends and Analysis
	Figure C-12: Locations of Subsidized Housing Projects in the Guadalupe Region, 2021
	Figure C-13: Locations of Subsidized Housing Projects within Guadalupe and Vicinity, 2021


	7.3.2.2 Racially or ethnically concentrated areas of poverty
	Regional Trends and Comparisons
	Figure C-14: Racially and Ethnically Concentrated Areas of Poverty in Guadalupe & Region, 2000
	Figure C-15: Racially and Ethnically Concentrated Areas of Poverty in Guadalupe & Region, 2010
	Figure C-16: Racially and Ethnically Concentrated Areas of Poverty in Guadalupe & Region, 2013
	Figure C-17: Composite Opportunity Areas in Guadalupe & Region, 2020

	Local Trends and Analysis
	Trends and Patterns
	Other Relevant Factors
	Conclusion
	Figure C-18: Concentrations of Non-Hispanic Whites in Guadalupe Neighborhoods, 2010
	Figure C-19: Concentrations of Non-Hispanic Whites in Guadalupe Neighborhoods, 2020


	7.3.2.3 Disparities in access to opportunity
	Regional Trends and Comparisons
	Figure C-20: Levels of Resource Availability in Guadalupe & Region, 2020

	Table C-8: Comparative opportunity Indices for School Proficiency in the Guadalupe Region, 2020
	Local Trends and Analysis
	Table C-9: HUD Opportunity Indicators in Santa Barbara County, 2010
	Table C-10: Labor Force and Employment Rates - Guadalupe City vs. Santa Barbara County, 2020
	Table C-11: Distribution of Employment by Occupation (2021) and Median Earning (2020)
	Trends and Patterns
	Other Relevant Factors
	Conclusion

	7.3.2.4 Disproportionate housing needs with displacement risk
	Regional Trends and Comparisons
	Local Trends and Analysis
	Figure C-21: Levels of Displacement Risk in Guadalupe & Region, 2019

	Trends and Patterns
	Figure C-22: 2010 to 2021 Trends in Housing Vacancy in Guadalupe and Santa Barbara County

	Table C-12. Progress in Achieving Quantified Objectives (All Incomes) in 2015-2023 Housing Element
	Other Relevant Factors
	Conclusion


	7.3.3 Sites Inventory
	7.3.3.1 Location and Affordability of Sites
	7.3.3.2 Improvement or Exacerbation of Conditions by Sites

	7.3.4 Identification of Contributing Factors
	Figure C-23: 2022 Incidence of Toxic Release by Census Tract in Guadalupe

	7.3.5 Goals and Actions

	7.4 Appendix D: Development Fees
	Table D-1:  Consolidated List of Fees in Guadalupe


	Per Development
	8.0 References


	10. Completion and Close-out FY 2017 Grant Project Le Roy Park and Community Cetner and Community Resilience Plan
	Staff Report - Close Out FY 2017 CDBG 12099 07-11-2023 (City Atty rev) (1)
	Agenda of July 11, 2023

	Resolution No. 2023-62 Approval and Adoption of Guadalupe Resilience Plan 07-11-2023 (City Atty rev)
	resiliency-plan-v16-020823
	Resolution No. 2023-63 Approval and Adoption of FY 2017 CDBG 12099 Project_Grant (City Atty rev)

	11. Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Audited Financial Statements, Single Audit & Gann 2022 Agreed-upon procedures
	Staff Report FY2022 Audited FInancial Statements
	Agenda of July 11, 2023

	Attachment 1 Guadalupe 2022 presentation slides
	Attachment 2 - Basic Financial Statements
	Cover v1
	Cover-Inside v1
	TOC v1
	Opinion v2
	BFS v4
	Notes RSI v4
	RSI Budgets v3
	SI v2

	Attachment 3 - Single Audit Reports
	Attachment 4 - Agreed-Upon Procedures

	12. New job description and classification of Finance Clerk, regular part-time position
	Staff Report - Account Clerk July 11 2023 (City Atty rev + TFB edits) (FINAL)
	Resolution No. 2023-64  Part-Time Finance Clerk not benefit eligible (City Atty rev + TFB edits) (FINAL)
	Finance Clerk Part Time less than 20 hrs JD June 2023




